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REPORT OF CASES

DETERMINED IN THE

SUPREME COURT OF THE PHILIPPINES

SECOND DIVISION
[A.C. No. 9880. November 28, 2016]

WILSON CHUA, complainant, vs. ATTY. DIOSDADO B.
JIMENEZ, respondent.

SYLLABUS

1. LEGAL ETHICS; ATTORNEYS; CODE OF PROFESSIONAL
RESPONSIBILITY; A LAWYER MAY BE DISBARRED
OR SUSPENDED FOR ANY VIOLATION OF HISOATH,
A PATENT DISREGARD OF HISDUTIES, OR AN ODIOUS
DEPORTMENT UNBECOMING AN ATTORNEY.— “A
lawyer may be disbarred or suspended for any violation of his
oath, a patent disregard of his duties, or an odious deportment
unbecoming an attorney. A lawyer must at no time be wanting
in probity and moral fiber which are not only conditions precedent
to his entrance to the Bar but are likewise essential demands
for his continued membership therein.” In particular, the Code
of Professional Responsibility, Canon 15, states: A lawyer shall
observe candor, fairness and loyalty in all his dealings and
transactions with his clients. Respondent fell short in being
fair and loyal to his client, herein complainant. Rules 18.03
further states: A lawyer shall not neglect alegal matter entrusted
to him, and his negligence in connection therewith shall render
him liable. Respondent did not even file the cases for which he
was engaged and upon which he collected filing fees. Rule 18.04
continues: A lawyer shall keep the client informed of the status
of his case and shall respond within a reasonable time to the
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client’ srequest for information. Respondent was utterly lacking
in thisresponsibility to hisclient as he unfairly kept himin the
dark, misleading him for seven years.

2. ID.;ID.; ID.; ALAWYER SHOULD BE SCRUPULOUSLY
CAREFUL INHANDLING MONEY ENTRUSTED TOHIM
IN HISPROFESSIONAL CAPACITY; HENCE, WHEN A
LAWYER RECEIVES MONEY FROM A CLIENT FOR
A PARTICULAR PURPOSE, THE LAWYER IS BOUND
TO RENDER AN ACCOUNTING TO HIS CLIENT,
SHOWING THAT HE SPENT THE MONEY FOR THE
PURPOSE INTENDED.— Whilethe same Code of Professional
Responsibility recognizes the right of a lawyer to have a lien
over the funds and property of his client as may be necessary
to satisfy hislawful fees, Rule 16.03 demands that “[a] lawyer
shall deliver the funds and property of his client when due or
upon demand.” Thisisareiteration of Rule 16.01, which states
that “[a] lawyer shall account for all money and property collected
or received for or from the client.” “A lawyer should be
scrupulously careful in handling money entrusted to himin his
professional capacity. Consequently, when a lawyer receives
money from aclient for aparticular purpose, the lawyer isbound
to render an accounting to his client, showing that he spent the
money for the purpose intended.” Respondent miserably
disregarded the mandate of accountability expected of him.

3.1D.; ID.; ID.; A LAWYER’'S NEGLIGENCE IN THE
DISCHARGE OF HIS OBLIGATIONS ARISING FROM
THE RELATIONSHIP OF COUNSEL AND CLIENT MAY
CAUSE DELAY INTHE ADMINISTRATION OF JUSTICE
AND PREJUDICE THE RIGHTS OF A LITIGANT,
PARTICULARLY HIS CLIENT; THUS, FROM THE
PERSPECTIVE OF THE ETHICS OF THE LEGAL
PROFESSION,A LAWYER'SLETHARGY IN CARRYING
OUT HIS DUTIES TO HIS CLIENT IS BOTH
UNPROFESSIONAL AND UNETHICAL .— Therespondent’s
issue on the supposed non-payment of his fees should have
prompted him to seek communication with complainant and
resolve such matter. He should not have used the same as a
ground for his inaction insofar as the cases referred to him
were concerned. “A lawyer’s negligence in the discharge of
his obligations arising from the relationship of counsel and
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client may cause delay in the administration of justice and
prejudice the rights of alitigant, particularly his client. Thus,
from the perspective of the ethics of the legal profession, a
lawyer’slethargy in carrying out his dutiesto hisclient is both
unprofessional and unethical.” “Indeed, under their sacred oath,
lawyers pledge not to delay any person for money or malice.”

4. 1D.; ID.; ID.; CANON 22, RULE 22.02 THEREOF; FAILURE

5.

OF THE LAWYER TO RETURN THE CLIENT’S
DOCUMENTS DUE TO NON-PAYMENT OF HIS/HER
PROFESSIONAL LEGAL FEESISVIOLATIVE OF THE
CODE OF PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY.— Neither
should the said issue have been the reason for his failure to
return the documents of his client. Rule 22.02 mandates him to
do so: “A lawyer who withdraws or is discharged shall, subject
to aretainer lien, immediately turn all papers and property to
which the client is entitled. . . x X x.”

D.; ID.; ID.; PENALTY OF SUSPENSION FROM THE
PRACTICE OF LAW IMPOSED AGAINST AN ERRANT
LAWYER FOR VIOLATION OF THE CODE OF
PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY AND FAILURE TO
RETURN THE DOCUMENTSAND MONEY ENTRUSTED
TO HIM BY HIS CLIENT; RETURN OF THE MONEY
WITH LEGAL INTEREST TO THE COMPLAINANT,
WARRANTED.— In the recent en banc case of Fabiev. Atty.
Real, the Court suspended the errant lawyer from the practice
of law for six (6) months for failing to return the documents
and money entrusted to him by hisclient. At the sametime, he
was ordered to return the money with legal interest from the
time he received the same until full payment thereof. In the
present case, records show that respondent received the total
amount of P165,127.00 as follows; £100,000.00 on May 10,
1997; £23,000.00 on August 18, 1999; £13,563.50 on August
4, 2000; another P13,563.50 on August 5, 2000; and £15,000.00
on August 31, 2001. Thus, pursuant to our ruling in Fabie,
respondent must return the aforesaid amounts to complainant
with interest at the legal rate of 12% per annum from their
respective date of receipt until June 30, 2013, and 6% per annum
from July 1, 2013 until full payment.
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APPEARANCES OF COUNSEL
Icaonapo Litong and Associates Law Office for complainant.
DECISION
DEL CASTILLO, J.

This casewasfiled with the Integrated Bar of the Philippines
(IBP) Commission on Bar Discipline on October 20, 2003 by
complainant Wilson Chua against respondent Atty. Diosdado
B. Jimenez for grave misconduct, mal practice, dishonesty, and
conduct unbecoming a member of the Bar.!

Factual Antecedents

The complainant alleged that he entered into a retainership
agreement with the respondent for the latter to handle all his
legal problems, with particular emphasis on those that needed
filing in the courts: more specifically, against Excellent Quality,
Alexander Ty, Benny Lao, Clarita Tan, and Amosup. For these,
he gave respondent the amount of £235,127.00 for the necessary
filing fees. Complainant likewise entrusted to the respondent
all the pertinent documents thereto.

The complainant likewise alleged that, for the last seven years
prior, he had never attended a single hearing on any case that
he had assigned to respondent, save for those involving Clarita
Tan and Union Bank and in which case he was a defendant.
Respondent allegedly would advise him of upcoming hearings
only to cancel them last minute due purportedly to cancellations,
postponements, or resettings of the hearings.

Complainant had written respondent several times— on June
11, 2003; June 20, 2003; July 14, 2003; August 18, 2003;
September 9, 2003; and September 24, 2003 — for the return
of the documents he had entrusted to respondent as well asthe
amount of P235,127.00. On September 24, 2003, he terminated

! Rollo, pp. 1-4.
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respondent’ slegal servicesfor failureto file the necessary cases,
the very object of the retainership agreement, and to return the
sum of £235,127.00.

In an Order? dated October 23, 2003, the IBP directed
respondent to file his Answer within 15 days. Instead of filing
an Answer, respondent requested for additional 15 dayswithin
which to comply.?® Thereafter, respondent filed a Motion for
Bill of Particulars* and another Urgent Motion to File
Answer.®*However, for being a prohibited pleading, the IBP
denied the motion for bill of particulars.® With no action yet on
the part of the IBP with regard to his Urgent Motion To File
Answer, respondent again filed an Urgent Motion For Last
Extension To File Answer.” Perhaps exasperated by respondent’ s
delaying tactics, complainant moved that respondent be declared
in default and that he be allowed to present evidence ex-parte.®

In an Order® dated March 17, 2004, the IBP declared
respondent in default and set the mandatory conference on April
28, 2004. In the meantime, respondent moved for the lifting of
the default order® attaching thereto his Answer with
Counterclaim.

Respondent denied complainant’ s charges that he had violated
his oath of office as a lawyer and the Code of Professional
Responsibility. He further alleged that he had been pressuring
the complainant and his mother Tiu Eng Te for the payment of
professional services rendered by his law firm amounting to

21d. at 27.
31d. at 28-29.
41d. at 31-33.
51d. at 35-36.
61d. at 38.
71d. at 40-45.
81d. at 43-45.
91d. at 46.
101d. at 49-53.
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aroundP1.3 Million. And because of thisnon-payment or failure
to arrive at amutually acceptable arrangement for the payment
of his professional fees, he has withheld the filing of cases on
behalf of the complainant and his companies. He also denied
receiving the amount of £235,127.00 from complainant.*

By way of Reply,* complainant insisted that respondent had
received the amount of £235,127.00 intended for payment of
filing fees. Asproof, he submitted photocopies of checks payable
to respondent as well as cash vouchers showing details of said
payment.t

Mandatory conference was thereafter conducted during which
both parties appeared and entered into stipulations. After the
termination of the mandatory conference, both parties were
directed to submit their verified position papers. Only
complainant complied. Respondent failed to submit his position

paper.
Report and Recommendation of the IBP:

The Investigating Commissioner?* found respondent guilty
of violating the Code of Professional Responsibility, particularly
Canon 18, Rules 18.03 and 18.04 as well as Canon 22,
Rule 22.02. He opined that:

As between the claim of Complainant that he gave Respondent
an amount for filing fees of the cases endorsed x x x and the denial
of Respondent we are inclined to agree with Complainant that at
least the amount of P165,127.00 x x X was given to Respondent.
Besides, such bare denial would appear inconsistent with Respondent’ s
own admission that he was forced to hold on the filing of new cases
because of unsettled professional fees. x x x

X X X There is nothing on record to show that Respondent ever
informed Complainant on the status of their case. X x x

L 1d. at 54-62.
21d. at 67-71.
18 1d. at 72-77.
14 Commissioner Caesar R. Dulay.
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Respondent has raised the matter of hisunpaid feesin other cases
handled by him as areason for his not filing the cases. Respondent
has not presented enough evidence to convince us of such unpaid
fees. Besides, it is clear that the papers and documents were given
to him for the specific purpose of filing cases but which Respondent
did not file. He already received the amounts for filing fees. x x x
Respondent has not even accomplished the purpose for which the
monies and documents were given.

X X X XXX X X X

Respondent has not been candid with Complainant in terms of
his handling of the af orementioned accounts contrary to the demands
of the Code of Professional Responsibility.

Respondent is also negligent in not acting on the cases endorsed
to him by Complainant. The fact that there is an outstanding issue
with respect to the payment of his retainer feesin not, to our mind,
a justification for his inaction. The least Respondent would have
doneisto keep the Complainant updated on such cases and candidly
discuss with him the matter of his outstanding fees.

Respondent has not returned any of the papers or documents
demanded by the client after his services were terminated. Nothing
on the record showsthat he returned the documents and files requested.
X X X

XXX XXX XXX

We believe that under the facts presented, Respondent has violated
the Code of Professional Responsibility and should therefore be
disciplined.®®

Thus, the Investigating Commissioner recommended
respondent’ s suspension from the practice of law for a period
of three (3) months and that he be ordered to return the pertinent
files and documents to complainant.’®* The IBP Board of
Governors, in Resolution No. XV11-2006-579 dated December
15, 2006, resolved to adopt the findings of the Investigating
Commissioner but modified the recommended penalty to

15 Report and Recommendation, pp. 7-10; rollo, unpaginated.
% 1d. at 10; id.
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suspension of one (1) year from the practice of law and to return
the files and documents of the complainant,and the amounts
duly supported by receipts.*’

Respondent filed amotion for reconsideration. In Resolution
No. XX-2012-591 dated December 29, 2012, the IBP Board of
Governors granted the same and reinstated the penalty
recommended by the I nvestigating Commissioner of suspension
from the practice of law for a period of three (3) months and
to return the records and documents to complainant.

The records of the case was thereafter transmitted by the IBP
to this Court pursuant to Rule 139-B of the Rules of Court. In
a Manifestation and Clarification dated April 2, 2013,
complainant sought that respondent be also ordered to return
the amount of £235,127.00 to complainant.

| ssues

Before this Court isthelong standing controversy associated
with a retainership agreement — does a lawyer have the right
to hold on to a client’s documents, even after the relationship
of lawyer-client has been terminated, due to non-payment of
his or her professional legal fees? Or is this a ground for
disciplinary action? Did respondent violate the Code of
Professional Responsibility when he failed to file the cases
indorsed by complainant despite receipt of filing fees?

The Court’s Ruling

Relying on the exhaustive fact finding deliberations of the
IBP, we find the complainant’s allegations to be believable
and supported by evidence.

Because he had doubted that respondent ever filed any case
as agreed upon with complainant, the | atter started demanding
from the former the return of all the documents and files he
had given to him at the start of their retainership agreement as
well as the amounts entrusted to him as filing fees. In a span

17 Rollo, unpaginated.
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of roughly two and a half months, complainant wrote respondent
no less than six times. On the other hand, there is no record to
show that respondent ever executed a written reply to any of
the six letters.

We give credence to the allegation that complainant gave
respondent some amount specifically for filing fees, relative
to the cases both parties had earlier agreed to. However, as
correctly noted by the Investigating Commissioner, only the
amount of P165,127.00 out of the alleged P235,127.00 was
duly proved by complainant to have been received by respondent
specifically to defray the expenses for filing fees. Among the
disbursements were100,000.00 for filing and other feesrelative
to the Excellent Quality case (May 10, 1997); £23,000.00 for
the Attachment Bond likewise for Excellent Quality (August
18, 1999); P13,563.50 representing the filing fee of Alex Ty
(August 4, 2000); P13,563.50 representing thefiling fee of Clarita
Tan (August 5, 2000); and £15,000.00 as filing fee for Benny
Lao (August 31, 2001). This total of £165,127.00 is duly
supported by checksissued to respondent and company vouchers
relating to the particular disbursements and which vouchers
were signed by respondent.

Notably, during the mandatory conference held on December
13, 2004, respondent admitted that he received said amounts
from complainant. However, he explained that notwithstanding
receipt of money from complainant, he withheld filing of cases
indorsed to him because complainant had not yet settled his
obligation with respondent’s law office, viz.:

COMM. DULAY:
So did you withhold action on those cases?
ATTY. JMENEZ:

We suspended, Y our Honor, not the services but we withhold
the filing of the cases until after partial settlement at least
of the obligation is settled.®

18 TSN, December 13, 2002, pp. 44-45.
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Similarly, in his motion for reconsideration filed with the
IBP, respondent admitted that he applied the monies he received
from complainant to hisand law office’ s professional feesinstead
of defraying the same as intended, i.e., as filing fees, to wit:

Whatever amount paid by complainant to respondent’ slaw office
were applied as partial payments of respondent’ slaw office professional
fees, and reimbursement of other miscellaneous expenses spent by
the respondent’s law office to complainant x x x.1°

“A lawyer may be disbarred or suspended for any violation
of his oath, a patent disregard of his duties, or an odious
deportment unbecoming an attorney. A lawyer must at no time
be wanting in probity and moral fiber which are not only
conditions precedent to his entrance to the Bar but are likewise
essential demands for his continued membership therein.”?

In particular, the Code of Professional Responsibility, Canon 15,
states:

A lawyer shall observe candor, fairnessand loyalty in all hisdealings
and transactions with his clients.

Respondent fell short in being fair and loyal to his client,
herein complainant.

Rules 18.03 further states:

A lawyer shall not neglect alegal matter entrusted to him, and his
negligence in connection therewith shall render him liable.

Respondent did not even file the cases for which he was
engaged and upon which he collected filing fees.

Rule 18.04 continues:

A lawyer shall keep the client informed of the status of his case
and shall respond within areasonable timeto the client’ s request for
information.

18 Motion for Reconsideration, pp. 7-8.
20 penilla v. Atty. Alcid, Jr., 717 Phil. 210, 219 (2013).
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Respondent was utterly lacking in this responsibility to his
client as he unfairly kept him in the dark, misleading him for
seven years,

Whilethe same Code of Professional Responsibility recognizes
theright of alawyer to have alien over the funds and property
of his client as may be necessary to satisfy his lawful fees,
Rule 16.03 demands that “[a] lawyer shall deliver the funds
and property of his client when due or upon demand.” Thisis
areiteration of Rule 16.01, which states that “[a] lawyer shall
account for all money and property collected or received for
or from the client.”

“A lawyer should be scrupulously careful in handling money
entrusted to him in his professional capacity. Consequently,
when a lawyer receives money from a client for a particular
purpose, the lawyer is bound to render an accounting to his
client, showing that he spent the money for the purpose
intended.” %

Respondent miserably disregarded the mandate of
accountability expected of him.

The respondent’ s issue on the supposed non-payment of his
fees should have prompted him to seek communication with
complainant and resolve such matter. He should not have used
the same asaground for hisinaction insofar asthe casesreferred
to him were concerned. “ A lawyer’ snegligence in the discharge
of hisobligations arising from the relationship of counsel and
client may cause delay in the administration of justice and
prejudice the rights of alitigant particularly his client. Thus,
from the perspective of the ethics of the legal profession, a
lawyer’slethargy in carrying out his dutiesto hisclient isboth
unprofessional and unethical.”# “Indeed, under their sacred
oath, lawyers pledge not to delay any person for money or
malice.”?

2! Mejares, v. Atty. Romana, 469 Phil. 619, 627-628 (2004).
22 Belleza v. Atty. Macasa, 611 Phil. 179, 188 (2009).
2 Macarilay v. Serifia, 497 Phil. 348, 356 (2005).
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Neither should the said issue have been the reason for his
failureto return the documents of hisclient. Rule 22.02 mandates
him to do so: “A lawyer who withdraws or is discharged shall,
subject to aretainer lien, immediately turn all papersand property
to which the client is entitled...x x x.”

In the recent en banc case of Fabiev. Atty. Real,?* the Court
suspended the errant lawyer from the practice of law for six
(6) months for failing to return the documents and money
entrusted to him by hisclient. At the sametime, he was ordered
to return the money with legal interest from the time he received
the same until full payment thereof. In the present case, records
show that respondent received the total amount of P165,127.00
asfollows; £100,000.00 on May 10, 1997; £23,000.00 on August
18, 1999; £13,563.50 on August 4, 2000; another £13,563.50
on August 5, 2000; and £15,000.00 on August 31, 2001.% Thus,
pursuant to our ruling in Fabie, respondent must return the
aforesaid amounts to complainant with interest at the legal rate
of 12% per annum from their respective date of receipt until
June 30, 2013, and 6% per annum from July 1, 2013 until full
payment.

WHEREFORE, respondent Atty. Diosdado B. Jimenez is
found GUILTY of violation of the Code of Professional
Responsibility and the Lawyer’'s Oath and is hereby
SUSPENDED from the practice of law for six (6) months and
ORDERED to return to complainant within ten (10) daysfrom
notice all the pertinent records and documents, and the amounts
of £100,000.00; £23,000.00; £13,653.50; another P13,653.50;
and P15,000.00, or atotal of P165,127.00, with interest of 12%
per annum reckoned from the respective date of receipt until
June 30, 2013, and 6% per annum from July 1, 2013 until full
payment. Respondent isWARNED that commission of the same
or similar infraction in the future will merit amore severe penalty.
Respondent is also directed to submit proof of his compliance
within 30 days from receipt of this Decision.

2 A.C. No. 10574, September 20, 2016.
% Records, pp. 72, 74-77.
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Let copies of this Decision be furnished the Office of the
Bar Confidant to be entered in the personal records of respondent
and the Office of the Court Administrator for dissemination to
all courts.

SO ORDERED.

Carpio (Chairperson), Brion, Mendoza, and Leonen, JJ.,
concur.

THIRD DIVISION
[G.R. No. 177250. November 28, 2016]

ROSITA B. LIM, on her behalf and on behalf of her (then)
minor children namely, JENNIFER, L YSANDER and
BEVERLIE, petitioners, vs. LUIS TAN, ALFONSO
TAN, EUSEBIO TAN, WILLIAM TAN, VICENTE
TAN,JOAQUIN TAN, ANG TIAT CHUAN, respondents.

[G.R. No. 177422. November 28, 2016]

LUISTAN, ALFONSO TAN, EUSEBIO TAN, WILLIAM
TAN, VICENTE TAN, JOAQUIN TAN, ANG TIAT
CHUAN, petitioners, vs. ROSITA B.LIM, on her behalf
and on behalf of her (then) minor children namely,
JENNIFER, LYSANDER and BEVERL I E, respondents.

[G.R. No. 177676. November 28, 2016]

ANG TIAT CHUAN, petitioner, vs. ROSITA B.LIM, on her
behalf and on behalf of her (then) minor children
namely, JENNIFER, LYSANDER and BEVERLIE,
respondents.
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SYLLABUS

1. REMEDIAL LAW; CIVIL PROCEDURE; APPEALS;
PETITION FOR REVIEW ON CERTIORARI; AN
EXAMINATION OF FACTUAL CIRCUMSTANCES IS
OUTSIDE THE PROVINCE THEREOF; EXCEPTION.—
Inthe case at bar, the challenge essentially posed isthe propriety
of the awarded damages, attorney’ sfees and litigation expenses.
Toresolve said issue, an examination of factual circumstances
would be necessary, atask that is clearly outside the province
of a petition for review on certiorari. Nevertheless, this case
has been dragged down for ages and the Court would like to
put the whole matter to rest; hence, areview isjustified by the
need to make a definitive finding on this factual issue in light
of the differing amounts of damages and attorney’ s fees awarded
by the courts below.

2. CIVIL LAW; OBLIGATIONS AND CONTRACTS;
DAMAGES;, DAMAGES THAT MAY BE RECOVERED
WHEN DEATH OCCURS DUE TO A CRIME.— After a
careful examination of the present case, the Court sustains the
awarded damages, attorney’s fees and litigation expenses of
the appellate court, but modifiesthe amount of the civil indemnity
awarded to the heirs of Florentino. “[I]t is jurisprudentially
settled that when death occurs due to a crime, the following
may be recovered: (1) civil indemnity ex delicto for the death
of the victim; (2) actual or compensatory damages; (3) moral
damages; (4) exemplary damages; (5) attorney’s fees and
expenses of litigation; and (6) interest, in proper case.”

3. ID.; ID.; ID.; IN IMPOSING THE PROPER AMOUNT OF
DAMAGES, THE PRINCIPAL CONSIDERATION ISTHE
PENALTY PROVIDED BY LAW OR IMPOSABLE FOR
THE OFFENSE BECAUSE OF ITSHEINOUSNESS AND
NOT THE PUBLIC PENALTY ACTUALLY IMPOSED ON
THE OFFENDER.— In imposing the proper amount of
damages, the principal consideration is the penalty provided
by law or imposable for the offense because of its heinousness
and not the public penalty actually imposed on the offender.
Essentially, despite the fact that the death penalty cannot be
imposed because of Republic Act (R.A.) No. 9346, theimposable
penalty as provided by law for the crime, such as those found
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inR.A. No. 7569, must be used as the basisfor awarding damages
and not the actual penalty imposed.

4. 1D.; ID.; ID.; CIVIL INDEMNITY; AWARDED TO THE
OFFENDED PARTY AS A KIND OF MONETARY
RESTITUTION OR COMPENSATION TO THE VICTIM
FOR THE DAMAGE ORINFRACTION THAT WASDONE
TO THE LATTER BY THE ACCUSED, WHICH IN A
SENSE ONLY COVERS THE CIVIL ASPECT; AWARD
OF CIVIL INDEMNITY INCREASED TO £100,000.00.—
Here, the Court sustainsthe award of civil indemnity but increases
its amount to P100,000.00 in accordance with recent
jurisprudence. “In our jurisdiction, civil indemnity is awarded
to the offended party as a kind of monetary restitution or
compensation to the victim for the damage or infraction that
was done to the latter by the accused, which in a sense only
covers the civil aspect. Thus, in a crime where a person dies,
in addition to the penalty of imprisonment imposed to the
offender, the accused is also ordered to pay the victim a sum
of money as restitution.”

5.1D.; ID.; ID.; ACTUAL DAMAGES; FOR ONE TO BE
ENTITLED TO ACTUAL DAMAGES,IT ISNECESSARY
TO PROVE THE ACTUAL AMOUNT OF LOSSWITH A
REASONABLE DEGREE OF CERTAINTY, PREMISED
UPON COMPETENT PROOF AND THE BEST EVIDENCE
OBTAINABLE BY THE INJURED PARTY.— The CA’s
deletion of the award of actual and compensatory damageswhich
included the loss of earning capacity of the victimisalso proper.
“For one to be entitled to actual damages, it is necessary to
prove the actual amount of loss with a reasonable degree of
certainty, premised upon competent proof and the best evidence
obtainable by the injured party.” More so, the RTC awarded
damages for loss of earning capacity based solely on the
deposition of Rositawithout even requiring other documentary
evidenceto prove the same. Although Rositatestified asto the
annual income of Florentino, she failed to substantiate the same
by documentary evidence.

6. ID.; ID.; ID.; ID.; LOSS OF EARNING CAPACITY; FOR
AN AWARD OF LOSS OF INCOME DUE TO DEATH,
THERE MUST BE UNBIASED PROOF OF THE
DECEASED’S AVERAGE INCOME, AS CREDENCE
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CANBE GIVENONLY TOCLAIMSWHICH AREDULY
SUPPORTED BY RECEIPTS.— Theindemnification for loss
of earning capacity partakes of the nature of actual damages
which must be duly proven by competent proof and the best
obtainable evidence thereof. For loss of income due to death,
there must be unbiased proof of the deceased’ s average income.
Credence can be given only to claimswhich are duly supported
by receipts. Courts cannot simply rely on speculation, conjecture
or guesswork in determining the fact and amount of damages.
Evidently, Rosita merely gave a self-serving testimony of her
husband’s income. No proof of the victim’s expenses was
adduced; thus there can be no reliabl e estimate of hislost income.
Accordingly, the award of loss of earning capacity was aptly
deleted for lack of basis.

7.1D.;1D.; ID.; TEMPERATE DAMAGES, WHICH ARE MORE

8.

THAN NOMINAL BUT LESS THAN COMPENSATORY
DAMAGES, MAY BE RECOVERED WHEN THE COURT
FINDS THAT SOME PECUNIARY LOSS HAS BEEN
SUFFERED BUT ITS AMOUNT CANNOT, FROM THE
NATURE OF THE CASE, BE PROVED WITH
CERTAINTY; TEMPERATE DAMAGESINTHE AMOUNT
OF P350,000.00 AWARDED IN CONSIDERATION OF THE
SOCIAL STATUS AND REPUTATION OF THEVICTIM .—
[T]he CA properly awarded temperate damages, in lieu of actual
damages, considering that Rositawas unable to prove the actual
expenses incurred by the death of his husband. “According to
Article 2224 of the Civil Code, temperate damages, which are
more than nominal but less than compensatory damages, may
be recovered when the court finds that some pecuniary loss
has been suffered but its amount cannot, from the nature of the
case, be proved with certainty. Here, there is no doubt that
pecuniary expenses were incurred in the funeral and burial of
Florentino and the award of temperate damages shall answer
for the same in the amount of £350,000.00, in consideration of
the social status and reputation of the victim.

ID.; ID.; ID.; MORAL DAMAGES; NOT INTENDED TO
ENRICH THE VICTIM’S HEIRS BUT RATHER THEY
ARE AWARDED TOALLOW THEM TO OBTAIN MEANS
FORDIVERSION THAT COULD SERVETOALLEVIATE
THEIR MORAL AND PSYCHOLOGICAL SUFFERINGS;
MORAL DAMAGESIN THE AMOUNT OF £150,000.00,
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AWARDED.— The Court also agrees with the finding of the
CA that the award of moral damages of £25,000,000.00 by the
RTC is excessive, if not exorbitant. “Moral damages are not
intended to enrich the victim’ s heirs but rather they are awarded
to allow them to obtain means for diversion that could serve to
alleviate their moral and psychological sufferings.” As borne
out by human nature and experience, aviolent death invariably
and necessarily brings about emotional pain and anguish on
the part of the victim’s family. In cases of murder, the award
of moral damages is mandatory without need of allegation and
proof other than the death of the victim. The award of moral
damages of £150,000.00 in the present case is proper.

9. ID.; ID.; ID.; EXEMPLARY DAMAGES; SERVE AS A
DETERRENT TO SERIOUS WRONG DOINGS AND AS
A VINDICATION OF UNDUE SUFFERINGS AND
WANTON INVASION OF THE RIGHTSOF AN INJURED
OR A PUNISHMENT FOR THOSE GUILTY OF
OUTRAGEOUS CONDUCT; AWARD OF #£150,000.00
EXEMPLARY DAMAGES, UPHELD.— [T]he rule in the
Court’sjurisdiction is that exemplary damages are awarded in
addition to moral damages. Under Article 2229 of the Civil
Code, exemplary damages are imposed by way of example or
correction for the public good. The purpose of exemplary
damages is to serve as a deterrent to serious wrong doings and
as a vindication of undue sufferings and wanton invasion of
the rights of an injured or a punishment for those guilty of
outrageous conduct. Here, the Court upholds the amount of
P150,000.00 as exemplary damages.

10. ID.; ID.; ID.; ATTORNEY'S FEES AND LITIGATION
EXPENSES; LEGAL GROUNDS FOR THE AWARD
THEREOF; AWARD OF ATTORNEY’S FEES AND
LITIGATION EXPENSES OF £150,000.00 AND £350,00.00,
RESPECTIVELY, SUSTAINED.— [A]s a general rule, the
parties may stipulate the recovery of attorney’s fees. In the
absence of such stipulation, Article 2208 of the Civil Code
enumerates the legal groundswhich justify or warrant the grant
of attorney’s fees and expenses of litigation, and this case
qualifiesfor thefirst and eleventh reasons why attorney’s fees
are awarded, namely: (a) when exemplary damages are awarded,;
and (b) in any other case where the court deems it just and
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equitable that attorney’ s fees and expenses of litigation should
berecovered. Considering that the Court has awarded exemplary
damages in this case, attorney’s fees can likewise be awarded.
Sincethis case has been hauled on for too long, the Court concurs
with the ratiocination of the RTC in awarding attorney’s fees
and litigation expenses of £150,000.00 and £350,000.00,
respectively, bearing in mind the legal extent of the work
undertaken as well as the length of time that had elapsed to
prosecute this case.

11. ID.; ID.; ID.; INTEREST; LEGAL INTEREST OF SIX
PERCENT (6%) PER ANNUM ON ALL THE DAMAGES
AWARDED FROM THE DATE OF FINALITY OF THE
DECISION UNTIL FULLY PAID, GRANTED.—
Considering the reputation and social status of the victim at
the time of his death, the Court sustains the awarded damages,
attorney’ s fees and litigation expenses granted by the CA. The
amount of civil indemnity is, however, increased to £100,000.00
in accordance with recent jurisprudence. Lastly, the heirs of
Florentino should likewise be granted an interest at the legal
rate of six percent (6%) per annum on all the damages awarded
from the date of finality of this Decision until fully paid.

APPEARANCES OF COUNSEL

H.V. Mina Law Office for Rosita B. Lim, et al.
Florido & Largo Law Office for Ang Tiat Chuan.
Fortun Narvasa & Salazar for Luis Tan, etc. et al.

DECISION
REYES, J.:

Assailed in these consolidated petitions for review on
certiorari! are the Decision? dated August 18, 2006 and

! Rollo (G.R. No. 177250), pp. 10-38; rollo (G.R. No. 177676), pp. 3-16.

2 Penned by Associate Justice Juan Q. Enriquez, Jr., with Associate Justices
Godardo A. Jacinto and Magdangal M. De Leon concurring; rollo (G.R.
No. 177250), pp. 40-56.
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Resolution® dated March 29, 2007 of the Court of Appeals (CA)
in CA-G.R. CV No. 70301, which affirmed with modification
the Decision* dated June 21, 1999 of the Regional Trial Court
(RTC) of Manila, Branch 37, in Civil Case No. 83-15633 for
Damages.

The Facts

This case spawned from the death of Florentino Lim
(Florentino), a scion of the wealthy Lim Ket Kai family of
Cagayan de Oro City, on August 25, 1973. Upon investigation,
LuisTan (Luis), William Tan, Joaquin Tan, Vicente Tan, Alfonso
Tan and Eusebio Tan (the Tan brothers), and Ang Tiat Chuan
(Chuan), together with eight others, were charged with murder
before Military Commission No. 1.°

InaDecision dated June 10, 1976, the Military Commission
found L uis, Chuan, and four of their co-accused, namely, Mariano
Velez, Jr., Antonio Ocasiones, L eopoldo Nicolas, and Marciano
Benemerito, guilty of murder. On the other hand, the other
brothers of Luiswere acquitted of the charges and were released
on June 11, 1976.5

The said judgment, however, simply concluded the criminal
prosecution of those already haled to court but it did not entomb
theindignant feelings instigated by the death of Florentino.
Thus, on February 11, 1983, Rosita B. Lim (Rosita), wife of
the deceased Florentino, together with her then minor children
Jennifer, Lysander and Beverlie, all surnamed Lim Ket Kai
(collectively, the petitioners), commenced a civil action for
damages in the RTC of Manila, against all those charged with
the slaying of Florentino.”

3 1d. at 58-59.

4 Rendered by Judge Vicente A. Hidalgo; rollo (G.R. No. 177676), pp.
37-78.

5 Rollo (G.R. No. 177250), pp. 41-42.
61d. at 42.
7 1d.
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After trial, the court a quo rendered judgment in favor of
the petitioners. The dispositive portion reads:

WHEREFORE, judgment is hereby rendered ordering the surviving
Defendants and the heirs and successors-in-interest of the deceased
Defendants, who have been substituted in their place as Defendants,
to pay to the [petitioners], jointly and severally, the following amounts;

1.  Fifteen million one hundred thousand pesos (P15,100,000.00)
as actual and compensatory damages;

2. Twenty-five million pesos (£25,000,000.00) as moral
damages;
Ten million pesos (P10,000,000.00) as exemplary damages;

One million pesos (P1,000,000.00) as and by way of attorney’s
fees;

5.  Five hundred thousand pesos (P500,000.00) for litigation
expenses; and

6. The costs of the suit.
SO ORDERED.®

Disagreeing with the RTC decision, the Tan brothers and
Chuan filed a motion for reconsideration but it was denied;
hence, they filed an appeal before the CA.

On appeal, the CA rendered the herein assailed decision,
which modified the trial court’s ruling, to wit:

WHEREFORE, premises considered, the Decision dated June
21, 1999 and the Order dated February 10, 2000 are hereby
MODIFIED, as follows:

1. Defendants-appellants[Luis], [Chuan], Mariano Velez, Jr.[,]
Antonio Ocasiones, Leopoldo Nicolas, Marciano Benemerito,
and Oscar Y aun are hereby ordered to pay the [petitioners],
jointly and severally, the following amounts:

(@) Fifty Thousand Pesos (P50,000.00) as civil indemnity
for the death of [Florentino];

8 Rollo (G.R. No. 177676), p. 78.
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(b)  Three Hundred Fifty Thousand Pesos (350,000.00)
as temperate damages;

(c) OneHundred Fifty Thousand Pesos (P150,000.00) as
moral damages,

(d)  OneHundred Fifty Thousand Pesos (P150,000.00) as
exemplary damages;

(e) One Hundred Thousand Pesos (£100,000.00) as
attorney’s fees; and

(f)  One Hundred Thousand Pesos (£100,000.00) as
litigation expenses,

2. The claims against appellants Alfonso Tan, Eusebio Tan,
William Tan, Vicente Tan, Joaquin Tan and Enrique Labita,
stated in the Amended Complaint are hereby denied for lack
of merit.

SO ORDERED.®

Both parties respectively moved for reconsideration, but the
CA Resolution® dated March 29, 2007 denied their motions.
Thereafter, the partiesfiled their respective petitionsfor review
oncertiorari: G.R. No. 177250 was initiated by the petitioners,
G.R. No. 177422 wasfiled by Luis, and G.R. No. 177676 was
commenced by Chuan. These petitionswere ordered consolidated
by the Court in its Resolution! dated June 20, 2007.

The Court resolved to give due course to the instant
petitionsand required the parties to submit their respective
comments and replies. However, in G.R No. 177422, therein
petitioners have failed to file the necessary petition for review
to date after the Court granted the substitution by the heirs of
Luisin its Resolution® dated September 19, 2007.

® Rollo (G.R. No. 177250), pp. 54-55.
101d. at 58-59.

d. at 65.

2 1d. at 126A-126C.
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The I ssue

The sole issue to be resolved is whether the CA erred in
modifying the damages, attorney’ sfees and litigation expenses
awarded to the heirs of Florentino.

Ruling of the Court
The petition is partly meritorious.

In the case at bar, the challenge essentially posed is the
propriety of the awarded damages, attorney’ sfeesand litigation
expenses. To resolve said issue, an examination of factual
circumstances would be necessary, atask that is clearly outside
the province of apetition for review on certiorari. Nevertheless,
this case has been dragged down for ages and the Court would
like to put the whole matter to rest; hence, areview isjustified
by the need to make a definitive finding on this factual issue
in light of the differing amounts of damages and attorney’s
fees awarded by the courts below.

After a careful examination of the present case, the Court
sustains the awarded damages, attorney’s fees and litigation
expenses of the appellate court, but modifies the amount of the
civil indemnity awarded to the heirs of Florentino.

“[It isjurisprudentially settled that when death occurs due
to acrime, the following may be recovered: (1) civil indemnity
ex delicto for the death of thevictim; (2) actual or compensatory
damages; (3) moral damages; (4) exemplary damages; (5)
attorney’s fees and expenses of litigation; and (6) interest, in
proper cases.”®

In imposing the proper amount of damages, the principal
consideration is the penalty provided by law or imposable for
the offense because of its heinousness and not the public penalty
actually imposed on the offender. Essentially, despite the fact
that the death penalty cannot be imposed because of Republic

13 people v. Dadao, et al., 725 Phil. 298, 315-316 (2014).
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Act (R.A.) No. 9346,* the imposable penalty as provided by
law for the crime, such asthose found in R.A. No. 7569, must
be used as the basis for awarding damages and not the actual
penalty imposed.®

Here, the Court sustains the award of civil indemnity but
increases its amount to £100,000.00 in accordance with recent
jurisprudence. “Inour jurisdiction, civil indemnity isawarded
to the offended party as a kind of monetary restitution or
compensation to the victim for the damage or infraction that
was done to the latter by the accused, which in a sense only
covers the civil aspect. Thus, in acrime where a person dies,
in addition to the penalty of imprisonment imposed to the
offender, the accused is also ordered to pay the victim a sum
of money as restitution.”’

The CA’sdeletion of the award of actual and compensatory
damages which included the loss of earning capacity of the
victimisalso proper. “For oneto be entitled to actual damages,
itisnecessary to provethe actual amount of losswith areasonable
degree of certainty, premised upon competent proof and the
best evidence obtainable by the injured party.”*® More so, the
RTC awarded damages for |oss of earning capacity based solely
on the deposition of Rosita without even requiring other
documentary evidence to prove the same. Although Rosita
testified as to the annual income of Florentino, she failed to
substantiate the same by documentary evidence.

14 AN ACT PROHIBITING THE IMPOSITION OF DEATH PENALTY
IN THE PHILIPPINES. Approved on June 24, 2006.

15 AN ACT TO IMPOSE THE DEATH PENALTY ON CERTAIN
HEINOUS CRIMES, AMENDING FOR THAT PURPOSE THE REVISED
PENAL LAWS, ASAMENDED, OTHER SPECIAL PENAL LAWS, AND
FOR OTHER PURPOSES. Approved on December 13, 1993.

16 people of the Philippines v. Ireneo Jugueta, G.R. No. 202124, April 5,
2016.

71d.

18 pegplev. Villar, G.R. No. 202708, April 13, 2015, 755 SCRA 346, 355,
citing OMC Carriers, Inc., et al. v. Spouses Nabua, 636 Phil. 634, 650 (2010).
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Theindemnification for loss of earning capacity partakes of
the nature of actual damages which must be duly proven by
competent proof and the best obtainable evidence thereof. For
loss of income due to death, there must be unbiased proof of
the deceased’ s average income. Credence can be given only
to claimswhich are duly supported by receipts.’® Courts cannot
simply rely on speculation, conjecture or guesswork in
determining the fact and amount of damages.?

Evidently, Rosita merely gave a self-serving testimony of
her husband’s income. No proof of the victim’'s expenses
was adduced; thus, there can be no reliable estimate of
his lost income. Accordingly, the award of loss of earning
capacity was aptly deleted for lack of basis.

Nevertheless, the CA properly awarded temperate damages,
inlieu of actual damages, considering that Rosita was
unable to provethe actual expenses incurred by the death
of his husband. “According to Article 2224 of the Civil Code,
temperate damages, which are more than nominal but less
than compensatory damages, may be recovered when the
court finds that some pecuniary loss has been suffered but
its amount cannot, from the nature of the case, be proved with
certainty.”?! Here, there is no doubt that pecuniary expenses
were incurred in the funeral and burial of Florentino and the
award of temperate damages shall answer for the same in
the amount of £350,000.00, in consideration to the social status
and reputation of the victim.

The Court also agrees with the finding of the CA that
the award of moral damages of £25,000,000.00 by the RTC is
excessive, if not exorbitant. “Moral damages are not intended
to enrich thevictim’ sheirs but rather they are awarded to allow

19 People v. Villar, supra, citing OMC Carriers, Inc., et al. v. Spouses
Nabua, supra.

20 Bacolod v. People, 714 Phil. 90, 99 (2013), citing Tan, et al. v. OMC
Carriers, Inc., et al., 654 Phil. 443, 454 (2011).

2! Bacolod v. People, supra.
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them to obtain meansfor diversion that could serveto alleviate
their moral and psychological sufferings.”?? As borne out by
human nature and experience, a violent death invariably and
necessarily brings about emotional pain and anguish on the
part of the victim’'s family. In cases of murder, the award of
moral damages is mandatory without need of allegation and
proof other than the death of the victim.?® The award of moral
damages of £150,000.00 in the present case is proper.

Corollarily, the rule in the Court’s jurisdiction is that
exemplary damages are awarded in addition to moral damages.
Under Article 2229 of the Civil Code, exemplary damages are
imposed by way of example or correction for the public good.
The purpose of exemplary damages is to serve as a deterrent
to serious wrong doings and as avindication of undue sufferings
and wanton invasion of the rights of an injured or a punishment
for those guilty of outrageous conduct.?* Here, the Court upholds
the amount of £150,000.00 as exemplary damages.

Finally, asageneral rule, the parties may stipulate the recovery
of attorney’ sfees. Inthe absence of such stipulation, Article 2208
of the Civil Code enumerates the legal grounds which justify
or warrant the grant of attorney’ sfees and expenses of litigation,
and this case qualifies for the first and eleventh reasons why
attorney’s fees are awarded, namely: (a) when exemplary
damages are awarded; and (b) in any other case where the court
deems it just and equitable that attorney’s fees and expenses
of litigation should be recovered.

Considering that the Court has awarded exemplary damages
in this case, attorney’s fees can likewise be awarded. Since
this case has been hauled on for too long, the Court concurs
with the ratiocination of the RTC in awarding attorney’s fees
and litigation expenses of £150,000.00 and £350,000.00,

22 people v. Ocampo, 616 Phil. 839, 845 (2009).
2 People v. De Jesus, et al., 655 Phil. 657, 676 (2011).

% people v. Combate, 653 Phil. 487, 507-508 (2010), citing People v.
Dalisay, 620 Phil. 831, 844-845 (2009).
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respectively, bearing in mind the legal extent of the work
undertaken as well as the length of time that had elapsed to
prosecute this case.

In sum, considering the reputation and social status of the
victim at the time of his death, the Court sustains the awarded
damages, attorney’s fees and litigation expenses granted by
the CA. The amount of civil indemnity is, however, increased
to P100,000.00 in accordance with recent jurisprudence. Lastly,
the heirs of Florentino should likewise be granted an interest
at thelegal rate of six percent (6%) per annumon all the damages
awarded from the date of finality of this Decision until fully
paid.

WHEREFORE, the Decision dated August 18, 2006 and
Resolution dated March 29, 2007 of the Court of Appealsin
CA-G.R. CV No. 70301 are AFFIRMED with the
MODIFICATION ordering the adjustment of the civil indemnity
to One Hundred Thousand Pesos (P100,000.00). All damages
awarded shall earn interest at the rate of six percent (6%) per
annum from the date of finality of this Decision until fully
paid.

SO ORDERED.

Velasco, Jr. (Chairperson), Peralta, Perez, and Jardeleza,
JJ., concur.
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THIRD DIVISION
[G.R. No. 185082. November 28, 2016]

MANDAUE REALTY & RESOURCES CORPORATION
and MANDAUE CITY REGISTER OF DEEDS,
petitioners, vs. THE COURT OF APPEALS and
BANGKO SENTRAL NG PILIPINAS, respondents.

SYLLABUS

1. REMEDIAL LAW; SPECIAL CIVIL ACTIONS; PETITION
FOR CERTIORARI; DISTINGUISHED FROM PETITION
FOR MANDAMUS.— A petition for certiorari will only lie
in case of grave abuse of discretion. It may be issued only where
itisclearly shown that thereis patent and gross abuse of discretion
as to amount to an evasion of positive duty or virtual refusal
to perform aduty enjoined by law, or to act at all in contemplation
of law, aswhere the power isexercised in an arbitrary or despotic
manner by reason of passion or personal hostility. Mandamus,
on the other hand, is a command issuing from a court of law
of competent jurisdiction, in the name of the state or the
sovereign, directed to some inferior court, tribunal, or board,
or to some corporation or person requiring the performance of
aparticular duty therein specified, which duty results from the
official station of the party to whom the writ is directed or
from operation of law.

2.1D.; APPEALS; APPEALSFROM JUDGMENTSAND FINAL
ORDERSOF THE REGIONAL TRIAL COURTS; MODES
OF APPEAL.— The CA did not act with grave abuse of
discretion amounting to lack or excess of jurisdiction when it
denied MARRECOQ'’s Motion to Dismiss Appeal and assumed
jurisdiction over BSP's Appeal. Section 2, Rule 41 of the Rules
of Court governs appeals from judgments and final orders of
the RTC x x x. In Sevilleno v. Carilo, citing Macawiwili Gold
Mining and Development Co., Inc. v. Court of Appeals, we
summarized: (1) Inall cases decided by the RTC in the exercise
of itsoriginal jurisdiction, appeal may be made to the Court of
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Appeals by mere notice of appeal where the appellant raises
qguestion of fact or mixed questions of fact and law; (2) In
all cases decided by the RTC in the exercise of its original
jurisdiction where the appellant raises only questions of law,
the appeal must be taken to the Supreme Court on a petition
for review on certiorari under Rule 45[;] (3) All appeals from
judgments rendered by the RTC in the exercise of its appellate
jurisdiction, regardless of whether the appellant rai ses questions
of fact, questions of law, or mixed questions of fact and law,
shall be brought to the Court of Appeals by filing apetition for
review under Rule 42.

3. 1D.; ID.; QUESTION OF LAW DISTINGUISHED FROM

QUESTION OF FACT; TEST.— A question of law exists
when there is doubt or controversy as to what the law is on a
certain state of facts, and there is a question of fact when the
doubt or difference arises as to the truth or falsehood of facts,
or when the query necessarily invites calibration of the whole
evidence considering mainly the credibility of witnesses,
existence and relevancy of specific surrounding circumstances,
their relation to each other and to the whole and probabilities
of the situation. No examination of the probative value of the
evidence would be necessary to resolve a question of law. The
opposite is true with respect to questions of fact. The test of
whether a question is one of law or fact is not the appellation
given to such question by the party raising the same. It iswhether
the appellate court can determine the issue raised without
reviewing or evaluating the evidence and would only limit itsel f
to the inquiry of whether the law was properly applied given
the facts and supporting evidence. Such is a question of law.
Otherwise, it is a question of fact.

4.1D.; ID.; AN APPEAL FROM THE FINAL ORDER OF THE

REGIONAL TRIAL COURT RAISING MIXED
QUESTIONSOF LAW AND FACT MUST BE BROUGHT
BEFORE THE COURT OF APPEALS ON ORDINARY
APPEAL UNDER RULE 41OF THE RULESOF COURT.—
We find that BSP’ s appeal does not only involve questions of
law. It also involves questions of fact. Theallegationsin BSP’'s
complaint and appellant’s brief as to the antecedent facts that
led to the cancellation of TCT No. 46781 create an uncertainty
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on the propriety of the trial court’s pronouncement that to
entertain BSP’'s complaint would amount to an intrusion into
an order of a co-equal court and call for a calibration of the
evidence on record. Also telling is BSP's allegation that it is
amortgagee-in-good faith who obtained itstitle to the property
by being the highest bidder during the auction sale in the
foreclosure proceedings. As an innocent third party, it is not
bound by whatever transpired between Gotesco and MARRECO.
These matters constitute a question of fact and not a question
of law asMARRECO would liketo present it. x x X. Given the
mixed questions of law and fact raised, BSP properly elevated
the RTC’s March 22, 2007 Order to the CA on ordinary appeal
under Rule 41, Section 2 of the Rules of Court.

APPEARANCES OF COUNSEL

Bernas Law Officesand Diosdado P. Peralta for petitioner.
Fe Becina-Macalino & Associates for respondent BSP.

DECISION
JARDELEZA, J..

This is a Petition for Certiorari and Mandamus! assailing
the Resol utions dated July 25, 20082 and October 21, 20082 of
the Court of Appeals (CA) in CA-G.R. CEB-CV No. 02009.
The assailed Resol utions denied the Motion to Dismiss Appeal
filed by Mandaue Realty and Resources Corporation
(MARRECO). MARRECO claimed that the appeal filed by the

! Rollo, pp. 3-48.

2 |d. at 301-304. Penned by Associate Justice Priscilla Baltazar-Padilla
with Associate Justices Franchito N. Diamante and Amy C. Lazaro-Javier
as members.

3 1d. at 318-321.
41d. at 273-299.
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Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas (BSP) under Rule 41 of the Rules
of Court was erroneous as the issues involved pure questions
of law which are the proper subjects of apetition for review on
certiorari under Rule 45.

Facts

On October 18, 2006, BSP filed a Complaint for Annulment
of Title/Reconveyance/Reinstatement of Title® (Complaint) against
MARRECO docketed as Civil Case No. MAN-5524 before the
Regional Trial Court (RTC) of Mandaue City, Branch 56.°

BSP prayed that Transfer Certificate of Title (TCT) No. 544567
covering Lot 1-K-6-D-1 with an area of forty thousand two
hundred fifty seven square meters (40,257 sq.m.) in Barangays
Poblacion and Subangdaku, Mandaue, Cebu registered in the
name of MARRECO be cancelled and that TCT No. 467818
covering the same property and registered in the name of BSP
be reinstated.® In support of its prayer, BSP argued that the
Order dated January 19, 2004 in Civil Case No. MAN-3902
entitled Gotesco Properties, Inc. v. Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas,
et al. rendered by RTC Branch 55, Mandaue City, nullifying
BSP stitleto the property and restoring the sameto MARRECO,
was null and void.**

The dispositive portion of the Order dated January 19, 2004
in Civil Case No. MAN-3902 reads:

WHEREFORE, judgment is hereby rendered dismissing Gotesco’ s
original complaint and the counterclaim of BSP for being moot and
academic; and on the complaint-in-intervention, and annulling:

51d. at 49-61.
61d. at 8.

71d. at 96.

81d. at 94-95.
91d. at 58.
101d. at 117-138.
L d. at 51-54.
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1.

The Deed of Absolute Sale (Annex “B”, Marreco complaint)
executed by Marreco in favor of Gotesco;

The Deed of Real Estate Mortage executed by Ever Electrical
and Manufacturing, Inc. and Gotesco Properties, Inc. in favor
of Orient Commercial Banking Corporation dated January
13, 1998 over TCT No. 41450, Register of Deeds, Mandaue
City (Annex “B”, Gotesco Amended Complaint);

The Deed of Assignment executed by Orient Commercial
Banking Corporation in favor of Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas
dated January 9, 1998 in TCT No. 41450 (Annex “E”, Marreco
Complaint);

The Certificate of Sale executed by Atty. Joseph Boholst in
favor of Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas dated September 20,
1998 in TCT No. 41450 (Annex “C”, Gotesco Complaint);

The Affidavit of Consolidation executed by Bangko Sentral
ng Pilipinas dated September 26, 2000, annotated in TCT
No. 41450, Annex “F” (Marreco Complaint).

The Court further orders:

1.

The cancellation of TCT No. 41450 issued in the name of
Gotesco Properties, Inc. (Annex “A”, Gotesco Complaint);

The restoration or reinstatement of TCT No. 40447 in the
name of Mandaue Realty and Resources Corporation (Annex
“A”, Marreco Complaint) and cancelling annotations under
Entry Nos. 5184, 5185, 5186, and 5187, all inscribed on
August 21, 1997 in the Memorandum of Encumbrances
thereof;

Gotesco Properties, Inc. to pay to Mandaue Realty and
Resources Corporation the sum of £1,000,000.00 for and as
attorney[’s] fees.

SO ORDERED.*?

Instead of answering BSP’s Complaint, MARRECO filed a
Motion to Dismiss® dated January 29, 2007 alleging, among

21d. at 137-138.
B1d. at 97-116.
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others, that: (1) RTC Branch 56 has no jurisdiction because
the allegations in the Complaint seek the annulment of afinal
judgment rendered by a co-equal court; (2) as the issue of
ownership of the property was already settled in Civil Case
No. MAN-3902 and subsequently in CA-G.R. CV No. 81888
entitled Gotesco Properties, Inc. v. Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas,
et al. through the CA’s Resolution dated March 11, 2005,
BSP' scomplaint isalready barred by resjudicata; and (3) BSP
is guilty of forum shopping.

In its Opposition to the Motion to Dismiss, BSP claimed,
among others, that: (1) the Complaint was one for annulment
of title under Article 476 of the Civil Code which falls within
the exclusivejurisdiction of the RTC; (2) the CA’ s Resolution
in CA-G.R. CV No. 81888 is not applicable; and (3) that BSP
is not guilty of forum shopping.®

Inits Reply, MARRECO pointed out BSP s failure to deny
the finality of the January 19, 2004 Order of RTC Branch 55
and March 11, 2005 Resolution of the CA and that BSP' sttitle
was obtained under a notice of lis pendens. It also reiterated
the grounds relied upon in its Motion to Dismiss.*®

On March 22, 2007, RTC Branch 56 issued an Order,
dismissing BSP’s Complaint on the ground of lack of jurisdiction.
It ruled that its assumption of jurisdiction over the Complaint
would result in trespassing upon or intruding into the exclusive
domain and realm of a co-equal court. The dispositive portion
of the Order reads:

WHEREFORE, foregoing premises considered, and without
necessarily going into the merits of this case[,] the Court, in the
interest of justice and judicial stability, has decided to, as it hereby
decides, to GRANT the Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss.

14 1d. at 139-150.
15 1d. at 10.

18 1d.

71d. at 232-239.
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Accordingly, this case is hereby ordered DISMISSED.
SO ORDERED.*®

BSP timely appealed the aforesaid Order by filing a Notice
of Appeal and its Appellant’s Brief.®

On November 11, 2008, MARRECO, instead of filing an
Appellee’s Brief, filed a Motion to Dismiss Appeal alleging
that 1) theissuesraised in the appellant’ sbrief are pure questions
of law; hence, the CA has no jurisdiction to entertain the appeal;
and 2) the appeal is frivolous and dilatory.?® Despite notice
from the CA, BSP did not file its Comment.?

In the first assailed Resolution dated July 25, 2008, the CA
denied the Motion to Dismiss Appeal on the ground that the
issues raised in the appellant’ s brief involved mixed questions
of fact and law.?

MARRECO then filed a Motion for Reconsideration.? In
its Opposition to the Motion for Reconsideration, BSP argued
that the Motion for Reconsideration was a mere rehash of the
Motion to Dismiss Appeal, hence, pro-forma.>* MARRECO
then filed its Reply stating that: a) BSP was unable to defend
the CA’s Resolution in failing utterly to point out what factual
issueswereraised; b) theissuesraised were all legal questions;
¢) as no trial was held and no evidence adduced, there was
nothing to look into or evaluate; and d) the quoted paragraph
in the RTC Judgment was at best a legal conclusion or obiter
dictum.?

18 1d. at 239.

19 1d. at 11; 171-209.
20 |d. at 273; 299.

2 |d. at 301.

221d. at 304.

2 |d. at 305-316.

2 1d. at 12.

% |d. at 12-13.
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In the second assailed Resolution dated October 21, 2008,
the CA denied MARRECQO'’s Motion for Reconsideration.?®

Hence, this Petition for Certiorari and Mandamus.

MARRECO argues that the issues raised in BSP's Appeal
are pure questions of law which are proper subjects of a Rule
45 petition for review on certiorari filed before the Court and
not of anotice of appeal under Rule 41 filed before the appel late
court. It adds that the CA has no jurisdiction to decide appeals
where only questions of law are involved because such
jurisdiction belongs to the Court.?” MARRECO prays that a
writ of mandamus be issued directing the CA to dismissBSP's
appeal and awrit of certiorari beissued annulling the July 25,
2008 and October 21, 2008 Resolutions of the CA.%

Issue

Whether the CA acted with grave abuse of discretion
amounting to lack or excess of jurisdiction when it denied
MARRECO’'s Motion to Dismiss Appeal and assumed
jurisdiction over BSP's appeal .

Ruling
We dismiss the petition.

A petition for certiorari will only liein case of grave abuse
of discretion.? It may beissued only whereit isclearly shown
that there is patent and gross abuse of discretion as to amount
to an evasion of positive duty or virtual refusal to perform a
duty enjoined by law, or to act at all in contemplation of law,
aswherethe power isexercised in an arbitrary or despotic manner
by reason of passion or personal hostility.*

% 1d. at 321.
27 1d. at 4-5.
28 1d. at 44.

2 Asian Trading Corporation v. CA, G.R. No. 76276, February 15, 1999,
303 SCRA 152, 161.

%0 L alicanv. Vergara, G.R. No. 108619, July 31, 1997, 276 SCRA 518, 528.
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Mandamus, on the other hand, is a command issuing from
a court of law of competent jurisdiction, in the name of the
state or the sovereign, directed to some inferior court, tribunal,
or board, or to some corporation or person requiring the
performance of a particular duty therein specified, which duty
results from the official station of the party to whom the writ
is directed or from operation of law.3

The CA did not act with grave abuse of discretion amounting
to lack or excess of jurisdiction when it denied MARRECO'’s
Motion to Dismiss Appeal and assumed jurisdiction over BSP's
Appeal.

Section 2, Rule 41 of the Rules of Court®*? governs appeals
from judgments and final orders of the RTC:

(@) If the issues raised involve questions of fact or mixed
guestionsof fact and law, the proper recourseisan ordinary
appeal to the CA in accordance with Rule 41 in relation
to Rule 44 of the Rules of Court; and

st Abaga v. Panes, G.R. No. 147044, August 24, 2007, 531 SCRA 56,
61-62.

%2 Sec. 2. Modes of appeal. —

(@) Ordinary appeal. — The appeal to the Court of Appeals in cases
decided by the Regional Trial Court in the exercise of its original
jurisdiction shall be taken by filing a notice of appeal with the
court which rendered the judgment or final order appealed from
and serving a copy thereof upon the adverse party. No record on
appeal shall be required except in special proceedings and other
cases of multiple or separate appeal s where the law or these Rules
So require. In such cases, the record on appeal shall be filed and
served in like manner.

(b)  Petition for review. — The appeal to the Court of Appealsin cases
decided by the Regional Trial Court in the exercise of its appellate
jurisdiction shall be by petition for review in accordance with
Rule 42.

(c) Appeal by certiorari. — In all cases where only questions of law
are raised or involved, the appeal shall be to the Supreme Court
by petition for review on certiorari in accordance with Rule 45.
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(b) If theissuesraised involve only questions of law, the appeal
shall beto the Court by petition for review on certiorari
in accordance with Rule 45 of the Rules of Court.
(Emphasis supplied.)

In Sevilleno v. Carilo,* citing Macawiwili Gold Mining and
Development Co., Inc. v. Court of Appeals,®* we summarized:

(1) Inall casesdecided by the RTC in the exercise of itsoriginal
jurisdiction, appeal may be made to the Court of Appeals
by mere notice of appeal wherethe appellant raisesquestions
of fact or mixed questions of fact and law;

(2) Inall casesdecided by the RTC inthe exercise of itsoriginal
jurisdiction where the appellant raises only questions of
law, the appeal must be taken to the Supreme Court on a
petition for review on certiorari under Rule 45[;]

(3) All appeals from judgments rendered by the RTC in the
exercise of its appellate jurisdiction, regardless of whether
the appellant raises questions of fact, questions of law, or
mixed questions of fact and law, shall be brought to the Court
of Appeals by filing a petition for review under Rule 42.3¢
(Emphasis supplied)

A question of law exists when there is doubt or controversy
as to what the law is on a certain state of facts, and thereis a
guestion of fact when the doubt or difference arises as to the
truth or falsehood of facts, or when the query necessarily invites
calibration of the whole evidence considering mainly the
credibility of witnesses, existence and relevancy of specific
surrounding circumstances, their relation to each other and to
the whole and probabilities of the situation.®” No examination

33 Bases Conversion Development Authority v. Reyes. G.R. No. 194247,
June 19, 2013, 699 SCRA 217, 224-225.

34 G.R. No. 146454, September 14, 2007, 533 SCRA 385.
% G.R. No. 115104, October 12, 1998, 297 SCRA 602.
36 Supra note 34 at 388.

37 China Road and Bridge Corporation v. Court of Appeals, G.R. No. 137898,
December 15, 2000, 348 SCRA 401, 408.
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of the probative value of the evidence would be necessary to
resolve a question of law. The opposite is true with respect to
guestions of fact.®

Thetest of whether aquestion isone of law or fact is not the
appellation given to such question by the party raising the same.
It iswhether the appellate court can determine the issue raised
without reviewing or evaluating the evidence and would only
limit itself to theinquiry of whether the law was properly applied
given the facts and supporting evidence.* Such is a question
of law. Otherwise, it is a question of fact.

The nature of theissuesto be raised on appeal can be gleaned
from the appellant’ s notice of appeal filed in thetrial court and
in his or her brief as appellant in the appellate court.* Here,
BSP raised the following issues in its Appellant’s Brief:

1) In rendering the assailed order, the trial court erred in
concluding that to assume jurisdiction over the instant case
will operate to trespass upon or intrude into the exclusive
domain and realm of a co-equal court.

2)  Similarly, thetrial court committed an erroneous appreciation
of the true import of the Order dated [January 19,] 2004
issued by Judge Ulric R. Cariete.

3) Theorder dismissing the case of quieting of title has practically
disregarded and rendered meaningless the provisions of the
Philippine Civil Code, Chapter 3 entitled Quieting of Title.

4)  Under the peculiar facts and law of the case below, the
Honorable Court should remand the case to the trial court
for further proceedings as mandated by the Rules of Court
involving claims by the citizens of the country instead of
dismissing the case on technicality when the same does not

% Macababbad, Jr. v. Masirag, G.R. No. 161237, January 14, 2009,
576 SCRA 70, 81.

39 China Road and Bridge Corporation v. Court of Appeals, supra at
411-412.

40 Macababbad, Jr. v. Masirag, supra at 82.
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apply at all considering the abrogation or denial of theright
of BSP to seek redress of its claims[.]*

Meanwhile, inits Appellant’ s Brief, BSP explained that while
the January 19, 2004 Order of the trial court in Civil Case No.
MAN-3902 did not direct the cancellation of TCT No. 46781,
the Register of Deeds of Mandaue City, without noticeto BSP,
proceeded to cancel TCT No. 46781. As a result, BSP was
compelled to file an action for annulment of title and
reconveyance or annulment of title, the action subject of the
present petition.*? BSP argued that the trial court, in granting
MARRECOQO’s Motion to Dismiss, erred in concluding that to
rule otherwise would amount to an intrusion into an order of
a co-equal court. According to BSP, contrary to the
pronouncement of the trial court in its March 22, 2007 Order,
there can be no intrusion into an order of aco-equal court since
Civil Case No. MAN-3902 did not order the cancellation of
TCT No. 46781 while BSP's complaint for annulment of title
and reconveyance or annulment of title assails the Register of
Deeds' cancellation of TCT No. 46781.%

Wefind that BSP' s appeal does not only involve questions of
law. It also involves questions of fact. The allegationsin BSP's
complaint and appellant’s brief as to the antecedent facts that
led to the cancellation of TCT No. 46781 create an uncertainty
onthe propriety of thetrial court’s pronouncement that to entertain
BSP's complaint would amount to an intrusion into an order of
a co-equal court and call for a calibration of the evidence on
record. Alsotelling isBSP' sallegation that it isamortgagee-in-
good faith who obtained its title to the property by being the
highest bidder during the auction sale in the foreclosure
proceedings. Asaninnocent third party, it isnot bound by whatever
transpired between Gotesco and MARRECO. These matters
constitute a question of fact and not a question of law as
MARRECO would like to present it. Asthe CA correctly held:

4! Rollo, pp. 188-189.
42 |d. at 181-184.
43 |d. at 190-205.
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Itisindubitable that what impelled BSPto file the instant complaint
for annulment of title and reconveyance or quieting of title before
RTC Branch 56, docketed as Civil Case No. Man-5524 is not the
Decision of January 19, 2004 rendered by RTC, Branch 55 in Civil
Case No. Man-3902 but the subsequent cancellation of BSP's title
without any court order to that effect. From this premise, the issue
on whether or not the assumption of jurisdiction over the instant
case is equivalent to annulment of judgment of a co-equal tribunal
isconsidered a question of fact. The surrounding facts which brought
about the cancellation of BSP' stitle need to be examined to determine
whether the complaint subject of the present appeal is indeed one
that amounts to the annulment of judgment of a co-equal court.

At first glance, this issue appears to involve a question of law
since it does not concern itself with the truth or falsity of certain
facts. Still, in order that this Court can make a ruling on the nature
of the action instituted before RTC, Branch 56, it hasto evaluate the
existence and the relevance of the circumstances that led to the
cancellation of BSP' stitle. The determination of these factsis crucial
as it will resolve whether the assumption of jurisdiction over the
instant case would indeed tantamount to violation of the doctrine on
non-interference, whether the cancellation of BSP's title by virtue
of the Order of January 19, 2004 rendered by RTC, Branch 55 is
proper though the order is silent on the matter, whether such
cancellation is tantamount to a collateral attack on BSP's title. In
short, in order to address fully the issues raised by BSP in its Brief,
this Court necessarily has to make factual findings.

Notably, plaintiff-appellant brought the present appeal raising mixed
questions of fact and law. BSP impugns the decision of the RTC
dismissing its complaint on the ground that it violates the principle
on non-interference to aco-equal court. The resolution of the propriety
of dismissal entails a review of the factual circumstances that led
thetrial court to decide in such manner. Further, BSP also questions
the lower court’s appreciation of the true import of the Order dated
January 19, 2004 and its disregard of the provisions under the Civil
Code on quieting of title. Hence, the filing of the present appeal
before US is proper.*

4 1d. at 319-320.
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Given the mixed questions of law and fact raised, BSP properly
elevated the RTC' sMarch 22, 2007 Order to the CA on ordinary
appeal under Rule 41, Section 2 of the Rules of Court.

WHEREFORE, the Petition for Certiorari and Mandamus
ishereby DISM | SSED. The Resolutions of the Court of Appeals
dated July 25, 2008 and October 21, 2008 are AFFIRMED.
L et records of the case be REM ANDED to the Court of Appeals
whichisDIRECTED to proceed with the appeal with dispatch.

SO ORDERED.

Leonardo-de Castro,” Peralta (Acting Chairperson), Perez,
and Reyes, JJ., concur.
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WHERE THE SAME QUESTIONS RELATING TO THE
SAME EVENT HAVE BEEN PUT FORWARD BY
PARTIES SIMILARLY SITUATED ASIN A PREVIOUS
CASE LITIGATED AND DECIDED BY A COMPETENT
COURT; RULINGINMENDOZA CASE (G.R.NO. 202322,
AUGUST 19, 2015) WHICH FOUND PETITIONER’S
SOLIDARY LIABILITY FOR RESPONDENTS
MONETARY CLAIMS APPLIES TO THE CASE AT
BAR.— The same factual setting, (savefor theidentity of private
respondents) and issues raised in this case also obtained in Light
Rail Transit Authority v. Mendoza (Mendoza). In that case, this
Court ruled that LRTA is solidarily liable for the remaining
fifty percent (50%) of the respondents’ separation pay. The
doctrine of stare decisis, therefore, warrants the dismissal of
this petition. The rule of stare decisisis a bar to any attempt
to re-litigate the same issue where the same questions relating
to the same event have been put forward by parties similarly
situated asin aprevious case litigated and decided by a competent
court. Thus, the Court’ s ruling in Mendoza regarding LRTA’s
solidary liability for respondents’ monetary claimsarising from
the very same AMO-LRTS which private respondents sought
to enforce in the proceedings a quo appliesto the present case.
Consequently, LRTA’s appeal must be dismissed.

2. LABOR AND SOCIAL LEGISLATION; LABOR CODE;
LABOR RELATIONS; MONEY CLAIMS; JURISDICTION
OF THE LABOR TRIBUNAL OVER PRIVATE
RESPONDENTS MONEY CLAIMSAGAINST PETITIONER,
UPHELD; A GOVERNMENT-OWNED AND CONTROLLED
CORPORATION MUST SUBMIT ITSELF TO THE
PROVISIONSGOVERNING PRIVATE CORPORATIONS,
INCLUDING THE LABOR CODE, WHERE THE SAME
CONDUCTED BUSINESS THROUGH A PRIVATE
CORPORATION.— Theonly issue, x X x asin Mendoza, is
whether LRTA can be made liable by the labor tribunals for
private respondents’ money claim despite the absence of an
employer-employee relationship, and though LRTA is a
government-owned and controlled corporation. We rule in the
affirmative. In Mendoza, this Court upheld the jurisdiction of
thelabor tribunalsover LRTA, citing Philippine National Bank
v. Pabalan: x x x By engaging in a particular business thru the
instrumentality of a corporation, the government divests itself
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pro hac vice of its sovereign character, so as to render the
corporation subject to the rules of law governing private
corporations. This Court further ruled that LRTA must submit
itself to the provisions governing private corporations, including
the Labor Code, for having conducted business through a private
corporation, in this case, METRO. In this case, the NLRC
accordingly declared, “[LRTA’s] contractual commitmentswith
[METRO] and its employees arose out of its business relations
with[METRO] whichis privatein nature. Such private relation
was not changed notwithstanding the subsequent acquisition
by [LRTA] of full ownership of [METRO] and take-over of its
business operations at LRT.” In view of the foregoing, we rule
that the CA did not err when it upheld the jurisdiction of the
labor tribunals over private respondents’ money claims against
LRTA.

3. ID.;ID.; ID.; THE OWNER OF THE PROJECT ISNOT THE

DIRECT EMPLOYER BUT MERELY AN INDIRECT
EMPLOYER, BY OPERATION OF LAW, OF HIS
CONTRACTOR’'S EMPLOYEES; THE ABSENCE OF
ACTUAL AND DIRECT EMPLOYER-EMPLOYEE
RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN PETITIONER AND
PRIVATE RESPONDENTS DOES NOT ABSOLVE THE
FORMER FROM LIABILITY FOR THE LATTER’S
MONETARY CLAIMS,ASIT IS SOLIDARILY LIABLE
WITH THE CONTRACTOR, AS AN INDIRECT
EMPLOYER OF PRIVATE RESPONDENTS.— LRTA is
liable for the balance of private respondents’ separation pay.
First, LRTA iscontractually obligated to pay the retirement or
severance/resignation pay of METRO employees. x X X. Second,
assuming arguendo that LRTA is not contractually liable to
pay the separation benefits, it is solidarily liable as an indirect
employer of private respondents. x x x. Based on [Articles
107 and 109 of the Labor Code] LRTA qualifies as an indirect
employer by contracting METRO to manage and operate the
Metro Manila light rail transit. Being an indirect employer,
LRTA issolidarily liablewith METRO in accordance with Article
109 of the Labor Code. The fact that there is no actual and
direct employer-employee relationship between LRTA and
private respondents does not absolve the former from liability
for the latter’s monetary claims. The owner of the project is
not the direct employer but merely an indirect employer, by
operation of law, of his contractor’s employees.
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DECISION
JARDELEZA, J.

This is a Petition for Review on Certiorari® assailing the
Decision? and Resolution? of the Court of Appeals (CA) in CA-
G.R. SP No. 103278 dated February 20, 2009 and May 22,
20009, respectively. The Decision and Resol ution dismissed the
Petition for Certiorari*filed by the Light Rail Transit Authority
(LRTA), which sought to annul and reverse the Resolution® of
the National Labor Relations Commission (NLRC) in NLRC
CA Case No. 046112-05 dated November 5, 2007.

The Facts

LRTA is a government-owned and controlled corporation
created by virtue of Executive Order No. 603,° for the purpose
of the construction, operation, maintenance, and/or |lease of
light rail transit system in the Philippines.” Private respondents
Bienvenido R. Alvarez, Carlos S. Velasco, Ascencion A.
Gargalicano, Marlon E. Aguinaldo, Petronilo T. Legaspi,
Bonifacio A. Estopia, Andre A. Dela Merced, Jose Novier D.

! Rollo, pp. 34-57-A.

2|d. at 12-28. Ponencia by Associate Justice Andres B. Reyes, Jr., with
Associate Justices Jose C. Reyes, Jr. and Normandie B. Pizarro, concurring.

31d. at 30-31.
4 CA rollo, pp. 3-29.
51d. at 31-44.

6 Creating aLight Rail Transit Authority, Vesting the Same with Authority
to Construct and Operate the Light Rail Transit (LRT) Project and Providing
Funds Therefor, July 12, 1980.

" Rollo, p. 36.
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Bayot, Rolando C. Amazona and Marlino G. Herrera (private
respondents) are former employees of Meralco Transit
Organization, Inc. (METRO).2

On June 8, 1984, METRO and LRTA entered into an
agreement called “ Agreement for the Management and Operation
of theLight Rail Transit System” (AMO-LRTS) for the operation
and management of the light rail transit system.® LRTA
shouldered and provided for all the operating expenses of
METRO.* Also, METRO signed a Collective Bargaining
Agreement (CBA) with its employees wherein provisions on
wage increases and benefits were approved by LRTA’s Board
of Directors.*

However, on April 7, 1989, the Commission on Audit (COA)
nullified and voided the AMO-LRTS.*2 To resolve the issue,
LRTA decided to acquire METRO by purchasing all of its shares
of stocks on June 8, 1989. METRO, thus, became a wholly-
owned subsidiary of LRTA. Since then, METRO has been
renamed to Metro Transit Organization, Inc.® Also, by virtue
of the acquisition, LRTA appointed the new set of officers,
from chairman to members of the board, and top management
of METRO.* LRTA and METRO declared and continued the
implementation of the AMO-LRTS and the non-interruption
of employment relations of the employees of METRO. They
likewi se continued the establishment and funding of the Metro,
Inc. Employees Retirement Plan which coversthe past services
of all METRO regular employees from the date of their
employment. They confirmed that all CBAsremained in force
and effect. LRTA then sanctioned the CBA’s of the union of

81d. at 13.

9 CA rollo, p. 107.

10 14d.

1L CA rollo, pp. 107-108.
2 1d. at 108.

1Bd.

“4d.
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rank and file employees and the union of supervisory
employees.*®

On November 17, 1997, the METRO general manager (who
was appointed by LRTA) announced in amemorandum that its
board of directors approved the severance/resignation benefit
of METRO employees at one and a half (1 %2) months salaries
for every year of service.®

On July 25, 2000, the union of rank and file employees of
METRO declared a strike over aretirement fund dispute.’ By
virtue of itsownership of METRO, LRTA assumed the obligation
to update the Metro, Inc. Employees Retirement Fund with the
Bureau of Treasury.8

A few months|ater, or on September 30, 2000, LRTA stopped
the operation of METRO.*® On April 5, 2001, METRO’ s Board
of Directors approved the release and payment of thefirst fifty
percent (50%) of the severance pay to the displaced METRO
employees, including private respondents, who were issued
certifications of eligibility for severance pay along with the
memoranda to receive the same.?

Upon the request of the COA corporate auditor assigned at
LRTA, COA issued an Advisory Opinion through its Legal
Department, and an Advise (sic) from Chairman Guillermo N.
Carague, that LRTA is liable, as owner of its wholly-owned
subsidiary METRO, to pay the severance pay of the latter's
employees.?

5 d.

16 CA rollo, pp. 108-109.
7 Rollo, p. 15.

8 d.

18 CA rollo, p. 109.
204,

2 4.
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LRTA earmarked an amount of £271,000,000.00 for the
severance pay of METRO employeesinits approved corporate
budget for the year 2002.2> However, METRO only paid the
first fifty percent (50%) of the severance pay of private
respondents, thus, the following balance:

NAME MAN NO. 50% (Php)
1. Marlon E. Aguinaldo 0303 243,482.55
2. Big[n]venido R. Alvarez 0304 193,952.82
3. Bonifacio A. Estopia 0313 242,456.29
4. Petronilo J. Legaspi 0323 245,566.24
5. Andre A. [Dela] Merced 0328 322,187.70
6.Marlino G. Herrera 0400 239,055.57
7. Rolando C. Amazona 0485 231,432.00
8. Jose Novier D. Bayot 1201 231,494.17
9. Ascencion A. Gargalicano 1212 175,733.82
10. Carlos S. Velasco 1863 103,330.08

2,228,691.24%

Private respondents repeatedly and formally asked LRTA,
being the principal owner of METRO, to pay the balance of
their severance pay, but to no avail . Thus, they filed acomplaint
before the Arbitration Branch of the NLRC, docketed asNLRC
NCR Case No. 00-08-09472-04, praying for the payment of
13" month pay, separation pay, and refund of salary deductions,
against LRTA and METRO.%

In aDecision® dated July 22, 2005, Labor Arbiter (LA) Elias
H. Salinas ruled in favor of private respondents. In arriving at
his Decision, the LA adopted the ruling in Light Rail Transit
Authority v. National Labor Relations Commission, Ricardo

22 CA rollo, p. 110.

2 d.

24 CA rollo, pp. 110-111.
% 1d. at 106.

% |d. at 106-116.
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B. Malanao, et al.?” (Malanao), which at that time was affirmed
by the CA (Twelfth Division). The LA adopted the ruling in
Malanao because it involved the same claims, facts, and issues
as in this case.?® Malanao ordered respondents LRTA and
METRO to jointly and severally pay the balance of the severance
pay of the complainantstherein. Thus, the dispositive portion?
of the LA Decision reads:

WHEREFORE, premises considered, judgment is hereby rendered
ordering respondents Light Rail Transit Authority and Metro Transit
Organization, Inc. to pay complainants the balance of their severance
pay as follows:

NAME 50% Balance of Severance Pay

1. Marlon E. Aguinaldo P 243,482.55
2. Big[n]venido R. Alvarez P 193,952.82
3. Bonifacio A. Estopia P 242,456.29
4. Petronilo J. Legaspi P 245,566.24
5. Andre A. [Dela] Merced P 322,187.70
6. Marlino G. Herrera P 239,055.57
7. Rolando C. Amazona P 231,432.00
8. Jose Novier D. Bayot P 231,494.17
9. Ascencion A. Gargalicano P 175,733.82
10. Carlos S. Velasco P 103,330.08

P 2,228,691.24

Respondents are further ordered to pay the sum equivalent to ten
per cent of the foregoing amount as and by way of attorney’s fees.

All other claims are ordered dismissed for lack of merit.

SO ORDERED.*

27 CA-G.R. SP No. 83984, April 27, 2005; Entry of Judgment, G.R. No.
169164, February 21, 2006. See rollo, pp. 109-139. See also Compromise
Agreement dated December 21, 2006 between LRTA, represented by its
Administrator, Melquiades A. Robles, and Ricardo Malanao, et al. CA rollo,
pp. 146-150.

2 1d. at 112.
21d. at 115.
%0 1d. at 115-116.
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On September 29, 2005, LRTA and METRO separately
appealed the LA’ sDecision beforethe NLRC, docketed asNLRC
CA Case No. 046112-05.%

Inits Resolution dated November 5, 2007, the NLRC dismissed
METRO’s appeal for failure to file the required appeal bond.
Therefore, the NLRC ruled that the appealed Decision of the
LA (asregards METRO) is declared final and executory.® In
the same Resolution, the NLRC sustained the Decision of the
LA intoto, and therefore dismissed LRTA’ s appeal for lack of
merit. The dispositive portion reads:

WHEREFORE, premises considered, the Metro, Inc[.]’s Appeal
isDISMISSED for failureto get perfected. LRTA’s Appeal islikewise
DISMISSED for lack of merit. Accordingly, the Decision appealed
from is SUSTAINED in toto.*

LRTA’s motion for reconsideration of the Resolution was
denied.®** Thus, LRTA filed a Petition for Certiorari® with the
CA.

CA Decision

The CA denied LRTA’s petition. First, the CA ruled that
since LRTA failed to comply with the mandatory appeal bond,
itlostitsright to appeal .2 Consequently, the LA’ sruling already
became final and executory.¥

On the merits of the case, the CA noted that the monetary
claims emanated from the CBA; hence, the controversy must
be settled in light of the CBA. Asthe CBA controls, itisclear
that LRTA hasto pay the remaining fifty percent (50%) of the

Sd. at 31-32.
32 1d. at 33.
3 1d. at 44.
34 1d. at 46.
35 supra note 4.
36 Rollo, p. 20.
37 1d. at 24.
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retirement benefits due to the private respondents. The CA held
that whether the NLRC has jurisdiction to hear the case, the
result would be the same: that LRTA has financial obligations
to private respondents.®

Finally, on the issue of jurisdiction, the CA found that
METRO, eveniif itisasubsidiary of LRTA, remains a private
corporation. Thisbeing the case, the money claim brought agai nst
it fallsunder the original and exclusive jurisdiction of the LA.
Also, the CA agreed with the NLRC that the principle of stare
decisisappliesto thiscase. The NLRC applied the CA’sDecision
in Malanao, ruling that LRTA isliablefor thefifty percent (50%)
balance of the separation pay of the private respondentstherein.®

LRTA filed a Motion for Reconsideration* arguing that
contrary to what the CA declared, it filed the mandatory appeal
bond.** It also claimed that the NLRC had no jurisdiction over
LRTA, and that the NLRC erred in applying stare decisis.*
The CA, however, denied LRTA’s motion for lack of merit.*®

Hence, this petition.

Pending resolution of the case by this Court, private
respondents filed with the NLRC a Motion for Issuance of a
Writ of Execution* dated September 4, 2009.

On August 5, 2010, private respondents filed an Urgent
Manifestation* with this Court, informing us that a Writ of
Execution® has been issued on July 9, 2010 by the LA, since

% 1d. at 24-25.

% |d. at 26-27.

40 CA rollo, pp. 215-225.
4 1d. at 217.

421d. at 217-221.

4 Rollo, p. 31.

4 1d. at 74-80.

% 1d. at 141-143.

4 |d. at 144-147.
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no Temporary Restraining Order was issued by the CA or this
Court. There being no response from LRTA after service of
thewrit, and upon motion of private respondents, the LA ordered*
the release of the cash bond deposited by LRTA, and which
was subsequently released to the private respondents. Thus,
they prayed that the case be dismissed for having been moot
and academic.®® In a Reply (To Respondents Urgent
Manifestation),* LRTA argued that the case has not become
moot and academic.

The Petition

LRTA now appeals the CA Decision and argues® that the
CA erred in:

1) Ruling that the LA and NLRC have jurisdiction over
LRTA;

2) Holding LRTA jointly and severally liable for private
respondents’ money claims; and

3) Wrongly applying the doctrine of stare decisis.
The Court’s Ruling
We deny the petition.

The same factual setting, (save for the identity of private
respondents) and issuesraised in this case also obtained in Light
Rail Transit Authority v. Mendoza® (Mendoza). In that case,
this Court ruled that LRTA issolidarily liablefor theremaining

471d. at 148-149.

48 |d. at 142. See also Light Rail Transit Authority v. Mendoza, G.R. No.
202322, August 19, 2015, 767 SCRA 624. In Mendoza, the Labor Arbiter
likewise issued a Writ of Execution for his decision and ordered the release
of LRTA’s cash bond. The respondents also filed an Urgent Manifestation
stating that they considered the case to have become academic. Neverthel ess,
the Court proceeded to rule on the merits of the case.

4 Rollo, pp. 155-161.
%0d. at 41.
5! supra.
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fifty percent (50%) of the respondents’ separation pay. The
doctrine of stare decisis, therefore, warrants the dismissal of
this petition. The rule of stare decisisis a bar to any attempt
to re-litigate the same issue where the same questions relating
to the same event have been put forward by parties similarly
situated asin aprevious caselitigated and decided by acompetent
court.>? Thus, the Court’ sruling in Mendozaregarding LRTA’s
solidary liability for respondents’ monetary claimsarising from
the very same AMO-LRTS which private respondents sought
to enforcein the proceedings a quo appliesto the present case.
Consequently, LRTA’s appeal must be dismissed.

The LA and the NLRC have
jurisdiction over private
respondents’ money claims.

LRTA arguesthat the LA and NLRC do not havejurisdiction
over the case. LRTA citesLight Rail Transit Authority v. Venus,
Jr.%® (Venus) to support its claim.

Wedisagree. LRTA’sreliance on Venusis misplaced. Venus
involves the illegal dismissal of the complainants. The
proceedings a quo is not for an illegal dismissal case, but for
the monetary claims of respondentsagainst METRO and LRTA.
Thus, unlike in Venus, this case does not involve the issue of
respondents’ employment with METRO or LRTA. In fact, in
Mendoza, this Court held, “[a]s we see it, the jurisdictional
issue should not have been brought up inthefirst place because
the respondents’ claim does not involve their employment with
LRTA. There is no dispute on this aspect of the case. The
respondents were hired by METRO and, were, therefore its
employees.”>*

52 Tala Realty Services Corp., Inc. v. Banco Filipino Savings and Mortgage
Bank, G.R. No. 181369, June 22, 2016, citing Chinese Young Men’s Christian
Association of the Philippine Islands v. Remington Steel Corporation, G.R.
No. 159422, March 28, 2008, 550 SCRA 180, 197-198; Pepsi Cola Products
(Phils.), Inc. v. Espiritu, G.R. No. 150394, June 26, 2007, 525 SCRA 527, 534.

3 G.R. No. 163782, March 24, 2006, 485 SCRA 361.
54 Light Rail Transit Authority v. Mendoza, supra note 48 at 635.
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The only issue, therefore, asin Mendoza, is whether LRTA
can be made liable by thelabor tribunalsfor private respondents’
money claim despite the absence of an employer-employee
relationship, and though LRTA is a government-owned and
controlled corporation.

We rule in the affirmative. In Mendoza, this Court upheld
the jurisdiction of the labor tribunals over LRTA, citing
Philippine National Bank v. Pabalan:*®

X X X By engaging in a particular business thru the instrumentality
of a corporation, the government divests itself pro hac vice of its
sovereign character, so as to render the corporation subject to the
rules of law governing private corporations.*®

This Court further ruled that LRTA must submit itself to the
provisions governing private corporations, including the L abor
Code, for having conducted business through a private
corporation, in this case, METRO.*’

In this case, the NLRC accordingly declared, “[LRTA’g]
contractual commitments with [METRO] and its employees
arose out of its business relations with [METRO] which is
private in nature. Such private relation was not changed
notwithstanding the subsequent acquisition by [LRTA] of full
ownership of [METRO] and take-over of its business operations
at LRT.”>®

In view of the foregoing, we rule that the CA did not err
when it upheld thejurisdiction of the labor tribunals over private
respondents’ money claims against LRTA .

%5 G.R. No. L-33112, June 15, 1978, 83 SCRA 595, 600.
%6 Supra note 48 at 635.

57 Supra note 48 at 635.

%8 CA rollo, p. 42.

59 See Light Rail Transit Authority v. National Labor Relations Commission,
Ricardo B. Malanao, et al., supra note 27.
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LRTA is solidarily liable with
METRO for the payment of
private respondents’ separation
pay.

LRTA claims that it is not the real or actual or indirect
employer of private respondents.®® |t argues that there being
no employer-employeerelationship, itislegally inconceivable
how LRTA can be held solidarily liable with METRO for the
payment of private respondents’ separation differentials.®*

Again, wedisagree. LRTA isliablefor the balance of private
respondents’ separation pay.

First, LRTA iscontractually obligated to pay the retirement
or severance/resignation pay of METRO employees. Citing
evidence on record, the LA found that:

X X X On November 17, 1997, the Metro, Inc. general manager
appointed by LRTA announced in a memorandum that its Board of
Directors approved the severance/resignation benefit of Metro, Inc.
employees at one and a half (1.5) months salaries for every year of
service. X X X By virtue of itsownership of Metro, Inc. LRTA officially
and formally assumed by authority of its board the obligation to update
the Metro, Inc. Employees Retirement Fund with the Bureau of
Treasury, to ensure that the fund fully covers all retirement benefits
payable to Metro, Inc[.] employees x x X. [T]he LRTA’s appointed
Board of Directorsfor Metro, Inc. approved the release and payment
of thefirst fifty (50%) per cent of the severance pay to the displaced
Metro, Inc. employees x x x and complainants were issued the
certifications of eligibility for severance pay/benefit and the
memoranda to receive the same x x x.?

On this same issue, we again quote this Court’s ruling in
Mendoza:

50 Rollo, p. 44.
6 1d. at 51.
62 CA rollo, pp. 108-109. Emphasis supplied.
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First. LRTA obligated itself to fund METRO’ s retirement fund to
answer for the retirement or severance/resignation of METRO
employees as part of METRO’ s “ operating expenses.” Under Article
4.05.1 of the O & M agreement between LRTA and Metro, “The
Authority shall reimburse METRO for x x x “OPERATING
EXPENSES x x x.” In the letter to LRTA dated July 12, 2001, the
Acting Chairman of the METRO Board of Directors at the time,
Wilfredo Trinidad, reminded LRTA that funding provisions for the
retirement fund have always been considered operating expenses of
Metro. The coverage of operating expenses to include provisions
for the retirement fund has never been denied by LRTA.

In the same letter, Trinidad stressed that as a consequence of the
nonrenewal of the O & M agreement by LRTA, METRO was compelled
to close its business operations effective September 30, 2000. This
created, Trinidad added, a legal obligation to pay the qualified
employees separation benefits under existing company policy and
collective bargaining agreements. The METRO Board of Directors
approved the payment of 50% of the employees’ separation pay because
that was only what the Employees’ Retirement Fund could accommodate.

The evidence supports Trinidad’ s position. Werefer principally to
Resolution No. 00-44 issued by the LRTA Board of Directors on
July 28, 2000, in anticipation of and in preparation for the expiration
of the O & M agreement with METRO on July 31, 2000.

Specifically, the LRTA anticipated and prepared for the (1) non-
renewal (at its own behest) of the agreement, (2) the eventual cessation
of METRO operations, and (3) the involuntary loss of jobs of the
METRO employees; thus, (1) the extension of atwo-month bridging
fund for METRO from August 1, 2000, to coincide with the
agreement’ s expiration on July 31, 2000; (2) METRO'’ s cessation of
operations — it closed on September 30, 2000, the last day of the
bridging fund — and most significantly to the employees adversely
affected; (3) the updating of the “Metro, Inc., Employee Retirement
Fund with the Bureau of Treasury to ensure that the fund fully covers
all retirement benefits payable to the employees of Metro, Inc.”

The clear language of Resolution No. 00-44, to our mind, established
the LRTA’sobligation for the 50% unpaid balance of the respondents’
separation pay. Without doubt, it bound itself to provide the necessary
funding to METRO’ s Employee Retirement Fund to fully compensate
the employees who had been involuntary retired by the cessation of
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operations of METRO. Thisisnot at all surprising considering that
METRO was a wholly owned subsidiary of the LRTA.%

Second, assuming arguendo that LRTA is not contractually
liable to pay the separation benefits, it issolidarily liable as an
indirect employer of private respondents.

Articles 107 and 109 of the Labor Code provide:

Art. 107. Indirect employer. - The provisions of the immediately
preceding article shall likewise apply to any person, partnership,
association or corporation which, not being an employer, contracts
with an independent contractor for the performance of any work,
task, job or project.

X X X X X X X X X

Art. 109. Solidary liability. — The provisions of existing laws to
the contrary notwithstanding, every employer or indirect employer
shall be held responsible with his contractor or subcontractor for
any violation of any provision of this Code. For purposes of determining
the extent of their civil liability under this Chapter, they shall be
considered as direct employers.

Based on the foregoing provisions, LRTA qualifies as an
indirect employer by contracting METRO to manage and operate
the Metro Manilalight rail transit. Being an indirect employer,

83 Supra note 48 at 636-637. Emphasis and citations omitted. See also
CA Decision in Light Rail Transit Authority v. National Labor Relations
Commission, Ricardo B. Malanao, et al., CA-G.R. SP No. 83984, April 27,
2005, rollo, pp. 133-134, to wit:

x X X As exhaustively discussed in the decisions of the Labor Arbiter
and NLRC, petitioner contractually bound itself to fund the Metro Employees’
Retirement Fund aswell aswages, salaries and benefits as part of Operating
Expenses, and which set-up was continued after Metro became its wholly-
owned subsidiary particularly as petitioner had already complied with such
contractual liability for the severance pay of private respondents by paying
50% thereof. Thus, even if the liabilities of Metro remained its own as still
aseparate corporate entity from petitioner which had acquired full ownership
thereof, evidence clearly showed that petitioner had agreed to assume such
obligations of Metro to its employees, and also since petitioner merely
continued Metro’ s operation and management of the LRT which apparently
had been Metro’s sole client and business concern.
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LRTA issolidarily liablewith METRO in accordancewith Article
109 of the Labor Code. The fact that there is no actual and
direct employer-employee relationship between LRTA and
private respondents does not absolve the former from liability
for the latter’ s monetary claims.%* The owner of the project is
not the direct employer but merely an indirect employer, by
operation of law, of his contractor’s employees.®

More, this Court has already ruled on thisissuein Mendoza:

Second. Even on the assumption that the LRTA did not obligate
itself to fully cover the separation benefits of the respondents and
others similarly situated, it still cannot avoid liability for the
respondents’ claim. It is solidari[l]y liable as an indirect employer
under the law for the respondents’ separation pay. Thisliability arises
from the O & M agreement it had with METRO, which created a
principal-job contractor relationship between them, an arrangement
it admitted when it argued before the CA that METRO was an
independent job contractor who, it insinuated, should be solely
responsible for the respondents’ claim.

Under Article 107 of the Labor Code, an indirect employer is
“any person, partnership, association or corporation which, not being
an employer, contracts with an independent contractor for the
performance of any work, task, job or project.”

On the other hand, Article 109 on solidary liability, mandates that
X X X “every employer or indirect employer shall be held responsible
with his contractor or subcontractor for any violation of any provisions
of this Code. For purposes of determining the extent of their civil
liability under this Chapter, they shall be considered as direct
employers.”

Department Order No. 18-02, S. 2002, the rules implementing
Articles 106 to 109 of the Labor Code, provides in its Section 19
that “the principal shall also be solidarily liable in case the contract
between the principal is preterminated for reasons not attributable
to the contractor or subcontractor.”

64 Government Service Insurance System v. National Labor Relations
Commission, G.R. No. 180045, November 17, 2010, 635 SCRA 251, 259.

8 Baguio v. National Labor Relations Commission, G.R. Nos. 79004-
08, October 4, 1991, 202 SCRA 465, 472-473.
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Although the cessation of METRQO’s operations was due to a
nonrenewal of the O & M agreement and not a pretermination of the
contract, the cause of the nonrenewal and the effect on the employees
are the same as in the contract pretermination contemplated in the
rules. The agreement was not renewed through no fault of METRO,
as it was solely at the behest of LRTA. The fact is, under the
circumstances, METRO really had no choice on the matter, considering
that it was a mere subsidiary of LRTA.

Nevertheless, whether it is a pretermination or a nonrenewal of
the contract, the same adverse effect befalls the workers affected,
like the respondents in this case — the involuntary loss of their
employment, one of the contingencies addressed and sought to be
rectified by the rules.%®

Inview of the foregoing, we affirm the CA in sustaining the
decisions of the LA and the NLRC ordering LRTA to pay the
balance of private respondents’ separation pay.

WHEREFORE, the PetitionisDENIED. The Decision dated
February 20, 2009 of the Court of Appealsin CA-G.R. SP No.
103278 is AFFIRMED.

SO ORDERED.

Velasco, Jr. (Chairperson), Peralta, Perez, and Reyes, JJ.,
concur.

56 Supra note 48 at 637-638. Emphasis omitted.
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SECOND DIVISION
[G.R. No. 193618. November 28, 2016]

HEIRSOF LEOPOLDO DELFIN and SOLEDAD DELFIN,
namely EMELITA D. FABRIGAR AND LEONILO C.
DELFIN, petitioners, vs. NATIONAL HOUSING
AUTHORITY, respondent.

SYLLABUS

1. CIVIL LAW; LAND REGISTRATION; PROPERTY
REGISTRATION DECREE (PD NO. 1529); FOR
ACQUISITIVE PRESCRIPTIONTO SET IN PURSUANT
TO SECTION 14(2) OF PD. NO. 1529, IT IS REQUIRED
THAT THE PROPERTY IS ESTABLISHED TO BE
PRIVATE IN CHARACTER AND THE APPLICABLE
PRESCRIPTIVE PERIOD UNDER EXISTING LAWSHAD
PASSED.— Petitioners are erroneously claiming title based
on acquisitive prescription under Section 14(2) of Presidential
Decree No. 1529. x x x. For acquisitive prescription to set in
pursuant to Section 14(2) of Presidential Decree No. 1529, two
(2) requirements must be satisfied; first, the property is
established to be private in character; and second the applicable
prescriptive period under existing laws had passed.

2. ID.; ID.; ID.; CLASSIFICATION OF PROPERTY; FOR
PRESCRIPTION TO BE VIABLE, THE PUBLICLY-
OWNED LAND MUST BE PATRIMONIAL OR PRIVATE
IN CHARACTER AT THE ONSET, FOR POSSESSION
FORTHIRTY (30) YEARSDOESNOT CONVERT ITINTO
PATRIMONIAL PROPERTY.— Property — such as land —
is either of public dominion or private ownership. “Land is
considered of public dominion if it either: (a) is intended for
public use; or (b) belongsto the State, without being for public
use, and is intended for some public service or for the
development of the national wealth.” Land that belongs to the
state but which is not or is no longer intended for public use,
for some public service or for the development of the national
wealth, is patrimonial property; it is property owned by the
Stateinitsprivate capacity. Provinces, cities, and municipalities
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may also hold patrimonial lands. Private property “consists of
all property belonging to private persons, either individually
or collectively,” as well as “the patrimonial property of the
State, provinces, cities, and municipalities.” Accordingly, only
publicly owned lands which are patrimonial in character are
susceptible to prescription under Section 14(2) of Presidential
Decree No. 1529. Consistent with this, Article 1113 of Civil
Code demarcates properties of the state, which are not patrimonial
in character, as being not susceptible to prescription x x X.
Contrary to petitioners’ theory then, for prescriptionto beviable,
the publicly-owned land must be patrimonial or private in
character at the onset. Possession for thirty (30) years does not
convert it into patrimonial property.

3. 1D.; ID.; ID.; FOR LAND OF PUBLIC DOMAIN TO BE
CONVERTED INTO PATRIMONIAL PROPERTY,
THERE MUST BE AN EXPRESS DECLARATION —IN
THE FORM OF ALAW DULY ENACTED BY CONGRESS
OR A PRESIDENTIAL PROCLAMATION IN CASES
WHERE THE PRESIDENT ISDULY AUTHORIZED BY
LAW —THAT THE PUBLIC DOMINION PROPERTY IS
NO LONGER INTENDED FOR PUBLIC SERVICE OR
THE DEVELOPMENT OF THE NATIONAL WEALTH OR
THAT THE PROPERTY HASBEEN CONVERTED INTO
PATRIMONIAL PROPERTY .— For land of the public domain
to be converted into patrimonial property, there must be an
express declaration — “in the form of a law duly enacted by
Congress or a Presidential Proclamation in cases where the
President isduly authorized by law” —that “the public dominion
property is no longer intended for public service or the
development of the national wealth or that the property has
been converted into patrimonial.” x x x. [I]n this Court’s 2013
Resolution in Heirs of Malabanan v. Republic: [W]hen public
land is no longer intended for public service or for the
devel opment of the national wealth, thereby effectively removing
the land from the ambit of public dominion, a declaration of
such conversion must be madein theform of alaw duly enacted
by Congress or by a Presidential proclamation in cases where
the President is duly authorized by law to that effect.

4. I1D.; ID.; ID.; ID.; A MERE INDORSEMENT OF THE
EXECUTIVE SECRETARY IS NOT THE LAW OR
PRESIDENTIAL PROCLAMATION REQUIRED FOR
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CONVERTING LAND OF THE PUBLIC DOMAIN INTO
PATRIMONIAL PROPERTY AND RENDERING IT
SUSCEPTIBLE TO PRESCRIPTION.— Attached to the
present Petition was a copy of a May 18, 1988 supplemental
letter to the Director of the Land Management Bureau. This
referred to an executive order, which stated that petitioners’
property was no longer needed for any public or quasi-public
purposes X X X. However, a mere indorsement of the executive
secretary is not the law or presidential proclamation required
for converting land of the public domain into patrimonial property
and rendering it susceptible to prescription. There then was no
viable declaration rendering the Iligan property to have been
patrimonial property at the onset. Accordingly, regardless of
the length of petitioners’ possession, no title could vest on them
by way of prescription.

5.1D.; ID.; THEPUBLICLAND ACT (COMMONWEALTH ACT

NO. 141); BEFORE CLAIMS OF TITLES TO PUBLIC
DOMAIN LANDS MAY BE CONFIRMED, THE
APPLICANTS MUST PROVE THAT THE LAND
SUBJECT OF THE CLAIM ISAGRICULTURAL LAND,
AND THAT THEY HAVE BEEN IN OPEN, CONTINUOQOUS,
AND EXCLUSIVE POSSESSION OF THE LAND SINCE
JUNE 12, 1945.— While petitioners may not claim title by
prescription, they may, nevertheless, claim title pursuant to
Section 48 (b) of Commonwealth Act No. 141 (the Public Land
Act). Section 48 enabled the confirmation of claimsand issuance
of titlesin favor of citizens occupying or claiming to own lands
of the public domain or an interest therein. Section 48 (b)
specifically pertained to those who “have been in open,
continuous, exclusive, and notorious possession and, occupation
of agricultural lands of the public domain, under a bona fide
claim of acquisition or ownership, since June 12, 1945” x X X.
Section 48(b) of the Public Land Act therefore requires that
two (2) requisites be satisfied before claims of titles to public
domain lands may be confirmed: first, that the land subject of
the claim is agricultural land; and second, open, continuous,
notorious, and exclusive possession of the land since June 12,
1945,

6. ID.; ID.; ID.; PETITIONERS ARE ENTITLED TO JUST

COMPENSATION FOR THE TAKING OF THEIR
PROPERTY, HAVING ESTABLISHED THAT THEY



VOL. 801, NOVEMBER 28, 2016 61

Heirs of Sps. Delfin vs. National Housing Authority

ACQUIRED TITLE OVER THE SAME PURSUANT TO
SECTION 48(B) OF THE PUBLIC LAND ACT.—
[P]etitioners acquired title over the Iligan Property pursuant
to Section 48(b) of the Public Land Act. First, thereisno issue
that the Iligan Property had already been declared to be alienable
and disposable land. Respondent has admitted this and Deputy
Public Land Inspector Pio Lucero, Jr.’s letters to the Director
of Lands attest to this. Second, although the Delfin Spouses’
testimonial evidence and tax declarations showed that their
possession went only as far back as 1952, Deputy Public Land
Inspector Pio Lucero, Jr.’s letters to the Director of Land
nevertheless attest to a previous finding that the property had
already been occupied as early as June 1945. Having shown
that the requisites of Section 48(b) of the Public Land Act have
been satisfied and having established their rights to the lligan
Property, it follows that petitioners must be compensated for
its taking.

APPEARANCES OF COUNSEL

Eltanal Maglinao Ugat & Partners for petitioners.
Mary Joy De Guzman-Baybay for respondent.

DECISION
LEONEN, J.:

Under Commonwealth Act No. 141, aclaimant may acquire
alienable and disposabl e public land upon evidence of exclusive
and notorious possession of the land since June 12, 1945. The
period to acquire public land by acquisitive prescription under
Presidential Decree No. 1529 begins to run only after the
promulgation of alaw or aproclamation by the President stating
that the land is no longer intended for public use or the
development of national wealth.

This resolves a Petition for Review on Certiorari* under
Rule 45 of the 1997 Rules of Civil Procedure praying that the

! Rollo, pp. 50-67.
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assailed February 26, 2010 Decision? and July 2, 2010
Resolution® of the Court of Appealsin CA-G.R. CV No. 80017
bereversed, and that the May 20, 2002 Decision* of the Regional
Tria Court in Civil Case No. 11-1801 be reinstated.

The Regional Trial Court’sMay 20, 2002 Decision awarded
compensation to Leopoldo and Soledad Delfin (Delfin Spouses)
for an lligan City property subsequently occupied by respondent
National Housing Authority.

Theassailed Court of Appeals Decision reversed the Regional
Trial Court’s May 20, 2002 Decision and dismissed the Delfin
Spouses’ complaint seeking compensation. The assailed Court
of Appeals Resolution denied their Motion for Reconsideration.

In a Complaint for “Payment of Parcel(s) of Land and
Improvements and Damages”® the Delfin Spouses claimed that
they were the owners of a 28,800 square meter parcel of land
in Townsite, Suarez, Iligan City (the “lligan Property”).® They
allegedly bought the property in 1951 from Felix Natingo and
Carlos Carbonay, who, allegedly, had been in actual possession
of the property since time immemorial.” The Delfin Spouses
had been declaring the Iligan Property in their names for tax
purposes since 1952,2 and had been planting it with mangoes,
coconuts, corn, seasonal crops, and vegetables.®

2|d. at 69-85. The Decision was penned by Associate Justice Romulo
V. Borja, and concurred in by Associate Justices Edgardo T. Lloren and
AngelitaA. Gacutan of the Twenty-First Division, Court of Appeals, Cagayan
de Oro.

31d. at 99-105. The Resol ution was penned by Associate Justice Romulo
V. Borja, and concurred in by Associate Justices Edgardo T. Lloren and
AngelitaA. Gacutan of the Former Twenty-First Division, Court of Appeals,
Cagayan de Oro.

41d. at 149-159. The Decision was penned by Presiding Judge Maximo
B. Ratunil of the Regional Trial Court of Lanao Del Norte.

51d. at 112-115.
61d. at 11.

71d. at 11 and 144.
81d. at 11.

91d. at 120-121.
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They further alleged that, sometime in 1982, respondent
National Housing Authority forcibly took possession of a10,798
square meter portion of the property.® Despite their repeated
demands for compensation, the National Housing Authority
failed to pay the value of the property.** The Delfin Spouses
thus, filed their Complaint.*?

They asserted that the property’s reasonable market value
was not lessthan P40 per square meter®® and that itsimprovements
consisting of fruit-bearing trees should be valued at £13,360.00
at the time of taking.'* They similarly claimed that because the
National Housing Authority occupied the property, they were
deprived of an average net yearly income of £10,000.00.%

Inits Answer, the National Housing Authority alleged that
the Delfin Spouses’ property was part of amilitary reservation
area.'’ It cited Proclamation No. 2151 (actually, Proclamation
No. 2143, the National Housing Authority made an erroneous
citation) as having supposedly reserved the areain which property
issituated for lligan City’ s slum improvement and resettlement
program, and the relocation of families who were dislocated
by the National Steel Corporation’s five-year expansion
program.*®

According to the National Housing Authority, Proclamation
No. 2151 also mandated it to determine the improvements’
valuation.'®Based on the study of the committeeit created, the

101d. at 11 and 144.
d. at 11.

21d. at 10.

1B 1d. at 11.

¥ 4.

5 d.

6 |d. at 116-119.
71d. at 144.

18 1d.

19 1d. at 145.
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value of the property was supposedly only £4.00 per square
meter, regardless of the nature of the improvements on it.?°

It emphasized that among all claimants, only the Delfin
Spouses and two others remained unpaid because of their
disagreement on the property’s valuation.?

The National Housing Authority failed to appear during the
pre-trial conference.?? Upon the Delfin Spouses motion, the
Regional Trial Court declared the National Housing Authority
in default.?® The case was set for the ex-parte reception of the
Delfin Spouses’ evidence.*

OnMay 20, 2002, the Regional Trial Court rendered aDecision
infavor of the Delfin Spouses.?® The dispositive portion of the
Decision read:

WHEREFORE, premises considered, and by virtue of the existence
of preponderance of evidence, the Court hereby enters a judgment
in favor of spouses-plaintiffs Leopoldo Delfin and Soledad Delfin
against defendant National Housing Authority, its agents or
representative/s ordering to pay the former the following, to wit:

1)  P400,000.00 representing the reasonable market value of a
portion of the land taken by the defendant containing an
area of 10,000 square meters at the rate of £40.00 per square
meters pluslegal interest per annum from thefiling in Court
of the complaint until fully paid;

2) P13,360.00 representing the value of the permanent
improvements that were damaged and destroyed plus legal
interest per annum from the time of the filing of this case
until fully paid;

2 d.

2 4.

21d. at 12.

2 d.

2 1d. at 12-13.
% d. at 159.
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3) P10,000.00, representing attorney’s fees;
4)  The costs of this suit.?

The Regional Trial Court stated that it had no reason to doubt
the evidence presented by the Delfin Spouses:

Onthisregards (sic), the Court finds no reason to doubt the veracity
of the plaintiff[* s evidence], there being none to controvert the same.
If said evidence did not ring true, the defendant should have and
could have easily destroyed their probatory value. Such indifference
can only mean that defendant had not (sic) equitablerightsto protect
or assert over the disputed property together with all the improvements
existing thereon. This, the defendant did not do so and the Court
finds no cogent reasonsto disbelieve or reject the plaintiffs categorical
declarations on the witness stand under a solemn oath, for the same
areentitled to full faith and credence. Indeed, if the defendant National
Housing Authority have been blinded with the consequence of their
neglect and apathy, then defendant have no right to pass on to the
spouses-plaintiffs of their negligence and expect the Court to come
to their rescue. For it is now much too late in the day to assail the
decision which has become final and executory.?’

The National Housing Authority filed a Motion for
Reconsideration, but thiswas denied in the Regional trial Court’s
September 10, 2002 Resolution.?

On the National Housing Authority’s appeal, the Court of
Appeals rendered the assailed February 26, 2010 Decision
reversing the Regional Trial Court:?°

WHEREFORE, the appeal is GRANTED. The assailed Decision
iSREVERSED and SET ASIDE. Consequently, appellees’ complaint
for compensation is DISMISSED for lack of merit. The property
taken by appellant NHA and for which compensation is sought by
appellees is hereby DECLARED land of the public domain.*

%6 1d. at 159.
27 1d. at 157.
2 1d. at 14-15.
2 1d. at 69-85.
0 1d. at 26.
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The Court of Appeals ruled that the characterization of the
property is no longer an issue because the National Housing
Authority already conceded that the property is disposable public
land by citing Proclamation No. 2151, which characterized the
property as “a certain disposable parcel of public land.”3!
However, the Delfin Spouses supposedly failed to establish
their possession of the property since June 12, 1945, asrequired
in Section 48(b) of the Public Land Act.*

During the pendency of their petition beforethe Court of Appeals.
Both Leopoldo and Soledad Delfin both passed away. Lepoldo
passed away on February 3, 2005 and Soledad on June 22, 2004.
Their surviving heirs, EmelitaD. Fabrigar and Leonilo C. Delfin
filed a Motion for Substitution before the Court of Appeals,
which was not acted upon.*?

Initsassailed July 2, 2010 Resolution,* the Court of Appeals
denied the Motion for Reconsideration filed by the heirs of the
Delfin Spouses.

31 1d. at 20.

321d. at 24.
Com. Act No. 141, Sec. 48(b) provides:
Section 48. The following-described citizens of the Philippines,
occupying lands of the public domain or claiming to own any such
lands or an interest therein, but whose titles have not been perfected
or completed, may apply to the Court of First Instance of the province
wheretheland islocated for confirmation of their claimsand theissuance
of a certificate of title therefor under the Land Registration Act, to
wit:

(b) Those who by themselves or through their predecessors-in-interest
have been in open, continuous, exclusive, and notorious possession
and, occupation of agricultural lands of the public domain, under a
bona fide claim of acquisition or ownership, since June 12, 1945,
immediately preceding the filing of the application for confirmation
of title, except when prevented by war or force majeure. These shall
be conclusively presumed to have performed all the conditions essential
to a government grant and shall be entitled to a certificate of title
under the provisions of this chapter.

3 1d. at 52.
34 Rollo, pp. 99-105.
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Hence, this petition which was filed by the surviving heirs
of the Delfin Spouses, EmelitaD. Fabrigar and Leonilo C. Delfin
(petitioners).%®

For resolution istheissue of whether petitioners are entitled
to just compensation for the Iligan City property occupied by
respondent National Housing Authority.

Theright to bejustly compensated whenever private property
is taken for public use cannot be disputed. Article 111, Section 9
of the 1987 Constitution states that

Section 9. Private property shall not be taken for public use without
just compensation.

The case now hinges on whether the petitioners and their
predecessors-in-interests have been in possession of the Iligan
Property for such duration and under such circumstances as
will enable them to claim ownership.

Petitioners argue that they and their predecessors-in-interests’
open, continuous, exclusive, and notorious possession of the
Iligan Property for more than 30 years converted the property
from public to private.® They then posit that they acquired
ownership of the property through acquisitive prescription under
Section 14(2) of Presidential Decree No. 1529.%

35 1d. at 52.
36 |d. at 60.
37 1d.

Pres. Decree No. 1529, Sec. 14 states:

Section 14. Who may apply. The following persons may file in the
proper Court of First Instance an application for registration of title
to land, whether personally or through their duly authorized
representatives:

(2) Those who have acquired ownership of private lands by prescription
under the provision of existing laws.
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Petitioners al so assert that the Court of Appeals disregarded
certifications and letters from government agencies, which
support their claims, particularly, their and their predecessors-
in-interest’ s possession since June 12, 1945.38

Respondent counters, citing the Court of Appeals Decision,
that petitioners cannot rely on Section 14(2) of Presidential
Decree No. 1529 because the property was not yet declared
private land when they filed their Complaint.®

Petitioners are erroneously claiming title based on acquisitive
prescription under Section 14(2) of Presidential Decree No. 1529.

Section 14 reads in full:

Section 14. Who may apply. The following persons may file in
the proper Court of First Instance an application for registration of
title to land, whether personally or through their duly authorized
representatives:

(1) Those who by themselves or through their predecessors-in-
interest have been in open, continuous, exclusive and
notorious possession and occupation of alienable and
disposable lands of the public domain under abonafide claim
of ownership since June 12, 1945, or earlier.

Where the land is owned in common, all the co-owners shall file the
application jointly.

Where the land has been sold under pacto de retro, the vendor aretro
may file an application for the original registration of the land, provided,
however, that should the period for redemption expire during the
pendency of the registration proceedings and ownership to the property
consolidated in the vendee aretro, the latter shall be substituted for
the applicant and may continue the proceedings.

A trustee on behalf of his principal may apply for original registration
of any land held in trust by him, unless prohibited by the instrument
creating the trust.

% Rollo, p. 63.
¥ 1d. at 176-177.
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(2) Those who have acquired ownership of private lands by
prescription under the provision of existing laws.

(3) Those who have acquired ownership of private lands or
abandoned river beds by right of accession or accretion under
the existing laws.

(4) Those who have acquired ownership of land in any other
manner provided for by law.

Where the land is owned in common, all the co-owners shall file
the application jointly.

Where the land has been sold under pacto de retro, the vendor a
retro may file an application for the original registration of the land,
provided, however, that should the period for redemption expire during
the pendency of the registration proceedings and ownership to the
property consolidated in the vendee aretro, the latter shall be substituted
for the applicant and may continue the proceedings.

A trustee on behalf of his principal may apply for original
registration of any land held in trust by him, unless prohibited by
the instrument creating the trust. [Emphasis supplied]

For acquisitive prescription to set in pursuant to Section 14(2)
of Presidential Decree No. 1529, two (2) requirements must be
satisfied: first, the property is established to be private in
character; and second the applicable prescriptive period under
existing laws had passed.

Property — such as land — is either of public dominion or
private ownership.®

“Land is considered of public dominion if it either: (a) is
intended for public use; or (b) belongs to the State, without
being for public use, and is intended for some public service
or for the development of the national wealth.”4 Land that
belongs to the state but which is not or is no longer intended

40 CIVIL CODE, Art. 419 provides:
Article419. Property iseither of public dominion or of private ownership.

41 Heirs of Malabanan v. Republic, 111 Phil. 141, 160 (2013). [Per J.
Bersamin, En Banc], citing CIVIL CODE, Art. 420.
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for public use, for some public service or for the development
of the national wealth, is patrimonial property;* it isproperty
owned by the State in its private capacity. Provinces, cities,
and municipalities may also hold patrimonial lands.®

Private property “consists of all property belonging to private
persons, either individually or collectively,”* as well as “the
patrimonial property of the State, provinces, cities, and
municipalities.” 4

Accordingly, only publicly owned landswhich are patrimonial
in character are susceptible to prescription under Section 14(2)
of Presidential Decree No. 1529. Consistent with this, Article
1113 of Civil Code demarcates properties of the state, which
are not patrimonial in character, as being not susceptible to
prescription:

42 CIVIL CODE, Arts. 421 and 422 provide:

Article 421. All other property of the State, which is not of the character
stated in the preceding article, is patrimonial property.

Article 422. Property of public dominion, when no longer intended for
public use or for public service, shall form part of the patrimonial property
of the State.

43 CIVIL CODE, Arts. 423 and 424 state:

Article 423. The property of provinces, cities, and municipalities is
divided into property for public use and patrimonial property.
Article 424. Property for public use, in the provinces, cities, and
municipalities, consist of the provincial roads, city streets, municipal
streets, the squares, fountains, public waters, promenades, and public
works for public service paid for by said provinces, cities, or
municipalities.

All other property possessed by any of them is patrimonial and shall
be governed by this Code, without prejudice to the provisions of special
laws.

4 CIVIL CODE, Art. 425 states:

Article 425. Property of private ownership, besides the patrimonial
property of the State, provinces, cities, and municipalities, consists
of all property belonging to private persons, either individually or
collectively.

45 CIVIL CODE, Art 425.
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Art. 1113. All things which are within the commerce of men are
susceptible of prescription, unless provided. Property of the State or
any of its subdivisions not patrimonial in character shall not be the
object of prescription.

Contrary to petitioners’ theory then, for prescription to be
viable, the publicly-owned land must be patrimonial or private
in character at the onset. Possession for thirty (30) years does
not convert it into patrimonial property.

For land of the public domain to be converted into patrimonial
property, there must be an express declaration — “in the form
of alaw duly enacted by Congress or a Presidential Proclamation
in cases where the President is duly authorized by law” ¢ that
“the public dominion property isno longer intended for public
service or the development of the national wealth or that the
property has been converted into patrimonial.”#’

This Court’s 2009 Decision in Heirs of Malabanan v.
Republic*® explains:

Nonetheless, Article 422 of the Civil Code states that “[p]roperty
of public dominion, when no longer intended for public use or for
public service, shall form part of the patrimonial property of the
State.” It isthis provision that controls how public dominion property
may be converted into patrimonial properly susceptible to acquisition
by prescription. After all, Article 420 (2) makes clear that those property
“which belong to the State, without being for public use, and are
intended for some public service or for the development of the national
wealth” are public dominion property. For as long as the property
belongs to the State, although already classified as alienable or
disposable, it remains property of the public dominion if when * it
is “intended for some public service or for the development of the
national wealth.”

Accordingly, there must be an express declaration by the State
that the public dominion property is no longer intended for public

46 Heirs of Malabanan v. Republic, 605 Phil. 244, 279 (2009) [Per J.
Tinga, En Banc].

474,
48 605 Phil. 244 (2009) [Per J. Tinga, En Banc].
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service or the development of the national wealth or that the property
has been converted into patrimonial . Without such express declaration,
the property, even if classified as alienable or disposable, remains
property of the public dominion, pursuant to Article 420 (2), and
thus incapable of acquisition by prescription. It is only when such
alienable and disposable lands are expressly declared by the State to
be no longer intended for public service or for the development of
the national wealth that the period of acquisitive prescription can
begin to run. Such declaration shall be in the form of a law duly
enacted by Congress or a Presidential Proclamation in cases where
the President is duly authorized by law.*

Thiswasreiterated in this Court’s 2013 Resolution in Heirs
of Malabanan v. Republic:%°

[W]hen public land is no longer intended for public service or for
the development of the national wealth, thereby effectively removing
the land from the ambit of public dominion, a declaration of such
conversion must be madein theform of alaw duly enacted by Congress
or by a Presidential proclamation in cases where the President is
duly authorized by law to that effect.!

Attached to the present Petition was a copy of a May 18,
1988 supplemental letter to the Director of the Land Management
Bureau.>® This referred to an executive order, which stated
that petitioners' property was no longer needed for any public
or quasi-public purposes:

That it isvery clear in the 4" Indorsement of the Executive Secretary
dated April 24, 1954 the portion thereof that will not be needed for
any public or quasi-public purposes, be disposed in favor of the actual
occupants under the administration of the Bureau of Lands (copy of
the Executive Order is herewith attached for ready reference)®®

49 |d. at 278-279.

50 717 Phil. 141 (2013) [Per J. Bersamin, En Banc].
Sld. at 162.

52 Rollo, p. 139.

5 d.
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However, a mere indorsement of the executive secretary is
not the law or presidential proclamation required for converting
land of the public domain into patrimonial property and rendering
it susceptibleto prescription. Therethen wasno viable declaration
rendering the Iligan property to have been patrimonial property
at the onset. Accordingly, regardless of thelength of petitioners’
possession, no title could vest on them by way of prescription.

While petitioners may not claim title by prescription, they
may, nevertheless, claim title pursuant to Section 48 (b) of
Commonwealth Act No. 141 (the Public Land Act).

Section 48 enabled the confirmation of claims and issuance
of titlesin favor of citizens occupying or claiming to own lands
of the public domain or an interest therein. Section 48 (b)
specifically pertained to those who “have been in open,
continuous, exclusive, and notorious possession and, occupation
of agricultural lands of the public domain, under a bona fide
claim of acquisition or ownership, since June 12, 1945":

Sec. 48. Thefollowing-described citizens of the Philippines, occupying
lands of the public domain or claiming to own any such lands or an
interest therein, but whose titles have not been perfected or completed,
may apply to the Court of First Instance of the province where the
land is located for confirmation of their claims and the issuance of
acertificate of title therefor under the Land Registration Act, to wit:

(b) Those who by themselves or through their predecessors-in-
interest have been in open, continuous, exclusive, and
notorious possession and, occupation of agricultural lands
of the public domain, under abonafide claim of acquisition
or ownership, since June 12, 1945, immediately preceding
the filing of the application for confirmation of title, except
when prevented by war or force majeure. These shall be
conclusively presumed to have performed all the conditions
essential to a government grant and shall be entitled to a
certificate of title under the provisions of this chapter. (As
amended by PD 1073.)
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Section 48(b) of the Public Land Act therefore requires that
two (2) requisites be satisfied before claims of title to public
domain lands may be confirmed: first, that the land subject of
the claim is agricultural land; and second, open, continuous,
notorious, and exclusive possession of the land since June 12,
1945.

The need for the land subject of the claim to have been
classified asagricultural isin conformity with the constitutional
precept that “[a]lienable lands of the public domain shall be
limited to agricultural lands.”>* As explained in this Court’s
2013 Resolution in Heirs of Malabanan v. Republic:

Whether or not land of the public domain isalienable and disposable
primarily rests on the classification of public lands made under the
Constitution. Under the 1935 Constitution, lands of the public domain
were classified into three, namely, agricultural, timber and mineral.
Section 10, Article X1V of the 1973 Constitution classified lands of
the public domain into seven, specifically, agricultural, industrial or
commercial, residential, resettlement, mineral, timber or forest, and
grazing land, with the reservation that the law might provide other
classifications. The 1987 Constitution adopted the classification under
the 1935 Constitution into agricultural, forest or timber, and mineral,
but added national parks. Agricultural lands may be further classified
by law according to the uses to which they may be devoted. The
identification of lands according to their legal classification is done
exclusively by and through apositive act of the Executive Department.

Based on the foregoing, the Constitution places a limit on the
type of public land that may be alienated. Under Section 2, Article
XII of the 1987 Constitution, only agricultural lands of the public
domain may be alienated; all other natural resources may not be.

Alienable and disposablelands of the State fall into two categories,
to wit: (a) patrimonial lands of the State, or those classified as |ands
of private ownership under Article 425 of the Civil Code, without
limitation; and (b) lands of the public domain, or the public lands as
provided by the Constitution, but with the limitation that the lands

54 CONST., Art. XII, Sec. 3. Also, CONST., Art. X1, Sec. 2 states that,
“[w]ith the exception of agricultural lands, all other natural resources shall
not be alienated.”
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must only be agricultural. Consequently, lands classified as forest
or timber, mineral, or national parks are not susceptible of alienation
or disposition unlessthey arereclassified as agricultural. A positive
act of the Government is necessary to enable such reclassification,
and the exclusive prerogative to classify public lands under existing
laws is vested in the Executive Department, not in the courts.®

Asthe Court of Appealsemphasized, respondent has conceded
that the Iligan property was alienable and disposable |and:

As to the first requirement: There was no need for appellees to
establish that the property involved was alienable and disposable
public land. This characterization of the property is conceded by
[respondent] who cites Proclamation No. 2151 as declaring that the
disputed property was a certain disposable parcel of public land.%®

That the lligan property was alienable and disposable,
agricultural land, has been admitted. What is claimed instead
is that petitioners’ possession is debunked by how the Iligan
Property was supposedly part of a military reservation area®’
which was subsequently reserved for Iligan City’s slum
improvement and resettlement program, and the relocation of
familieswho were dislocated by the National Steel Corporation’s
five-year expansion program.5®

Indeed, by virtue of Proclamation No. 2143 (erroneously
referred to by respondent as Proclamation No. 2151) certain
parcels of land in Barrio Suarez, Iligan City were reserved for

%5 Heirs of Malabanan v. Republic, 717 Phil 141, 161-162 (2013) [Per
J. Bersamin, En Banc], citing CONST. (1935), Art. X111 Sec. 1; Krivenko
v. Register of Deeds of Manila, 79 Phil. 461, 468 (1947) [Per C.J. Moran,
Second Division]; CONST., Art. XIl, Sec. 3; BERNAS, THE 1987
CONSTITUTION, 1188-1189 (2009); CIVIL CODE, Art. 425; Director of
Forestry v. Villareal, 252 Phil. 622 (1989) [Per J. Cruz, En Banc]; Heirs
of Jose Amunategui v. Director of Forestry, 211 Phil. 260 (1983) [Per J.
Gutierrez, Jr., First Division]; and Director of Lands v. Court of Appeals,
214 Phil. 606 (1984) [Per J. Melencio-Herrera, First Division].

% Rollo, p. 79.
5 1d. at 144.
58 4.
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slum-improvement and resettlement program purposes.® The
proclamation characterized the covered areaas* disposabl e parcel
of public land”:

WHEREAS, a certain disposable parcel of public land situated at
Barrio Suarez, Iligan City consisting of one million one hundred
seventy-four thousand eight hundred fifty-three (1,174,853) square
meters, more or |ess, has been chosen by National Steel Corporation
and the City Government of Iligan with the conformity of the National
Housing/Authority, as the most suitable site for the relocation of the
families to be affected/dislocated as a result of National Steel
Corporation’s program and for the establishment of a slum
improvement and resettlement project in the City of Iligan;®

However, even if the Iligan Property was subsumed by
Proclamation No. 2143, the same proclamation recognized private
rights, which may have already attached, and the rights of
qualified free patent applicants:

NOW, THEREFORE, I, FERDINAND E. MARCOQOS, President
of the Philippines, by virtue of the powers vested in me by law, do
hereby reserve for relocation of the familiesto be affected/dislocated
by the 5-year expansion program of the National Steel Corporation
and for the slum improvement and resettlement project of the City
of Iligan under the administration and disposition of the National
Housing Authority, subject to private rights, if any there be, Lot 5258
(portion) of the lligan Cadastre, which parcel of land is of the public
domain, situated in Barrio Suarez, City of Iligan and more particularly
described as follows:

This Proclamation is subject to the condition that the qualified
free patent applicants occupying portions of the aforedescribed par cel
of land, if any, may be compensated for the value of their respective
portions and existing improvements thereon, as may be determined
by the National Housing Authority.5!

% 1d.
80 proclamation No. 2143 (1981).
61 proclamation No. 2143 (1981).
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Whatever rights petitioners (and their predecessors-in-interest)
may have had over the Iligan property was, thus, not obliterated
by Proclamation No. 2143. On the contrary, the Proclamation
itself facilitated compensation.

Moreimportantly, thereis documentary evidenceto the effect
that the lligan Property was not even within the area claimed
by respondent. In a letter®? to the Director of Lands, dated
December 22, 1987, Deputy Public Land Inspector Pio Lucero,
Jr. noted that:

That this land known as Lot No. 5258, Cad. 292, Iligan Cadastre
which portion was claimed also by the Human Settlement and/or
National Housing Authority; but the area applied for by Leopoldo
Delfin is outside the claim of the said agency as per certification
issued dated June 10, 1988; copy of which is herewith attached for
ready reference;®

The same letter likewise indicated that the Iligan Property
was already occupied by June 1945 and that it had even been
released for agricultural purposes in favor of its occupants.
Accordingly, the Deputy Public Land Inspector recommended
theissuance of apatent infavor of petitioner Leopoldo Delfin:®

Upon investigation conducted by the undersigned in the premises of
the land, it was found and ascertained that the land applied for by
L eopoldo Delfin wasfirst entered, occupied, possessed and cultivated
by him since the year June, 1945 up to the present; he have already
well improved the land and introduced some considerable
improvements such as coconut trees and different kinds of fruit trees
which are presently all fruit bearing trees; declared the same for
taxation purposes and taxes have been paid every year; and that there
is no other person or persons who bothered him in his peaceful
occupation and cultivation thereof;

52 Rollo, p. 140
83 1d.
64 1d.
8 1d.
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Records of this Office show that said land was surveyed and claimed
by the Military Reservation, but the portion of which has been released
in favor of the actual occupants and the area of Leopoldo Delfin is
one of the portions released for agricultural purposes;

That the applicant caused the survey of the land under Sgs-12-000099,
approved by the Regional Land Director, Region X1, Bureau of Lands,
Cotabato City on April 3, 1979 (see approved plan attached hereof);

In view hereof, it is therefore respectfully recommended that the
entry of the application be now confirmed and that patent be yes
issued in favor of Leopoldo Delfin.5®

A May 18, 1988 supplemental letter to the Director of the
Land Management Bureau further stated:

That the land applied for by Leopoldo Delfin is a portion of Lot
No. 5258, Cad. 292, lligan Cadastre which was entered, occupied
and possessed by the said applicant since the year June 1945 up to
the present; well improved the same and introduced some considerable
improvements such as different kinds of fruit trees, coconut trees
and other permanent improvements thereon;

That isvery clear in the 4™ Indorsement of the Executive Secretary
dated April 24, 1954 the portion thereof that will not be needed for
any public or quasi-public purposes, be disposed in favor of the actual
occupants under the administration of the Bureau of Lands[.]®’

Clearly then, petitioners acquired title over the Iligan Property
pursuant to Section 48(b) of the Public Land Act.

First, there is no issue that the Iligan Property had already
been declared to be alienable and disposable land. Respondent
has admitted this and Deputy Public Land Inspector Pio Lucero,
Jr.’s letters to the Director of Land attest to this.

66 |d.
57 1d. at 139.
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Second, although the Delfin Spouses' testimonial evidence
and tax declarations showed that their possession went only as
far back as 1952, Deputy Public Land Inspector Pio Lucero,
Jr.’s letters to the Director of Land nevertheless attest to a
previous finding that the property had already been occupied
as early as June 1945.

Having shown that the requisites of Section 48(b) of the Public
Land Act have been satisfied and having established their rights
to the Iligan Property, it follows that petitioners must be
compensated for its taking.

WHEREFORE, the Petition is GRANTED. The assailed
Court of Appeals Decision dated February 26, 2010 and
Resolution dated July 2, 2010 in CA-G.R. CV No. 80017 are
REVERSED and SET ASIDE. The Regional Trial Court’s
Decision dated May 20, 2002 in Civil Case No. 11-1801 is
REINSTATED.

SO ORDERED.

Carpio (Chairperson), Brion, del Castillo, and Mendoza, JJ.,
concur.

THIRD DIVISION
[G.R. No. 197634. November 28, 2016]

JULIUSB. CAMPOL, petitioner, vs. MAYOR RONALD S.
BALAO-AS and VICE-MAYOR DOMINADOR 1.
SIANEN, respondents.
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SYLLABUS

1. POLITICAL LAW; ADMINISTRATIVE LAW; CIVIL
SERVICE OFFICERSAND EMPLOYEES; ANEMPLOYEE
OF THE CIVIL SERVICE HAS THE RIGHT TO BE
PROTECTED IN THE POSSESSION AND EXERCISE OF
HIS/HER OFFICE, AND HE/SHE CANNOT BE REMOVED
FROM HIS/HER EMPLOYMENT SAVE FOR CAUSES
ALLOWED BY LAW.— Section 2, paragraph 3 of Article
IX-B of the Constitution states — No officer or employee of
the civil service shall be removed or suspended except for cause
provided by law. This constitutional provision captures the
essence of security of tenure. An employee of the civil service
has the right to be protected in the possession and exercise of
his or her office. He or she cannot be removed from his or her
employment save for causes allowed by law. A necessary
consequence of the importance given to security of tenure is
the rule that an employee invalidly dismissed from service is
entitled to reinstatement.

2. 1D.; ID.; ID.; TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT;
REINSTATEMENT OF AN ILLEGALLY DISMISSED
CIVIL SERVICE EMPLOYEE ISPROPER EVEN IF HE/
SHEHAD ALREADY OBTAINED OTHER EMPLOYMENT
WHILE WAITING FOR THE COURT TO RULE ON THE
PROPRIETY OF HIS/HER DISMISSAL, AS THE SAME
SHOULD NOT BE CONSTRUED ASAN ABANDONMENT
OF HIS/HER POSITION, OR EVEN WHEN ANOTHER
PERSON ISALREADY OCCUPYING THE POSITION.—
In refusing to order Campol’ s reinstatement, the CA reasoned
that he had already found another employment. x x x. We have
reviewed our relevant pronouncements on this matter and we
found that as early as 1960, in Tan v. Gimenez, etc. and Aguilar,
etc., we have pursued the doctrine that an employee of the civil
service illegally dismissed from office has the right to
reinstatement. Any other employment he or she obtains while
waiting for the court to rule on the propriety of hisor her dismissal
should not be construed as an abandonment of hisor her position.
This was echoed in Gonzales v. Hernandez, a 1961 case. X X X.
Thiswas also our pronouncement in Tafiala v. Legaspi. In the
latter case, we even held that the reinstatement of an illegally
dismissed employee is proper even when another person is
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already occupying the position. Thisisnot alegal impediment
to reinstatement. x x X. In the 2001 case Canonizado v. Aguirre,
werepeated our ruling in Tan and Gonzales. x X X. The doctrine
in Tan, Tafala, Gonzales, Salvador and Canonizado isthe proper
rule. It ismore in keeping with the constitutional value placed
on security of tenure. To follow the ruling in Ginson and Regis
istoruleinfavor of penalizing anillegally dismissed employee.
It will render pointlessthe right of employees of the civil service
to security of tenure. It is a doctrine that values technicalities
more than justice. It forces an illegally dismissed employee to
choose between pursuing his or her case and to fight for his or
her rights or to simply accept his or her dismissal and find
employment elsewhere. This is not the kind of doctrine that
rightfully embodies our aspiration to uphold the Constitution
and to render justice. Thus, in accordance with the doctrine in
the af orementioned cases, Campol should be reinstated to his
position as SB Secretary. In the event that another person has
already been appointed to his post, our ruling in Tafiala should
apply. In the eyes of the law, the position never became vacant
since Campol wasillegally dropped from the rolls. Hence, the
incumbency of the person who assumed the position is only
temporary and must give way to Campol whose right to the
office has been recognized by the proper authorities.

3. ID.; ID.; ID.; ID.; REINSTATEMENT AND FULL
BACKWAGES; ANEMPLOYEE OF THE CIVIL SERVICE
WHO ISORDERED REINSTATED ISALSO ENTITLED
TO THE FULL PAYMENT OF HISSHER BACKWAGES
DURING THE ENTIRE PERIOD OF TIME THAT HE/SHE
WASWRONGFULLY PREVENTED FROM PERFORMING
THE DUTIES OF HIS/HER POSITION AND FROM
ENJOYING ITS BENEFITS.— Campol is entitled to the
payment of backwages from the time of his illegal dismissal
until he is reinstated to his position. The CA erred in ruling
that the backwages should only cover the period of hisillegal
dismissal until his new employment with the PAO. x x x. Thus,
in Civil Service Commission v. Gentallan, we categorically
declared — Anillegally dismissed government employee who
is later ordered reinstated is entitled to backwages and other
monetary benefits from the time of her illegal dismissal up to
her reinstatement. Thisisonly fair and just because an employee
who is reinstated after having been illegally dismissed is



82

PHILIPPINE REPORTS

Campol vs. Mayor Balao-as, et al.

4,

considered as not having left her office and should be given
the corresponding compensation at the time of her reinstatement.
X X X. Thus, the Decision, in refusing to award backwages from
Campol’s dismissal until his actual reinstatement, must be
reversed. There is no legal nor jurisprudential basis for this
ruling. An employee of the civil servicewho isordered reinstated
is also entitled to the full payment of his or her backwages
during the entire period of time that he or she was wrongfully
prevented from performing the duties of his or her position
and from enjoying its benefits. Thisis necessarily so because,
in the eyes of the law, the employee never truly left the office.
Fixing the backwages to five years or to the period of time
until the employee found a new employment is not a full
recompense for the damage done by theillegal dismissal of an
employee. Worse, it effectively punishes an employeefor being
dismissed without his or her fault. In cases like this, the twin
award of reinstatement and payment of full backwages are
dictated by the constitutional mandate to protect civil service
employees’ right to security of tenure. Anything less than this
falls short of the justice due to government employees unfairly
removed from office. Thisisthe prevailing doctrine and should
be applied in Campol’s case.

ID.; ID.; ID.; ID.; ID.; AN ILLEGALLY DISMISSED

EMPLOYEEISENTITLED TO RECEIVE THE SALARY
WHICH HE/SHE SHOULD HAVE RECEIVED HAD THE
ILLEGAL ACT NOT BE DONE, AND ANY INCOME HE/
SHEMAY HAVE OBTAINED DURING THE LITIGATION
OF THE CASE SHALL NOT BE DEDUCTED FROM THE
AWARD.— Thisentitlement to full backwages al so means that
there is no need to deduct Campol’s earnings from his
employment with PAO from the award. The right to receive
full backwages means exactly this—that it corresponds to
Campol’s salary at the time of his dismissal until his
reinstatement. Any income he may have obtained during the
litigation of the case shall not be deducted from this amount.
This is consistent with our ruling that an employee illegally
dismissed hastheright to live and to find employment elsewhere
during the pendency of the case. At the sametime, an employer
who illegally dismisses an employee has the obligation to pay
him or her what he or she should have received had the illegal
act not be done. It isan employer’ sprice or penalty for illegally
dismissing an employee.
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DECISION
JARDELEZA, J..

The Constitution mandates that no employee of thecivil service
shall be removed from office except for cause provided by law.
Corollary to this, any employeeillegally dismissed from office
is entitled to reinstatement. Any other employment he or she
obtainswhilethe case challenging hisor her dismissal ispending
does not bar his or her right to be reinstated. Similarly, he or
sheisentitled to the payment of hisor her backwages from the
time of hisor her dismissal until hisor her actual reinstatement.
The Constitutional requirement of valid cause before an employee
of the civil service may be dismissed and the twin remedies of
reinstatement and payment of full backwages encapsulate the
essence of security of tenure.

Case

ThisisaPetition for Review on Certiorari under Rule 45 of
the Rules of Court (Petition).! The Petition seeks the partial
reversal of the ruling of the Court of Appeals (CA) dated
December 15, 2010 (Decision)? and its resolution dated June
27, 2011 (Assailed Resolution)® which denied Petitioner Julius
B. Campol’s (Campol) motion for reconsideration of the
Decision. The Decision reversed the Civil Service Commission
(CSC) which found that Campol was validly dismissed from
the service. While the CA found that Campol was illegally

! Rollo, pp. 3-19.

2 |d. at 21-36. Penned by Associate Justice PriscillaJ. Baltazar-Padilla,
with Associate Justices Fernanda Lampas Peralta and Elihu A. Y bafiez,
concurring.

% |d. at 51-52.



84 PHILIPPINE REPORTS

Campol vs. Mayor Balao-as, et al.

dismissed, it nevertheless refused to order his reinstatement.
Campol challenges this ruling before us.

Facts

Campol served the Municipality of Boliney, Abrasince 1999
as Secretary to the Sangguniang Bayan (SB).* He held the
position in a permanent capacity with salary grade 24.5

During the 2004 elections, Ronald S. Balao-as (Balao-as)
and Dominador J. Sianen (Sianen), respondents in this case,
won as mayor and vice-mayor, respectively (collectively,
Respondents). They assumed officein July 2004. Shortly after
this, the SB passed a resolution terminating Campol as SB
Secretary on the ground that he was absent without approved
leave from August 1, 2004 to September 30, 2004.6 However,
when the resolution was transmitted to the Sangguniang
Panlalawigan (SP), it referred the matter to CSC-Abra.” CSC-
Abrathen wrote Sianen informing him that Campol cannot be
removed from his position because he is protected by the
Administrative Code. The SP followed this advice.® The
Department of Interior and Local Government (DILG)-Abra
also took the same position.® Despite the unanimous position
of these three agencies, Sianen issued Memaorandum Order No.
001, Series of 2004, which dropped Campol from the rolls.*

Campol challenged this memorandum before the CSC-CAR,
which ruled in his favor.!! Sianen, in turn, elevated the matter
before the CSC. The CSC granted his appeal and ruled that
Campol was properly dropped from the rolls.*?

41d. at 22.
51d. at 4.

61d. at 4-5, 22.
71d. at 5.

81d.

% Rollo, p. 6.
1014, at 23.

T d.

12 Rollo, p. 24.



VOL. 801, NOVEMBER 28, 2016 85

Campol vs. Mayor Balao-as, et al.

Campol filed apetition for review under Rule 43 of the Rules
of Court before the CA.* Campol contested the allegation that
he committed absences without any approved leave. To
substantiate his claim, Campol stated that he in fact received
his salary for September 2004. He al so sought to prove, through
the logbook of meetings that he kept as Secretary of the SB,
that he was present on August 2, 9, 16, 23, 30 and September
6, 13 and 20, 2004. He also claimed that Sianen denied his
application for sick leave from September 16 to 24, 2004 so as
to make it appear that he was absent for more than 30 days.
Further, even assuming that his absences without leave were
true, Campol challenged the propriety of his summary dismissal
arguing that he was deprived of his right to due process.**

The CA, in its Decision, reversed the CSC. The CA ruled
that no ground existsto justify Campol’ s dismissal.*®* However,
while the CA ruled that Campol was illegally dropped from
therolls, it refused to order hisreinstatement. The CA reasoned
that since Campol was already gainfully employed with the
Public Attorney’s Office (PAO) since October 2005,
reinstatement was no longer possible. It also held that Campol
is entitled to backwages only from the time of his dismissal
until October 2005, prior to his employment with another
government agency.'® According to the CA —

In the case at bar, Campol’s dropping from the rolls is found to
be invalid. His reinstatement as SB Secretary though is no longer
viable considering that since October, 2005, he was gainfully employed
at PAO. Thus, payment of his backwages and benefits covering the
period effective from the time he was dropped from the rolls up to
October, 2005 is in order.Y

B d.

14 Rollo, p. 26.
5 d. at 33.

16 1d. at 35.
4.
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Campol filed this Petition for Review on Certiorari®
challenging the CA’ srefusal to order hisreinstatement. He also
assertsthat the CA erredin ordering the payment of hisbackwages
only up to October 2005.

Campol admits that indeed, he has been employed as
administrative aide IV by the PAO since October 2005. He
adds, however, that he was forced to find another job in order
to provide for histwo young daughters. He relates that during
the pendency of this case, hiswife, aPAO lawyer, was gunned
down on September 5, 2005. Thus, in the face of theloss of his
wife and his continuing unemployment, Campol had no choice
but to accept ajob from the agency that formerly employed his
wife. He highlightsthat his position as SB Secretary fallsunder
salary grade 24 while hisemployment with PAO asadministrative
aidelV isonly salary grade 4. He was, neverthel ess, compelled
to take the job for the sake of his two daughters.*®

Campol arguesthat the Decision, in refusing his reinstatement
and limiting the grant of backwagesto October 2005, contradicted
prevailing jurisprudence.

The Respondents did not file any comment despite the order
of this Court.

Issue

The only issue before us is whether Campol is entitled to
reinstatement and to the payment of his backwages from the
time of his dismissal until he is reinstated.

Ruling

We note that Campol’ s unlawful dismissal happened in 2004.
The Decision which ruled that he was illegally dropped from
the rolls was promulgated in 2010. Had it not been for the
improper appreciation of the applicable laws and jurisprudence,
Campol should have been reinstated to his rightful position as
SB Secretary five years ago. We commiserate with Campol for

18 supra note 1.
¥ Rollo, p. 14.
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the years he spent waiting for justice to finally and rightfully
be given to him. We grant the prayers in his petition.

We rule that Campol should be reinstated. He must also be
paid his backwages from the time he was illegally dismissed
until his reinstatement.

The Law on Reinstatement

Section 2, paragraph 3 of Article IX-B of the Constitution
states —

No officer or employee of the civil service shall be removed or
suspended except for cause provided by law.

Thisconstitutional provision capturesthe essence of security
of tenure. An employee of the civil service has the right to be
protected in the possession and exercise of his or her office.
He or she cannot be removed from his or her employment save
for causes allowed by law. A necessary consequence of the
importance given to security of tenureistherulethat an employee
invalidly dismissed from service is entitled to reinstatement.

The CA, however, in its Decision, posits that there is an
exception to this general rule. In refusing to order Campol’s
reinstatement, the CA reasoned that he had already found another
employment. Thus, following the CA’slogic, once an employee
illegally dismissed hasfound a new employment, reinstatement
is no longer the rule.

The CA did not cite any law, rule or jurisprudence to support
itsruling. A proper adjudication of the issue presented before
this Court requires an examination of therelevant legal principles
as applied in jurisprudence. Thus, we shall revisit applicable
jurisprudence in order to ascertain the correct doctrine in this
case and to guide the bench and the bar in future casesinvolving
the same question.

We note that the ruling of the CA was also the tenor of our
decision in the 1988 case Ginson v. Municipality of Murcia.?®

20 G.R. No. L-46585, February 8, 1988, 158 SCRA 1.
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In this case, we held that while Ginson wasillegally dismissed
from her position inthe Municipality of Murciaand thus, entitled
to reinstatement, this is subject to the condition that she has
not obtained any other employment. The ruling in Ginson was
repeated in the 1991 case Regis, Jr. v. Osmefia, Jr. None of
these cases, however, fully explains the rationale for making
reinstatement subject to a condition. We have reviewed our
relevant pronouncements on this matter and we found that as
early as 1960, in Tan v. Gimenez, etc. and Aguilar, etc.,? we
have pursued the doctrine that an employee of the civil service
illegally dismissed from office has the right to reinstatement.
Any other employment he or she obtains while waiting for the
court to rule on the propriety of hisor her dismissal should not
be construed as an abandonment of his or her position. This
was echoed in Gonzales v. Hernandez,? a 1961 case. In this
case, Gonzales was initially dismissed from service in the
Department of Finance. During the pendency of his appeal, he
accepted employment in the Government Service Insurance
System (GSIS). His dismissal was eventually reversed and the
penalty lowered to suspension. We held in this case that his
employment in the GSIS is no hindrance to his reinstatement.
We categorically stated that Gonzal es had theright to live during
his appeal which necessarily meansthat he can accept any form
of employment.

Thiswas also our pronouncement in Tafiala v. Legaspi.?* In
the latter case, we even held that the reinstatement of anillegally
dismissed employee is proper even when another person is
already occupying the position. Thisisnot alegal impediment
to reinstatement. Citing Batungbakal v. National Devel opment
Company,® we explained in Tafala that —

2l G.R. No. L-26785, May 23, 1991, 197 SCRA 308.
22 Tan v. Gimenez, 107 Phil. 17 (1960).

2 G.R. No. L-15482, May 30, 1961, 2 SCRA 228.

% G.R. No. L-22537, March 31, 1965, 13 SCRA 566.
25 93 Phil. 182 (1953).
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X X X [W]hen a regular government employee was illegally
suspended or dismissed, legally speaking, his position never become
vacant, hence there was no vacancy to which anew incumbent could
be permanently appointed it being considered that the incumbency
of the person appointed to the position is temporary and he has to
give way to the employee whose right to the office has been recognized
by the competent authorities. x x x2°

We also highlight that more recent cases have moved away
fromtheruling in Ginson and Regisin favor of the earlier cases
of Tan and Tafiala. In the 2000 case Salvador v. Court of Appeals
(Special Sixth Division),?” we stated —

The anxiety and fear of losing one’s job after more than twenty-
seven continuous years of service with the DENR, experienced by
petitioner during the time of the reorganization of DENR, must have
compelled him to accept a position which was not only lower but of
acoterminous status. Any man in such an uncertain and economically
threatening condition would be expected to take whatever measures
are available to ensure a means of sustenance for himself and his
family. This would include finding employment as soon as possible
in order to meet the daily financial demands of hisfamily. Petitioner’s
application for and acceptance of a lower position in the DENR,

under the circumstances, wasthe practical and responsiblething
to do, and cannot be construed against him such asto foreclose

his right to question the legality of histermination and to claim
the position he held previous to the reorganization. Succinctly
put, applying for new employment was not a choicefor petitioner

but a necessity.?®

In the 2001 case Canonizado v. Aguirre,® we repeated our
ruling in Tan and Gonzales. Canonizado was removed from
his office as commissioner of the National Police Commission
by virtue of a law which this Court eventually declared as
unconstitutional. During the pendency of the case before us,

% supra note 24 at 575.

27 G.R. No. 127501, May 5, 2000, 331 SCRA 438.

2 |d. at 444-445. Emphasis supplied.

2 G.R. No. 133132, February 15, 2001, 351 SCRA 6509.
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Canonizado accepted another government appointment as
Inspector General of the Internal Affairs Service of the Philippine
National Police. We ruled that Canonizado is entitled to
reinstatement to his prior position, although he must first resign
from his second employment. We explained —

A contrary rulingwould deprive petitioner of hisright tolive,
which contemplates not only aright to earn aliving, as held in
previous cases, but also a right to lead a useful and productive
life. Furthermore, prohibiting Canonizado from accepting a second
position during the pendency of his petition would be to unjustly
compel him to bear the consequences of an unconstitutional act which
under no circumstance can be attributed to him. However, before
Canonizado can re-assume his post as Commissioner, he should first
resign as Inspector General of the IAS-PNP.*

The doctrine in Tan, Tafala, Gonzales, Salvador and
Canonizado is the proper rule. It is more in keeping with the
constitutional value placed on security of tenure. To follow
theruling in Ginson and Regisistorulein favor of penalizing
an illegally dismissed employee. It will render pointless the
right of employees of the civil service to security of tenure. It
isadoctrinethat valuestechnicalities more than justice. It forces
an illegally dismissed employee to choose between pursuing
his or her case and to fight for his or her rights or to simply
accept his or her dismissal and find employment elsewhere.
This is not the kind of doctrine that rightfully embodies our
aspiration to uphold the Constitution and to render justice.

Thus, in accordance with the doctrine in the af orementioned
cases, Campol should be reinstated to his position as SB
Secretary. In the event that another person has already been
appointed to his post, our ruling in Tafiala should apply. Inthe
eyes of the law, the position never became vacant since Campol
was illegally dropped from the rolls. Hence, the incumbency
of the person who assumed the position is only temporary and
must give way to Campol whose right to the office has been
recognized by the proper authorities.

30 |d. at 672. Emphasis supplied.
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The Law on Backwages

Campol is entitled to the payment of backwages from the
timeof hisillegal dismissal until heisreinstated to his position.
The CA erred in ruling that the backwages should only cover
the period of hisillegal dismissal until his new employment
with the PAO.

An employee of the civil servicewho isinvalidly dismissed
isentitled to the payment of backwages. Whilethisright is not
disputed, there have been variationsin our jurisprudence asto
the proper fixing of the amount of backwages that should be
awarded in these cases. We take this opportunity to clarify the
doctrine on this matter.

Ginson and Regis also involved the question of the proper
fixing of backwages. Both cases awarded backwages but limited
it to a period of five years. Ginson does not provide for an
exhaustive explanation for thisfive-year cap. Regis, on the other
hand, cites Cristobal v. Melchor,* Balquidra v. CFl of Capiz,
Branch 11,% Laganapan v. Asedillo,* Antipordav. Ticao,* and
San Luis v. Court of Appeals,® in support of its ruling. We
note that these cases also do not clearly explain why there must
be a cap for the award of backwages, with the exception of
Cristobal. In Cristobal, a1977 case, we held that the award of
backwages should be for afixed period of five years, applying
by analogy the then prevailing doctrine in labor law involving
employees who suffered unfair labor practice.*® We highlight
that this rule has been rendered obsolete by virtue of Republic
Act No. 6175% which amended the Labor Code. Under the L abor

31 G.R. No. L-43203, July 29, 1977, 78 SCRA 175.

%2 G.R. No. L-40490, October 28, 1977, 80 SCRA 123.

% G.R. No. L-28353, September 30, 1987, 154 SCRA 377.
3 G.R. No. L-30796, April 15, 1988, 160 SCRA 40.

%5 G.R. No. 80160, June 26, 1989, 174 SCRA 258.

36 Supra note 31 at 187.

37 An Act to Extend Protection to Labor, Strengthen the Constitutional
Rights of Workersto Self-Organization, Collective Bargaining and Peaceful
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Code, employeesillegally dismissed are entitled to the payment
of backwages from the time hisor her compensation waswithheld
up to the time of his or her actual reinstatement.®

In 2005, our jurisprudence on backwages for illegally
dismissed employees of the civil service veered away from the
ruling in Cristobal.

Thus, in Civil Service Commission v. Gentallan,* we
categorically declared —

Anillegally dismissed government employee who islater ordered
reinstated is entitled to backwages and other monetary benefits from
the time of her illegal dismissal up to her reinstatement. Thisisonly
fair and just because an employee who is reinstated after having
been illegally dismissed is considered as not having left her office
and should be given the corresponding compensation at the time of
her reinstatement.*°

We repeated this ruling in the 2005 case Batangas State
University v. Bonifacio,* in the 2007 case Romagos v. Metro
Cebu Water District,*? and in the 2010 case Civil Service
Commission v. Magnaye, Jr.*3

Thus, the Decision, in refusing to award backwages from
Campol’s dismissal until his actual reinstatement, must be
reversed. There is no legal nor jurisprudential basis for this

Concerted Activities, Foster Industrial Peace and Harmony, Promote the
Preferential Use of Voluntary Modes of Settling Labor Disputes, and
Reorganize the National Labor Relations Commission, Amending for These
Purposes Certain Provisions of Presidential Decree No. 442, as Amended,
Otherwise Known as the Labor Code of the Philippines, Appropriating Funds
Therefore and for Other Purposes (1989).

% |_ABOR CODE, Art. 294.

%% G.R. No. 152833, May 9, 2005, 458 SCRA 278.

40 |d. at 286.

41 G.R. No. 167762, December 15, 2005, 478 SCRA 142.
42 G.R. No. 156100, September 12, 2007, 533 SCRA 50.
4 G.R. No. 183337, April 23, 2010, 619 SCRA 347.
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ruling. Anemployeeof thecivil servicewho isordered reinstated
is also entitled to the full payment of his or her backwages
during the entire period of time that he or she was wrongfully
prevented from performing the duties of his or her position
and from enjoying its benefits. Thisis necessarily so because,
in the eyes of the law, the employee never truly left the office.
Fixing the backwages to five years or to the period of time
until the employee found a new employment is not a full
recompense for the damage done by theillegal dismissal of an
employee. Worse, it effectively punishes an employeefor being
dismissed without his or her fault. In cases like this, the twin
award of reinstatement and payment of full backwages are
dictated by the constitutional mandate to protect civil service
employees’ right to security of tenure. Anything less than this
falls short of the justice due to government employees unfairly
removed from office. Thisisthe prevailing doctrine and should
be applied in Campol’s case.

This entitlement to full backwages also means that there is
no need to deduct Campol’ s earnings from his employment with
PAO from the award. Theright to receive full backwages means
exactly this—that it correspondsto Campol’ ssalary at thetime
of his dismissal until his reinstatement. Any income he may
have obtained during the litigation of the case shall not be
deducted from this amount. This is consistent with our ruling
that an employee illegally dismissed has the right to live and
to find employment el sewhere during the pendency of the case.
At the same time, an employer who illegally dismisses an
employee has the obligation to pay him or her what he or she
should have received had the illegal act not be done. It is an
employer’ spriceor penalty for illegally dismissing an employee.*

We note that even in labor law, this is now the prevailing
rule. In Bustamante v. National Labor Relations Commission,*

44 Equitable Banking Corporation v. Sadac, G.R. No. 164772, June 8,
2006, 490 SCRA 380, 399, citing Bustamante v. National Labor Relations
Commission, G.R. No. 111651, November 28, 1996, 265 SCRA 61, 70-71.

4 gupra.
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we reversed the prior doctrine that an employee illegally
dismissed is entitled to backwages less the salary he or she
received from his or her employment during the pendency of
the case. In cases prior to Bustamante, we limited the right of
an illegally dismissed employee to backwages less earnings
from employment elsewhere on the premise that this doctrine
will avoid unjust enrichment on the part of the employee at the
expense of the employer. We reversed this, however, in
Bustamante and grounded our ruling first, on an employee’'s
right to earn aliving and second, on the duty of an employer
to pay backwages as a penalty for theillegal dismissal. Inthe
later case Equitable Banking Corporation v. Sadac,* we added
that in arriving at the doctrine in Bustamante, this Court ceased
to consider equity asthe determining factor in ascertaining the
amount of backwages that should be awarded in cases where
the illegally dismissed employee obtains employment during
the pendency of his or her case. What is determinative is the
employer’s obligation to pay full backwages. We said, “[i]tis
an obligation of the employer becauseit is‘the price or penalty
the employer hasto pay for illegally dismissing hisemployee.””#

Werulethat employeesin the civil service should be accorded
this sameright. It is only by imposing this rule that we will be
able to uphold the constitutional right to security of tenure with
full force and effect. Through this, those who possess the power
to dismiss employees in the civil service will be reminded to
be more circumspect in exercising their authority as a breach
of an employee’ sright to security of tenurewill lead to the full
application of law and jurisprudenceto ensure that the employee
is reinstated and paid complete backwages.

WHEREFORE, the Petition is GRANTED. The Court of
Appeals Decision dated December 15, 2010 is REVERSED
insofar asit did not order Campol’s reinstatement and limited
the award of backwages to cover only the period from
hisdismissal until hisnew employment. This Court ORDERS

4 gupra.
471d. at 402.
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Campol’s reinstatement to the position of Sangguniang Bayan
Secretary of the Municipality of Boliney, Abra, provided that
he first resigns from his current employment. This Court also
AWARDS Campol backwages to be computed from the time
that he was illegally dropped from the rolls until he is reinstated
to his position.

SO ORDERED.

Velasco, Jr. (Chairperson), del Castillo,” Perez, and Reyes,
JJ., concur.

SECOND DIVISION
[G.R. No. 204736. November 28, 2016]

MANULIFE PHILIPPINES, INC.,' petitioner, vs.
HERMENEGILDA YBANEZ, respondent.

SYLLABUS

1. REMEDIAL LAW; CIVIL PROCEDURE; APPEALS; IN
APPEAL BY CERTIORARI TO THE COURT UNDER
RULE 45 OF THE REVISED RULES OF COURT, THE
FINDINGS OF FACT BY THE COURT OF APPEALS,
ESPECIALLY WHERE SUCH FINDINGS OF FACT ARE
AFFIRMATORY OR CONFIRMATORY OF THE
FINDINGS OF FACT OF THE REGIONAL TRIAL
COURT, ARE CONCLUSIVE UPON THIS COURT;

* Designated as Additional Member in lieu of Hon. Diosdado M. Peralta,
per Raffle dated August 8, 2011.

! Also referred to as “Manufacturers Life Insurance Company (Philippines)”
or “The Manufacturers Life Insurance Co. (Phils.), Inc.” in some parts of
the records.
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EXCEPTIONS; NOT PRESENT.— It is horn-book law that
in appeal by certiorari to this Court under Rule 45 of the Revised
Rules of Court, the findings of fact by the CA, especially where
such findings of fact are affirmatory or confirmatory of the
findings of fact of the RTC, as in this case, are conclusive upon
this Court. The reason is simple: this Court not being a trial
court, it does not embark upon the task of dissecting, analyzing,
evaluating, calibrating or weighing all over again the evidence,
testimonial or documentary, that the parties adduced during
trial. Of course, there are exceptions to this rule, such as (1)
when the conclusion is grounded upon speculations, surmises
or conjectures; (2) when the inference is manifestly mistaken,
absurd or impossible; (3) when there is a grave abuse of
discretion; (4) when the judgment is based on a misapprehension
of facts; (5) when the findings of fact are conflicting; (6) when
there is no citation of specific evidence on which the factual
findings are based; (7) when the findings of absence of facts
is contradicted by the presence of evidence on record; (8) when
the findings of the CA are contrary to the findings of the RTC;
(9) when the CA manifestly overlooked certain relevant and
undisputed facts that, if properly considered, would justify a
different conclusion; (10) when the findings of the CA are beyond
the issues of the case; and, (11) when the CA’s findings are
contrary to the admission of both parties. We are satisfied that
none of these exceptions obtains in the Petition at bench. Thus,
this Court must defer to the findings of fact of the RTC — as
affirmed or confirmed by the CA — that Manulife’s Complaint
for rescission of the insurance policies in question was totally
bereft of factual and legal bases because it had utterly failed
to prove that the insured had committed the alleged
misrepresentation/s or concealment/s of material facts imputed
against him.

2. COMMERCIALLAW;INSURANCELAW; MISREPRESENTATION

AS A DEFENSE OF THE INSURER TO AVOID LIABILITY
ISANAFFIRMATIVEDEFENSE AND THE DUTY TOESTABLISH
SUCH DEFENSE BY SATISFACTORY AND CONVINCING
EVIDENCE RESTS UPON THE INSURER.— Manulife had
utterly failed to prove by convincing evidence that it had been
beguiled, inveigled, or cajoled into selling the insurance to the
insured who purportedly with malice and deceit passed himself
off as thoroughly sound and healthy, and thus a fit and proper
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applicant for life insurance. Manulife’s sole witness gave no evidence
at all relative to the particulars of the purported concealment or
misrepresentation allegedly perpetrated by the insured. x x X. “The
fraudulent intent on the part of the insured must be established
to entitle the insurer to rescind the contract. Misrepresentation
as a defense of the insurer to avoid liability is an affirmative
defense and the duty to establish such defense by satisfactory
and convincing evidence rests upon the insurer.” For failure
of Manulife to prove intent to defraud on the part of the insured,
it cannot validly sue for rescission of insurance contracts.

APPEARANCES OF COUNSEL

Ponce Enrile Reyes & Manalastas for petitioner.
Edgardo J. Mayol for respondent.

DECISION
DEL CASTILLO, J.:

Assailed in this Petition for Review on Certiorari* are the
April 26, 2012 Decision® of the Court of Appeals (CA) in CA-
G.R. CV No. 95561 and its December 10, 2012 Resolution*
which affirmed the April 22, 2008 Decision® and the June 15,
2009 Order® of the Regional Trial Court (RTC), Branch 57,
Makati City in Civil Case No. 04-1119.

Factual Antecedents

Before the RTC of Makati City, Manulife Philippines, Inc.
(Manulife) instituted a Complaint’ for Rescission of Insurance

2 Rollo, pp. 14-56.

3 CA rollo, pp. 144-160; penned by Associate Justice Vicente S. E. Veloso
and concurred in by Associate Justices Mario V. Lopez and Angelita A. Gacutan.

4 CA rollo, p. 253.

3> Records, pp. 457-463; penned by Pairing Judge Reynaldo M. Laigo.
®1d. at 547.

"Id. at 7.
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Contracts against Hermenegilda Ybafiez (Hermenegilda) and
the BPI Family Savings Bank (BPI Family). This was docketed
as Civil Case No. 04-1119.

It is alleged in the Complaint that Insurance Policy Nos.
6066517-1% and 6300532-6° (subject insurance policies) which
Manulife issued on October 25, 2002 and on July 25, 2003,
respectively, both in favor of Dr. Gumersindo Solidum Ybafiez
(insured), were void due to concealment or misrepresentation
of material facts in the latter’s applications for life insurance,
particularly the forms entitled Non-Medical Evidence dated
August 28, 2002 (NME),'"” Medical Evidence Exam dated
September 10, 2002 (MEE),!! and the Declaration of Insurability
in the Application for Life Insurance (DOI) dated July 9, 2003;"
that Hermenegilda, wife of the said insured, was revocably
designated as beneficiary in the subject insurance policies; that
on November 17, 2003, when one of the subject insurance policies
had been in force for only one year and three months, while
the other for only four months, the insured died; that on December
10, 2003, Hermenegilda, now widow to the said insured, filed
a Claimant’s Statement-Death Claim"® with respect to the subject
insurance policies; that the Death Certificate dated November
17,2003 stated that the insured had “Hepatocellular CA., Crd
Stage 4, secondary to Uric Acid Nephropathy; SAM Nephropathy
recurrent malignant pleural effusion; NASCVC”; that Manulife
conducted an investigation into the circumstances leading to
the said insured’s death, in view of the aforementioned entries
in the said insured’s Death Certificate; that Manulife thereafter
concluded that the insured misrepresented or concealed material

8 1d. at 273-275.

% Id. at 276-282.

10 74, at 283 and 284 (front and dorsal side).
"' 1d. at 285; front and dorsal side.

12 1d. at 286 (front and dorsal side) and 287.
B 1d. at 290.

" 1d. at 291.
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facts at the time the subject insurance policies were applied
for; and that for this reason Manulife accordingly denied
Hermenegilda’s death claims and refunded the premiums that
the insured paid on the subject insurance policies.'

Manulife also set forth in said Complaint the details of the
insured’s supposed misrepresentation/s or concealment/s, to wit:

2.6. On the basis of the authority granted by [Hermenegilda] in her
Claimant’s Statement (Annex “H”), [Manulife] conducted an
investigation [into] the Insured’s medical records and history, and
discovered that the Insured concealed material facts which the law,
good faith, and fair dealing required him to reveal when he answered
the [NME] (Annex “C”), [the MEE] (Annex “D”), and [the DOI]
(Annex “E”), as follows:

(1) Insured’s confinement at the Cebu Doctors’ Hospital [CDH]
from 27 December 2000 to 31 December 2000, wherein he
underwent total parotidectomy on 28 December 2000 due to
the swelling of his right parotid gland and the presence of a
tumor, and was found to have had a history of being hypertensive,
and his kidneys have become atretic or shrunken. A copy of
each of the Admission and Discharge Record and PGIS’ Interns’
Progress Notes and Operative Record of the [CDH] is attached
hereto and made an integral part hereof as Annex “K”, “K-17,
and “K-2”, respectively.

(2) Insured’s confinement at the CDH from 9 May 2002 to 14 May
2002, wherein he was diagnosed to have acute pancreatitis, in
addition to being hypertensive. A copy [of] each of the Insured’s
Admission and Discharge Record and Doctor’s History/Progress
Notes is attached hereto and made an integral part hereof as
Annex “L” and “L-17, respectively.

(3) Insured’s diagnosis for leptospirosis in 2000. A copy [of]
each of the Insured’s Admission and Discharge Record and
History Sheet is attached hereto and made an integral part hereof
as Annex “M” and “M-17, respectively.

X X X X X X X X X

15 7d. at 303-310.
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2.8. Due to the Insured’s concealment of material facts at the time
the subject insurance policies were applied for and issued, [Manulife]
exercised its right to rescind the subject insurance contracts and denied
the claims on those policies.

X X X X X X X x x!6

Manulife thus prayed that judgment be rendered finding its act
of rescinding the subject insurance policies proper; declaring
these subject insurance policies null and void; and discharging.
it from any obligation whatsoever under these policies.!’

In her Answer, Hermenegilda countered that:

6. [Manulife’s own insurance agent, Ms. Elvira Monteclaros herself]
assured [the insured,] that there would be no problem regarding the
application for the insurance policy. In tact, it was Monteclaros who
filled up everything in the questionnaire (Annex “C” of the
[Clomplaint), so that [all that the insured needed to do was sign it,]
and it’s done. [It was also Ms. Monteclaros who herself] checked in
advance all the boxes in Annex “C,” [that the insured himself was
required to answer or check].

X XX X XX X X X

10. The four grounds for denial as enumerated in Annex “N” of the
complaint are refuted as follows:

1) [The insured’s] hospital confinement on 27 December 2000
at [the CDH was] due to right parotid swelling secondary to
tumor [for which he] underwent Parotidectomy on 28 December
2000. (There is an obvious scar and disfigurement in the right
side of [the insured’s] face, in front, and below his ear. This
[ought to] have been easily noticed by [Manulife’s company]
physician, Dr. [Winifredo] Lumapas.

2) [The insured’s] history of Hypertension [has been] noted
03 years prior to [the insured’s] admission on 27 December
2000. (This is not something serious or fatal)

3) [The insured’s] history of Leptospirosis in 2000. (This is
not confirmed)

16 14, at 4-5.
71d. at 6.
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4) [The insured’s] hospital confinement [at the CDH] on 09
May 2002 with findings of Acute Pancreatitis (This is related
to the gallstones of [the insured]. When the gallbladder is
diseased, distention is impossible and its pressure regulating
function is lost — a fact that may explain high incidence of
pancreatitis in patient with cholecystic disease. [The insured]
had cholecystitis, so his acute pancreatitis is related to the
cholecystitis and chol[e]lithiasis (gallstones).

X XX X XX X XX

11. [Manulife] accepted [the insured’s] application, and now that a
claim for the benefits [is] made, [Manulife now] says that [the insured]
misrepresented and concealed his past illnesses[!] In the form filled
up by [Dr. Winifredo F. Lumapas,] Manulife’s [company] physician,
dated 9/10/02, [the insured] checked the column which says “yes”
(to] the following questions:

®* Have you had electrocardiograms, when, why, result?
([Manulife’s company physician] wrote the answer which stated
that result was normal.)

® Have you seen a doctor, or had treatment operation on hospital
case during the last five years?

12. x x x It is rather strange that [the insured’s] parotidectomy was
not included in the report when the scar of that operation can not be
concealed because it caused a disfigurement in the right side of his
face in front and below his ear. This is just too obvious to be overlooked
by [Manulife’s company physician] who examined and interviewed
[the insured] before accepting the policy. X x x

13. x x x [Undoubtedly, Manulife] had the option to inquire further
[into the insured’s physical condition, because the insured had given
it authority to do so] based on the authority given by [the insured.
And how come that Manulife] was able to gather all [these] information
now and not before [the insured] was ensured? X X X

X XX X XX X X X

16. Moreover, in the comments of [the said] Dr. Lumapas, (Annex
“D” of the Complaint), he said the physical condition of [the] then
prospective insurance policy holder, [the insured, was] “below
average”. x X X [Estoppel now bars Manulife from claiming the
contrary.]
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17. [Especially] worth noting are the [following] comments of [the
said Dr. Lumapas, on the insured’s answer to the questionnaires] —
(Annex “D” of the Complaint), [to wit:]

“4.d. Have you had any electrocardiograms, when, why, result.
£6Yes?’
- on June 2002 at CDH, Cebu City

= Cardiac clearance for surgery
= Result normal

16. Have you seen a doctor, or had treatment, operation or
hospital care during the last 5 years? “Yes” admitted at [CDH, ]
Cebu City by Dr. Lamberto Garcia and Dr. Jorge Ang for Chronic

Calculous Chol[e]cystitis
= Cholecystectomy done [J]June 7[,] 2002 by Dr. Ang

= Biopsy: Gallbladder Chronic Calculous Cholecystitis
= CBC, Hepatitis Panel done - all negative results except
hepatitis antigen (+)

18. Do you. consume alcohol beverages? If so, how much?
Yes, consumes 1-2 shots of whisky during socials.

25. The abdomen - Abnormality of any viscus, genitalia or
evidence of hernia or operation - post cholecystectomy scar.

26. The head and neck - vision, optic, fundi, hearing, speech,
thyroid etc. Yes wears eyeglasses for reading. (This is where
[Manulife’s company physician] should have written the scar
of [the insured’s] parotidectomy as shown in the picture).

32. From your knowledge of this person would you consider
his/ her health to be Average [ | Below average [/] Poor [ ]

(Underscoring ours)

18. It is interesting to note that the answers in the insurance agent’s
form for [the insured] (Annex “C” of the Complaint) did not jibe
with the answers [made by] Dr. Lumapas in Annex “D” of the
Complaint. This only boosts Hermenegilda’s claim that x x x indeed,
it was the Manulife’s agent herself, (Ms. Montesclaros) who checked
all the items in the said form to speed up the insurance application
and its approval, [so she could] get her commission as soon as possible.

19. In fine, at the time when both insurance policies in question were
submitted for approval to [Manulife, the latter had had all the



VOL. 801, NOVEMBER 28, 2016 103

Manulife Philippines, Inc. vs. Ybaiiez

forewarnings that should have put it on guard or on notice that things
were not what it wanted them to be, reason enough to bestir it into
exercising greater prudence and caution to further inquire into) the
health or medical history of [the insured]. In particular, Manulife
ought to have noted the fact that the insured was at that time already
65 years old, x x x that he had a previous operation, and x x x that
his health was “below average. x x x'8

On November 25, 2005, BPI Family filed a Manifestation'”
praying that either it be dropped from the case or that the case
be dismissed with respect to it (BPI Family), because it no longer
had any interest in the subject insurance policies as asssignee
because the insured’s obligation with it (BPI Family) had already
been settled or paid. Since no objection was interposed to this
prayer by either Manulife or Hermenegilda, the RTC granted
this prayer in its Order of November 25, 2005.%

Then in the Second Order dated November 25, 2005,%' the
RTC considered the pre-trial as terminated. Trial then ensued.

Manulife presented its sole witness in the person of Ms.
Jessiebelle Victoriano (Victoriano), the Senior Manager of its
Claims and Settlements Department.?? The oral testimony of
this witness chiefly involved identifying herself as the Senior
Manager of Manulife’s Claims and Settlements Department and
also identifying the following pieces of evidence:* the subject
insurance policies; NME, MEE, DOI; the Assignment of Policy
No. 6066517-1 to BPI Family as collateral, dated July 9, 2003;
its Letter dated July 10, 2003 re: assignment of said Policy;
death claim filed by Hermenegilda on December 10, 2003; the
insured’s Death Certificate; the Marriage Contract between the
insured and Hermenegilda; copies of CDH’s Admission and

8 1d. at 109-114.

19 1d. at 241-243,

20 1d. at 246.

2 Id. at 247-248.

22 TSN, April 6, 2006 and June 22, 2006.
23 Records, pp. 266-311.
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Discharge Records of the insured for December 2000 re:
parotidectomy; copies of CDH’s PGIS’ Interns’ Notes and CDH
Operative Record dated December 28, 2000 re: hypertension;
copies of CDH’s Admission and Discharge Record of the insured
for May 2002, and the Doctor’s History/Progress Notes re: acute
pancreatitis and hypertension; copies of CDH’s Admission and
Discharge Record of the insured for October 2003 re:
leptospirosis; letters dated March 24, 2004 to Hermenegilda
and BPI Family; and BPI Checks deposited on April 10, 2004
and May 14, 2004 to the bank accounts of BPI Family and
Hermenegilda, respectively, representing the premium refund.

In its Order of October 2, 2006,%* the RTC admitted all these
exhibits.

Like Manulife, Hermenegilda, in amplication of her case,
also called only one witness to the witness stand: her counsel
of record, Atty. Edgardo Mayol (Atty. Mayol), whose testimony
focused on his professional engagement with Hermenegilda and
the monetary expenses he incurred in attending to the hearings
in this case.” Hermenegilda thereafter filed her Formal Offer
of Evidence?® wherein she proffered the following: NME, MEE,
DOI, the insured’s driver’s license, her letter dated May 8, 2004
protesting the denial by Manulife of her insurance claim, the
contract of services between her and Atty. Mayol, the official
receipts for plane tickets, terminal fees, and boarding passes,
attesting to Atty. Mayol’s plane travels to and from Cebu City
to attend to this case. These were all admitted by the RTC.”

Ruling of the Regional Trial Court

After due proceedings, the RTC dismissed Manulife’s
Complaint, thus:

2 1d. at 314.

25 TSN, March 13, 2007 and June 7, 2007.
26 Records, pp. 348-368.

27 1d. at 404.
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WHEREFORE, premises duly considered, judgment is hereby
rendered DISMISSING the instant case for insufficiency of evidence.

[Manulife] is hereby ordered to pay [Hermenegilda] actual expenses
in the sum of £40,050.00 and attorney’s fees in the sum of £100,000.

[Hermenegilda’s] claim for moral and exemplary damages is denied
for lack of evidence.

SO ORDERED.?

The RTC found no merit at all in Manulife’s Complaint for
rescission of the subject insurance policies because it utterly
failed to prove that the insured had committed the alleged
misrepresentation/s or concealment/s. In fact, Victoriano, the
one and only witness that Manulife called to the witness stand,
gave no first-hand, direct evidence at all relative to the particulars
of the alleged misrepresentation/s or concealment/s that the
insured allegedly practiced or committed against it. This witness
did not testify at all in respect to the circumstances under which
these documentary exhibits were executed, nor yet about what
these documentary exhibits purported to embody. The RTC
stressed that the CDH medical records that might or could have
established the insured’s misrepresentation/s or concealment/s
were inadmissible for being hearsay, because Manulife did not
present the physician or doctor, or any responsible official of
the CDH, who could confirm the due execution and authenticity
of its medical records; that if anything, Manulife itself admitted
in its Reply® that its very own company physician, Dr. Winifredo
Lumapas, had duly noted the insured’s scar, even as the same
company physician also categorized in the MEE the insured’s
health as “below average”; and that in short, it is evident that
Manulife thus had had ample opportunity to verify and to inquire
further into the insured’s medical history commencing from
the date of the MEE but opted not to do so; and that if things did
not come up to its standards or expectations, it was totally at
liberty to reject the insured’s applications altogether, or it could
have demanded a higher premium for the insurance coverage.

28 Id. at 463.
2 Id. at 157.
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The RTC further ruled that Hermenegilda was entitled to
attorney’s fees in the sum of £100,000.00 and actual expenses
in the amount of £40,050.00, because she was compelled to
litigate to defend her interest against Manulife’s patently
unjustified act in rejecting her clearly valid and lawful claim.
The RTC also found merit in Hermenegilda’s claims relative
to the expenses she paid her Cebu-based counsel.

In its Order of June 15, 2009, the RTC denied for lack of
merit Manulife’s motion for reconsideration®! and Hermenegilda’s
motion for partial reconsideration.??

From the RTC’s Decision, Manulife filed a Notice of Appeal®
which was given due course by the RTC in its Order of June
11, 2010.%

Ruling of the Court of Appeals

In its appellate review, the CA virtually adopted en foto the
findings of facts made by, and the conclusions of law arrived
at, by the RTC. Thus, the CA decreed:

WHEREFORE, the instant appeal is DENIED. The assailed
Decision dated April 22, 2008 and Order dated June 15, 2009 of the
Regional Trial Court of Makati, Branch 57, are hereby AFFIRMED.

SO ORDERED.®

The CA, like the RTC, found Manulife’s Complaint bereft
of legal and factual bases. The CA ruled that it is settled that
misrepresentation or concealment in insurance is an affirmative
defense, which the insurer must establish by convincing evidence
if it is to avoid liability; and that in this case the one and only

30 1d. at 547.

3UId. at 477-490.
32 1d. at 493-494.

3 Id. at 548-550.
3 1d. at 553.

35 CA rollo, p. 160.



VOL. 801, NOVEMBER 28, 2016 107

Manulife Philippines, Inc. vs. Ybaiiez

witness presented by Manulife utterly failed to prove the basic
elements of the alleged misrepresentation/s or concealment/s
of material facts imputed by Manulife against the now deceased
insured. The CA held that there is no basis for Manulife’s claim
that it is exempted from the duty of proving the insured’s
supposed misrepresentation/s or concealment/s, as these had
allegedly been admitted already in Hermenegilda’s Answer;
that in the absence of authentication by a competent witness,
the purported CDH medical records of the insured are deemed
hearsay hence, inadmissible, and devoid of probative value;
and that the medical certificate, even if admitted in evidence
as an exception to the hearsay rule, was still without probative
value because the physician or doctor or the hospital’s official
who issued it, was not called to the witness stand to validate
it or to attest to it.

Manulife moved for reconsideration’® of the CA’s Decision,
but this was denied by the CA in its Resolution of December
10, 2012;* hence, the present recourse.

Issue

Whether the CA committed any reversible error in affirming
the RTC Decision dismissing Manulife’s Complaint for rescission
of insurance contracts for failure to prove concealment on the
part of the insured.

Our Ruling

The present recourse essentially challenges anew the findings
of fact by both the RTC and the CA that the Complaint for
rescission of the insurance policies in question will not prosper
because Manulife failed to prove concealment on the part of
the insured. This is not allowed. It is horn-book law that in
appeal by certiorari to this Court under Rule 45 of the Revised
Rules of Court, the findings of fact by the CA especially where
such findings of fact are affirmatory or confirmatory of the

30 1d. at 165-199.
37 1d. at 254.
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findings of fact of the RTC, as in this case, are conclusive upon
this Court. The reason is simple: this Court not being a trial
court, it does not embark upon the task of dissecting, analyzing,
evaluating, calibrating or weighing all over again the evidence,
testimonial or documentary, that the parties adduced during
trial. Of course, there are exceptions to this rule, such as (1)
when the conclusion is grounded upon speculations, surmises
or conjectures; (2) when the inference is manifestly mistaken,
absurd or impossible; (3) when there is a grave abuse of
discretion; (4) when the judgment is based on a misapprehension
of facts; (5) when the findings of fact are conflicting; (6) when
there is no citation of specific evidence on which the factual
findings are based; (7) when the findings of absence of facts
is contradicted by the presence of evidence on record; (8) when
the findings of the CA are contrary to the findings of the RTC;
(9) when the CA manifestly overlooked certain relevant and
undisputed facts that, if properly considered, would justify a
different conclusion; (10) when the findings of the CA are beyond
the issues of the case; and, (11) when the CA’s findings are
contrary to the admission of both parties.*® We are satisfied
that none of these exceptions obtains in the Petition at bench.
Thus, this Court must defer to the findings of fact of the RTC
— as affirmed or confirmed by the CA — that Manulife’s
Complaint for rescission of the insurance policies in question
was totally bereft of factual and legal bases because it had utterly
failed to prove that the insured had committed the alleged
misrepresentation/s or concealment/s of material facts imputed
against him. The RTC correctly held that the CDH’s medical
records that might have established the insured’s purported
misrepresentation/s or concealment/s was inadmissible for being
hearsay, given the fact that Manulife failed to present the
physician or any responsible official of the CDH who could
confirm or attest to the due execution and authenticity of the
alleged medical records. Manulife had utterly failed to prove
by convincing evidence that it had been beguiled, inveigled,
or cajoled into selling the insurance to the insured who

38 Samala v. Court of Appeals, 467 Phil. 563, 568 (2004).
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purportedly with malice and deceit passed himself off as
thoroughly sound and healthy, and thus a fit and proper applicant
for life insurance. Manulife’s sole witness gave no evidence at
all relative to the particulars of the purported concealment or
misrepresentation allegedly perpetrated by the insured. In fact,
Victoriano merely perfunctorily identified the documentary
exhibits adduced by Manulife; she never testified in regard to
the circumstances attending the execution of these documentary
exhibits much less in regard to its contents. Of course, the mere
mechanical act of identifying these documentary exhibits, without
the testimonies of the actual participating parties thereto, adds
up to nothing. These documentary exhibits did not automatically
validate or explain themselves. “The fraudulent intent on the
part of the insured must be established to entitle the insurer to
rescind the contract. Misrepresentation as a defense of the insurer
to avoid liability is an affirmative defense and the duty to establish
such defense by satisfactory and convincing evidence rests upon
the insurer.”?® For failure of Manulife to prove intent to defraud
on the part of the insured, it cannot validly sue for rescission
of insurance contracts.

WHEREFORE, the Petition is DENIED. The assailed
Decision of the Court of Appeals dated April 26, 2012 in CA-
G.R. CV No. 95561 and its December 10, 2012 Resolution,
are AFFIRMED.

SO ORDERED.

Carpio (Chairperson), Brion, Mendoza, and Leonen, JJ.,
concur.

3 Great Pacific Life Assurance Corporation v. Court of Appeals, 375
Phil. 142, 152 (1999).
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THIRD DIVISION
[G.R. No. 210316. November 28, 2016]

THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
(SEC) CHAIRPERSON TERESITA J. HERBOSA,
COMMISSIONER MA. JUANITA E. CUETO,
COMMISS ONERRAUL J.PALABRICA,COMMISSONER
MANUEL HUBERTO B. GAITE, COMMISSIONER
ELADIOM.JALA,AND THE SECENFORCEMENT AND
PROSECUTION DEPARTMENT, petitioners, vs. CJH
DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION AND CJH SUITES
CORPORATION, HEREIN REPRESENTED BY ITS
EXECUTIVE VICE-PRESIDENT AND CHIEF
OPERATING OFFICER, ALFREDOR. YNIGUEZ 111,
respondents.

SYLLABUS

1. REMEDIAL LAW,; CIVIL PROCEDURE; PROVISIONAL
REMEDIES; INTERLOCUTORY ORDER; MERELY
RESOLVES INCIDENTAL MATTERS AND LEAVES
SOMETHING MORE TO BE DONE TO RESOLVE THE
MERITSOF THE CASE.— [T]he Court agreeswith petitioners
that the challenged CDO is an interlocutory order. The word
interlocutory refers to something intervening between the
commencement and the end of the suit which decides some
point or matter but isnot afinal decision of the whole controversy.
An interlocutory order merely resolves incidental matters and
leaves something more to be done to resolve the merits of the
case. Stated differently, an interlocutory order is one which
leaves substantial proceedingsyet to be had in connection with
the controversy. It does not end the task of the court in
adjudicating the parties' contentionsand determining their rights
and liabilities as against each other. Inthissense, itisbasically
provisional in its application.

2. I1D.;I1D.; ID.; ID.; NOT APPEALABLE UNTIL AFTER THE
RENDITION OF THEJUDGMENT ONTHE MERITSFOR
A CONTRARY RULE WOULD DELAY THE
ADMINISTRATION OF JUSTICE AND UNDULY BURDEN
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THE COURTS; THE CEASE AND DESIST ORDER
ISSUED BY THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE
COMMISSION IS NOT APPEALABLE ASIT IS AN
INTERLOCUTORY ORDER.— It is a settled rule in this
jurisdiction that an appeal may only be taken from ajudgment
or final order that completely disposes of the case and that an
interlocutory order is not appealable until after the rendition
of the judgment on the merits for a contrary rule would delay
the administration of justice and unduly burden the courts. In
the present case, it is clear from the dispositive portion of the
CDO that itsissuance is based on the findings of the SEC that
there exists prima facie evidence that respondents are engaged
in the business of selling securities without the proper registration
issued by the Commission. Prima facie means afact presumed
to be true unless disproved by some evidence to the contrary.
Applied to the instant case, it means that the findings of the
SEC, as contained in the assailed CDO, can still be refuted and
disproved by contrary evidence. Thisonly meansthat the CDO
isnotfinal, isjust provisional, and that the prohibition thereunder
ismerely temporary, subject to the determination of the parties’
respective evidence in a subsequent hearing. It is, therefore,
clear that the subject CDO, being interlocutory, may not be
the subject of an appeal.

3. POLITICAL LAW; ADMINISTRATIVE LAW; DOCTRINE
OF EXHAUSTION OF ADMINISTRATIVE REMEDIES;
PREMATURE INVOCATION OF THE INTERVENTION
OF THE COURT IS FATAL TO ONE’'S CAUSE OF
ACTION; EXCEPTIONS TO THE DOCTRINE OF
EXHAUSTION OF ADMINISTRATIVE REMEDIES.—
[T]he second reason for the denial of the instant petition is
respondents’ failure to exhaust all administrative remedies
available to them. Settled is the rule that: Under the doctrine
of exhaustion of administrative remedies, before a party is
allowed to seek the intervention of the court, he or she should
have availed himself or herself of all the means of administrative
processes afforded him or her. Hence, if resort to a remedy
within the administrative machinery can still be made by giving
the administrative officer concerned every opportunity to decide
on a matter that comes within his or her jurisdiction, then
such remedy should be exhausted first before the court’ sjudicial
power can be sought. The premature invocation of the
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intervention of the court is fatal to one’s cause of action. The
doctrine of exhaustion of administrative remedies is based
on practical and legal reasons. The availment of
administrative remedy entails lesser expenses and provides
for a speedier disposition of controversies. Furthermore,
the courts of justice, for reasons of comity and convenience,
will shy away from adisputeuntil the system of administrative
redress has been completed and complied with, so asto give
the administrative agency concerned every opportunity to
correct its error and dispose of the case. It istrue that there are
exceptions to the above doctrine, to wit: (1) when there is a
violation of due process; (2) when the issue involved is purely
alegal question; (3) when the administrative action is patently
illegal amounting to lack or excess of jurisdiction; (4) when
there is estoppel on the part of the administrative agency
concerned; (5) when thereisirreparableinjury; (6) when the
respondent isa department secretary who acts as an alter ego
of the President bears the implied and assumed approval of the
latter; (7) when to require exhaustion of administrative remedies
would be unreasonable; (8) when it would amount to a
nullification of aclaim; (9) when the subject matter isaprivate
land in land case proceedings; (10) when the rule does not provide
a plain, speedy and adequate remedy, (11) when there are
circumstances indicating the urgency of judicial intervention,
and unreasonable delay would greatly prejudice the complainant;
(12) where no administrative review is provided by law; (13)
where the rule of qualified political agency applies and (14)
where the issue of non-exhaustion of administrative remedies
has been rendered moot.

4. ID.; ID.; DOCTRINE OF PRIMARY ADMINISTRATIVE
JURISDICTION; COURTS WILL NOT DETERMINE
A CONTROVERSY WHERE THE ISSUES FOR
RESOLUTION DEMAND THE EXERCISE OF SOUND
ADMINISTRATIVE DISCRETION REQUIRING THE
SPECIAL KNOWLEDGE, EXPERIENCE,AND SERVICES
OF THE ADMINISTRATIVE TRIBUNAL TO DETERMINE
TECHNICAL AND INTRICATE MATTERS OF FACT,
WHICH UNDER A REGULATORY SCHEME HAVE
BEEN PLACED WITHIN THE SPECIAL COMPETENCE
OF SUCH TRIBUNAL OR AGENCY; THE ISSUE ASTO
WHETHER THE SCHEME OF SELLING THE SUBJECT
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CONDOTEL UNITS IS TANTAMOUNT TO AN
INVESTMENT CONTRACT AND/OR SALE OF
SECURITIESINVOLVESA QUESTION OF FACT THAT
FALLS UNDER THE PRIMARY JURISDICTION OF
THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
(SEC).— [T]he main issue, as to whether or not the sale of
“The Manor” or “The Suites” unitsto the general public under
the “leaseback” or “money-back”schemeis a form of investment
contract or sale of securities, is not a pure question of law. On
the contrary, it involves a question of fact that falls under the
primary jurisdiction of the SEC. Under the doctrine of primary
administrative jurisdiction, courts will not determine a
controversy where the issues for resolution demand the exercise
of sound administrative discretion requiring the special
knowledge, experience, and services of the administrative
tribunal to determine technical and intricate matters of fact,
which under aregulatory scheme have been placed within
the special competence of such tribunal or agency. In other
words, if acase issuch that its determination requires the
expertise, specialized training, and knowledge of an administrative
body, relief must first be obtained in an administrative proceeding
before resort to the courtishad even if the matter may well
be within the latter’s proper jurisdiction. The objective of
the doctrine of primary jurisdiction is to guide the court
in determining whether it should refrain from exercising its
jurisdiction until after an administrative agency has determined
some question or some aspect of some question arising in the
proceeding before the court. In the instant case, the resolution
of the issue as to whether respondents’ scheme of selling the
subject condotel unitsistantamount to an investment contract
and/or sale of securities, as defined under the SRC, requires
the expertise and technical knowledge of the SEC being the
government agency which is tasked to enforce and implement
the provisions of the said Code as well as its implementing
rules and regulations. In fact, after the issuance of the CDO,
the SEC is yet to hear from respondents and receive evidence
from them regarding this issue. Nonetheless, respondents
prematurely filed an appeal with the CA, which erroneously
gavedue coursetoitin disregard of the doctrines of exhaustion
of administrative remedies and primary jurisdiction.
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5. COMMERCIAL LAW; SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE
COMMISSION (SEC); A CEASE AND DESIST ORDER
MAY BE ISSUED BY THE SEC MOTU PROPRIO, IT
BEING UNNECESSARY THAT IT RESULTS FROM A
VERIFIED COMPLAINT FROM AN AGGRIEVED
PARTY, WITHOUT THE NECESSITY OF A PRIOR
HEARING IF IN ITS JUDGMENT THE ACT OR
PRACTICE, UNLESS RESTRAINED, WILL OPERATE
AS A FRAUD ON INVESTORS OR IS OTHERWISE
LIKELY TO CAUSE GRAVE OR IRREPARABLE INJURY
OR PREJUDICE TO THE INVESTING PUBLIC.—
[S]ections 64.1 and 64.2 of the SRC provide as follows: 64.1.
The Commission, after proper investigation or verification, motu
proprio, or upon verified complaint by any aggrieved party,
may issue a cease and desist order without the necessity of a
prior hearing if in its judgment the act or practice, unless
restrained, will operate as afraud on investors or is otherwise
likely to cause grave or irreparable injury or prejudice to the
investing public. 64.2. Until the Commission issues a cease
and desist order, the fact that an investigation has been initiated
or that a complaint has been filed, including the contents of
the complaint, shall be confidential. Upon issuance of a cease
and desist order, the Commission shall make public such order
and a copy thereof shall immediately be furnished to each person
subject to the order. x x X. Explaining the import of these
provisions, this Court, in the case of Primanila Plans, Inc.
v. Securities and Exchange Commission, held, thus: The law
is clear on the point that a cease and desist order may be
issued by the SEC motu proprio, it being unnecessary that
it resultsfrom averified complaint from an aggrieved party.
A prior hearing is also not required whenever the
Commission findsit appropriatetoissue a cease and desist
order that aims to curtail fraud or grave or irreparable
injury toinvestors. x X X. A cease and desist order may only
be issued by the Commission after proper investigation or
verification, and upon showing that the acts sought to be
restrained could result in injury or fraud to the investing public.
X X X. The SEC was not mandated to allow Primanila to
participatein theinvestigation conducted by the Commission
prior to the cease and desist order’s issuance.



VOL. 801, NOVEMBER 28, 2016 115

Chairperson Herbosa, et al. vs. CJH Dev't. Corp., et al.

6. ID; SECURITIES REGULATION CODE (R.A. NO. 8799);
THE ACT OF SELLING UNREGISTERED SECURITIES
OPERATESASA FRAUD ON INVESTORS.— [T]he Court
neither agrees with the ruling of the CA that there is nothing
in the assailed CDO which shows that the acts sought to be
restrained therein operate as a fraud on investors. The SEC
arrived at a preliminary finding that respondents are engaged
in the business of selling securities without the proper registration
issued by the Commission. Based on this initial finding,
respondents’ act of selling unregistered securities would
necessarily operate as a fraud on investors as it deceives the
investing public by making it appear that respondents have
authority to deal on such securities. As correctly cited by the
SEC, Section 8.1 of the SRC clearly states that securities shall
not be sold or offered for sale or distribution within the
Philippines without aregistration statement duly filed with and
approved by the SEC and that prior to such sale, information
on the securities, in such form and with such substance as the
SEC may prescribe, shall be made available to each prospective
buyer. The Court agrees with the SEC that the purpose of this
provision isto afford the public protection from investing in
worthless securities.
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Office of the Solicitor General for petitioners.
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DECISION
PERALTA, J.:
Beforethe Court isapetition for review on certiorari seeking

to annul and set aside the Decision! and Resolution? of the
Court of Appeals (CA), dated June 7, 2013 and November 28,

1 Penned by Associate Justice Hakim S. Abdulwahid, with Associate
Justices Marlene Gonzal es-Sison and Edwin D. Sorongon, concurring; Annex
“A” to Petition, rollo pp. 70-77.

21d. at 78-79.



116 PHILIPPINE REPORTS

Chairperson Herbosa, et al. vs. CJH Dev't. Corp., €t al.

2013, respectively, in CA-G.R. SP No. 125482. The assailed
CA Decision annulled and set aside the Cease and Desist Order
(CDO) issued by the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC)
En Banc on June 7, 2012, and dismissed SEC-CDO Case No.
05-12-006, while the CA Resolution denied petitioners’ Motion
for Reconsideration.

The facts of the case are as follows:

Herein respondent CJH Development Corporation (CJHDC)
is a duly-organized domestic corporation which is engaged in
the acquisition, development, sale, lease and management of
real estate and any improvements thereon or any interest and
right therein.® Respondent CJH Suites Corporation (CJHSC),
on the other hand, is a wholly-owned subsidiary of CJHDC
which was formed primarily for the purpose of acquiring,
mai ntaining, operating and managing hotels, inns, lodging houses,
restaurants and other allied businesses.*

On October 19, 1996, CJHDC entered into a L ease Agreement
(Agreement) with the Bases Conversion and Development
Authority (BCDA) for the development into a public tourism
complex, multiple-use forest watershed and human resource
development center, of a 247-hectare property within the John
Hay Special Economic Zone in Baguio City. The fixed annual
rental for the property for the first five years was pegged at
P425,001,378.00 or five percent of Gross Revenues, whichever
is higher. Thereafter, for the duration of the lease period, the
fixed annual rental shall not be more than £150,000,000.00 or
five percent of Gross Revenues, whichever is higher. Among
other provisions, the Agreement authorized CJHDC to sub-lease,
develop and manage the abovementioned property for a period
of fifty (50) years, or until 2046. It was also provided that,
upon expiration of the Agreement, the leased property shall

3 See Amended Articles of Incorporation of CJHDC, Annex “C” to Petition,
id. at 80-87.

4 See Articles of Incorporation of CJHSC, Annex “D” to Petition, id. at
88-93.
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revert back to the BCDA and all the improvements thereon
shall become its property.

Subsequently, CJHDC came up with adevelopment plan and
put it into effect. Part of such development plan was the
construction of two (2) condominium-hotels (condotels) which
it named as“ The Manor” and “ The Suites.” Subjectto CJHDC's
leasehold rights under the Agreement, the residential unitsin
these condotels were then offered for sale to the general public
by means of two schemes. The first is a straight purchase and
sale contract where the buyer pays the purchase price for the
unit bought, either in lump sum or on installment basis and,
thereafter, enjoys the benefits of full ownership, subject to
payment of maintenance dues and utility fees. The second scheme
involved the sale of the unit with an added option to avail of
a“leaseback” or a“money-back” arrangement. Under thisadded
option, the buyer pays for the unit bought and, subsequently,
surrenders its possession to the management of CJHDC or
CJIHSC. These corporations would then create a pool of these
units and, in turn, will offer them for billeting under the
management of the hotel operated by the Camp John Hay Leisure,
Inc. (CJHLI). This arrangement lasts for a period of fifteen
(15) yearswith arenewal option for the same period until 2046.
The buyerswho opt for the“leaseback” arrangement will receive
either a proportionate share in seventy percent (70%) of the
annual income derived from the hotel operation of the pooled
rooms or a guaranteed eight percent (8%) return on their
investment. On the other hand, those who choose to avail of
the “money-back” arrangement are entitled to a return of the
purchase pricethey paid for the units by expiration of the L ease
Agreement in 2046. The buyers are given the right to use their
units for thirty (30) days within ayear and they are exempted
from paying the monthly dues and utility fees.

Sometime in May 2010, the BCDA and the CJHDC entered
into an agreement for the restructuring of the latter’s rental
payments and other financial obligations to the former. Thus,
pursuant to this agreement, CJHDC transferred ownership of,
among others, sixteen (16) units from “The Manor” and ten
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(10) unitsfrom “ The Suites” to the BCDA viadacion en pago.
These unitswere covered by Limited Warranty Deeds and were
subject to a “leaseback” arrangement.

Subsequently, the BCDA acquired information regarding
CJIHDC and CJHSC' sscheme of selling “The Manor” and “The
Suites” units through “leaseback” or “money-back” terms.
Hence, in aletter dated November 18, 2011, the BCDA requested
the SEC to conduct an investigation into the operations of CJHDC
and CIJHSC on the belief that the “leaseback” or “ money-back”
arrangements they are offering to the public is, in essence,
investment contracts which are considered as securities under
Republic Act No. 8799, otherwise known as the Securities
Regulation Code (SRC).

Acting on such arequest, the Enforcement and Prosecution
Department (EPD) of the SEC conducted its own investigation
of the operations of CJHDC and CJHSC with respect to the
sale of the subject condotel units and, thereafter, submitted a
Field Investigation Report,®> dated February 1, 2012, to the
Chairperson of the SEC, providing details of their findingsduring
such investigation. The EPD was al so able to confer with several
buyers of the condotel unitswho gave information with respect
to the terms of the contracts they entered into with respondents.

Subsequently, on April 23, 2012, the SEC’s Corporation
Finance Department (CFD) issued a Memorandum® indicating
its opinion that the “leaseback” arrangements offered by
respondents to the public are investment contracts.

On May 16, 2012, the EPD filed a Motion for Issuance of
Cease and Desist Order” with the SEC En Banc praying that
CJHDC and CJHSC, their respective officers, directors,
representatives, salesmen, agents, and any and all persons
claiming and acting for and in their behalf be directed to
immediately cease and desist “from further engaging in activities

5 Rollo, pp. 179-184.
61d. at 227-231.
" Records, Vol. I, pp. 186-202.
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of selling and/or offering for sale investment contracts covering
the condotel units on “leaseback” and/or “money-back”
arrangements until the requisite registration statement is duly
filed with and approved by the Commission and the
corresponding permit to offer/sell securities is issued.”® The
case was docketed as SEC-CDO Case No. 05-12-006.

OnJune 7, 2012, the SEC En Banc issued an Order,° disposing
as follows:

WHEREFORE, premises considered, there being a prima facie
evidence that respondents CJH DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION
and itswholly-owned subsidiary CJH SUITES CORPORATION, are
engaged in the business of selling securities without the proper
registration issued by this Commission in violation [of] Section 8 of
the SRC, the respondents, their respective officers, directors,
representatives, salesmen, agents and any and all persons claiming
and acting for and in their behalf, are hereby ordered to immediately
CEASE and DESIST from further engaging in the business of selling
securities until they have complied with the requirements of law and
its implementing rules and regulations.

XXX XXX XXX

SO ORDERED.™°

CJIHDC and CJHSC then filed a Petition for Review!! with
prayer for the issuance of atemporary restraining order and/or
writ of preliminary injunction before the CA questioning the
above CDO and praying that the same be reversed and set aside.

On September 25, 2012, the CA issued atemporary restraining
order which enjoinsthe SEC from enforcing its questioned CDO
for a period of sixty (60) days.*? Thereafter, on November 8,
2012, the CA issued a writ of preliminary injunction which

81d. at 203-209.

91d. at 203.

0 Rollo, p. 238

1 |d. at 239-263.

2. CA rollo, pp. 459-461.
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was made effective pending the decision of the petition on the
merits.t®

In its presently assailed Decision, the CA ruled in favor of
CJIHDC and CIJHSC and disposed as follows:

WHEREFORE, theinstant petitionis GRANTED. The Cease and
Desist Order dated June 7, 2012 issued by the SEC En Banc is
[ANNULLED] and SET ASIDE, and SEC-CDO Case No. 05-12-
006 isDISMISSED. Thewrit of preliminary injunction per Resolution
dated November 8, 2012, enjoining respondents from enforcing the
June 7, 2012 Cease and Desist Order, is MADE PERMANENT.

SO ORDERED.*

CJIHDC and CIJHSC filed aMotion for Reconsideration, but
the CA denied it in its Resolution'® dated November 28, 2013.

Hence, the instant petition for review on certiorari based on
the following grounds:

THE COURT OF APPEALS COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR
IN NOT OUTRIGHTLY DISMISSING THE APPEAL FILED BY
RESPONDENTS AGAINST AN INTERLOCUTORY OR
PROVISIONAL ORDER OF THE SEC.

THE COURT OF APPEALSCOMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR
AND ACTED WITH GRAVE ABUSE OF DISCRETION AMOUNTING
TOLACK OREXCESSOFJURISDICTION IN FAILING TODISMISS
THEPETITION FOR REVIEW CONSIDERING THAT THE SECHAS
THE PRIMARY JURISDICTION OVER THE CASE AND
RESPONDENTSFAILED TOEXHAUST ALL THEADMINISTRATIVE
REMEDIESUNDER THELAW TO CHALLENGE THE PROVISIONAL
ORDER.

THE COURT OF APPEALS COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR
AND ACTED WITH GRAVE ABUSE OF DISCRETION

13 1d. at 742-745.
4 Rollo, p. 76.
15629 Phil. 450, 459 (2010).
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AMOUNTING TO LACK OR EXCESS OF JURISDICTION IN
NULLIFYING THE CDO AND DISMISSING SEC-CDO CASE NO.
05-12-006.1

The petition is meritorious.

First, the Court agrees with petitioners that the challenged
CDO is an interlocutory order. The word interlocutory refers
to something intervening between the commencement and the
end of the suit which decides some point or matter but is not
afinal decision of the whole controversy.t” An interlocutory
order merely resolvesincidental matters and | eaves something
more to be done to resolve the merits of the case.’® Stated
differently, aninterlocutory order isonewhich |eaves substantial
proceedings yet to be had in connection with the controversy.®
It does not end the task of the court in adjudicating the parties’
contentions and determining their rights and liabilities as agai nst
each other.?° In this sense, it is basically provisional in its
application.?

It is a settled rule in this jurisdiction that an appeal may
only be taken from a judgment or final order that completely
disposes of the case and that an interlocutory order is not
appeal able until after the rendition of the judgment on the merits
for a contrary rule would delay the administration of justice
and unduly burden the courts.?

Inthe present case, it is clear from the dispositive portion of
the CDO that itsissuance is based on the findings of the SEC
that there exists prima facie evidence that respondents are

16 1d. at 39.

17 calderon v. Roxas, et al., 701 Phil. 301, 310 (2013).

18 1d.

19 spouses Bergonia v. Court of Appeals, et al., 680 Phil. 334, 340 (2012).
204,

2 d.

22 Aboitiz Equity Ventures, Inc. v. Chiongbian, et al., G.R. No. 197530,
July 9, 2014, 729 SCRA 580, 594-595.



122 PHILIPPINE REPORTS

Chairperson Herbosa, et al. vs. CJH Dev't. Corp., €t al.

engaged in the business of selling securities without the proper
registration issued by the Commission. Prima facie means a
fact presumed to be true unless disproved by some evidence to
the contrary.? Applied to the instant case, it means that the
findings of the SEC, as contained in the assailed CDO, can
still be refuted and disproved by contrary evidence. This only
means that the CDO is not final, is just provisional, and that
the prohibition thereunder is merely temporary, subject to the
determination of the parties’ respective evidencein a subsequent
hearing. It is, therefore, clear that the subject CDO, being
interlocutory, may not be the subject of an appeal.

In fact, the non-appealability of a CDO issued by the SEC
is provided for under the 2006 Rules of Procedure of the
Commission. Thus, Section 10-8 of the Rules provides:

SEC. 10-8. Prohibitions. — No pleading, motion or submission in
any form that may prevent the resolution of an application for aCDO
by the Commission shall be entertained except under Rule X1 herein.
A CDO when issued, shall not be the subject of an appeal and no
appeal from it will be entertained; Provided, however, that an order
by the Director of the Operating Department denying the motion to
lift aCDO may be appealed to the Commission En Banc through the
Offfice of the] G[eneral] C[ounsel]. (Emphasis supplied)

In addition, the temporary character, thusinterlocutory nature,
of aCDO isrecognized under Section 10-5 of the same Rules,
as it provides for the procedure on how a CDO can be made
permanent, to wit:

SEC. 10-5. Failure to File Motion to Lift. — (a) If the respondent
fails to file a motion to lift CDO within the prescribed period, the
Director of the C[ompliance and] E[nforcement] D[epartment] may
file with the Commission a motion to make the CDO permanent.
The Order shall contain the following:

i. abrief and procedural history of the case;
ii. a statement declaring the CDO as permanent;

23 pambansang Koalisyon ng mga Samahang Magsasaka at Manggagawa
sa Niyugan (PKSMMN), et al. v. Executive Secretary, et al., 685 Phil. 295,
308 (2012).
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iii. a statement ordering the respondent to appear before the
Commission within fifteen (15) daysto fileits Comment and to show
cause why the stated penalty should not be imposed.

(b) The Commission may conduct hearing within fifteen (15)
business daysfrom thefiling of the motion to make the CDO permanent.
After the termination of the hearing, the Commission shall resolve
the motion within ten (10) business days.

Thus, pursuant to the above provision, the EPD of the SEC
filed aMotion for Issuance of Permanent Cease and Desist Order
on July 9, 20122 which, however, was subsequently overtaken
by the CA’s issuance of a temporary restraining order and
preliminary injunction enjoining the SEC from enforcing its
assailed CDO.

Nonetheless, contrary to respondents’ contention in their
petition filed with the CA, they are not left without recourse
inthe administrative level. Section 64.3 of the SRC provides,
thus:

64.3 Any person against whom a cease and desi st order was issued
may, within five (5) days from receipt of the order, file a formal
request for alifting thereof. Said request shall be set for hearing by
the Commission not later than fifteen (15) days from its filing and
the resolution thereof shall be made not later than ten (10) daysfrom
the termination of the hearing. If the Commission fails to resolve
the request within the time herein prescribed, the cease and desist
order shall automatically be lifted.

In the same manner Section 10-3 of the 2006 Rules of
Procedure of the SEC states:

SEC. 10-3. Lifting of CDO. — A party against whom a CDO was
issued may, within anon-extendible period of five (5) business days
from receipt of the order, file a formal request or motion for the
lifting thereof with the OGC. Said motion or request shall be set for
hearing by the OGC not later than fifteen (15) days from its filing
and the resolution thereof not later than ten (10) days from the
termination of the hearing.

24 Records, p. 246.
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Hence, as cited above, instead of filing an appeal with the
CA, respondents should have filed amotion to lift the assailed
CDO. Sincethelaw and the SEC Rulesrequire that this motion
be heard by the SEC, it is during this hearing that respondents
could have presented evidence in support of their contentions.
However, they chose not to file the said motion.

Thus, the second reason for the denial of theinstant petition
is respondents’ failure to exhaust all administrative remedies
available to them. Settled is the rule that:

Under the doctrine of exhaustion of administrative remedies, before
a party is allowed to seek the intervention of the court, he or she
should have availed himself or herself of all the means of administrative
processes afforded him or her. Hence, if resort to a remedy within
the administrative machinery can still be made by giving the
administrative officer concerned every opportunity to decide on a
matter that comes within his or her jurisdiction, then such remedy
should be exhausted first before the court’s judicial power can be
sought. The premature invocation of the intervention of the court is
fatal to one’s cause of action. The doctrine of exhaustion of
administrative remediesis based on practical and legal reasons. The
availment of administrative remedy entailslesser expensesand provides
for a speedier disposition of controversies. Furthermore, the courts
of justice, for reasons of comity and convenience, will shy away
from a dispute until the system of administrative redress has been
completed and complied with, so asto give the administrative agency
concerned every opportunity to correct its error and dispose of the
case.”®

It istrue that there are exceptions to the above doctrine, to
wit:

(1) whenthereisaviolation of due process; (2) when theissueinvolved
ispurely alegal question; (3) when the administrative action is patently
illegal amounting to lack or excess of jurisdiction; (4) when thereis
estoppel on the part of the administrative agency concerned; (5) when
there isirreparable injury; (6) when the respondent is a department
secretary who acts as an alter ego of the President bears the implied

2 Maglalang v. Philippine Amusement and Gaming Corporation, 723
Phil. 546, 556-557 (2013).
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and assumed approval of the latter; (7) when to require exhaustion
of administrative remedies would be unreasonable; (8) when it would
amount to a nullification of a claim; (9) when the subject matter is
aprivate land in land case proceedings; (10) when the rule does not
provide a plain, speedy and adequate remedy, (11) when there are
circumstances indicating the urgency of judicial intervention, and
unreasonable delay would greatly prejudice the complainant; (12)
where no administrative review is provided by law; (13) where the
rule of qualified political agency applies and (14) where the issue of
non-exhaustion of administrative remedies has been rendered moot.?

However, the Court does not agree with the CA initsruling
that the present case falls under thefirst and second exceptions
for reasons to be discussed hereunder.

Corollary to the principle of exhaustion of administrative
remedies is the third reason for denying the instant petition.
The main issue, as to whether or not the sale of “The Manor”
or “The Suites” unitsto the general public under the “leaseback”
or “money-back” scheme is a form of investment contract or
sale of securities, isnot apure question of law. On the contrary,
it involves a question of fact that falls under the primary
jurisdiction of the SEC. Under the doctrine of primary
administrative jurisdiction, courts will not determine a
controversy where theissuesfor resolution demand the exercise
of sound administrative discretion requiring the special
knowledge, experience, and services of the administrative tribunal
to determine technical and intricate matters of fact, which under
a regulatory scheme have been placed within the special
competence of such tribunal or agency.?”

In other words, if acaseissuch that its determination requires
the expertise, specialized training, and knowledge of an
administrative body, relief must first be obtained in an
administrative proceeding beforeresort to the court is had even

% 1d. at 557.

2" Nestle Philippines, Inc., et al. v. Uniwide Sales, Inc., et al., 648 Phil.
451, 459 (2010); Euro-Med Laboratories Phil., Inc. v. The Province of
Batangas, 527 Phil. 623, 626-627 (2006).
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if the matter may well bewithin thelatter’ s proper jurisdiction.?
The objective of the doctrine of primary jurisdiction isto guide
the court in determining whether it should refrain from exercising
itsjurisdiction until after an administrative agency has determined
some question or some aspect of some question arising in the
proceeding before the court.?

In the instant case, the resolution of the issue as to whether
respondents’ scheme of selling the subject condotel units is
tantamount to an investment contract and/or sale of securities,
as defined under the SRC, requires the expertise and technical
knowledge of the SEC being the government agency which is
tasked to enforce and implement the provisions of the said Code
aswell asitsimplementing rules and regulations. In fact, after
theissuance of the CDO, the SEC isyet to hear from respondents
and receive evidence from them regarding thisissue. Nonethel ess,
respondents prematurely filed an appeal with the CA, which
erroneously gave due courseto it in disregard of the doctrines
of exhaustion of administrative remediesand primary jurisdiction.

Furthermore, the present case does not fall under the exceptions
to the doctrine of exhaustion of administrative remedies asthere
is no violation of respondents’ right to due process. The Court
does not agree with the CA in sustaining petitioners’ contention
that the investigation conducted by the EPD necessitated the
participation of petitionersand that they should have been given
opportunity to explain their side prior to the issuance of the
guestioned CDO. In this regard, Sections 64.1 and 64.2 of the
SRC provide as follows:

64.1. The Commission, after proper investigation or verification, motu
proprio, or upon verified complaint by any aggrieved party, may
issue a cease and desist order without the necessity of aprior hearing
if inits judgment the act or practice, unless restrained, will operate
as a fraud on investors or is otherwise likely to cause grave or
irreparable injury or prejudice to the investing public.

28 1d.; 1d. at 626.
2 1d.; Id.
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64.2. Until the Commission issues a cease and desist order, the fact
that an investigation has been initiated or that a complaint has been
filed, including the contents of the complaint, shall be confidential.
Upon issuance of a cease and desist order, the Commission shall
make public such order and a copy thereof shall immediately be
furnished to each person subject to the order.

64.3. Any person against whom a cease and desist order was issued
may, within five (5) days from receipt of the order, file a formal
request for lifting thereof. Said request shall be set for hearing by
the Commission not later than fifteen (15) days from its filing and
the resol ution thereof shall be made not later than ten (10) daysfrom
the termination of the hearing. If the Commission fails to resolve
the request within the time herein prescribed, the cease and desist
order shall automatically be lifted.

Explaining the import of these provisions, this Court, in the
case of Primanila Plans, Inc. v. Securities and Exchange
Commission,* held, thus:

Thelaw isclear on the point that a cease and desist order may
be issued by the SEC motu proprio, it being unnecessary that it
results from a verified complaint from an aggrieved party. A
prior hearingisalso not required whenever the Commission finds
it appropriatetoissueaceaseand desist order that aimsto curtail
fraud or grave or irreparableinjury to investors. There is good
reason for this provision, as any delay in the restraint of acts that
yield such results can only generate further injury to the public that
the SEC is obliged to protect.

To equally protect individuals and corporations from basel ess and
improvident issuances, the authority of the SEC under this rule is
nonethel ess with defined limits. A cease and desist order may only
beissued by the Commission after proper investigation or verification,
and upon showing that the acts sought to be restrained could result
ininjury or fraud to theinvesting public. Without doubt, these requisites
were duly satisfied by the SEC prior to its issuance of the subject
cease and desist order.

Records indicate the prior conduct of a proper investigation on
Primanila’s activities by the Commission’s CED. Investigators of

30 G.R. No. 193791, August 6, 2014, 732 SCRA 264.
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the CED personally conducted an ocular inspection of Primanila’s
declared office, only to confirm reportsthat it had closed even without
the prior approval of the SEC. Members of CED also visited the
company website of Primanila, and discovered the company’s offer
for sale thereon of the pension plan product called Primasa Plan,
with instructions on how interested applicants and planholders could
pay their premium payments for the plan. One of the payment options
was through bank deposit to Primanila’s given Metrobank account
which, following an actual deposit made by the CED was confirmed
to be active.

As part of their investigation, the SEC also looked into records
relevant to Primanila’s business. Records with the SEC’s Non-
Traditional Securities and Instruments Department (NTD) disclosed
Primanila’ sfailureto renew itsdealer’ slicense for 2008, or to apply
for asecondary license as dealer or general agent for pre-need pension
plans for the same year. SEC records also confirmed Primanila’s
failureto file aregistration statement for Primasa Plan, to fully remit
premium collections from plan holders, and to declare truthfully its
premium collections from January to September 2007.

The SEC was not mandated to allow Primanilato participate
in the investigation conducted by the Commission prior to the
cease and desist order’sissuance. Given the circumstances, it was
sufficient for the satisfaction of the demands of due process that the
company was amply apprised of the results of the SEC investigation,
and then given the reasonable opportunity to present its defense.
Primanilawas able to do this viaits motion to reconsider and lift the
cease and desist order. After the CED filed its comment on the motion,
Primanilawas further given the chanceto explainitssideto the SEC
through the filing of itsreply. “ Triteto state, aformal trial or hearing
is not necessary to comply with the requirements of due process. Its
essence is simply the opportunity to explain one’s position.” x x x3

In the present case, as mentioned above, the SEC through its
EPD, conducted an investigation upon request of the BCDA.
The EPD dispatched a team of SEC employees, who posed as
representatives of interested buyers, to the John Hay Special
Economic Zonein Baguio City. There, the team memberswere

3! Primanila Plans, Inc. v. Securities and Exchange Commission, supra,
at 274-275. (Emphases supplied)
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able to talk to CJHDC's Director of Sales, who, not only
explained to them the straight and |easeback agreements, but
also gavethe team copies of marketing material, aswell assample
contracts, indicating that respondents areindeed selling the subject
units either on a straight purchase or leaseback agreement.

Subsequently, on three different occasions, the EPD invited
several buyers of the subject condotels and met with them in
separate conferences wherein these buyers shed light on the
transactions they entered into with respondents and informed
the EPD that they bought condotel units on a leaseback
arrangement. These buyers provided the EPD copies of documents
relating to their purchase of condotel units on such terms.

Upon issuance of the CDO, nothing prevented respondents
from filing a motion to lift the said Order wherein they could
have amply explained their position. However, they chose not
to avail of this remedy and, instead, went directly, albeit
erroneously, to the CA via a petition for review.

Lastly, the Court neither agrees with the ruling of the CA
that there is nothing in the assailed CDO which shows that the
acts sought to berestrained therein operate asafraud oninvestors.
The SEC arrived at a preliminary finding that respondents are
engaged in the business of selling securities without the proper
registration issued by the Commission. Based on this initial
finding, respondents’ act of selling unregistered securitieswould
necessarily operate as a fraud on investors as it deceives the
investing public by making it appear that respondents have
authority to deal on such securities. As correctly cited by the
SEC, Section 8.1 of the SRC clearly states that securities shall
not be sold or offered for sale or distribution within the
Philippines without aregistration statement duly filed with and
approved by the SEC and that prior to such sale, information
on the securities, in such form and with such substance as the
SEC may prescribe, shall be made available to each prospective
buyer. The Court agrees with the SEC that the purpose of this
provision is to afford the public protection from investing in
worthless securities.
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WHEREFORE, the petition is GRANTED. The Decision
of the Court of Appeals, dated June 7, 2013, and its Resolution
dated November 28, 2013, in CA-G.R. SP No. 125482 are
REVERSED and SET ASIDE. The Writ of Preliminary
Injunction, per CA Resolution dated November 8, 2012, which
was made permanent by its June 7, 2013 Decision, is hereby
LIFTED. SEC-CDO Case No. 05-12-006 and the June 7, 2012
Cease and Desist Order of the Securities and Exchange
Commission are REINSTATED.

SO ORDERED.
Velasco, Jr. (Chairperson), Perez, Reyes, and Leonen,” JJ., concur.

THIRD DIVISION
[G.R. No. 215341. November 28, 2016]

THE PEOPLE OF THE PHILIPPINES, plaintiff-appellee,
vs. MARLON MANSON y RESULTAY, accused-
appellant.

SYLLABUS

1. CRIMINAL LAW; REVISED PENAL CODE; STATUTORY
RAPE; ELEMENTS; ESTABLISHED; FORCE, INTIMIDATION
AND PHYSICAL EVIDENCE OF INJURY ARE NOT
RELEVANT CONSIDERATIONS IN THE CRIME OF
STATUTORY RAPE, AS THE ONLY PERTINENT
CONCERN IS THE AGE OF THE WOMAN AND
WHETHER CARNAL KNOWLEDGE INDEED TOOK
PL ACE.— From the testimony of the very young complainant,

" Designated Additional Member in lieu of Associate Justice Francis H.
Jardeleza, per Raffle dated October 1, 2014.
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the prosecution was able to firmly establish the elements of
the crime of statutory rape. Statutory rape is committed when
(1) the offended party is under twelve (12) years of age and
(2) the accused had carnal knowledge of her, regardless of
whether there was force, threat or intimidation, whether the
victim was deprived of reason or consciousness, or whether it
was done through fraud or grave abuse of authority. It istermed
statutory rape asit departs from the usual modes of committing
rape. The law presumes that the victim does not and cannot
have a will of her own on account of her tender years. What
the law punishes in statutory rape is carnal knowledge of a
woman below twelve (12) years old. Thus, force, intimidation
and physical evidence of injury are not relevant considerations;
the only pertinent concernisthe age of the woman and whether
carnal knowledge indeed took place.

2. 1D.; ID.; ID.; ID.; WHEN THE VICTIM’STESTIMONY IS
CORROBORATED BY THE PHYSICIAN'SFINDING OF
PENETRATION, THERE ISSUFFICIENT FOUNDATION
TO CONCLUDE THE EXISTENCE OF THE ESSENTIAL
REQUISITE OF CARNAL KNOWLEDGE, AND THAT
LACERATION,WHETHER HEALED OR FRESH, ISTHE
BEST PHYS CAL EVIDENCE OF FORCIBLE DEFLORATION.—
AAA’s birth certificate would show that she was merely eight
(8) years old when she was violated. While the second element,
that Manson had carnal knowledge of AAA, was evidenced by
the testimony of the victim herself. The medical report likewise
clearly showsthat AAA suffered afourth (4")-degree laceration
in her ano-genital area which could have been caused by a
blunt object, usually the male sexual organ. It has been held
that when the victim’s testimony is corroborated by the
physician’sfinding of penetration, thereis sufficient foundation
to conclude the existence of the essential requisite of carnal
knowledge, and that laceration, whether healed or fresh, isthe
best physical evidence of forcible defloration.

3. REMEDIAL LAW; EVIDENCE; WEIGHT AND SUFFICIENCY
OF EVIDENCE; ACCUSED MAY STILL BE PROVEN AS
THECULPRIT DESPITETHEABSENCE OF EYEWITNESSES,
AS DIRECT EVIDENCE IS NOT A CONDITION SINE
QUA NON TO PROVE THE GUILT OF AN ACCUSED
BEYOND REASONABLE DOUBT; IN THE ABSENCE OF



132

PHILIPPINE REPORTS

People vs. Manson

DIRECT EVIDENCE, THE PROSECUTION MAY
RESORT TO ADDUCING CIRCUMSTANTIAL EVIDENCE
TO DISCHARGE ITSBURDEN.— True, shedid not actually
see Manson in the act of abusing her as she was, at that time,
unconscious. When asked, she did not even know the real
meaning of the word rape. In fact, she had innocently referred
to the rape incident as the pain and wound in her genitals. The
Court, however, agrees with the courts below that AAA was
able to positively identify Manson as the man who assaulted
her. It is settled that the crime of rapeisdifficult to prove because
itisgenerally left unseen and very often, only the victim isleft
to testify for herself. However, the accused may still be proven
asthe culprit despite the absence of eyewitnesses. Direct evidence
is not a condition sine qua non to prove the guilt of an accused
beyond reasonable doubt. For in the absence of direct evidence,
the prosecution may resort to adducing circumstantial evidence
to discharge its burden.

4. 1D.; ID.; ID.; CIRCUMSTANTIAL EVIDENCE; WHEN

SUFFICIENT FOR CONVICTION.— Circumstantial
evidence consists of proof of collateral facts and circumstances
from which the existence of the main fact may be inferred
according to reason and common experience. Section 4, Rule
133, of the Revised Rules of Evidence, as amended, sets forth
the requirements of circumstantial evidence that is sufficient
for conviction, viz.: SEC. 4. Circumstantial evidence, when
sufficient. — Circumstantial evidenceissufficient for conviction
if: (a) Thereis more than one circumstance; (b) The facts from
which the inferences are derived are proven; and (c) The
combination of all the circumstances is such as to produce a
conviction beyond reasonable doubt.

5. 1D.;1D.; 1D.; PROOF BEYOND REASONABLE DOUBT; THE

REQUIREMENT OF PROOF BEYOND REASONABLE
DOUBT IN CRIMINAL LAW DOES NOT MEAN SUCH
A DEGREE OF PROOF AS TO EXCLUDE THE
POSSIBILITY OF ERROR AND PRODUCE ABSOLUTE
CERTAINTY, AS ONLY MORAL CERTAINTY IS
REQUIRED.— [T]he Court is satisfied that the prosecution
has successfully proved Manson’ s guilt beyond reasonabl e doubt.
The evidence adduced against Manson constitutes an unbroken
chain leading to the one fair and reasonabl e conclusion that he
was indeed the perpetrator of the crime. The requirement of
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proof beyond reasonable doubt in criminal law does not mean
such a degree of proof as to exclude the possibility of error
and produce absolute certainty. Only moral certainty isrequired
or that degree of proof which produces conviction in an
unprejudiced mind. This was satisfactorily established in the
case at bar.

6. ID.; ID.; CREDIBILITY OF WITNESSES; ABSENT ANY
EVIDENCE THAT IT WAS TAINTED WITH
ARBITRARINESS OR OVERSIGHT OF A FACT, THE
LOWER COURT'SASSESSMENT OF THE CREDIBILITY
OF WITNESSESISENTITLED TO GREAT WEIGHT, IF
NOT CONCLUSIVE OR BINDING ON THE COURT.—
While Manson claims that it was not only him who was called
Pangga, AAA, in addition to referring to him as Pangga, likewise
pointed at him as the culprit when she was in the hospital just
aday after theincident. There istherefore no cogent reason to
reverse the trial court’s assessment of AAA’s credibility, as
affirmed by the CA. When it comesto credibility of witnesses,
thefindings of thetrial court on such matter will not be disturbed
unlessthe lower court had clearly misinterpreted certain facts.
The credibility of the witnesses is best addressed by the trial
court, it being in abetter position to decide such question, having
heard them and observed their demeanor, conduct, and attitude
under grueling examination. Verily, absent any evidence that
it was tainted with arbitrariness or oversight of afact, the lower
court’ s assessment is entitled to great weight, if not conclusive
or binding on the Court. Lastly, where there is no evidence
that the witnesses of the prosecution were influenced by ill
motive, as in this case, it is presumed that they were not so
actuated and their testimony is entitled to full faith and credit.

7. CRIMINAL LAW; REVISED PENAL CODE; STATUTORY
RAPE; CIVIL LIABILITY OF ACCUSED-APPELLANT.—
Asto the amount of damages, however, the exemplary damages
should be increased from £30,000.00 to £75,000.00 based on
recent jurisprudence.

APPEARANCES OF COUNSEL

Office of the Solicitor General for plaintiff-appellee.
Public Attorney’s Office for accused-appellant.
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DECISION
PERALTA, J.:

This case seeks to reverse and set aside the Decision® dated
October 13, 2014 of the Court of Appeals (CA) in CA-G.R.
CR-H.C. No. 05340. The CA upheld the Decision? of the
Regional Trial Court (RTC) of Baguio City, Branch IV, dated
September 29, 2010in Criminal Case No. 26824-R, which found
accused-appellant Marlon Manson y Resultay guilty beyond
reasonable doubt of the crime of statutory rape.

An Information wasfiled charging Manson of raping AAA 2
which reads:

That on or about the 10" day of December 2006, in the City of
Baguio, Philippines and within the jurisdiction of this Honorable
Court, the above-named accused, by means of force and intimidation,
did then and there willfully, unlawfully and feloniously have carnal
knowledge of offended party AAA, aminor 8 years of age, and taking
advantage of the minority of said complainant who because of her
tender age is unable to fully take care and protect herself from such
sexual abuse of said accused, against her will and consent.

CONTRARY TO LAW.*

1 penned by Associate Justice Samuel H. Gaerlan, with Associate Justices
Apolinario D. Bruselas, Jr. and Amy C. Lazaro-Javier; concurring; rollo,
pp. 2-17.

2 Penned by Judge Mia Joy C. Oallares-Cawed; CA rollo, pp. 37-53.

3 In line with the Court’s ruling in People v. Cabalquinto, 533 Phil. 703,
709 (2006), citing Rule on Violence Against Women and their Children, Sec.
40; Rules and Regulations Implementing Republic Act No. 9262, Rule XI,
Sec. 63, otherwise known as the “ Anti-Violence Against Women and their
Children Act,” thereal names of the rape victims will not be disclosed. The
Court will instead use fictitious initials to represent them throughout the
decision. The personal circumstances of the victims or any other information
tending to establish or compromisetheir identitieswill likewise be withheld.

4 Records, p. 1.
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Upon arraignment, Manson pleaded not guilty to the crime
charged. Hence, trial on the merits proceeded.

The factual and procedural antecedents of the case are as
follows:

Marlon Manson was accused of raping AAA, a girl aged
eight (8). AAA testified that she was born on April 24, 1998.
On the afternoon of December 10, 2006, AAA’s mother sent
her on an errand in order to buy Milo at a store. On her way
back home, she met Manson near avacant lot. He asked AAA
to help him look for eggs in the grassy place. Once there,
Manson suddenly strangled her from the back, rendering her
unconscious. When she woke up, she found herself near the
spring at the lower portion of the grassy place. She felt pain
in her genitals and in her neck. Later, she discovered that her
genitals were bleeding. Due to the pain, AAA crawled her
way home, leaving bruises on her palms and knees. When she
reached her house at around 6:00 p.m., her mother, BBB, saw
that AAA’s face and neck were bluish. When asked what
happened to her, AAA answered, “ Pangga (Manson’ s nickname)
strangled me.” BBB likewise noticed that AAA’s pants were
drenched. When she checked and pulled her pants down, she
was shocked to see that her daughter’s genitals were bleeding
profusely. BBB then changed AAA’ s clothes and they proceeded
to the Benguet General Hospital.

At the hospital, the medical staff had to stitch AAA’sgenitalia
as she suffered aone (1)-inch laceration. AAA likewise suffered
hematoma in her neck and was bleeding in the eye area.

For hisdefense, Manson denied that heraped AAA. Healleged
that on the afternoon of December 10, 2006, he had a drinking
session with his 2 uncles in their house in Lower Fairview,
Baguio City. When they finished at around 5:00 p.m., he
accompanied one of hisunclesto wait for aride. Whilewaiting,
they consumed a bottle of Red Horse beer. Then he hailed a
taxi for his uncle and proceeded to walk back home where he
went straight to bed. On December 11, 2006, at about 1:00



136 PHILIPPINE REPORTS

People vs. Manson

p.m., hewasin LaTrinidad, Benguet selling fish when two (2)
police officers approached and invited him to go with them.
They then brought him to a room of a child at the Benguet
General Hospital. The police officers then told the child to
point at him. He also learned that he was being accused of
raping said child and the officers were forcing him to admit to
the accusation. Further, he pointed out that Pangga did not
only pertain to him but to all of them in their household since
they were all Pangasinenses.

On September 29, 2010, the RTC found Manson guilty in
Criminal Case No. 26824-R and sentenced him to suffer the
penalty of reclusion perpetua, and to pay AAA £75,000.00 as
civil indemnity, P75,000.00 as moral damages, and P14,439.25
as actual damages, thus:

WHEREFORE, in view of all the foregoing, the Accused
MARLON MANSON y RESULTAY is found GUILTY beyond
reasonable doubt of the offense of Rape as defined under Article
266-A, par. 1 (d) of the Revised Penal Code as amended by Republic
Act 8353 and is sentenced to suffer the penalty of reclusion perpetua
and all its accessory penalties.

Considering that the Accused has undergone preventive
imprisonment, he shall be credited in the service of his sentence
with the time he has undergone preventive imprisonment subject to
the conditions provided for by law.

Inlinewith prevailing jurisprudence, heisto pay AAA £75,000.00
as civil indemnity ex-delicto and P£75,000.00 as moral damages.

The Accused islikewise ordered to pay the amount of £14,439.25
as actual damages to compensate the expenses incurred for her
medication which were duly proven by the Prosecution.

SO ORDERED.®
Thus, Manson appeal ed beforethe CA. On October 13, 2014,

the CA affirmed the RTC Decision with modification asto the
amount of damages, thus:

5 CA rollo, pp. 52-53. (Emphasis and underscoring in the original)
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WHEREFORE, premises considered, the assailed Decision is
hereby AFFIRMED with MODIFICATION. The amount of
£30,000.00 is hereby awarded to AAA as exemplary damagesin
addition tothe actual, moral and civil damages alr eady awar ded
by the Family Court.

SO ORDERED.®

Manson then comes before the Court, maintaining that the
prosecution failed to prove his guilt beyond reasonable doubt.

The Court dismisses the appeal for lack of merit.

From the testimony of the very young complainant, the
prosecution was able to firmly establish the elements of the
crime of statutory rape. Statutory rape is committed when (1)
the offended party is under twelve (12) years of age and (2)
the accused had carnal knowledge of her, regardless of whether
there wasforce, threat or intimidation, whether the victim was
deprived of reason or consciousness, or whether it was done
through fraud or grave abuse of authority. It istermed statutory
rape as it departs from the usual modes of committing rape.
The law presumes that the victim does not and cannot have a
will of her own on account of her tender years. What the law
punishesin statutory rapeis carnal knowledge of awoman below
twelve (12) years old. Thus, force, intimidation and physical
evidence of injury are not relevant considerations; the only
pertinent concern is the age of the woman and whether carnal
knowledge indeed took place.”

At bar, AAA’s birth certificate would show that she was
merely eight (8) years old when she was violated. While the
second element, that Manson had carnal knowledge of AAA,
was evidenced by the testimony of the victim herself. The
medical report likewise clearly showsthat AAA suffered afourth
(4™M)-degree laceration in her ano-genital areawhich could have
been caused by a blunt object, usually the male sexual organ.
It has been held that when the victim’ stestimony is corroborated

6 Rollo, pp. 16-17. (Emphasis in the original)
" Peoplev. Gutierrez, G.R. No. 208007, April 2, 2014, 720 SCRA 607, 613.
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by the physician’s finding of penetration, there is sufficient
foundation to conclude the existence of the essential requisite
of carnal knowledge, and that laceration, whether healed or
fresh, is the best physical evidence of forcible defloration.®
Here, the examining physician found that the laceration was
about 1-¥2 inches deep, which even reached AAA’s anal area.
Because of the unbearable pain it caused the child, the doctors
had to rush her to the operating room and sedate her in order
to examine the extent of the laceration.

True, she did not actually see Manson in the act of abusing
her as shewas, at that time, unconscious. When asked, she did
not even know the real meaning of the word rape. In fact, she
had innocently referred to the rape incident as the pain and
wound in her genitals. The Court, however, agrees with the
courts below that AAA was ableto positively identify Manson
as the man who assaulted her.

Itissettled that the crime of rapeisdifficult to prove because
itisgenerally left unseen and very often, only thevictimisleft
to testify for herself. However, the accused may still be proven
as the culprit despite the absence of eyewitnesses. Direct
evidence is not a condition sine qua non to prove the guilt of
an accused beyond reasonable doubt. For in the absence of
direct evidence, the prosecution may resort to adducing
circumstantial evidenceto dischargeitsburden. Circumstantial
evidence consists of proof of collateral facts and circumstances
from which the existence of the main fact may be inferred
according to reason and common experience.® Section 4, Rule
133, of the Revised Rules of Evidence, as amended, sets forth
the requirements of circumstantial evidence that is sufficient
for conviction, viz.:

SEC. 4. Circumstantial evidence, when sufficient. — Circumstantial
evidence is sufficient for conviction if:

(a) There is more than one circumstance;

8 People v. Rondina, G.R. No. 207763, June 30, 2014, 727 SCRA 591, 615.
® Peoplev. Broniola, G.R. No. 211027, June 29, 2015, 760 SCRA 597, 606.
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(b) Thefactsfrom which the inferences are derived are proven;
and

(c) The combination of all the circumstancesis such asto produce
a conviction beyond reasonable doubt.

Here, the prosecution has proved the following circumstances:
that AAA’s mother sent her on an errand on the afternoon of
December 10, 2006; that on her way back home, AAA met
Manson near a vacant lot and the latter approached her to
allegedly help him look for eggsin the grassy place; that AAA
was alone with Manson when they went to the grassy area of
thelot; that once there, Manson suddenly strangled her, leaving
her unconscious; that when she woke up, she felt pain in her
genitalsand in her neck, and saw that her genitals were already
bleeding; that the physician who examined AAA found multiple
injuries on her neck, face, and eyes which are consistent with
the claim of strangulation; and that the medical report clearly
shows that AAA suffered a fourth (4")-degree laceration in
her ano-genital area which could have been caused by a blunt
object, usually the male sexual organ.

Considering all the circumstances mentioned and in light of
previousrulings, the Court is satisfied that the prosecution has
successfully proved Manson’s guilt beyond reasonable doubt.
The evidence adduced against Manson constitutes an unbroken
chain leading to the one fair and reasonabl e conclusion that he
was indeed the perpetrator of the crime. The requirement of
proof beyond reasonable doubt in criminal law does not mean
such a degree of proof as to exclude the possibility of error
and produce absolute certainty. Only moral certainty isrequired
or that degree of proof which produces conviction in an
unprejudiced mind.'® Thiswas satisfactorily established in the
case at bar.

While Manson claimsthat it was not only him who was called
Pangga, AAA, inadditionto referring to him as Pangga, likewise
pointed at him as the culprit when she was in the hospital just

10 |d. at 607.
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a day after the incident. There is therefore no cogent reason
toreversethetrial court’s assessment of AAA’s credibility, as
affirmed by the CA. When it comesto credibility of witnesses,
thefindings of thetrial court on such matter will not be disturbed
unlessthelower court had clearly misinterpreted certain facts.
The credibility of the witnesses is best addressed by the trial
court, it being in abetter position to decide such question, having
heard them and observed their demeanor, conduct, and attitude
under grueling examination. Verily, absent any evidence that
it was tainted with arbitrariness or oversight of afact, the lower
court’ sassessment is entitled to great weight, if not conclusive
or binding on the Court. Lastly, where there is no evidence
that the witnesses of the prosecution were influenced by ill
motive, as in this case, it is presumed that they were not so
actuated and their testimony isentitled to full faith and credit.*
Asto the amount of damages, however, the exemplary damages
should be increased from £30,000.00 to £75,000.00 based on
recent jurisprudence.*?

The Court strongly abhors and condemns such an odious
act, especially onethat iscommitted against adefensel ess child.
This kind of barbarousness, although it may drop the victim
still alive and breathing, instantly zaps all that is good in a
child’s life and corrupts its innocent perception of the world.
It likewise leaves a child particularly susceptible to a horde of
physical, emotional, and psychological suffering later in life,
practically stripping it of its full potential. Every child’s best
interests are and should be the paramount consideration of every
member of the society. Children may constitute only a small
part of the population, but the future of this nation hugely, if
not entirely, depends on them. And the Court will not in any
way waver initssworn duty to ensure that anyone who endangers
and poses athreat to that future cannot do so with untouchable
impunity, but will certainly be held accountable under the law.

11 people v. Dadao, et al., 725 Phil. 298, 310-311 (2014).
12 People v. Ireneo Jugueta, G.R. No. 202124, April 5, 2016.
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WHEREFORE, PREMISES CONSIDERED, the Court
DISM | SSEStheappeal and AFFIRM Swith MODIFICATION
the Decision dated October 13, 2014 of the Court of Appeals
in CA-G.R. CR-H.C. No. 05340 finding accused-appellant
Marlon Manson y Resultay guilty beyond reasonable doubt of
the crime of Statutory Rape under Article 266-A, paragraph 1
(d) of the Revised Penal Code, as amended by Republic Act
8353. The Court sentences Manson to suffer the penalty of
reclusion perpetua and to pay AAA the amount of P14,439.25
as actual damages,+75,000.00 as civil indemnity, £75,000.00
as moral damages, and another £75,000.00 as exemplary
damages, all with interest at the rate of six percent (6%) per
annum from the finality of this judgment until fully paid.

SO ORDERED.

Velasco, Jr. (Chairperson), Perez, Mendoza,” and Reyes, JJ.,
concur.

THIRD DIVISION
[G.R. No. 215640. Novemeber 28, 2016]

NESTOR CABRERA, petitioner, vs. ARNEL CLARIN and
WIFE; MILAGROS BARRIOS and HUSBAND;
AURORA SERAFIN and HUSBAND; and BONIFACIO
MORENO and WIFE, respondents.

SYLLABUS

1. REMEDIAL LAW; CIVIL PROCEDURE; COURTS; THE
JUDICIARY REORGANIZATION ACT OF 1980 (R.A.NO.

" Designated Additional Member in lieu of Associate Justice Francis H.
Jardeleza per Raffle dated December 8, 2014.
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7691); JURISDICTION OVER REAL ACTIONS; ABSENT
ANY ALLEGATION IN THE COMPLAINT OF THE
ASSESSED VALUE OF THE PROPERTY, IT CANNOT
READILY BE DETERMINED WHICH COURT HAS
ORIGINAL AND EXCLUSIVE JURISDICTION OVER
THE CASE,AS THE COURTSCANNOT TAKE JUDICIAL
NOTICE OF THE ASSESSED OR MARKET VALUE OF
THE LAND. — Before the amendments, the plenary action of
accion publiciana wasto be brought before the RTC regardless
of the value of the property. With the modificationsintroduced
by R.A. No. 7691 in 1994, the jurisdiction of the first level
courts has been expanded to include jurisdiction over other
real actionswhere the assessed val ue does not exceed £20,000.00,
£50,000.00 where the action is filed in Metro Manila.
Accordingly, thejurisdictional element isthe assessed value
of the property. A perusal of the complaint readily shows that
Cabrera failed to state the assessed value of the disputed land
X X X. Indeed, nowherein the complaint was the assessed value
of the subject property ever mentioned. On its face, thereisno
showing that the RTC has jurisdiction exclusive of the MTC.
Absent any allegation in the complaint of the assessed value
of the property, it cannot readily be determined which court
had original and exclusive jurisdiction over the case at bar.
The courts cannot take judicial notice of the assessed or market
value of the land.

2.1D.; ID.; APPEALS; A COURT'SJURISDICTION MAY BE
RAISED AT ANY STAGE OF THE PROCEEDINGS, EVEN
ON APPEAL FOR THE SAME ISCONFERRED BY LAW,
AND LACK OF IT AFFECTS THE VERY AUTHORITY
OF THE COURT TO TAKE COGNIZANCE OF AND TO
RENDER JUDGMENT ON THE ACTION, EXCEPT
WHERE A PARTY IS BARRED BY LACHES.— It is
axiomatic that the nature of an action and the jurisdiction of a
tribunal are determined by the material allegations of the
complaint and the law at the time the action was commenced.
A court’s jurisdiction may be raised at any stage of the
proceedings, even on appeal for the same is conferred by law,
and lack of it affects the very authority of the court to take
cognizance of and to render judgment on the action. It applies
even if theissue on jurisdiction was raised for the first timeon
appeal or even after final judgment. The exception to the basic
rule mentioned operates on the principle of estoppel by laches
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— whereby a party may be barred by laches from invoking the
lack of jurisdiction at a late hour for the purpose of annulling
everything done in the case with the active participation of
said party invoking the plea.

3. ID.; ID.; ID; ID.; JURISDICTION BY ESTOPPEL; WHEN
APPLICABLE.— In the case of La Naval Drug Corporation
v. Court of Appeals, Weillustrated therule asto when jurisdiction
by estoppel applies and when it does not, asfollows: x x x. In
People vs. Casiano, this Court, on the issue or estoppel, held:
The operation of the principle of estoppel on the question of
jurisdiction seemingly depends upon whether the lower court
actually had jurisdiction or not. If it had no jurisdiction, but
the case was tried and decided upon the theory that it had
jurisdiction, the parties are not barred, on appeal, from
assailing such jurisdiction, for the same ‘must exist as a
matter of law, and may not be conferred by consent of the
parties or by estoppel.” However, if the lower court had
jurisdiction, and the case was heard and decided upon a
given theory, such, for instance, as that the court had no
jurisdiction, the party who induced it to adopt such theory
will not be permitted, on appeal, to assume an inconsistent
position — that the lower court had jurisdiction. Here, the
principle of estoppel applies. The rule that jurisdiction is
conferred by law, and does not depend upon the will of the
parties, has no bearing thereon. x x X. Guided by the
abovementioned jurisprudence, this Court rulesthat respondents
are not estopped from assailing the jurisdiction of the RTC
over the subject civil case. Records reveal that even before
filing their Answer, respondents assailed the jurisdiction of
the RTC through a motion to dismiss as there was no mention
of the assessed value of the property in the complaint.

4. 1D.; ID.; EVIDENCE; OFFER AND OBJECTION; OFFER
OF EVIDENCE; THE COURT SHALL CONSIDER NO
EVIDENCE WHICH HAS NOT BEEN FORMALLY
OFFERED, AS A FORMAL OFFER IS NECESSARY
BECAUSE JUDGESARE MANDATED TO REST THEIR
FINDINGS OF FACTS AND THEIR JUDGMENT ONLY
AND STRICTLY UPON THE EVIDENCE OFFERED BY
THE PARTIES AT THE TRIAL, EXCEPT WHEN THE
EVIDENCE HAVE BEEN DULY IDENTIFIED BY
TESTIMONY DULY RECORDED AND, THE SAME HAVE
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BEEN INCORPORATED IN THE RECORDS OF THE
CASE.— The Rules of Court provides that the court shall
consider no evidence which has not been formally offered. A
formal offer is necessary because judges are mandated to rest
their findings of facts and their judgment only and strictly upon
the evidence offered by the parties at the trial. Its function is
to enable the trial judge to know the purpose or purposes for
which the proponent is presenting the evidence. Conversely,
thisallows opposing parties to examine the evidence and object
to its admissibility. Moreover, it facilitates review as the
appellate court will not be required to review documents
not previously scrutinized by thetrial court. We relaxed the
foregoing rule and allowed evidence not formally offered to
be admitted and considered by the trial court provided the
following requirements are present, viz.: first, the same must
have been duly identified by testimony duly recorded and, second,
the same must have been incorporated in the records of the
case.

5. ID.; ID.; COURTS; JURISDICTION OVER REAL ACTION;
THE BELATED PRESENTATION OF DOCUMENT
PROVING THE ASSESSED VALUE OF THE PROPERTY
BEFORE THE APPELLATE COURT WILL NOT CURE
THE DEFECT INTHE COMPLAINT, ASTHE ASSESSED
VALUE ISA JURISDICTIONAL REQUIREMENT.— Based
on the petitioner’ sadmission, he presented the Tax Declaration
2006-07016-00394 dated November 13, 2006 purporting to
prove the assessed value of the property for the first time on
appeal beforethe CA in hisBrief. Therewasno proof or allegation
that he presented the same during the trial or that the court
examined such document. Since thetax declaration was never
duly identified by testimony during thetrial albeit incorporated
in the Appellee’ s Brief, the CA will not be required to review
such document that was not previously scrutinized by the RTC.
Asthe assessed valueisajurisdictional requirement, the belated
presentation of document proving such value before the appellate
court will not cure the glaring defect in the complaint. Thus,
jurisdiction was not acquired.

6. ID.;1D.;ID.; ID.; THELACK OF A COURT'SJURISDICTION
ISA NON-WAIVABLE DEFENSE THAT A PARTY CAN
RAISE AT ANY STAGE OF THE PROCEEDINGS IN A
CASE, EVEN ON APPEAL, AND THE DOCTRINE OF
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ESTOPPEL, BEING THE EXCEPTION TO SUCH NON-
WAIVABLE DEFENSE, MUST BE APPLIED WITH
GREAT CARE AND THE EQUITY MUST BE STRONG
INITS FAVOR.— We find Cabrera’s application of Section
5, Rule 10 of the Rules of Court to support hisclaim that failure
of the respondents to object to his presentation of the tax
declaration before the CA constitutes an implied consent which
then treated the issue of assessed value asiif it had been raised
in the pleadings specious. Such rule contemplates an amendment
to conform to or authorize presentation of evidence before the
trial court during the trial on the merits of the case. x x x. It
bears emphasis that the ruling in Tijam establishes an exception
which isto be applied only under extraordinary circumstances
or to those cases similar to its factual situation. The general
ruleisthat the lack of a court’sjurisdiction is a non-waivable
defense that a party can raise at any stage of the proceedings
in a case, even on appeal; the doctrine of estoppel, being the
exception to such non-waivable defense, must be applied with
great care and the equity must be strong in its favor.

7. 1D.; ID.; JUDGMENTS; A VOID JUDGMENT FOR WANT
OF JURISDICTION IS NO JUDGMENT AT ALL, AND
CANNOT BE THE SOURCE OF ANY RIGHT NOR THE
CREATOR OF ANY OBLIGATION, AND ALL ACTS
PERFORMED PURSUANT TO IT AND ALL CLAIMS
EMANATING FROM IT HAVE NO LEGAL EFFECT.—
We find no error on the part of the CA in dismissing the
Complaint for lack of jurisdiction and for not reviewing the
document belatedly filed. Consequently, all proceedingsin the
RTC are null and void. Indeed, a void judgment for want of
jurisdiction is no judgment at all, and cannot be the source of
any right nor the creator of any obligation. All acts performed
pursuant to it and all claims emanating from it have no legal
effect.

APPEARANCES OF COUNSEL

Pangilinan Pangilinan Macalino Tubig & Associates Law
Office for petitioner.
Public Attorney’s Office for respondents.
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DECISION
PERALTA, J.:

For resolution of thisCourt isapetition for review on certiorari
under Rule 45 of the Rules of Court filed by petitioner Nestor
Cabrera (Cabrera) assailing the Decision® dated July 25, 2014
and Resol ution? dated November 21, 2014 of the Court of Appeals
(CA) in CA-G.R. CV No. 100950, which reversed and set aside
the Decision® of the Regional Trial Court (RTC) of Malolos,
Bulacan, Branch 10, in Civil Case No. 752-M-2006.

The facts are as follows:

The instant petition originated from a Complaint* for accion
publiciana with damagesfiled beforethe RTC by Cabrera® against
respondents Arnel Clarin (Clarin) and wife, Milagros Barrios
(Barrios) and husband, Aurora Serafin (Serafin) and husband,
and Bonifacio Moreno (Moreno) and wife.® Cabrera alleged
that he is the lawful and registered owner of a parcel of
agricultural land located at Barangay Maysulao, Calumpit,
Bulacan, with a total area of 60,000 square meters (sq. m.)
covered by Transfer Certificate of Title (TCT) No. T-4439. He
was in actual and physical possession of the land until he
discovered the encroachment of respondents sometime in
December 2005. By means of fraud, strategy and stealth,
respondents usurped and occupied portions of the said property,
viz.: Clarin with 63 sg. m. thereof, Barrioswith 41 sg. m. thereof,
Serafin with 30 sg. m. thereof, and Moreno with 11 sq. m. thereof.

1 penned by Associate Justice Ramon R. Garcia, with Associate Justices
Remedios A. Salazar- Fernando and Danton Q. Bueser, concurring; rollo,
pp. 32-41.

2 1d. at 43-44.

3 Penned by Judge Basilio R. Gabo, Jr.; id. at 87-88.

41d. at 45-48.

5 Cabrerawas joined by hiswife in the complaint filed before the RTC.
6 Rollo, p. 33.
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He made numerous oral and written demands to vacate the
premises but the respondents refused to heed. They also failed
to settle amicably when the case was brought before the barangay
for conciliation.

In their Motion to Dismiss,” respondents claimed that the
complaint failed to state the assessed val ue of the property which
is needed in determining the correct amount of docket fees to
be paid. Also, Cabrera did not fulfill an essential condition
prior to the filing of the complaint which was submission of a
government approved technical survey plan to provethe alleged
encroachment. Cabrera anchors his claim of ownership in the
certificate of titleregistered in hisand hisfather Ciriaco Cabrera’ s
name. Cabrera did not aver that it was his portion of property
that respondents have intruded as there was no proof of partition
of the property since his father who was an American citizen
died in the United States of America.®

In an Order dated June 19, 2007, the RTC denied respondents’
motion, and directed them to file their Answer.® The RTC cited
the case of Aguilon v. Bohol* in ruling that based on the
allegations in the complaint, the case is the plenary action of
accion publiciana which clearly falls within its jurisdiction.
Thetrial court, in an Order** dated October 19, 2007, declared
respondents in default upon failing to file their Answer, and
allowed Cabrerato present his evidence ex parte. On February
5, 2009, respondents filed an Omnibus Motion'? to set aside
the order of default, to admit Answer, and to set the hearing
for the presentation of their evidence.

In a Decision dated May 30, 2012, the RTC ruled in favor
of Cabrera. The dispositive portion reads:

71d. at 55-57.

81d. at 56.

9 Penned by Presiding Judge Victoria Villalon-Pornillos; id. at 34.
10169 Phil. 473, 476 (1977).

11 Rollo, p. 67.

21d. at 73-77.
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WHEREFORE, in view of all the foregoing, judgment is hereby
rendered in favor of the [petitioner]:

1. ORDERING the[respondents] and all other persons claiming
rights under them to vacate the subject portions of [the] land and
surrender possession thereof to the plaintiff;

2. ORDERING the [respondents] to pay attorney’sfeesin the
amount of Fifty Thousand Pesos ([£]50,000.00) and Ten Thousand
Pesos ([P]10,000.00) litigation expenses.

SO ORDERED.*

Aggrieved, respondents el evated the case before the CA which
then reversed and set aside the decision of the RTC in aDecision
dated July 25, 2014. The fallo of the decision reads:

WHEREFORE, the appeal is hereby GRANTED. The Decision
dated May 30, 2012 of the Regional Trial Court, Branch 10, Malolos,
BulacanisREVERSED and SET ASIDE. In lieu thereof, the complaint
for accion publiciana with damagesfiled by [ petitioner] Nestor Cabrera
is DISMISSED without prejudice for lack of jurisdiction.

SO ORDERED.*

Finding no cogent reason to deviate fromits previous ruling,
the CA denied the Motion for Reconsideration filed by Cabrera.

Hence, the instant petition raising the following issues:

A. TheHonorable Court of Appealscommitted areversible error
whenit held that “ since [ petitioner] failed to all ege the assessed
value of the subject property, the court a quo has not acquired
jurisdiction over the action and all proceedings thereat are
null and void,” as such conclusion is contradictory to the
doctrine of estoppel.

B. TheHonorable Court of Appealscommitted areversibleerror
when it failed to take into consideration the tax declaration
annexed to the Appellee’ s Brief which provided the assessed
value of the property subject matter of the case.

13 1d. at 88. (Emphasis omitted).
14 |d. at 40. (Emphasis omitted).
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The instant petition lacks merit.

In essence, the issue presented before this Court is whether
or not estoppel bars respondents from raising the issue of lack
of jurisdiction.

Batas Pambansa Bilang 129, (the Judiciary Reorganization
Act of 1980), as amended by Republic Act (R.A.) No. 7691
provides:

XXX XXX XXX

Section 19. Jurisdictionin civil cases. “Regional Trial Courts shall
exercise exclusive original jurisdiction.

(2) In all civil actions which involve thetitle to, or possession
of, real property, or any interest therein, wher ethe assessed value
of the property involved exceeds Twenty thousand pesos
(P20,000,00) or, for civil actions in Metro Manila, where such
value exceeds Fifty thousand pesos (P50,000.00) except actions
for forcible entry into and unlawful detainer of lands or buildings,
original jurisdiction over which is conferred upon the Metropolitan
Trial Courts, Municipal Trial Courts, and Municipa Circuit Trial Courts;

XXX XXX XXX

Sec. 33. Jurisdiction of Metropolitan Trial Courts, Municipal Trial
Courts, and Municipal Circuit Trial Courts in Civil Cases. —
Metropolitan Trial Courts, Municipal Trial Courts, and Municipal
Circuit Trial Courts shall exercise:

(3) Exclusive original jurisdiction in all civil actions which
involve title to, or possession of, real property, or any interest
therein wher ethe assessed value of the property or interest therein
does not exceed Twenty thousand pesos (P20,000.00) or, in civil
actionsin Metro Manila, where such assessed val ue does not exceed
Fifty thousand pesos (P50,000.00) exclusive of interest, damages of
whatever kind, attorney’ sfees, litigation expenses and costs: Provided,
That in cases of land not declared for taxation purposes, the value
of such property shall be determined by the assessed value of the
adjacent lots.

X X X X X X X X x1°

15 Emphasis and underscoring supplied.
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Before the amendments, the plenary action of accion
publiciana was to be brought before the RTC regardless of the
value of the property. With the modifications introduced by
R.A. No. 7691 in 1994, the jurisdiction of thefirst level courts
has been expanded to include jurisdiction over other real actions
where the assessed val ue does not exceed £20,000.00, £50,000.00
where the action is filed in Metro Manila. Accordingly, the
jurisdictional element isthe assessed value of the property.*®

A perusal of the complaint readily showsthat Cabrerafailed
to state the assessed value of the disputed land, thus:

X X X XXX XXX

[T]he plaintiffs are the lawful and the registered owner of aparcel
of agricultural land and more particularly described under Transfer
Certificate of Title No. T-4439, a copy of which is hereto attached
and marked as Annex “A” and made an integral part hereof;

[T]he defendants had illegally encroached the property of the
plaintiff by means of fraud and stealth and with force and intimidation.
Defendant Arnel Clarin had encroached an approximate areaof SIXTY
THREE (63) SQUARE METERS, while defendant Milagros Barrios
had encroached an approximate area of FORTY -ONE (41) SQUARE
METERS, defendant Aurora Serafin had encroached an approximate
areaof THIRTY (30) SQUARE METERS while defendant Bonifacio
Moreno had encroached an approximate area of ELEVEN (11)
SQUARE METERS, copy of the relocation plan is hereto attached
and marked as Annex “B” and made an integral part of thiscomplaint;

The plaintiffs had already informed the defendants of the illegal
encroachment but the defendants refused to heed the call of the
plaintiffs to vacate the land in question and threaten plaintiff with
bodily harm;

That prior to the discovery of the encroachment on or about
December 2005, plaintiff was in actual and physical possession of
the premises.

That this matter was referred to the attention of the Office of the
Barangay Chairman of Barangay Maysulao, Calumpit, Bulacan and

16 vda. de Barrera v. Heirs of Legaspi, 586 Phil. 750, 756 (2008).
(Emphasis supplied).
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a Lupong Tagapamayapa was constituted but no conciliation was
reached and the Lupon issued a Certificate to File Action, copy of
the Certificateto File Action is hereto attached and marked as Annex
“C” and made an integral part hereof;

That notwithstanding numerous and persistent demands, both oral
and written, extended upon the defendants to vacate the subject parcel
of land, they failed and refused and still fail and refuse to vacate and
surrender possession of the subject parcel of land to the lawful owner
who is plaintiff in this case. Copy of the last formal demand dated
January 18, 2006 is hereto attached and marked as “Annex” and the
registry receipt as well as the registry return card as “D” Annexes
“D-1,” and “D-2,” respectively;

That because of thisunjustifiablerefusal of the defendantsto vacate
the premisesin question which they now unlawfully occupy, plaintiffs
[were] constrained to engage the services of counsel in an agreed
amount of FIFTY THOUSAND PESOS ([P]50,000.00) Philippine
Currency, as acceptance fee and THREE THOUSAND PESOS
([*]3,000.00) Philippine Currency, per day of Court appearance, which
amount the defendants should jointly and solidarily pay the plaintiffs,
copy of theretaining contract is hereto attached and marked as Annex
“E"” and made an integral part of this complaint;

That in order to protect the rights and interest of the plaintiffs,
litigation expenses will be incurred in an amount no less than TEN
THOUSAND PESOS ([#]10,000.00), which amount the defendants
should jointly and solidarily pay the plaintiffs;

That the amount of THREE THOUSAND PESOS ([P]3,000.00)
per month should be adjudicated in favor of the plaintiff as against
the defendants by way of beneficial use, to be counted from the day
thelast formal demand until they fully vacate and surrender possession
of the premises in question to the plaintiffs. x x x.17

In dismissing the case, the CA noted such fact, to wit:

In the case at bench, the complaint for accion publiciana filed by
[Cabrera] failed to allege the assessed val ue of the real property subject
of the complaint or the interest therein. Not even a tax declaration
was presented before the court a quo that would show the valuation
of the subject property. As such, there is no way to determine which

17 Rollo, pp. 45-46.
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court has jurisdiction over the action or whether the court a quo has
exclusive jurisdiction over the same. Verily, the court a quo erred
in denying the motion to dismissfiled by [respondents] and in taking
cognizance of the instant case.'®

Indeed, nowhere in the complaint was the assessed val ue of
the subject property ever mentioned. On its face, there is no
showing that the RTC has jurisdiction exclusive of the MTC.
Absent any allegation in the complaint of the assessed value
of the property, it cannot readily be determined which court
had original and exclusive jurisdiction over the case at bar.
The courts cannot take judicial notice of the assessed or market
value of the land.*

We note that Cabrera, in his Comment/Opposition to the
Motion to Dismiss,?® maintained that the accion publicianais
an action incapable of pecuniary interest under the exclusive
jurisdiction of the RTC.2! Thereafter, he admitted in his Brief
before the CA that the assessed value of the subject property
now determines which court has jurisdiction over accion
publiciana cases. In asserting the trial court’s jurisdiction,
petitioner averred that his failure to allege the assessed value
of the property in his Complaint was merely innocuous and
did not affect the jurisdiction of the RTC to decide the case.

Cabreraallegesthat the CA erred in concluding that the RTC
has not acquired jurisdiction over the action in theinstant case
being contrary to the doctrine of estoppel aselucidated in Honorio
Bernardo v. Heirsof Villegas.? Estoppel setsin when respondents
participated in all stages of the case and voluntarily submitting
toitsjurisdiction seeking affirmativereliefsin addition to their
motion to dismiss due to lack of jurisdiction.

181d. at 37.

1 Quinagoran v. Court of Appeals, 557 Phil. 650, 660-661 (2007).
20 Rollo, pp. 59-60.

2L 1d. at 59.

22 629 Phil. 450, 459 (2010).
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We are not persuaded. It is axiomatic that the nature of an
action and the jurisdiction of atribunal are determined by the
material allegations of the complaint and the law at the time
the action was commenced.?® A court’ s jurisdiction may be raised
at any stage of the proceedings, even on appeal for the sameis
conferred by law, and lack of it affects the very authority of
the court to take cognizance of and to render judgment on the
action.?* It applies even if the issue on jurisdiction was raised
for the first time on appeal or even after final judgment.

The exception to the basic rule mentioned operates on the
principle of estoppel by |aches— whereby a party may be barred
by laches from invoking the lack of jurisdiction at a late hour
for the purpose of annulling everything done in the case with
the active participation of said party invoking the plea. In the
oft-cited case of Tijamv. Sbonghanoy,® the party-surety invoked
the jurisdictions of both the trial and appellate courts in order
to obtain affirmative relief, and even submitted the case for
final adjudication on the merits. It was only after the CA had
rendered an adverse decision that the party-surety raised the
question of jurisdiction for the first timein amotion to dismiss
almost fifteen (15) years later. Hence, the Court adjudicated a
party estopped from assailing the court’s jurisdiction, to wit:

XXX XXX XXX

[a] party cannot invoke the jurisdiction of a court to secure
affirmativer elief against his opponent and, after obtainingor failing
to obtain such relief, repudiate or question that samejurisdiction.

. ., it was further said that the question whether the court had
jurisdiction either of the subject matter of the action or of the parties
was not important in such cases because the party is barred from
such conduct not because the judgment or order of the court isvalid

23 Malanav. Tappa, 616 Phil. 177, 190 (2009), citing Laresmav. Abellana,
484 Phil. 766, 778-779 (2004).

24 zacariasv. Anacay, G.R. No. 202354, September 24, 2014, 736 SCRA
508, 522.

25 131 Phil. 556, 565 (1968).



154 PHILIPPINE REPORTS

Cabrera vs. Clarin, et al.

and conclusive as an adjudication, but for the reason that such practice
cannot be tolerated — obviously for reasons of public policy.

X X X X X X X X x%8

However, it was explicated in Calimlim v. Ramirez?’ that
Tijamisan exceptional case because of the presence of laches.
Thus:

The lack of jurisdiction of a court may be raised at any stage of
the proceedings, even on appeal. This doctrine has been qualified
by recent pronouncements which stemmed principally from theruling
in the cited case of Sibonghanoy. It isto be regretted, however, that
the holding in said case had been applied to situations which were
obviously not contemplated therein. The exceptional circumstance
involved in Sibonghanoy which justified the departure from the
accepted concept of non-waivability of objection to jurisdiction has
been ignored and, instead a blanket doctrine had been repeatedly
upheld that rendered the supposed ruling in Sibonghanoy not as the
exception, but rather the general rule, virtually overthrowing altogether
the time-honored principle that the issue of jurisdiction is not lost
by waiver or by estoppel.

In Sibonghanoy, the defense of lack of jurisdiction of the court
that rendered the questioned ruling was held to be bar red by estoppel
by laches. It was ruled that the lack of jurisdiction having been
raised for thefirst timein amotion to dismissfiled almost fifteen
(15) years after the questioned ruling had been rendered, such a
pleamay no longer beraised for being barred by laches. Asdefined
in said case, laches is “failure or neglect, for an unreasonable
and unexplained length of time, to do that which, by exercising
due diligence, could or should have been done earlier; it is
negligence or omission to assert aright within areasonabletime,
warranting a presumption that the party entitled to assert has
abandoned it or declined to assert it.?

% Tijam v. Sihonghanoy, supra, at 564. (Emphasis ours)
27 Calimlim v. Ramirez, 204 Phil. 25, 35 (1982).
2 1d. (Emphasis supplied)
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Inthe case of La Naval Drug Corporationv. Court of Appeals,?®
Weillustrated the rule asto when jurisdiction by estoppel applies
and when it does not, as follows:

X X X XXX XXX

Lack of jurisdiction over the subject matter of the suit isyet another
matter. Whenever it appears that the court has no jurisdiction over
the subject matter, the action shall be dismissed (Section 2, Rule 9,
Rules of Court). Thisdefense may beinterposed at any time, during
appeal (Roxasvs. Rafferty, 37 Phil. 957) or even after final judgment
(Cruzcosa vs. Judge Concepcion, et al., 101 Phil. 146). Such is
understandable, as this kind of jurisdiction is conferred by law
and not within the courts, | et alone the parties, to themselves determine
or conveniently set aside. In People vs. Casiano (111 Phil. 73, 93-
94), this Court, on the issue of estoppel, held:

The operation of the principle of estoppel on the question
of jurisdiction seemingly depends upon whether the lower court
actually had jurisdiction or not. If it had no jurisdiction, but
the case wastried and decided upon the theory that it had
jurisdiction, the parties are not barred, on appeal, from
assailing such jurisdiction, for the same ‘must exist as a
matter of law, and may not be conferred by consent of the
parties or by estoppel’ (5 C.J.S., 861-863).

However, if thelower court had jurisdiction, and the case
was heard and decided upon a given theory, such, for
instance, as that the court had no jurisdiction, the party
who induced it to adopt such theory will not be permitted,
on appeal, to assume an inconsistent position — that the
lower court had jurisdiction. Here, the principle of estoppel
applies. Therulethat jurisdiction isconferred by law, and does
not depend upon the will of the parties, has no bearing thereon.
X X x.%0

Guided by the abovementioned jurisprudence, this Court rules
that respondents are not estopped from assailing the jurisdiction

2 G.R. No. 103200, August 31, 1994, 236 SCRA 78.

30| aNaval Drug Corporation v. Court of Appeals, supra, at 90. (Emphases
supplied)
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of the RTC over the subject civil case. Recordsreveal that even
beforefiling their Answer, respondents assailed the jurisdiction
of the RTC through amotion to dismiss as there was no mention
of the assessed value of the property in the complaint. We note
that the RTC anchored its denial of respondents’ motion to
dismiss on the doctrine enunciated in a 1977 case — that all
cases of recovery of possession or accion publiciana lie with
the RTC regardless of the value — which no longer holdstrue.
Thereafter, the respondents filed their Answer through an
omnibus motion to set aside order of default and to admit Answer.

The circumstances of the present case are different from the
Heirs of Villegas®™ case. First, petitioner Bernardo inthe Heirs
of Villegas case actively participated during thetrial by adducing
evidence and filing numerous pleadings, none of which
mentioned any defect in the jurisdiction of the RTC, whilein
this case, respondents already raised the issue of lack of
jurisdictionintheir Motion to Dismissfiled beforetheir Answer.
Second, it was only on appeal before the CA, after he obtained
an adverse judgment in the trial court, that Bernardo, for the
first time, came up with the argument that the decision is void
because there was no allegation in the complaint about the value
of the property; on the other hand, herein respondents raised
the issue before there was judgment on the merits in the trial
court. Respondents never assumed inconsistent position in their
appeal before the CA.

Furthermore, the unfairness and inequity that the application
of estoppel seeks to avoid espoused in the Tijam case, which
the Heirs of Villegas adheres to, are not present. The instant
case does not involve a situation where a party who, after
obtaining affirmativerelief from the court, later on turned
aroundtoassail thejurisdiction of thesamecourt that granted
such relief by reason of an unfavor ablejudgment. Respondents
did not obtain affirmative relief from the trial court whose
jurisdictionthey are assailing, astheir motion to dismisswasdenied
and they eventually lost their case in the proceedings below.

31 supra note 22.
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Anent the issue of the CA’s failure to consider the tax
declaration annexed in the Appellee’s Brief, Cabrera insists
that its attachment in his Brief without objection from the other
party sealed the issue of the RTC’ sjurisdiction, and cured the
defect of failure to allege the assessed val ue of the property in
the complaint as provided in Section 5,%? Rule 10 of the Rules
of Court.

Such avermentslack merit. The Rules of Court provides that
the court shall consider no evidence which has not been formally
offered.®® A formal offer is necessary because judges are
mandated to rest their findings of facts and their judgment only
and strictly upon the evidence offered by the parties at the trial.
Its function isto enable the trial judge to know the purpose or
purposes for which the proponent is presenting the evidence.
Conversely, thisallows opposing partiesto examine the evidence
and object to itsadmissibility. Moreover, it facilitatesreview
as the appellate court will not be required to review
documents not previously scrutinized by the trial court.®
Werelaxed theforegoing rule and allowed evidence not formally
offered to be admitted and considered by thetrial court provided

32 Section 5. Amendment to conform to or authorize presentation of
evidence. — When issues not raised by the pleadings are tried with the
express or implied consent of the partiesthey shall betreated in all respects
asif they had been raised in the pleadings. Such amendment of the pleadings
as may be necessary to cause them to conform to the evidence and to raise
these issues may be made upon motion of any party at any time, even after
judgment; but failure to amend does not effect the result of the trial of
these issues. If evidence is objected to at the trial on the ground that it is
not within the issues made by the pleadings, the court may allow the pleadings
to be amended and shall do so with liberality if the presentation of the
merits of the action and the ends of substantial justice will be subserved
thereby. The court may grant a continuance to enable the amendment to be
made.

%3 Rule 132, Section 34, Offer of evidence. — The court shall consider
no evidence which has not been formally offered. The purpose for which
the evidence is offered must be specified.

34 Heirs of Savesv. Heirs of Saves, 646 Phil 536, 544 (2010). (Emphasis
supplied).



158 PHILIPPINE REPORTS

Cabrera vs. Clarin, et al.

the following requirements are present, viz.: first, the same must
have been duly identified by testimony duly recorded and, second,
the same must have been incorporated in the records of the
case.®

Based on the petitioner’s admission, he presented the Tax
Declaration 2006-07016-00394*¢ dated November 13, 2006
purporting to prove the assessed value of the property for the
first time on appeal before the CA in his Brief.®” There was no
proof or allegation that he presented the same during the trial
or that the court examined such document.®® Since the tax
declaration was never duly identified by testimony during the
trial albeit incorporated in the Appellee’s Brief, the CA will
not be required to review such document that was not previously
scrutinized by the RTC. Asthe assessed valueisajurisdictional
requirement, the belated presentation of document proving such
value before the appellate court will not cure the glaring defect
in the complaint. Thus, jurisdiction was not acquired.

We find Cabrera’s application of Section 5, Rule 10 of the
Rulesof Court to support hisclaim that failure of the respondents
to object to his presentation of the tax declaration before the
CA constitutes an implied consent which then treated the issue
of assessed value asif it had been raised in the pleadings specious.
Such rule contemplates an amendment to conform to or authorize
presentation of evidence before the trial court during the trial
on the merits of the case. As held in Bernardo, Sr. v. Court of
Appeals,® this Court expounded:

Itissettled that evenif the complaint be defective, but the parties
gototrial thereon, and the plaintiff, without objection, introduces
sufficient evidence to constitute the particular cause of action

35 1d., citing People v. Napat-a, 258-A Phil. 994, 998 (1989), citing
People v. Mate. 191 Phil. 72, 82 (1981).

36 Rollo, p. 148.

371d. at 141.

38 Formal Offer of Evidence of Petitioner before the RTC; id. at 68-69.
39 331 Phil. 962 (1996).
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which it intended to allege in the original complaint, and the
defendant voluntarily produces witnesses to meet the cause of action
thus established, an issueisjoined asfully and as effectively asif
it had been previously joined by the most perfect pleadings.
Likewise, when issues not raised by the pleadings aretried by express
or implied consent of the parties, they shall be treated in all respects
as if they had been raised in the pleadings.*® (Emphases supplied)

It bears emphasis that the ruling in Tijam establishes an
exception which is to be applied only under extraordinary
circumstances or to those cases similar to itsfactual situation.*
The general rule is that the lack of a court’s jurisdiction is a
non-waivable defense that a party can raise at any stage of the
proceedings in a case, even on appeal; the doctrine of estoppel,
being the exception to such non-waivabl e defense, must be applied
with great care and the equity must be strong in its favor.*

All told, Wefind no error on the part of the CA in dismissing
the Complaint for lack of jurisdiction and for not reviewing
the document belatedly filed. Consequently, all proceedingsin
the RTC are null and void. Indeed, a void judgment for want of
jurisdiction is no judgment at all, and cannot be the source of
any right nor the creator of any obligation. All acts performed
pursuant toit and all claimsemanating fromit havenolegal effect.®

WHEREFORE, petition for review on certiorari filed by
petitioner Nestor Cabrera is hereby DENIED. The assailed
Decision dated July 25, 2014 and Resolution dated November
21, 2014 of the Court of Appealsin CA-G.R. CV No. 100950
are hereby AFFIRMED.

SO ORDERED.

Velasco, Jr. (Chairperson), Perez, Reyes, and Jardeleza, JJ.,
concur.

40 Bernardo, Sr. v. Court of Appeals, supra, at 978. (Emphases supplied.)
41 Regalado v. Go, 543 Phil. 578, 598 (2007).
4 C & SFishfarm Corp. v. CA, 442 Phil. 279, 290-291 (2002).

43 Zacarias v. Anacay, supra note 24.
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THIRD DIVISION
[G.R. No. 215759. November 28, 2016]

HEIRSOF ANDRESNAYA: TERESITA B.NAYA,NORMA
N. ORBISO, CARMENCITA N. FERNAN, and
NARCISO P. NAYA, petitioners, vs. ORLANDO P.
NAYA and SPOUSES HONESIMO C. RUIZ and
GLORIA S. RUIZ, respondents.

SYLLABUS

1. CIVIL LAW; QUIETING OF TITLE; ACTION TO QUIET
TITLE; REQUISITES; PRESENT.— The complaint filed by
petitionersisonefor quieting of title, reconveyance of ownership,
damages, and attorney’s fees. To make out an action to quiet
title, the initiatory pleading has only to set forth allegations
showing that (1) the plaintiff has title to real property or any
interest therein and (2) the defendant claims an interest therein
adverse to the plaintiffs arising from an instrument, record,
claim, encumbrance, or proceeding which is apparently valid
or effectivebut isintruth and infact invalid, ineffective, voidable,
or unenforceable. Thus, the avermentsin petitioners’ complaint
that: (1) they are the legitimate, compulsory heirs of Spouses
Naya, the former registered owners of the property; (2) the
property is subject of intestate proceedings before the RTC,
Branch 19 of Cebu City; (3) they consented to the occupation
of their co-petitioner, Teresita, of the property since the time
of death of Spouses Naya; (4) Orlando was able to fraudulently
transfer the property in his name; and (5) Spouses Ruiz
subsequently purchased the property at an allegedly void sale
were sufficient to make out an action to quiet title under Article
476 of the Civil Code.

2. ID.; LANDREGISTRATION; ACTION FOR RECONVEYANCE;
TO CONSTITUTE AN ACTION FOR RECONVEYANCE
BASED ONANIMPLIED TRUST,IT MUST BEALLEGED
INTHE COMPLAINT THAT THE PLAINTIFFWASTHE
OWNER OF THE LAND OR POSSESSED THE LAND IN
THE CONCEPT OF OWNER, AND THAT THE
DEFENDANT HAD ILLEGALLY DISPOSSESSED HIM
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OF THE LAND.— In Mendizabel v. Apao, where the case
was one for annulment of titles, reconveyance and damages,
we were also confronted with an argument that the complaint
must be dismissed because the circumstances constituting the
allegations of fraud or mistake were not stated with particul arity.
We ruled against this argument, holding that in an action for
reconveyance, all that must be alleged in the complaint are
two facts which, admitting them to be true, would entitle the
plaintiff to recover title to the disputed land, namely, (1) that
the plaintiff was the owner of the land or possessed the land
in the concept of owner, and (2) that the defendant had illegally
dispossessed him of the land. [T]he allegationsin petitioners’
complaint certainly measure up to the requisite statement of
factsto constitute an action for reconveyance based on animplied
trust. Under Article 1456 of the Civil Code, if the registration
of the land is fraudulent, the person in whose name the land is
registered holdsit asameretrustee, and thereal owner isentitled
to file an action for reconveyance of the property. On its face,
therefore, the complaint states a cause of action and raisesissues
of fact that can be properly settled only after afull-blown trial.

3. ID.; LACHES; THE ELEMENTS OF LACHES MUST BE
PROVEN POSITIVELY,ASLACHESISEVIDENTIARY
INNATURE, A FACT THAT CANNOT BE ESTABLISHED
BY MERE ALLEGATIONS IN THE PLEADINGS AND
CANNOT BERESOLVEDINAMOTION TO DISMISS.—
[T]he ruling of the RTC and the CA that the action is barred
by lachesispremature. In Heirs of Tomas Dolleton v. Fil-Estate
Management Inc., we noted that the RTC did not conduct a
hearing to receive evidence proving that petitionerswere guilty
of laches. We reiterated the well-settled rule that the elements
of laches must be proven positively. Laches is evidentiary in
nature, afact that cannot be established by mere allegationsin
the pleadings and cannot be resolved in a motion to dismiss.
We, thus, concluded that at such stage, the dismissal of
petitioners’ complaint on the ground of laches was premature
because the issue must be resolved at the trial of the case on
the merits where both parties will be given ample opportunity
to prove their respective claims and defenses.

4. REMEDIAL LAW; CIVIL PROCEDURE; PLEADINGSAND
PRACTICES; FORUM SHOPPING; CONSEQUENCESOF
FORUM SHOPPING; IF THE FORUM SHOPPING ISNOT
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CONSIDERED WILLFUL AND DELIBERATE, THE
SUBSEQUENT CASE SHALL BEDISMISSED WITHOUT
PREJUDICE, ON THE GROUND OF EITHER LITIS
PENDENTIA OR RES JUDICATA; IF THE FORUM
SHOPPING ISWILLFUL AND DELIBERATE,BOTH OR
ALL, IF THERE ARE MORE THAN TWO, ACTIONS
SHALL BE DISMISSED WITH PREJUDICE.— Forum
shopping, may or may not be deliberate, intentional, or willful.
The consequences in relation to the dismissal of the cases
simultaneously or successively filed vary asto whether forum
shopping is deliberate, intentional, or willful. If the forum
shopping isnot considered willful and deliberate, the subsequent
case shall be dismissed without prejudice, on the ground of
either litis pendentia or res judicata. If the forum shopping is
willful and deliberate, both (or all, if there are more than two)
actions shall be dismissed with prejudice. However, the question
as to whether there was deliberate or willful intent to forum
shop is a question of fact, which the trial court is in the best
position to determine.

APPEARANCES OF COUNSEL

Edgar L. Seguerra and Jose A. Jumangit, Jr. for petitioners.
Villanueva Tabucanon & Associates Law Offices for
respondent Gloria Ruiz.

DECISION

JARDELEZA, J.

This is a Petition for Review on Certiorari! assailing the
Decision? dated July 3, 2014 and Resolution® dated October
28, 2014 of the Court of Appeals (CA) in CA-G.R. CEB CV

! Rollo, pp. 4-37.

2 |d. at 39-49. Ponencia by Associate Justice Ramon Paul L. Hernando,
with Associate JusticesMa. LuisaC. Quijano-Padillaand Renato C. Francisco
concurring.

3 |d. at 52-53.
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No. 03679. The Decision denied petitioners’ appeal and affirmed
the Orders of the Regional Trial Court (RTC), Branch 7 of
Cebu City dismissing Civil Case No. CEB-35305 for failureto
state a cause of action, while the Resolution denied petitioners’
motion for reconsideration.

The Facts

Petitionersfiled acomplaint for quieting of title, reconveyance
of ownership, damages, and attorney’s fees* before the RTC,
Branch 7 of Cebu City against respondents involving a parcel
of land at V. RamaAve., Cebu City. The property is denominated
as Lot No. 6100-C-1 and has an area of 576 square meters,
more or less.®

Petitioners alleged that they, together with respondent Orlando
P. Naya (Orlando), are the legitimate and compulsory heirs of
the late Spouses Andres and Gregoria Naya (Spouses Naya
collectively). The property wasincluded in the estate of Andres.
In 1968, his heirs executed an extra judicial adjudication and
settlement of estate where his surviving spouse, Gregoria, held
all his propertiesin trust in favor of the other heirs and on the
condition that shewill assume all debtsand pay all the abligations
of the estate. Gregoria, however, failed to fulfill this condition.
Despite knowing all these, Orlando allegedly sold the property
in 1965, under the name of his parents, to one Alfonso Uy
(Alfonso) by means of fraud and deceit. In 1971, after the title
of the property was transferred in the name of Alfonso, he then
sold it to Orlando, who thereafter managed to have the title of
the property transferred in his name. Sometime in the early
1970s, the heirs of Spouses Nayainitiated intestate proceedings
and/or judicial settlement of their estate.®

In September 1974, Orlando sold the property to respondent
Honesimo C. Ruiz (Honesimo). The title, however, was
transferred to Honesimo’ sname only in 2007. Petitioners alleged

41d. at 95-102.
51d. at 48.
6 |d. at 96-97.
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that they only learned of Orlando’s anomalous transactionsin
September 1974, prompting them to cause the annotation of an
adverse claim to Orlando’s title under Entry No. 4843-V-15-
D.B.7

Petitioners alleged that with their consent, their co-petitioner,
Teresita B. Naya (Teresita), occupied the property from the
time of death of Spouses Naya until the time of the filing of
the case. They stressed that Honesimo is not a buyer in good
faith because he acquired the property after the notice of adverse
claim had already been annotated on Orlando’ stitle. Petitioners
also argued that it took Honesimo 33 years before causing the
transfer of title in his name.®

TheRTC initially dismissed the complaint based on the motion
to dismiss filed by Spouses Honesimo C. Ruiz and Gloria S.
Ruiz (Spouses Ruiz) on the ground that the RTC did not acquire
jurisdiction over their persons since the summonsfor them was
served on their son. Petitioners moved for reconsideration and
filed amotion for leave to effect summons by publication, which
the RTC granted.®

In their Answer with Cross-Claim and Counter-Claims Ad
Cautelam, Spouses Ruiz countered that the property was already
sold by the late Spouses Nayato Alfonso in 1965 and as such,
had already been excluded from the decedents’ estate since.
They also rebutted petitioners' allegations of fraud and deceit
against Orlando in selling the property to Alfonso and
subsequently, to Honesimo. Spouses Ruiz argued that these
general allegations of fraud and deceit were mere conclusions
of law which cannot defeat the presumption of genuineness
and due execution of the deeds of sale between the Spouses
Naya and Alfonso, and between Alfonso and Orlando.®

71d. at 98.
81d. at 99.
91d. at 46-47.
101d. at 46.
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In its Order dated August 9, 2010, the RTC dismissed the
complaint for failure to state a cause of action and laches. The
RTC ruled that the assailed transactions were conducted through
the deceit and fraudulent scheme of Orlando, yet, petitioners
did not give details of the same, in violation of Section 5,
Rule 8 of the Rules of Court. The RTC further ruled that time
had turned petitioners’ claim into astale demand for instituting
the complaint only in 2009, or 45 years after the sale of the
property to Alfonso in 1965.12

The CA denied the appeal and affirmed the findings of the
RTC that the complaint does not state a cause of action. The
CA agreed that petitioners failed to allege with particularity
the fraud purportedly committed by Orlando, such that Spouses
Nayawere deceived into executing the salein favor of Alfonso.
The CA noted that the allegations of fraud and deceit were
sweeping statements that did not give a clear picture asto how
they were committed. These allegations did not even state how
the fraud was perpetuated or that the deeds of sale or the
signatures were forgeries.®

The Petition

Hence, this petition, where petitioners maintain that the case
sufficiently avers grounds and facts that constitute a cause of
action for quieting of title. They insist that an allegation of
fraud is not a mandatory requirement in such action. Being in
physical possession of the land from the time of the death of
Spouses Naya, petitioners likewise argue that their action for
quieting of title is imprescriptible.*

1 Sec. 5. Fraud, mistake, condition of the mind. — In all averments of
fraud or mistake, the circumstances constituting fraud or mistake must be
stated with particularity. Malice, intent, knowledge or other condition of
the mind of a person may be averred generally.

12 Rollo, p. 44.
13 |d. at 40.
¥1d. at 16-29.



166 PHILIPPINE REPORTS

Heirs of Andres Naya vs. Naya, et al.

Petitioners al so argue that respondents viol ated the omnibus
motion rule when the defenses of lack of cause of action and
laches were only raised in their answer and not in the motion
to dismiss filed earlier.®

In their Comment,*® Spouses Ruiz argue that the petition should
be dismissed because petitioners are guilty of forum shopping.
Spouses Ruiz cite a Complaint for Quieting of title, Declaration
of Absolute Nullity of Deed of Sale, Transfer Certificate of
Title No. 107-2010001175, Tax Declaration, and Damages’
filed by petitioners against respondents and Spouses Romeo
O. Jatico before the RTC, Branch 23 of Cebu City. Spouses
Ruiz allege that this complaint has the same facts and issues as
the case at bar.*®

Spouses Ruiz further argue that the CA correctly dismissed
the complaint because the omnibus motion rule did not apply
to them prior to the service of summons by publication upon
them. Spouses Ruiz stress that the motion to dismissthey earlier
filed was for the sole purpose of assailing the jurisdiction of
the RTC over their person. In other words, the RTC did not
have jurisdiction over their person when they filed the motion
and so Section 8, Rule 15 of the Rules of Court on the omnibus
motion rule did not apply to them. It was only after the petitioners
had effected a valid extraterritorial service of summons that
the RTC had acquired jurisdiction over Spouses Ruiz. Thefirst
pleading they filed after the RTC acquired jurisdiction over
them was their Answer with Cross-Claim and Counterclaims
Ad Cautelam, where they alleged affirmative allegations.*®

Finally, Spouses Ruiz maintain that the complaint miserably
failed to state a cause of action because petitioners simply made
sweeping allegations of deceit and fraud. Spouses Ruiz also

5 1d. at 13-16.
16 1d. at 114-129.
7 1d. at 151-163.
18 1d. at 117.

9 1d. at 119-122.
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argue that laches bars petitioners from questioning their title
over the property.?°

The Court’s Ruling
We grant the petition.

The complaint filed by petitionersisonefor quieting of title,
reconveyance of ownership, damages, and attorney’sfees. To
make out an action to quiet title, the initiatory pleading has
only to set forth allegations showing that (1) the plaintiff has
titleto real property or any interest therein and (2) the defendant
claimsan interest therein adverse to the plaintiff’ sarising from
aninstrument, record, claim, encumbrance, or proceeding which
isapparently valid or effective but isintruth andin fact invalid,
ineffective, voidable, or unenforceable.?* Thus, the averments
in petitioners’ complaint that: (1) they are the legitimate,
compulsory heirs of Spouses Naya, the former registered owners
of the property; (2) the property issubject of intestate proceedings
before the RTC, Branch 19 of Cebu City; (3) they consented
to the occupation of their co-petitioner, Teresita, of the property
since the time of death of Spouses Naya; (4) Orlando was able
to fraudulently transfer the property in hisname; and (5) Spouses
Ruiz subsequently purchased the property at an allegedly void
sale were sufficient to make out an action to quiet title under
Article 476% of the Civil Code.?®

The action of petitioners is, at the same time, one for
reconveyance. Petitioners seek to compel Spouses Ruiz, asthe

20 1d. at 123-126.
2lRagasa v. Roa, G.R. No. 141964, June 30, 2006, 494 SCRA 95, 99.

22 Whenever there is a cloud on title to real property or any interest
therein, by reason of any instrument, record, claim, encumbrance or proceeding
which is apparently valid or effective but is in truth and in fact invalid,
ineffective, voidable, or unenforceable, and may be prejudicial to said title,
an action may be brought to remove such cloud or to quiet the title.

An action may also be brought to prevent a cloud from being cast upon
title to real property or any interest therein.

2% Ragasa v. Roa, supra at 98-99.
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registered owners, to transfer or reconvey the land to them on
the ground that petitioners areitsrightful owners by succession
and that the land was wrongfully registered in the names of
Spouses Ruiz.?* The case would, in effect, challenge the efficacy
of Spouses Ruiz’ certificate of title under the theory that there
had been no valid transfer or sale from the petitioners’
predecessorsin interest to the respondents of therightsor interests
in the land, the reason being that the transactions transferring
such rights and interests were purportedly carried out by means
of fraud and deceit.?

In Mendizabel v. Apao,* where the case was one for annulment
of titles, reconveyance and damages, we were also confronted
with an argument that the complaint must be dismissed because
the circumstances constituting the allegations of fraud or mistake
were not stated with particul arity. Weruled against thisargument,
holding that in an action for reconveyance, all that must be
alleged in the complaint are two facts which, admitting them
to betrue, would entitle the plaintiff to recover title to the disputed
land, namely, (1) that the plaintiff was the owner of the land
or possessed the land in the concept of owner, and (2) that the
defendant had illegally dispossessed him of theland. Asalready
enumerated above, the allegations in petitioners’ complaint
certainly measure up to the requisite statement of facts to
constitute an action for reconveyance based on an implied trust.
Under Article 14567 of the Civil Code, if the registration of
the land is fraudulent, the person in whose name the land is
registered holdsit asameretrustee, and thereal owner isentitled
tofilean action for reconveyance of the property.? On itsface,

24 See Hortizuela v. Tagufa, G.R. No. 205867, February 23, 2015.

25 See Heirs of Spouses Teofilo M. Reterta and Elisa Reterta v. Spouses
Lorenzo Mores and Virginia Lopez, G.R. No. 159941, August 17, 2011,
655 SCRA 580, 596.

% G.R. No. 143185, February 20, 2006, 482 SCRA 587.

27 |f property is acquired through mistake or fraud, the person obtaining
itis, by force of law, considered atrustee of an implied trust for the benefit
of the person from whom the property comes.

28 gupra note 26 at 604-605.
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therefore, the complaint states a cause of action and raisesissues
of fact that can be properly settled only after afull-blown trial.?°

We also note that petitioners allege that Teresita, a co-
petitioner, is in possession of the property from the time of
death of Spouses Naya until the filing of the case. Thisis a
question of fact that must be also threshed out in a full-blown
trial. If established, petitioners’ action will be imprescriptible
and hence, the defense of laches will not lie.

In the same vein, the ruling of the RTC and the CA that the
action is barred by laches is premature. In Heirs of Tomas
Dolleton v. Fil-Estate Management Inc.,* we noted that the
RTC did not conduct a hearing to receive evidence proving
that petitioners were guilty of laches. We reiterated the well-
settled rule that the elements of laches must be proven positively.
Lachesisevidentiary in nature, afact that cannot be established
by mere allegationsin the pleadings and cannot be resolved in
a motion to dismiss. We, thus, concluded that at such stage,
the dismissal of petitioners’ complaint on the ground of laches
was premature because the issue must be resolved at the trial
of the case on the merits where both parties will be given ample
opportunity to prove their respective claims and defenses.®

Finally, wefind it would be prudent aswell that the question
asto whether petitioners are guilty of forum shopping be threshed
out in atrial. Respondents argue that petitioners are guilty of
forum shopping because they also filed another case for quieting
of title, declaration of absolute nullity of deed of sale, transfer
certificate of title, tax declaration, and damages beforethe RTC,
Branch 23 of Cebu City, docketed as Civil Case No. CEB-
38883.%2 Respondents thusly pray that the case be dismissed
on this ground. Forum shopping, however, may or may not be

29 see Associated Bank v. Montano, Sr., G.R. No. 166383, October 16,
2009, 604 SCRA 134, 144.

30 G.R. No. 170750, April 7, 2009, 584 SCRA 409.
31 1d. at 430.
32 Rollo, pp. 116-117; supra note 17.
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deliberate, intentional, or willful. The consequencesin relation
to the dismissal of the cases simultaneously or successively
filed vary asto whether forum shopping is deliberate, intentional,
or willful. If the forum shopping is not considered willful and
deliberate, the subsequent case shall be dismissed without
prejudice, on the ground of either litis pendentia or resjudicata.
If the forum shopping is willful and deliberate, both (or all, if
there are more than two) actions shall be dismissed with
prejudice.®® However, the question as to whether there was
deliberate or willful intent to forum shop is a question of fact,
which the trial court is in the best position to determine.

WHEREFORE, the petition is GRANTED. The Decision
of the Court of Appeals dated July 3, 2014 and its Resolution
dated October 28, 2014 are SET ASIDE. This case is
REMANDED to the Regional Trial Court of Cebu City, Seventh
Judicial Region, Branch 7 which is directed to try and decide
the case with deliberate speed.

SO ORDERED.

Velasco, Jr. (Chairperson), Peralta, Perez, and Reyes, JJ.,
concur.

SECOND DIVISION
[G.R. No. 218980. November 28, 2016]
PHILIPPINE AUTO COMPONENTS, INC., petitioner, vs.

RONNIE B. JUMADLA, ROY A. ARIZ and ROY T.
CONEJOS, respondents.

33 Chuav. Metropolitan Bank & Trust Company, G.R. No. 182311, August
19, 2009, 596 SCRA 524, 541.
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[G.R. No. 219124. November 28, 2016]

RONNIE B. JUMADLA, ROY A. ARIZ AND ROY T.
CONEJOS, petitioners, vs. PHILIPPINE AUTO
COMPONENTS, INC., respondent.

SYLLABUS

1. LABOR AND SOCIAL LEGISLATION; LABOR CODE;
TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT; INLABOR CASES,
AS IN OTHER ADMINISTRATIVE AND QUASI-
JUDICIAL PROCEEDINGS, THE QUANTUM OF PROOF
NECESSARY ISSUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE.— It isan oft-
repeated rule that in labor cases, asin other administrative and
quasi-judicial proceedings, the quantum of proof necessary is
substantial evidence. Substantial evidence is that amount of
relevant evidence as areasonable mind might accept as adequate
to support aconclusion, even if other minds, equally reasonable,
might conceivably opine otherwise. After a judicious perusal
of the records, the Court finds that there was sufficient cause
to justify respondents’ dismissal from employment.

2. 1D.; ID.; ID.; JUST CAUSES; LOSS OF TRUST AND
CONFIDENCE; BREACH OF TRUST AND CONFIDENCE,
AS A JUST CAUSE FOR TERMINATION OF
EMPLOYMENT,|ISPREMISED ON THE FACT THAT THE
EMPLOYEE CONCERNED HOLDS A POSITION OF
TRUST AND CONFIDENCE, WHERE GREATER TRUST
IS PLACED BY MANAGEMENT AND FROM WHOM,
GREATERFIDELITY TODUTY ISCORRESPONDINGLY
EXPECTED.— The Labor Code provides that an employer
may terminate an employment based on fraud or; willful breach
of the trust reposed on the employee. Breach of trust and
confidence, as a just cause for termination of employment, is
premised on the fact that the employee concerned holds aposition
of trust and confidence, where greater trust is placed by
management and from whom , greater fidelity to duty is
correspondingly expected. The betrayal of thistrust isthe essence
of the offense for which an employee is penalized. The Court
discussion in Mabeza v. NLRC isinstructive: Lossof confidence
as a just cause for dismissal was never intended to provide
employerswith ablank check for terminating their employees.
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3.1

Such avague, all-encompassing pretext as loss of confidence,
if unqualifiedly given the seal of approval by this Court, could
readily reduce to barren form the words of the constitutional
guarantee of security of tenure. Having this in mind, loss of
confidence should ideally apply only to cases involving
employees occupying positions of trust and confidence or to
those situations where the employee is routinely charged with
the care and custody of the employer’s money or property.

D.; ID.; ID.; ID.; ID.; REQUISITESTO BE A VALID
GROUND FOR DISMISSAL; PRESENT.— In Wesleyan
University Philippinesv. Reyes, the Court discussed the requisites
for avalid dismissal on the ground of loss of trust and confidence:
Thefirst requisite is that the employee concerned must be one
holding a position of trust and confidence, thus, one who is
either: (1) amanagerial employee; or (2) afiduciary rank-and-
file employee, who, inthe normal exercise of hisor her functions,
regularly handles significant amounts of money or property of
the employer. x x x. The second requisite of terminating an
employee for loss of trust and confidence is that there must be
an act that would justify the loss of trust and confidence. To
be avalid cause for dismissal, the loss of confidence must be
based on a willful breach of trust and founded on clearly
established facts. With regard to thefirst requisite, respondents
belong to the first class as they were officers of the managerial
staff in charge of particular departments. X x x. Their positions
were necessarily imbued with trust and confidence asthey were
charged with the delicate task of ensuring the safety, proper
handling and distribution of PACI’s products. Hence, a high
degree of honesty and responsibility was required and expected
of them. Asto the second requisite, the police report showed
that Loyolawas caught in possession of PACI’ s products, which
he transported to an unauthorized location. xxx. The loss of a
considerable amount of automotive products under their custody
remained unrefuted. Their failure to account for this loss of
company property betrays the trust reposed and expected of
them. x x x. Thus, respondents had violated PACI’ s trust and
for which their dismissal is justified on the ground of breach
of confidence.

4.1D.; I1D.; ID.; THEMERE FILING OF AFORMAL CHARGE

DOESNOT AUTOMATICALLY MAKE THE DISMISSAL
VALID,AS EVIDENCE SUBMITTED TO SUPPORT THE
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CHARGE SHOULD BE EVALUATED TO SEE IF THE
DEGREE OF PROOF IS MET TO JUSTIFY THE
EMPLOYEES TERMINATION.— The affidavits executed
by Loyola and Salimpade averred that respondents were the
masterminds behind the pilferage. It must be borne in mind
that implicating a person in the wrongdoing of another is not
done with relative ease. Nevertheless, PACI failed to provide
evidence as to the missing link—that respondents sanctioned
the delivery of the products at Salimpade’s residence: First,
respondents were not the only ones who had access to PACI’s
products. Second, that Jumadla personally knew Salimpade did
not prove pilferage. Friendship or association is not proof of
culpability. Third, Ariz’ sresignation on October 15, 2012 may
have just been an unfortunate coincidence. Finally, it has been
consistently held that the mere filing of a formal charge does
not automatically make the dismissal valid. Evidence submitted
to support the charge should be evaluated to see if the degree
of proof is met to justify the respondents’ termination.

5.1D.; ID.; ID.; ADMINISTRATIVE DUE PROCESS
REQUIREMENT; TWIN-NOTICE RULE; COMPLIED
WITH.— To meet the requirements of due process in the
dismissal of an employee, an employer must furnish the worker
with two (2) written notices: (1) a written notice specifying
the grounds for termination and giving to said employee a
reasonabl e opportunity to explain hisside; and (2) another written
notice indicating that, upon due consideration of all
circumstances, grounds have been established to justify the
employer’s decision to dismiss the employee. In this case,
respondentswereissued individual show cause notices requiring
them to explain in writing, within five (5) daysfrom their receipt
thereof, why no disciplinary action, including possible dismissal
from employment, should be meted; against them for the alleged
pilferage of PACI’'s products. Moreover, PACI conducted
administrative hearings on November 7 and 8, 2012. Thereafter,
it found respondents liable for the charges hurled against them
and issued individual notices of the decision to inform them of
their dismissal from employment. Thus, PACI fully complied
with the twin-notice rule.

6. ID.; ID.; ID.; ASLONG ASTHE COMPANY’'S EXERCISE
OF JUDGMENT ISIN GOOD FAITH TO ADVANCE ITS
INTEREST AND NOT FOR THE PURPOSE OF
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DEFEATING OR CIRCUMVENTING THE RIGHTS OF
EMPLOYEES UNDER THE LAWS OR VALID
AGREEMENTS, SUCH EXERCISEWILL BEUPHELD.—
Time and again, the Court has put emphasis on the right of an
employer to exercise its management prerogative in dealing
with its company’ s affairs, including theright to dismiss erring
employees. It is ageneral principle of labor law to discourage
interference with an employer’s judgment in the conduct of
his business. Even as the law is solicitous of the welfare of the
employees, it also recognizes employer’ s exercise of management
prerogatives. As long as the company’s exercise of judgment
isin good faith to advance its interest and not for the purpose
of defeating or circumventing the rights of employees under
the laws or valid agreements, such exercise will be upheld.

APPEARANCES OF COUNSEL

Angara Abello Concepcion Regala & Cruz for Philippine
Auto Components, Inc.
Banzuela & Associates for Jumadla, et al.

DECISION
MENDOZA, J..

Assailed in these consolidated petitions for review on
certiorari filed under Rule 45 of the Rules of Court are the
February 12, 2015 Decision! and June 18, 2015 Resol ution? of
the Court of Appeals (CA) in CA-G.R. SP No. 137752, which
dismissed the petition forcertiorari assailing the April 15, 2014
Decision® and August 18, 2014 Resolution® of the National L abor

1 Penned by Associate Justice Celia C. Librea-Leagogo with Associate
Justice Nina G. Antonio-Valenzuela and Associate Justice Melchor Q.C.
Sadang concurring; rollo (G.R. No. 218980), pp. 56-79.

21d. at 81-82.

3 Penned by Presiding Commissioner Joseph Gerard E. Mabilog with
Commissioner Isabel G. Panganiban-Ortiguerra concurring and Commissioner
Nieves E. Vivar-De Castro dissenting; id. at 173-183.

41d. at 185-190.
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Relations Commission (NLRC) in NLRC LAC No. 05-001625-
13/NLRC RAB IV Case No. 12-01812-12, a case for illegal
dismissal.

The Facts

On October 12, 2012, Aleli Veronica Garcia (Garcia), the
Human Resources and Administrative Department Manager of
Philippine Auto Components, Inc. (PACI), received information
from an anonymous source that some of its employees were
planning to use the truck assigned to Ronilo D. Loyola (Loyola),
the driver for domestic deliveries of its Finished Goods Stock
In and Delivery Group, in order to steal automotive parts the
next day, October 13, 2012.

Garcia then requested Lorenzo Arcilla (Arcilla), PACI’s
Administrative Supervisor, to coordinate with the Philippine
National Police-Criminal Investigation and Detection Group
(PNP-CIDG) for an entrapment operation.

On October 13, 2012, members of the PNP-CIDG caught
Loyolain the act of unloading four (4) boxes of Radiator Fan
Assembly unitsin front of the residence of Melvin D. Salimpade
(Salimpade) located at Newton Heights Subdivision, Barangay
Canlalay, Bifian, Laguna. The boxes each contained six (6) sets
of Radiator Fan Assembly. L oyolaand Salimpade, upon demand
from the PNP-CIDG, failed to produce documents authorizing
the release of the automotive parts from PACI’s warehouse
and its delivery to Salimpade. Thus, Loyola and Salimpade
were brought to the nearest police station.

In his Sworn Statement,® L oyolaclaimed that hewasinstructed
by Ronnie B. Jumadla (Jumadla) and Roy A. Ariz (Ariz) to
deliver the boxesto Salimpade. He also divulged three (3) prior
instances when Jumadlaand Ariz ordered him to drop off stolen
parts at various locations. Loyola likewise declared that on
October 11, 2012, hewas approached by Roy T. Conejos (Conejos),®

51d. at 285.

6“Cornejos” in some parts of the records.
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who convinced him to participate in the stealing of PACI's
products for sale to third persons.

In his Sworn Statement,” Salimpade explained that the boxes
wereonly left with him for safekeeping, asinstructed by Jumadla
and Ariz.

On October 15, 2012, Ariz tendered his resignation because
he needed to care for hissick father. He alleged that he | eft his
resignation letter, dated October 10, 2012, with his wife and
instructed her to giveit to Jumadla. In turn, Jumadla submitted
said resignation letter to PACI on October 15, 2012.

On October 15, 2012, PACI sent Show Cause Notices? to
Jumadla, Ariz and Conejos (respondents) directing them to
explain in writing within five (5) days from receipt thereof,
why no disciplinary action, including possible dismissal from
employment, should be imposed against them for violation of
the Company Rules and Regulations. On the same date, they
were also placed under a thirty-day preventive suspension
pending the result of the administrative case.

In compliance thereto, respondents submitted their written
explanation® denying their involvement in the pilferage of PACI’'s
products.

On November 7 and 8, 2012, PACI conducted administrative
hearings. During these hearings Jumadla confirmed that he
personally knew Salimpade.

Subsequently, respondents were found liable for serious
misconduct, willful disobedience, willful breach of trust, and
commission of a crime under Article 282 of the Labor: Code.
Thus, on November 27, 2012, PACI dismissed respondentsfrom
employment.

71d. at 286.
81d. at 287, 289, 295.
91d. at 296, 297, 298-299.
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On December 4, 2012, respondentsfiled acomplaint for illegal
dismissal, illegal suspension and unfair labor practice against
PACI.

On December 11, 2012, PACI instituted a complaint® for
Qualified Theft against Jumadla, Ariz, Loyola, and Salimpade
before the Office of the City Prosecutor of Bifian City, Laguna.

The LA Ruling

InitsApril 23, 2013 Decision,! the Labor Arbiter (LA) found
that respondentswereillegally dismissed because the allegation
that they took part in the pilferage of PACI’ s products was not
supported by evidence. Thus, it ordered respondents’ reinstatement.
The dispositive portion reads:

WHEREFORE, premises considered, judgment is hereby rendered
declaring complainants as having been illegally dismissed.
Accordingly, respondent Philippine Auto Components, Inc. is hereby
ordered to reinstate complainants to their former or substantially
equivalent positions without loss of seniority rights and to pay them
their full backwages as follows:

1. Jumadla — P75,758.08

2. Cornejos — P53,176.50

3. Ariz — P75,758.08

All other claims are hereby dismissed for lack of merit.
SO ORDERED.*?

Unconvinced, PACI elevated an appeal before the NLRC.
The NLRC Ruling

Inits April 15, 2014 decision, the NLRC affirmed the LA
decision. It held that Ariz’'s assistance in the loading of the
products and Jumadla’ s act of managing the delivery were not

10d. at 310-326.
1 Penned by Labor Arbiter Enrico Angelo C. Portillo; id. at 533-544.
12d. at 544.
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sufficient to engender any suspicion that both of them were
performing actsin furtherance of their common design to steal
PACI’ s products. The NLRC observed that in those instances,
Jumadla and Ariz were with other employees, who were not
implicated in the theft of PACI’s products.

With regard to Conejos, the NLRC was of the view that the
evidence against him was wanting for the reason that Loyola
did not provide any details asto Conejos’ act of coercing him
to steal from PACI.

Hence, the NLRC concluded that PACI failed to establish
respondents’ participation in the pilferage of its products and
that, consequently, its act of dismissing them from employment
was not justified. The fallo reads:

WHEREFORE, premises considered, the Decision dated April 23,
2013 is hereby AFFIRMED.

SO ORDERED.:

Undeterred, PACI filed amotion for reconsideration thereto.
Inits August 18, 2014 resolution, the NLRC denied the same.

Aggrieved, PACI filed apetition for certiorari with the CA.
The CA Ruling

Initsassailed February, 12, 2015 decision, the CA sustained
the NLRC decision. It declared that the transactionswhich Loyola
purportedly had with respondents were not substantiated by
evidence; and that the sworn statements of Loyolaand Salimpade
were self-serving, uncorroborated and insufficient to show
respondents’ complicity in the theft of PACI’s products.

The CA reasoned that there was no evidence to prove that
the boxes containing stolen products were actually loaded, by
or through the instructions of respondentsinto the truck assigned
to Loyola; Jumadla’' s confirmation that he knew Salimpade was
inadequate to establish theformer’ s participation in the pilferage;

B1d. at 181.
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it was not shown that respondents were the only ones who had
access to the stolen products; the delivery receipts* only
established that Salimpade’s residence was not included for
that day’s scheduled deliveries; the photocopy of the police
blotter’> and the certification?® issued by Police Investigator
Joselito Lanot, Jr. (Lanot) merely evinced that the boxes were
confiscated from Loyola and Salimpade; and the filing of a
criminal complaint did not automatically make the dismissal
valid.

The CA, however, took into consideration the pendency of
the criminal action for qualified theft against respondents and
the issuance of the warrants of arrest against them. Thus, it
ordered the payment of separation pay instead of reinstatement
because of the strained rel ations between PA CI and respondents.
The dispositive portion reads:

WHEREFORE, premises considered, the PetitionisDENIED. The
Decision dated 15April 2014 and Resolution dated 18 August 2014
of the National Labor Relations Commission (Sixth Division) in NLRC
LAC No. 05-001625-13; NLRC RAB IV No. 12-01812-12 are
AFFIRMED with MODIFICATION in that in lieu of reinstatement,
petitioner Philippine Auto Components, Inc. is ORDERED to pay
separation pay equivalent to one (1) month salary for every year of
service to private respondents Ronnie B. Jumadla, Roy A. Ariz, and
Roy T. Conejos. No pronouncement as to costs.

SO ORDERED.Y

PACI moved for reconsideration, but the same was denied
by the CA in its assailed June 18, 2015 resolution.

Hence, this petition.

141d. at 262-269.
15 1d. at 270.

16 1d. at 271.
71d. at 76.
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| SSUE

WHETHER RESPONDENTS WERE TERMINATED
FROM EMPLOYMENT FOR A JUST AND VALID CAUSE.

PACI argues that respondents conspired in stealing its
properties; that Loyolaand Salimpade positively identified them
to beinvolved in the modus operandi of stealing and transporting
out of its warehouse various automotive parts for sale to third
persons; that the testimonies of Loyola and Salimpade
corroborated each other and were not self-serving because their
admission that they had participated in the pilferage of PACI’s
properties gained them no benefit; that in the absence of any
proof that Loyola and Salimpade acted in bad faith or had any
ill motive, their good faith in having executed their Sworn
Affidavits must be presumed; that respondents only offered
bare denials which could not prevail against the positive and
uncontroverted statements of Loyola and Salimpade; that the
delivery receipts confirmed that L oyola was not authorized to
bring the boxes of radiator fansto Salimpade’ s residence; and
that the police blotter record and the certification, dated October
15, 2012, as well as the photographs of the stolen radiator fan
units showed that the boxes containing stolen properties were
in the possession of Loyola and Salimpade.

PACI also assertsthat circumstantial evidence was sufficient
to sustain respondents’ dismissal; that the Resolution*® of the
Office of the City Prosecutor of Bifian, Laguna, showed that
there was substantial evidence to uphold their dismissal from
employment; that respondents committed qualified theft and
acts tantamount to serious misconduct, willful disobedience of
company rules and willful breach of trust, all of which were
just causes for dismissal; that it dutifully complied with the
requirements of procedural due process; and that respondents
were not entitled to separation pay and backwages.

18 1d. at 584-587.
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In their Comment?*® dated September 24, 2015, respondents
averred that the petition did not raise questions of law; that the
findings of the NLRC and the CA were supported by substantial
evidence and must be respected; and that the CA should have
ordered their reinstatement instead of payment of separation
pay.

Inits Reply,® dated March 23, 2016, PACI contended, that
circumstantial evidence showed that respondentswereinvolved
in the theft of its properties; that they had access to the stolen
products and could have caused them to be taken out of its
warehouse; that Jumadla personally knew Salimpade; that Ariz
assisted his group during the advance loading on October 12,
2012; that respondents merely denied the charges against them;
that Ariz suddenly tendered hisresignation on October 15, 2012;
and that Loyolawas ableto cite other instances when Jumadla
and Ariz instructed him to take possession of boxes suspected
to contain stolen products so that they could be picked up or
dropped off at various locations.

The Court’s Ruling

The petition of PACI is meritorious.

Respondents were dismissed on the grounds of (i) serious
misconduct, particularly theft of PACI’s products, (ii) willful
disobedience of company rules, and (iii) willful breach of the
trust. PACI claimed that based on the sworn statements of Loyola
and Salimpade, the delivery receipts, the police blotter, the police
certification, the photographs of the stolen radiator fan assembly
units, the resolution of the City Prosecutor finding a prima
facie case of qualified theft, and the Information for qualified
theft, there was reasonable ground to believe that respondents
were responsible for the pilferage of automotive parts, which
justified their dismissal from employment.

It is an oft-repeated rule that in labor cases, as in other
administrative and quasi-judicial proceedings, the quantum of

191d. at 601-616.
20 |d. at 710-735.
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proof necessary is substantial evidence.? Substantial evidence
isthat amount of relevant evidence as areasonable mind might
accept as adequate to support aconclusion, even if other minds,
equally reasonable might conceivably opine otherwise.?

After ajudicious perusal of the records, the Court finds that
there was sufficient cause to justify respondents’ dismissal from
employment. The findings of the Court shall be discussed in
seriatim.

Loss of trust and confidence as
just cause for respondents’
dismissal

The Labor Code provides that an employer may terminate
an employment based on fraud or willful breach of the trust
reposed on the employee.?®

Breach of trust and confidence, asajust cause for termination
of employment, is premised on the fact that the employee
concerned holds aposition of trust and confidence, where greater
trust is placed by management and from whom greater fidelity
to duty is correspondingly expected. The betrayal of this trust
isthe essence of the offense for which an employeeis penalized.?
The Court discussion in Mabeza v. NLRC?® is instructive:

Loss of confidence asajust cause for dismissal was never intended
to provide employers with a blank check for terminating their
employees. Such a vogue, all-encompassing pretext as loss of
confidence, if unqualifiedly given the seal of approval by this Court,
could readily reduce to barren form the words of the constitutional
guarantee of security of tenure. Having thisin mind, loss of confidence
should ideally apply only to cases involving employees occupying

2l Tenazas v. R. Villegas Taxi Transport, G.R. No. 192998, April 2,
2014, 720 SCRA 467, 480.

22 Miro v. Mendoza, 721 Phil. 772, 788 (2013).

2 Art. 297 (c), Labor Code.

2 Jumuad v. Hi-Flyer Food, Inc., 672 Phil. 730, 743 (2011).
25338 Phil. 386 (1997).
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positions of trust and confidence or to those situations where the
employee is routinely charged with the care and custody of the
employer’s money or, property.

In Wesleyan University Philippines v. Reyes* the Court
discussed the requisites for avalid dismissal on the ground of
loss of trust and confidence:

The first requisite is that the employee concerned must be one
holding a position of trust and confidence, thus, one who is either:
(1) amanagerial employee; or (2) afiduciary rank-and-file employee,
who, in the normal exercise of hisor her functions, regularly handles
significant amounts of money or property of the employer.

Managerial employees are defined as those vested with the powers
or prerogativesto lay down management policies and to hire, transfer,
suspend, lay-off, recall, discharge, assign or discipline employees
or effectively recommend such managerial actions. They refer to
those whose primary duty consists of the management of the
establishment in which they are employed or of a department or a
subdivision thereof, and to other officers or members of the managerial
staff. Officers and members of the managerial staff perform work
directly related to management policies of their employer and customarily
and regularly exercise discretion and independent judgment.

The second class or fiduciary rank-and-file employees consist of
cashiers, auditors, property custodians, etc., or those who, in the
normal exercise of their functions, regularly handle significant amounts
of money or property. These employees, though rank-and-file, are
routinely charged with the care and custody of the employer’s money
or property, and are thus classified as occupying positions of trust
and confidence.

The second requisite of terminating an employee for loss of trust
and confidence is that there must be an act that would justify the
loss of trust and confidence. To be a valid cause for dismissal, the
loss of confidence must be based on a willful breach of trust and
founded on clearly established facts.?®

% 1d. at 395.
27 G.R. No. 208321, July 30, 2014, 731 SCRA 516.
28 1d. at 531-532.
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With regard to the first requisite, respondents belong to the
first class asthey were officers of the managerial staff in charge
of particular departments. It is undisputed that at the time of
their dismissal, Jumadlaand Ariz were Inventory Control Leaders
of PACI's Parts and Materials Handling and Control Group
and Finished Goods and Stock In Delivery Group, respectively.
They were responsible for ensuring the veracity of the daily
and monthly reports aswell as variance checking of all product
models one (1) month before stock taking. Conejos, on the other
hand, was the Senior Inventory Control Associate for Air
Conditioner and Radiators. His primary duty wasto verify that
the shipping documents contained no discrepancies.

Their positions were necessarily imbued with trust and
confidence asthey were charged with the delicate task of ensuring
the safety, proper handling and distribution of PACI’ s products.
Hence, ahigh degree of honesty and responsibility was required
and expected of them.

As to the second requisite, the police report showed that
Loyola was caught in possession of PACI’s products, which
he transported to an unauthorized location. On the principle of
respondent superior or command responsibility alone,
respondents areliable for negligencein the performance of their
duties.®® The loss of a considerable amount of automotive
products under their custody remained unrefuted. Their failure
to account for this loss of company property betrays the trust
reposed and expected of them. Further, respondents offered no
explanation why PACI’s products were in the custody of
unauthorized persons. PACI’ sloss of trust and confidence was
directly rooted in the manner of how they, as personsin charge
of the inventory, had negligently handled the products.®* They
may not have been directly involved in the pilferage of PACI’'s
products, but their negligence facilitated the unauthorized
transporting of products out of PACI's warehouse and their
sale to third persons. Thus, respondents had violated PACI’s

29 Jumuad v. Hi-Flyer Food, Inc., 672 Phil. 730, 745 (2011).
30 Concepcion v. Minex Import Corporation, 679 Phil. 491, 503 (2012).
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trust and for which their dismissal isjustified on the ground of
breach of confidence.

No substantial evidence to prove
serious misconduct

The affidavits executed by Loyola and Salimpade averred
that respondents were the masterminds behind the pilferage. It
must be bornein mind that implicating aperson in the wrongdoing
of another is not done with relative ease.

Nevertheless, PACI failed to provide evidence asto the missing
link—that respondents sanctioned the delivery of the products
at Salimpade’ sresidence: First, respondents were not the only
ones who had accessto PACI’ s products. Second, that Jumadla
personally knew Salimpade did not prove pilferage. Friendship
or associationisnot proof of culpability. Third, Ariz’ sresignation
on October 15, 2012 may have just been an unfortunate
coincidence.

Finally, it has been consistently held that the mere filing of
aformal charge does not automatically make the dismissal valid.
Evidence submitted to support the charge should be evaluated
to see if the degree of proof is met to justify the respondents’
termination.®

Nevertheless, despite the absence of serious misconduct,
respondents, as previously discussed, were validly dismissed
due to breach of trust and confidence.

PACI complied with the
requirements of procedural due
process

To meet the requirements of due process in the dismissal of
an employee, an employer must furnish the worker with two
(2) written notices: (1) awritten notice specifying the grounds
for termination and giving to said employee a reasonable
opportunity to explain his side; and (2) another written notice
indicating that, upon due consideration of all circumstances,

31 Grand Asian Shipping Lines, Inc. v. Galvez, 725 Phil. 452, 499 (2014).
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grounds have been established to justify the employer’ sdecision
to dismiss the employee.®

In this case, respondents were issued individual show cause
notices requiring them to explain in writing, within five (5)
days from their receipt thereof, why no disciplinary action,
including possible dismissal from employment, should be meted;
against them for the alleged pilferage of PACI’s products.
Moreover, PACI conducted administrative hearings on November
7 and 8, 2012. Thereafter, it found respondents liable for the
charges hurled against them and issued individual notices of
the decision to inform them of their dismissal from employment.
Thus, PACI fully complied with the twin-notice rule.

Time and again, the Court has put emphasis on the right of
an employer to exerciseits management prerogative in dealing
with its company’ s affairs, including theright to dismiss erring
employees. It isageneral principle of labor law to discourage
interference with an employer’s judgment in the conduct of
his business. Even as the law is solicitous of the welfare of the
employees, it also recognizes employer’ s exercise of management
prerogatives. As long as the company’s exercise of judgment
isin good faith to advance its interest and not for the purpose
of defeating or circumventing the rights of employees under
the laws or valid agreements, such exercise will be upheld.*

WHEREFORE, the petition in G.R. No. 218980 is
GRANTED. The February 12, 2015 Decision and June 18, 2015
Resolution of the Court of Appealsin CA-G.R. SP No. 137752
are REVERSED and SET ASIDE.

SO ORDERED.

Carpio (Chairperson), Brion, del Castillo, and Leonen, JJ.,
concur.

32 perez v. Philippine Telegraph and Telephone Company, 602 Phil.
522, 535 (2009).

33 Moya v. First Solid Rubber Industries, Inc., 718 Phil. 77, 86-87 (2013).
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THIRD DIVISION
[G.R. No. 223506. November 28, 2016]

GARRY V. INACAY, petitioner, vs. PEOPLE OF THE
PHILIPPINES, respondent.

SYLLABUS

1. REMEDIAL LAW; CRIMINAL PROCEDURE; RIGHTSOF
THE ACCUSED; RIGHT TO COUNSEL; IN CRIMINAL
CASES, THE RIGHT OF THE ACCUSED TO BE
ASSISTED BY COUNSEL ISIMMUTABLE; OTHERWISE,
THERE WILL BE A GRAVE DENIAL OF DUE
PROCESS; THUS, EVEN IF THE JUDGMENT HAD
BECOME FINAL AND EXECUTORY, IT MAY STILL
BE RECALLED, AND THE ACCUSED AFFORDED THE
OPPORTUNITY TO BE HEARD BY HIMSELF AND
COUNSEL . — Section 1, Article 11 of the Constitution provides
that no person shall be deprived of life, liberty, or property
without due process of law. Section 14(2), Article 111 of the
Constitution further mandates that in all criminal prosecutions,
the accused shall enjoy the right to be heard by himself and
counsel. In criminal cases, theright of the accused to be assisted
by counsel isimmutable. Otherwise, there will be agrave denial
of due process. The right to counsel proceeds from the
fundamental principle of due processwhich basically means
that a person must be heard before being condemned. “Thus,
even if the judgment had become final and executory, it may
still be recalled, and the accused afforded the opportunity to
be heard by himself and counsel.”

2. ID.;I1D.;ID.;ID.; THERIGHT TO COUNSEL ISABSOLUTE
AND MAY BE INVOKED AT ALL TIMES.— “Theright
to counsel is absolute and may be invoked at all times. More
S0, in the case of an on-going litigation, it is aright that must
be exercised at every step of theway, with thelawyer faithfully
keeping hisclient company.” Unlessthe accused is represented
by alawyer, thereisgreat danger that any defense presented
inhis behalf will be inadequate considering the legal perquisites
and skills needed in the court proceedings. Thiswould certainly
be a denial of due process.
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3.1D.;1D.; ID.; ID.; THEJUDGMENT OF CONVICTION SHALL
BE SET ASIDE WHERE THE ACCUSED WAS NOT
ASSISTED BY COUNSEL IN THE PROCEEDINGS
BEFORE THE LOWER COURTS, AND, HENCE, WAS
DENIED OF DUE PROCESS.— [l]nacay, during the
proceedings before the trial court and the appellate court, was
represented by Manilawho, based on the Certification issued
by the OBC, isnot alawyer. At that time, Inacay had no inkling
that he was being represented by a sham lawyer. It was only
when his conviction of the offense charged was upheld by the
appellate court did Inacay learn that Manila is not a lawyer.
Clearly, Inacay was not assisted by counsel in the proceedings
before the lower courts and, hence, was denied of due process.
In Peoplev. Santocildes, Jr., the Court held that: The presence
and participation of counsel in criminal proceedings should
never be taken lightly. Even the most intelligent or educated
man may have no skill in the science of the law, particularly
in the rules of procedure, and, without counsel, he may be
convicted not because heis guilty but because he does not know
how to establish hisinnocence. Theright of an accused to counsel
isguaranteed to minimize theimbalancein the adversarial system
where the accused is pitted against the awesome prosecutory
machinery of the State. Such a right proceeds from the
fundamental principle of due process which basically means
that a person must be heard before being condemned. The due
process requirement is a part of aperson’s basic rights; it
is not amere formality that may be dispensed with or
performed perfunctorily. Considering that there was a denial
of due process, there is a need to set aside the judgment of
conviction against Inacay and remand the case to the trial court
for new trial.

4. |1D.; SPECIAL CIVIL ACTIONS, CONTEMPT; UNAUTHORIZED
PRACTICE OF LAW CONSTITUTES INDIRECT
CONTEMPT OF COURT.— [M]anila, for representing herself
asalawyer, should be held liable for indirect contempt of court.

APPEARANCES OF COUNSEL

Leoville T. Ecarma for petitioner.
Office of the Solicitor General for respondent.
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RESOLUTION
REYES, J.

Thisis a Petition for Review on Certiorari® under Rule 45
of the Rules of Court seeking to annul and set aside the Decision?
dated March 15, 2016 issued by the Court of Appeals (CA) in
CA-G.R. CR No. 35652.

Facts

Garry V. Inacay (Inacay) was aformer sales agent of Mega
Star Commercial (MSC), a business enterprise engaged in the
wholesale of electrical and construction materials. As part of
hisduties, Inacay wastasked to find clientsin Pangasinan, solicit
orders, collect payments, and issue receipts. Inacay was able
to collect acheck payment from Gamboa L umber and Hardware
(GLH), one of MSC’s clients, in the amount of £53,170.00.3

Fernando Tan (Tan), the proprietor of MSC, claimed that he
demanded Inacay to remit the said amount paid by GLH, but
he failed to do so.* Tan then filed a criminal complaint for
estafawith the Office of the Prosecutor in Quezon City against
Inacay. Consequently, an Information for the crime of estafa
was filed with the Regional Trial Court (RTC) of Quezon City
against Inacay.®

In the proceedings before the RTC, Inacay was represented
by acertain EulogiaB. Manila(Manila), who represented herself
as alawyer. During arraignment, Inacay pleaded not guilty to
the crime charged.®

! Rollo, pp. 25-37.

2 Penned by Associate Justice Noel G. Tijam, with Associate Justices
Francisco P. Acosta and Eduardo B. Peralta, Jr. concurring; id. at 39-47.

31d. at 27.
41d. at 41.
S1d. at 27.
61d. at 28.
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Inacay admitted that he received the payment made by GLH,
but claimed that he remitted the same to Melinda Castro, the
accounting officer of MSC. However, on cross-examination,
Inacay claimed that he previously executed an Affidavit dated
November 3, 2006, stating that he was held up by robbers and
among the things taken from him were several checks issued
by the customers of MSC.”

On February 21, 2013, the RTC of Quezon City, Branch 80
rendered a Decision? finding Inacay guilty beyond reasonable
doubt of the crime of Estafa punishable under Article 315(1)(b)
of the Revised Penal Code and sentencing him to suffer the
indeterminate penalty of one (1) year, eight (8) months and
twenty-one (21) days of prision correccional, as minimum, to
nine (9) years, eight (8) months and twenty-one (21) days of
prision mayor, as maximum. The RTC likewise directed I nacay
to pay MSC the amount of £53,170.00.°

Unperturbed, Inacay appealed the RTC decision to the CA;
he was still represented by Manila in the proceedings before
the appellate court.°

On March 15, 2016, the CA rendered a Decision,** affirming
the RTC sdispositionin toto. When Inacay |earned of the CA’s
decision, he requested Manila to file the appropriate petition
with this Court, but the latter refused and told him to find another
lawyer.?

Subsequently, Inacay found out, after talking to a lawyer,
that Manilais not amember of the Bar. Thus, Inacay obtained
a Certification® from the Office of the Bar Confidant (OBC)

"1d. at 41.

8 Rendered by Presiding Judge Charito B. Gonzales; id. at 48-53.
91d. at 53.

01d. at 28.

d. at 39-47.

1214. at 30.

1B1d. at 55.
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showing that Manilais indeed not a member of the Philippine
Bar.1

In this petition, Inacay claimsthat he was denied due process
since he was not represented by alawyer. He, likewise, avers
that the lower courts erred in convicting him of the offense
charged since there was no evidence presented showing that
he actually encashed the check paid by GLH and misappropriated
the proceeds thereof.

Issue

Essentially, the issue for the Court’s resolution is whether
Inacay’s guilt of the crime charged had been proven beyond
reasonable doubt.

Ruling of the Court
The petition is granted.

Section 1, Article 111 of the Constitution provides that no
person shall be deprived of life, liberty, or property without
due process of law. Section 14(2), Article 111 of the Constitution
further mandatesthat in all criminal prosecutions, the accused
shall enjoy the right to be heard by himself and counsel.

In criminal cases, the right of the accused to be assisted by
counsel isimmutable. Otherwise, there will be a grave denial
of due process. The right to counsel proceeds from the
fundamental principle of due process which basically means
that a person must be heard before being condemned. “Thus,
even if the judgment had become final and executory, it may
still be recalled, and the accused afforded the opportunity to
be heard by himself and counsel.”®

“The right to counsel is absolute and may be invoked at all
times. More so, in the case of an on-going litigation, it is a

141d. at 30.
15 callangan v. People, 526 Phil. 239, 245-246 (2006).
16 Spouses Telan v. Court of Appeals, 279 Phil. 587, 594-595 (1991).
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right that must be exercised at every step of the way, with the
lawyer faithfully keeping his client company.”*” Unless the
accused is represented by a lawyer, there is great danger that
any defense presented in his behalf will beinadequate considering
thelegal perquisitesand skills needed in the court proceedings.
This would certainly be a denial of due process.*®

In this case, Inacay, during the proceedings before the trial
court and the appellate court, was represented by Manilawho,
based on the Certification issued by the OBC, is not alawyer.
At that time, Inacay had no inkling that he was being represented
by asham lawyer. It was only when his conviction of the offense
charged was upheld by the appellate court did Inacay learn
that Manila is not a lawyer. Clearly, Inacay was not assisted
by counsel in the proceedings before the lower courts and, hence,
was denied of due process.

In People v. Santocildes, Jr.,*® the Court held that:

The presence and participation of counsel in criminal proceedings
should never be taken lightly. Even the most intelligent or educated
man may have no skill in the science of the law, particularly in the
rules of procedure, and, without counsel, he may be convicted not
because he is guilty but because he does not know how to establish
his innocence. The right of an accused to counsel is guaranteed to
minimize the imbalance in the adversarial system where the accused
is pitted against the awesome prosecutory machinery of the State.
Such aright proceeds from the fundamental principle of due process
which basically means that a person must be heard before being
condemned. The due process requirement is a part of aperson’sbasic
rights; it is not a mere formality that may be dispensed with or
performed perfunctorily.?® (Citations omitted)

171d. at 595.

18 See Peoplev. Santocildes, Jr., 378 Phil. 943, 948 (1999), citing Delgado
v. CA, 229 Phil. 362, 366 (1986).

19378 Phil. 943 (1999).
201d. at 949.
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Considering that there was a denial of due process, thereis
a need to set aside the judgment of conviction against Inacay
and remand the case to the trial court for new, trial. Further,
Manila, for representing herself as a lawyer, should be held
liable for indirect contempt of court.

WHEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing
disquisitions, the petition is GRANTED. The Decision dated
March 15, 2016 issued by the Court of Appealsin CA-G.R.
CRNo. 35652 ishereby SET ASIDE. ThecaseisREMANDED
to the Regional Trial Court of Quezon City, Branch 80, for
new trial.

With respect to the unauthorized practice of law by the person
named EulogiaB. Manilain connection with this case, the local
chapter of the Integrated Bar of the Philippines of Quezon City
isDIRECTED to conduct aprompt and thorough investigation
regarding this matter and to report its recommendations to the
Court within ninety (90) days from notice of this Resolution.
Let all concerned parties, including the Office of the Bar
Confidant, be each furnished a copy of this Resolution for their
appropriate action.

SO ORDERED.
Velasco, Jr. (Chairperson), Perez, and Caguioa,” JJ., concur.
Peralta, J., on official leave.

* Additional Member per Raffle dated November 18, 2016 vice Associate
Justice Francis H. Jardeleza.
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EN BANC
[I.P.1. No. 15-227-CA-J. November 29, 2016]

RE: VERIFIED COMPLAINT DATED 17 NOVEMBER
2014 OF DOLORA CADIZ KHANNA AGAINST HON.
EDGARDOL.DELOSSANTOS, HON. MARILYN B.
LAGURA-YAP AND HON. JHOSEP Y. LOPEZ,
ASSOCIATE JUSTICES, COURT OF APPEALS,
JUDGE RONALD H.EXMUNDO, REGIONAL TRIAL
COURT, BRANCH 4, KALIBO, AKLAN, JUDGE
FRICIA C. GOMEZ-GUILLEN, BRANCH 15,
METROPOLITAN TRIAL COURT, MANILA AND
JUAN S. APOLINAR,* SHERIFF 111, BRANCH 17,
METROPOLITAN TRIAL COURT, MANILA.

SYLLABUS

1. POLITICAL LAW; ADMINISTRATIVELAW; ADMINISTRATIVE
PROCEEDINGS; THE BURDEN OF PROOF THAT
RESPONDENT COMMITTED THE ACTSCOMPLAINED
OF RESTS ON THE COMPLAINANT.— This Court has
consistently ruled that in administrative proceedings, the burden
of proof that respondent committed the acts complained of rests
on the complainant. After a careful perusal of the records, we
find no substantial evidence to support the allegations against
the respondent associate justices of the CA. Therecord is absent
of any affidavits of persons who have personal knowledge
regarding the supposed extortion and corruption allegedly
committed by the CA justices or even documentsto corroborate
the accusations against them. Clearly, the allegations against
them were based solely on hearsay evidence.

2. JUDICIAL ETHICS; JUSTICES AND JUDGES; A JUDGE
MAY NOT BE ADMINISTRATIVELY SANCTIONED
FROM MERE ERRORS OF JUDGMENT IN THE
ABSENCE OF SHOWING OF ANY BAD FAITH, FRAUD,
MALICE, GROSS IGNORANCE, CORRUPT PURPOSE,
ORADELIBERATEINTENT TO DO AN INJUSTICE ON

L Apolinar S. Juan as stated in his Verified dated 16 February 2015,
rollo, pp. 116-120.
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HISORHER PART, ASJUDICIAL OFFICERSCANNOT
BE SUBJECTED TO ADMINISTRATIVE DISCIPLINARY
ACTIONS FOR THEIR PERFORMANCE OF DUTY IN
GOOD FAITH.— The assailed resolution was issued by
respondent CA justices in the proper exercise of their judicial
functions. Assuch, thisisnot subject to administrative disciplinary
action. The resolution issued was indeed based on existing law
and jurisprudence. We have settled the rule that a judge may
not be administratively sanctioned from mere errors of judgment
in the absence of showing of any bad faith, fraud, malice, gross
ignorance, corrupt purpose, or adeliberate intent to do aninjustice
on his or her part. Judicial officers cannot be subjected to
administrative disciplinary actionsfor their performance of duty
in good faith.

3. ID.; ID.; AS A MATTER OF PUBLIC POLICY, A JUDGE
CANNOT BE SUBJECTED TO LIABILITY FOR ANY OF
HISOFFICIAL ACTS, NO MATTER HOW ERRONEOQOUS,
ASLONG ASHE ACTSIN GOOD FAITH,FORTO HOLD
OTHERWISE WOULD BE TO RENDER JUDICIAL OFFICE
UNTENABLE,FORNO ONE CALLEDUPONTO TRY THE
FACTSORINTERPRET THELAW IN THE PROCESS OF
ADMINISTERING JUSTICE CANBE INFALLIBLEINHIS
JUDGMENT.— [I]n the absence of proof to the contrary, the
presumption isthat the respondent CA justicesissued theresolutions
in good faith. As a matter of public policy, a judge cannot be
subjected to liability for any of his official acts, no matter how
erroneous, as long as he acts in good faith. To hold otherwise
would be to render judicial office untenable, for no one called
upon to try the facts or interpret the law in the process of
administering justice can be infallible in his judgment.

4, POLITICAL LAW; ADMINISTRATIVE LAW; COURT
PERSONEL; OFFICIALS AND PERSONNEL OF THE
COURT WHO ALLOWED THEMSELVES TO BE PART
OF THESCHEME TO THWART THE ADMINISTRATION
OF JUSTICE TARNISHED THE IMAGE OF THE
JUDICIARY.— Inthe case of Judge Exmundo, Judge Gomez-
Guillen and Sheriff Juan, the evidence presented by Khannawhich
were based on her personal knowledge, if established, would be
sufficient to hold them administratively liable. It appears that
complainant is primarily to be blamed for the extortions because
even at the outset she kept on looking for people who could assist
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her in getting favorable rulings from the courts where her cases
arepending. Itisregrettable, however, that Judge Exmundo, Judge
Gomez-Guillen and Sheriff Juan allowed themselvesto be part of
that schemeto thwart the administration of justice. These officials
and personnel of the court preyed on awilling victim. Their actions
although they may have been done outside the confines of their
courts clearly tarnished the image of the judiciary.

RESOLUTION
PEREZ, J..

This resolves the complaint? filed by Dolora Cadiz Khanna
(Khanna) charging Hon. Edgardo L. Del os Santos (Justice Delos
Santos), Hon. Marilyn B. Lagura-Y ap (Justice Lagura-Y ap) and
Hon. Jhosep Y. Lopez (Justice Lopez), Associate Justices, Court
of Appeals(CA), Judge Ronald H. Exmundo (Judge Exmundo),
Regional Trial Court (RTC), Branch 4, Kalibo, Aklan, Judge
Fricia C. Gomez-Guillen (Judge Gomez-Guillen), Branch 15,
Metropolitan Trial Court (MeTC), Manilaand Apolinar S. Juan,
Sheriff Il (Sheriff Juan), Branch 17, MeTC, Manila with
corruption and extortion.

Khannaalleged that sometimein 2007, she and her husband
named Summit bought parcels of land located at Bolabog,
Balabag, Malay, Aklan from Atty. LucasLicerio (Atty. Licerio).
She alleged that they paid over £30,000,000.00 for all thelots,
not knowing that the properties are part of theinalienablereserved
forest land of the government by virtue of Proclamation 1064.

Sometime in May or June 2007, the spouses took possession of
thelotsand started building their dream housethereon. They devel oped
the property which wasthen aforest, coco and grassy land. Seeing
the potential of the property, they later on developeditinto aluxury
resort community which they called “ The Cliff Resorts.”

Khanna claimed that in the latter part of 2009, Atty. Licerio
and his cohorts started harassing them by filing numerous cases
of Estafa thru Falsification of Public Documents.

2 Rollo, pp. 3-14.
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Khanna narrated that she filed, through her counsel Atty.
LornaKapunan (Atty. Kapunan), a Petition for Injunction with
Prayer for the I ssuance of Temporary Restraining Order (TRO)
against Atty. Licerio and twenty John Doesbeforethe RTC, Kalibo,
Aklan. The case was docketed as Civil Case No. 8988 entitled
“Dolora Khanna vs. Lucas Licerio and Twenty John Does’ and
raffled to RTC, Branch 4, presided over by Judge Exmundo.

After filing the case, Khannareguested one of her employees,
a province mate of Judge Exmundo from lloilo, to seek the
assistance of the latter. Khanna alleged that during their
conversation, she ventilated to Judge Exmundo the injustices
committed against them by Atty. Licerio.

Judge Exmundo allegedly instructed Khanna to secure the
services of Atty. Mateo C. Hachuela (Atty. Hachuela) to be
her counsel in lieu of Atty. Kapunan. She was also told to
give300,000.00 in order for Judge Exmundo to grant her prayer
for the issuance of a TRO.

In compliance with the directive, Khanna contended that she
hired Atty. Hachuela; paid the latter his acceptance fee; and
gave the P300,000.00 for the TRO. As agreed upon, on 3
November 2010, Judge Exmundo issued the TRO. By virtue
thereof, she and her husband regained possession of the premises
which were unlawfully and forcibly taken from them by Atty.
Licerio and his armed goons.

During the pendency of the case, Atty. Hachuela allegedly
informed Khanna that Judge Exmundo was demanding
£2,000,000.00 for a favorable decision of the Petition for
Injunction that they filed. Believing on the merits of her case,
she did not concede to the demand.

She noted that on 7 December 2012, Atty. Licerio again
forcibly took over the property even without any court order.
Khanna alleged that she received information from areliable
source that Atty. Licerio had already paid Judge Exmundo to
rulein hisfavor. The same source likewise told her that Atty.
Hachuela and Judge Exmundo travelled to Hongkong after
receiving the payment from Atty. Licerio. Khanna stated that
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during the take-over of the property, she called and informed
Atty. Hachuela about what happened. She claimed that during
their conversation she heard slot machines and Judge Exmundo’s
voice in the background.

Khanna contended that for her failure to cough up
£2,000,000.00 and after Atty. Licerio met with Judge Exmundo,
a decision was rendered on 21 December 2012 denying the
Petition for Injunction. The Motion for Reconsideration she
subsequently filed was likewise denied by Judge Exmundo.

Thereafter, Atty. Liceriofiled aMotion for Execution Pending
Appeal before RTC, Branch 4, Kalibo, Aklan. Atty. Hachuela,
the alleged bagman of Judge Exmundo, again asked the spouses
to give £1,000,000.00 for the denial of the aforesaid motion.
Considering that their property was at stake, the spouses agreed
to the demand and gave Atty. Hachuela the amount of
£1,000,000.00 consisting of two checks of £500,000.00 each,
dated 20 and 25 March 2013, respectively. As agreed upon,
Judge Exmundo denied the motion filed by Atty. Licerio. Khanna
attached in her complaint a photocopy of the two checks cleared
by the bank, aswell asa copy of the exchanges of text messages
between her and Atty. Hachuela.

Atty. Liceriothen filed aMotion for Execution Pending Appeal
before the CA. The case was docketed as CA-G.R. CV No.
04899 and raffled to the 19" Division of the CA, Cebu City.

On 12 September 2014, the 19" Division of the CA composed
of Associate Justices Delos Santos, Lagura-Yap and Lopez
granted the motion filed by Atty. Licerio. Khanna claimed
that the associate justices of the CA totally disregarded the
valid objections she raised and issued the resolution without
basis and despite the absence of good reason. Consequently,
Khannafiled a Motion for Reconsideration and Addendum (to
the Motion for Reconsideration).

Khanna claimed that on 27 September 2014 at around 7:00
p.m., she and her husband, together with their friend Paul from
the National Bureau of Investigation (NBI), met Judge Gomez-
Guillen of the MeTC, Branch 15, Manilg; the latter’ s husband
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Miller Guillen; and Sheriff of MeTC, Branch 17, Manila. During
the meeting, the spouses discussed with the group their case
whichispendinginthe CA. Thegroup allegedly told the spouses
that they can assist in having the CA rule in their favor. The
meeting was allegedly recorded inthe CCTV cameraof Woodfire
Pizza at Rockwell Makati.

The meeting was allegedly followed by several telephone
conversations wherein the spouses were informed that the CA
justices were asking for Twelve Million Pesos for the lifting
of the writ of execution earlier issued and the issuance of an
order of permanent injunction.

Khanna further stated that on one occasion, Miller Guillen
even called and requested for an amount of £10,000.00 to cover
the dinner expenses for his alleged meeting with CA Justice
Lopez. Theamount requested was deposited to the bank account
of Miller Guillen. Khannaattached to her complaint a photocopy
of the deposit slip as evidence.

On 8 November 2014, Miller Guillen again called the spouses
and informed them that the 15-day period given to the other
party isabout to expire. They weretold that after that, the CA
justices will release a decision and the justices will expect the
payment of half of the amount, which is £6,000,000.00.

Feeling threatened, Khanna's husband thereafter talked to
Judge Gomez-Guillen and the latter explained that the CA justices
are expecting the money as soon as possible. At that time, the
spousesinformed Judge Gomez-Guillen that they cannot afford
to give such large amount of money and that they are already
sick and tired of the extortion and corruption. Khanna alleged
that since then, they never communicated with the group again.

Khanna, thereafter, filed the instant administrative complaint
against herein respondents with the prayer that an order beissued
directing Judge Exmundo and the associate justices of the 19"
division of the CA to cease and desist from further proceeding
in the cases pending before them and to inhibit themselves
from the subject cases.
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In a Resolution® dated 21 January 2015, the Court required
the respondents to comment on the verified complaint filed by
Khanna.

In compliance with the resolution, Judge Exmundo filed his
comment* on 6 March 2015. He narrated that the complaint of
Khannaarose from Civil Case No. 8988, entitled DoloraKhanna
vs. Lucas Licerio and Twenty John Does, for Injunction with
Prayer for the Issuance of a Writ of Preliminary Injunction
and/or Temporary Restraining Order. The casewasfiled before
RTC, Branch 4, Kalibo, Aklan, where heisthe presiding judge.
Based on the merits of the case, he denied the petition in his
decision dated 21 December 2012.

Judge Exmundo averred that all the allegations hurled against
him are mere conjectures, false, baseless and product of an
evil and malicious mind. He claimed that Atty. Hachuela was
personally hired by complainant as collaborating counsel of
Atty. Kapunan without his intervention as it is not his task to
do so considering that the case is being heard in his sala. He
denied that he demanded, through Atty. Hachuela, the amounts
of P300,000.00 for afavorableissuance of atemporary restraining
order and £2,000,000.00 for afavorable decisionin Civil Case
No. 8998. Healleged that these are but products of complainant’s
imagination. He maintained that the exchange of text messages
between Khanna and Atty. Hachuelais part of attorney-client
relationship and the person referred to as “Pope” therein can
be anybody but definitely not and cannot be him. He contended
that he never transacted nor discussed Civil Case No. 8998
with Atty. Hachuela. He also contended that the allegation
that he travelled to Hong Kong and Macau with Atty. Hachuela
is untrue and without any basis.

In her comment,®> Judge Gomez-Guillen admitted that she,
her husband Miller and their friend Sheriff Juan met and had

% |d. at 102-103.
4|d. at 173-178.
5d. at 108-112.
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dinner with Khanna and the latter’ s husband Summit at a pizza
restaurant in Power Plant Mall, Makati City. They were
introduced by their friend Paul from the NBI ashis“ TitaDolly.”
Judge Gomez-Guillen, however, denied that they discussed or
that Khanna consulted about the latter’s case pending before
the CA. Shelikewise denied that she spoke with complainant’s
husband to explain that the justices of the 19" Division of the
CA want £6,000,000.00 for a favorable ruling. She averred
that neither she nor her husband personally knowsthe CA justices
mentioned in the complaint and that there is no way for them
to approach or even communicate with any of them. She
concluded that the complaint seemed to be desperate move from
a disgruntled litigant.

Sheriff Juan, for his part, likewise admitted that they had
dinner with Khannaand the latter’ s husband at Woodfire Pizza
Restaurant in Rockwell Power Plant, Makati City. Khanna
allegedly introduced herself as a businesswoman and owner of
aresort in Boracay. She allegedly offered him an opportunity
to earn commission by selling her condominium at Rockwell
and by looking for investorsin her resort business. He declined
the offer since he doesn’t know of any person wealthy enough
to afford the properties she’s selling.

Contrary to the allegations in the complaint, Sheriff Juan
contended that he and the Guillen spouses never claimed that
they knew Justice Lopez of the CA. On the other hand, he
alegedthat it was Khannawho asked if they knew Justice L opez
and offered to give money if they could assist them in their
case pending before the CA. Sheriff Juan further alleged that
on one occasion, Khannacalled the celIphone of Miller Guillen
and insisted on talking to him. Khanna allegedly persisted on
seeking assistance from him since heisasheriff and the former
had a mistaken notion that as such, he knew alot of judges and
justices. He claimed that he told Khannathat he doesn’t know
any justice and even if he knew them, he cannot help because
what the complainant was asking iswrong and illegal. It was
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allegedly at that time that Khannathreatened to file a case against
him and the Guillen spouses.®

In their respective comments,’” the respondent associate justices
of the CA denied vehemently denied the allegations against
them in the complaint. The respondent justiceswere categorical
in their statementsthat they do not know complainant Khanna,
Miller Guillen, Judge Gomez-Guillen, Sheriff Juan and acertain
Paul from the NBI. Justice Lagura-Y ap even added that she
does not know Khanna's present and previous counsel or the
counsel of the latter’s opponent.

They denied demanding £6,000,000.00, £12,000,000.00 or
any other amount from Khanna through Miller Guillen, Judge
Gomez-Guillen, Sheriff Juan or Paul from NBI. Neither were
they promised by appellee Atty. Licerio nor received from him,
Khanna's personal homes, gifts or any favor.

The respondent justices presented evidence of their detailed
whereabouts on 6 and 7 November 2014 to prove that they did
not meet with Miller Guillen and NBI Paul to discuss the case
and the terms of payment for afavorableruling. Justice Delos
Santos even challenged Khannato produce the necessary evidence
showing their presence during the alleged SM Convention Center
meeting. He claimed that with the advent of modern technology,
CCTV footage can be obtained by Khannaif indeed the alleged
meeting at SM Convention Center took place. They reported
that they were in Manilaon those days but not to meet regarding
the case of Khanna but to attend the En Banc session of the CA
in the afternoon of 7 November 2014 and to votein the selection
of the Division Clerk of Court of the Eighteenth division for
the Visayas station. They presented itineraries, airplanetickets,
credit card billing statements, Uber receipts, Agenda of the
CA En Banc session and affidavits of persons they were with
during the subject dates and time.

6 1d. at 116-120.
7 1d. at 16-146, 162-168 and 195-205.
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They maintained that the assailed resolution they issued on
12 September 2014 in CA-G.R. CV NO. 04899 has factual and
legal basis. They averred that the resolution was supported by
law and jurisprudence and that they merely applied the law.
They concluded that Khanna was prompted to file the instant
administrative complaint only because she was not satisfied
with the aforesaid resolution, not having received a favorable
ruling thereon. They submit that the administrative complaint
was clearly intended to pressure and harass them.

Our Ruling

This Court has consistently ruled that in administrative
proceedings, the burden of proof that respondent committed
the acts complained of rests on the complainant.® After acareful
perusal of the records, we find no substantial evidence to support
the allegations against the respondent associate justices of the
CA. Therecord isabsent of any affidavits of personswho have
personal knowledge regarding the supposed extortion and
corruption allegedly committed by the CA justices or even
documentsto corroborate the accusations against them. Clearly,
the allegations against them were based solely on hearsay evidence.

Inall theinstances stated in the Complaint-Affidavit involving
the respondent CA justices, we noted that Khannarelied solely
on what Miller Guillen, Judge Gomez-Guillen, Sheriff Juan or
Paul from the NBI told her and/or her husband. Although,
Khanna attached in her complaint the affidavit of her staff,
Agnes Ramos, areading of the same would only show that it
was Miller Guillen, not the respondent CA justices, who asked
for the £12,000,000.00 bribe.

These are only second hand accounts which have no probative
value because these do not establish the acts complained of,
that the CA justices demanded money in exchange for afavorable
order and that they were a part of the scheming plan to extort
money from complainant. Other than complainant’s bare
allegations and informations coming from her brokers, fixers

8 Riverav. Mendoza, 529 Phil. 600, 602 (2006) citing Barcena v. Gingoyon,
510 Phil. 546, 555 (2005).
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or agents, there were no evidence presented to show any wrong-
doings or bad faith on the part of respondent CA justices.

The relevant portion of the assailed CA resolution reads:

Under Section 4, Rule 39 of the Revised Rules of Court, judgments
inactionsfor injunction are not stayed by appeal staken therefrom. Thus:

Sec. 4. Judgments not stayed by appeal .- - - Judgments in
actions for injunction, receivership, accounting and support,
and such other judgments as are now or may hereafter be declared
to be immediately executory, shall be enforceable after their
rendition and shall not be stayed by an appeal taken therefrom,
unless otherwise ordered by thetrial court. On appeal therefrom,
the appellate court in its discretion may make an order
suspending, modifying, restoring, or granting the injunction,
receivership, accounting, or award of support.

The above rule is well-established and has been cited by the
Honorable Supreme Court in anumber of cases. InIntramuros Tennis
Club, Inc. vs. Philippine Tourism Authority, the Honorable Supreme
Court, citing Crisostomo vs. Securities and Exchange Commission and
Defensor-Santiago vs. Vasquez, held that judgments in actions for
injunction are not stayed by the pendency of an appeal taken therefrom.
Thisrule has been held to extend to judgments decreeing the dissol ution
of awrit of preliminary injunction, which areimmediately executory.”®

The assailed resol ution wasissued by respondent CA justices
in the proper exercise of their judicial functions. Assuch, this
isnot subject to administrative disciplinary action. Theresolution
issued was indeed based on existing law and jurisprudence. We
have settled the rule that a judge may not be administratively
sanctioned from mere errors of judgment in the absence of showing
of any bad faith, fraud, malice, gross ignorance, corrupt purpose,
or a deliberate intent to do an injustice on his or her part.*
Judicial officers cannot be subjected to administrative disciplinary
actions for their performance of duty in good faith.*

% Rollo, pp. 70-71.
10 Ceniza-Layese v. Asis, 590 Phil. 56, 60 (2006).

1 Re: Complaint filed by Lucena B. Rallos against Justices Gabriel T. Ingles,
Pamela Ann Maxino, and Carmelita S. Manahan, 723 Phil. 1, 4 (2013).
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We noted that on 8 January 2015, respondent CA justices
issued aresolution granting Khanna' s motion for reconsideration
and ordered for the staying of the execution of the court aquo’s
judgment, conditioned upon her posting of the bond in the amount
of P500,000.00. Such later ruling only indicates that the
respondent justices were just exercising their authority to pass
upon and in their sound discretion, correct its earlier resolution.
We further noted that the later resolution wasissued even before
the respondent CA justicesreceived acopy of the administrative
complaints filed against them. Such scenario rendered the
allegations in the complaint against respondent CA justices
illogical. If money wasthe consideration for afavorableruling,
then why was the motion for reconsideration of Khanna granted
if she declined to accede to the alleged demand for money?
The only plausible answer isthat the resolution wasissued based
on the merits of the case.

In the aforesaid resolution dated 8 January 2015, the
respondent CA justices explained that since Khanna was in
possession of the property and was able to adduce evidence
that she spent millionsin renovating the subject property, it is
but proper to stay the execution of the judgment and preserve
the status quo.

Infine, inthe absence of proof to the contrary, the presumption
isthat the respondent CA justicesissued the resolutionsin good
faith. Asamatter of public policy, ajudge cannot be subjected
to liability for any of hisofficial acts, no matter how erroneous,
aslong as he acts in good faith. To hold otherwise would be
to render judicial office untenable, for no one called upon to
try the facts or interpret the law in the process of administering
justice can be infallible in his judgment.?

The same thing cannot be said with respect to the other
respondents herein. Inthe case of Judge Exmundo, Judge Gomez-
Guillen and Sheriff Juan, the evidence presented by Khanna
which were based on her personal knowledge, if established,
would be sufficient to hold them administratively liable.

12 crisologo v. Daray, 584 Phil. 366, 374 (2008).
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Re: Verified Complaint dated 17 Nov. 2014 of Khanna against
Justice Delos Santos, et al.

It appears that complainant is primarily to be blamed for the
extortions because even at the outset she kept on looking for
people who could assist her in getting favorable rulings from
the courtswhere her casesare pending. It isregrettable, however,
that Judge Exmundo, Judge Gomez-Guillen and Sheriff Juan
allowed themselves to be part of that scheme to thwart the
administration of justice. These officials and personnel of the
court preyed on awilling victim. Their actions although they
may have been done outside the confines of their courts clearly
tarnished the image of the judiciary.

WHEREFORE, in the light of the foregoing premises, the
Court hereby resolved to:

1) RE-DOCKET theinstant administrative complaint filed
by Dolora Cadiz Khanna as a regular administrative
matter against Judge Ronald H. Exmundo, Regional Trial
Court, Branch 4, Kalibo, Aklan, Judge Fricia C. Gomez-
Guillen, Branch 15, Metropolitan Trial Court, Manila
and Apolinar S. Juan, Sheriff 11, Branch 17, Metropolitan
Trial Court, Manila;

2) DIRECT the Court Administrator, through any of his
Deputy Court Administrators, to investigate the aforesaid
administrative complaint and SUBMIT a report and
recommendation thereon within Forty Five (45) days
from receipt hereof;

3) DISMISStheadministrative complaint against Associate
Justices Edgardo L. Delos Santos; Marilyn B. Lagura-
Y ap; and Jhosep Y . Lopez, al of the Nineteenth Division,
Court of Appeals for utter lack of merit.

SO ORDERED.

Sereno, C.J., Carpio, Velasco, Jr., Leonardo-de Castro, Brion,
Peralta, Bersamin, del Castillo, Mendoza, Reyes, Perlas-
Bernabe, Leonen, Jardeleza, and Caguioa, JJ., concur.
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EN BANC
[I.P.1.NO. 16-241-CA-J. November 29, 2016]

CLEMENTE F. ATOC, complainant, vs. EDGARDO A.
CAMELLO, OSCARV.BADELLESand PERPETUA
T.ATAL-PANO, Associate Justices, Court of Appeals,
Cagayan de Oro City, respondents.

SYLLABUS

1. JUDICIAL ETHICS; JUSTICES AND JUDGES; A JUDGE
MAY NOT BE ADMINISTRATIVELY SANCTIONED
FROM MERE ERRORS OF JUDGMENT IN THE
ABSENCE OF SHOWING OF ANY BAD FAITH, FRAUD,
MALICE, GROSS IGNORANCE, CORRUPT PURPOSE,
ORADELIBERATEINTENT TO DO AN INJUSTICE ON
HISOR HER PART, ASJUDICIAL OFFICERSCANNOT
BE SUBJECTED TO ADMINISTRATIVE DISCIPLINARY
ACTIONS FOR THEIR PERFORMANCE OF DUTY IN
GOOD FAITH.—[I]tisclear that the assailed resolutionswere
issued by respondent Associate Justices in the proper exercise
of their judicial functions. As such, these are not subject to
administrative disciplinary action. Other than complainant’s
bare all egations, there were no evidence presented to show any
wrong-doings or bad faith on the part of respondent associate
justices. We have settled the rule that a judge may not be
administratively sanctioned from mere errors of judgment in
the absence of showing of any bad faith, fraud, malice, gross
ignorance, corrupt purpose, or adeliberateintent to do an injustice
on his or her part. Judicial officers cannot be subjected to
administrative disciplinary actionsfor their performance of duty
in good faith.

2. ID.;ID.; CHARGE OF GROSSIGNORANCE OF THE LAW;
TOBEHELDLIABLE FOR GROSSIGNORANCE OF THE
LAW, IT MUST BE SHOWN THAT IN THE ISSUANCE
OF THE ASSAILED RESOLUTIONS, THE JUSTICES
HAVE COMMITTED AN ERROR THAT WASGROSSOR
PATENT, DELIBERATE OR MALICIOUS.— To be held
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liable for gross ignorance of the law, it must be shown that in
the issuance of the assailed resolutions, the justices have
committed an error that was gross or patent, deliberate or
malicious. In the instant case, it was shown that the justices
based their findings on existing facts and jurisprudence. There
was no proof presented to show that they were moved by ill-
will or malicious intention to violate the law and extend favor
to aparty. In fact, their findings were thoroughly discussed in
the ratio decidendi of the resolution.

3. ID.;ID.;ID.; ASAMATTER OF PUBLIC POLICY, A JUDGE
CANNOT BE SUBJECTED TOLIABILITY FORANY OF
HISOFFICIAL ACTS,NOMATTER HOW ERRONEOUS,
ASLONG ASHEACTSIN GOOD FAITH,FORTOHOLD
OTHERWISE WOULD BE TO RENDER JUDICIAL
OFFICE UNTENABLE, FOR NO ONE CALLED UPON
TOTRY THEFACTSORINTERPRET THELAW INTHE
PROCESS OF ADMINISTERING JUSTICE CAN BE
INFALLIBLE IN HIS JUDGMENT.— In assailing the
resolutionsissued by the CA, complainant failed to realize that
unfavorable rulings are not necessarily erroneous. If a party
disagrees with a ruling of the court, assuming these were
incorrect, there are judicial remedies available to them under
the Rules of Court. Asamatter of public policy, ajudge cannot
be subjected to liability for any of his official acts, no matter
how erroneous, aslong as he actsin good faith. To hold otherwise
would be to render judicial office untenable, for no one called
upon to try the facts or interpret the law in the process of
administering justice can be infallible in his judgment.

4. 1D.; ID.; ADMINISTRATIVE COMPLAINTS AGAINST
MAGISTRATESCANNOT BE PURSUED SIMULTANEOUSLY
WITH THE JUDICIAL REMEDIESACCORDED TO PARTIES
AGGRIEVED BY THE ERRONEOUS ORDERS OR
JUDGMENTSOF THE FORMER, ASADMINISTRATIVE
REMEDIESARENEITHERALTERNATIVETO JUDICIAL
REVIEW NOR DO THEY CUMULATE THERETO, WHERE
SUCH REVIEW IS STILL AVAILABLE TO THE
AGGRIEVED PARTIES AND THE CASES HAVE NOT
YET BEEN RESOLVED WITH FINALITY.— [W]e have
explained that administrative complaints against magistrates
cannot be pursued simultaneously with the judicial remedies
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accorded to parties aggrieved by the erroneous orders or
judgments of the former. Administrative remedies are neither
alternativetojudicial review nor do they cumulate thereto, where
such review is still available to the aggrieved parties and the
cases not yet been resolved with finality. Here, it is evident
that the parties aggrieved by the resolution can avail or may
have already availed of other judicial remedies. Quite significant
is the fact that the instant administrative complaint was filed
by someone who isnot aparty or privy to the case. Ascorrectly
noted by the respondent justices in their Joint-Comment, Atoc
did not even disclose the capacity in which he brings the present
administrative complaint.

DECISION
PEREZ, J..

Thisrefersto the verified complaint® dated 12 January 2016
filed by Clemente F. Atoc (complainant) charging Edgardo A.
Camello (Justice Camello), Oscar V. Badelles (Justice Badelles)
and Perpetua T. Atal-Pafio (Justice Atal-Pafio), all Associate
Justices of the Court of Appeals (CA), Cagayan de Oro City,
with gross ignorance of the law, gross violation of Attorney’s
oath, gross violation of Code of Professional Responsibility
(Canon 1, Rules 7.03, 10.01, 10.03), gross violation of Code
of Judicial Conduct (Canon 1, Rules 1.01 and 1.02; Canon 3,
Rules 3.01 and 3.02), gross violation of Professional Ethics
(22), grossviolation of Code of Judicial Ethics(2,15,18,22 and
31), grave abuse of authority, gross misconduct, manifest
partiality, gross violation of Sections 4(a), 4(b) and 4(c) of
Republic Act (R.A.) No. 6713, and gross violation of Section
3(e) of R.A. No. 30109.

The complaint stemmed from the resol utions? the respondent
justices issued in CA-G.R. SP Nos. 07072-MIN and 07073-

! Rollo, pp. 2-15.
21d. at 40-41 and 102-109.
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MIN entitled “Oscar S. Moreno and Glenn C. Bafiez v. Hon.
Conchita Carpio Moralesin her capacity as the Ombudsman;
Department of the Interior and Local Gover nment represented
by Hon. Mel Senen Sarmiento in his capacity as Secretary and
William G. Guilani.”

Culled from the records are the following antecedent facts:

On 13 March 2015,® William G. Guillani filed a complaint
for grave abuse of authority, grave misconduct and violation
of Republic Act No. 6713 against Oscar S. Moreno (Moreno)
and Glenn C. Bafiez (Bafiez), in their capacity as City Mayor
and Officer-in-charge Treasurer, respectively, of the Local
Government Unit of Cagayan de Oro City, before the Office
of the Ombudsman-Mindanao (OMB).

InaDecision dated 14 August 2015, the OMB found Moreno
and Bafiez administratively guilty of grave misconduct. The
dispositive portion of the decision reads:

WHEREFORE, the Office finds respondents Oscar S. Moreno and
Glenn C. Bafiez GUILTY of Grave Misconduct and are meted out
the penalty of Dismissal from service, including the accessory penalties
of cancellation of eligibility, forfeiture of retirement benefits, and
the perpetual disqualification for re-employment in the government
service. Further, the charges of Grave Abuse of Authority and violation
of R.A. No. 6713 are dismissed.* (Underlining omitted)

On 3 November 2015, the OMB furnished the Department
of Interior and Local Government (DILG) copy of the decision
for implementation of the order of dismissal against Moreno
and Bafez.®

In order to stay the implementation of the OMB decision,
Moreno and Bafiez filed their respective Petitionsfor Certiorari

3 d. at 41
41d. at 42.
51d.
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with Extremely Urgent Prayer for Temporary Restraining Order
(TRO) and/or Writ of Preliminary Injunction (WPI) on 11
November 2015.

On 12 November 2015, the DIL G served a copy of the decision
on Moreno.®

On even date, incumbent Vice Mayor Caesar lan Acenas
and Councilor Candy Darimbang were sworn in office and
assumed the positions of City Mayor and Vice Mayor of Cagayan
de Oro City, respectively.

On 13 November 2015, the CA issued a resolution granting
Moreno and Bafiez' sprayer for issuance of aTRO. The TRO which
is effective for a period of 60 days, unless sooner revoked,
enjoined the DILG, itsofficers and agents and all persons acting
under them, from enforcing, implementing and effecting the
OMB decision which dismissed Moreno and Bafiez from the
service.’

On 17 November 2015, the DILG filed a Manifestation
informing the CA that as of 6:12 in the evening of 12 November
2015, it has already implemented the OMB decision dismissing
Moreno and Bafez from the service. The DILG averred that
it wasonly on 13 November 2015 at around 7:32 in the evening
that it received a copy of the CA resolution granting the TRO.®

On the same date, the DILG filed a second pleading
denominated as Manifestation with Urgent Motion for
Clarification. The motion seeksto clarify asto who should be
recognized as Mayor of Cagayan de Oro City considering that
the department received the CA Resolution on the granting of
the TRO a day after the OMB decision was served and
implemented against Moreno.®

6 1d.
71d. at 44.
81d. at 45.
9 1d.
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On 18 November 2015, the CA issued aresolution clarifying
the validity and enforceability of the TRO it earlier issued.
The CA ratiocinated that:

In the instant case, the last actual, peaceable and uncontested
condition before the DILG the assailed Ombudsman Decision is
petitioner Oscar Moreno sitting as the elected Cagayan de Oro City
Mayor and Glenn Bafiez as the Officer-in-Charge of the City
Treasurer’s Office. Therefore, that isthe situation sought to be upheld
by the TRO pending the resolution of the injunction. The status
existing at the time the present petition was filed before this [c]ourt
was that the mayor and the officer-in-charge of the City Treasurer’'s
office were herein [Moreno and Bafiez]. That precisely isthe status
referred to in aTRO taking into account the litany of decisionsdefining
how a TRO operates. To construe otherwise would counter settled
jurisprudence. Infact, the DILG has correctly understood and captured
the concept and essence of a restraining order. x x x”1°

The dispositive portion of the resolution thus reads:

In view thereof, there is nothing further to elucidate. The DILG
appropriately acknowledged [Moreno and Bafiez'] powers and
authority by virtue of the TRO issued by this[c]ourt. That declaration
of the DILG, a party to this case, is conclusive as to the status quo
sought to be preserved by [o]ur TRO which binds all parties, agencies
or persons concerned to refrain from doing any act or acts disruptive
of the status quo.!!

The aforesaid resolution was penned by Associate Justice
Henri Jean Paul B. Inting with Associate Justices Camello and
Pablito A. Perez concurring.

On 11 January 2016,*2 the CA, through Associate Justice
Camello as ponente with the concurrence of Associate Justices
Badelles and Atal-Parfio, issued aWrit of Preliminary Injunction
to be effective throughout the pendency of the action unless
elsewhere revoked or madified, enjoining and preventing the

101d. at 19.
4.
21d. at 102-109.
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respondent DIL G, its officers, agents, and/or any person assisting
it or acting for and initsbehalf, from enforcing and implementing
the 14 August 2015 decision of the OMB.

Claiming that he was aggrieved by the resolutionsissued by
the CA in the subject cases, complainant, aresident of Cagayan
de Oro City, filed a verified complaint against the respondent
associate justices of the CA who issued the latest resolution
praying that they be disbarred and their names be deleted as
members of the Integrated Bar of the Philippines (IBP).

On 26 July 2016, this Court required the respondent associate
justices to comment on the complaint.

In compliance with the Court’s directive, the respondent
associ ate justices submitted their Joint Comment®® on 11 October
2016.

They reported that not so long after the CA issued the TRO
dated 13 November 2015 on the subject case, complainant
charged the members of the Special 22" Division of the CA,
which was then composed of Justices Camello, Henri Jean Paul
B. Inting (Justice-in-charge), and Pablito A. Perez, with gross
ignorance of the law, gross violation of attorney’s oath, gross
violation of the Code of Professional Responsibility, gross
violation of the Code of Judicial Conduct, gross violation of
professional ethics, grossviolation of the Code of Judicial Ethics,
grave abuse of authority, gross misconduct, manifest partiality,
and violation of R.A. No. 3019. The complaint was docketed
asl.P.l. No. 16-238-CA-J(Re: Verified Complaint of Clemente
F. Atoc).

They further reported that when the CA upgraded the
provisional remedy of TRO to aWrit of Preliminary Injunction
on 11 January 2016, complainant hastily recycled his previous
complaint against Justices Camello, Henri Jean Paul B. Inting
and Pablito A. Perez and accused this time the members of the
Special 22" Division, now composed of herein respondent
Justices Camello, Badellesand Atal-Pafio, of the exact violations,

13 |d. at (no proper pagination).
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based on the exact same circumstances, and raising the exact
same issues. They noted that complainant even recycled in
the subsequent complaint his original Verification and
Certification of Non-Forum Shopping. Complainant certified
that he has not filed any complaint involving the same issue/
issues before the Supreme Court, Court of Appeals, any tribunal
or agency, when he knows for a fact that 1.P.l. No. 16-238-
CA-Jis still pending.

The respondent associate justices thus iterate the same plea
for the dismissal of the utterly baseless complaint and adopts
in regard to the instant suit of complainant, the very same
comment on complainant’s complaint in I.P.I. No. 16-238-CA-J.

The respondent justices submit that case law has been
consistent inits caveat that wherejudicial relief isstill available,
whether it be ordinary or extra-ordinary remedy, resort to
administrative complaint is not allowed.** They maintain that
the preclusive principle that bars partiesto a pending suit from
by-passing judicial remedies by resorting to administrative suits
against judges applies even more to complainant who is not
even aparty or privy, but atotal stranger to the pending petitions
before the CA.*°

We find the charges against respondent Associate Justices
bereft of merit.

At the outset, it is clear that the assailed resolutions were
issued by respondent Associate Justices in the proper exercise
of their judicial functions. As such, these are not subject to
administrative disciplinary action. Other than complainant’s
bare allegations, there were no evidence presented to show any
wrong-doings or bad faith on the part of respondent associate
justices. We have settled the rule that a judge may not be
administratively sanctioned from mere errors of judgment in
the absence of showing of any bad faith, fraud, malice, gross
ignorance, corrupt purpose, or adeliberate intent to do aninjustice

¥ 1d. at (no proper pagination); Joint comment.
% 1d. at 10.
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on his or her part.** Judicial officers cannot be subjected to
administrative disciplinary actionsfor their performance of duty
in good faith.*’

To be held liable for gross ignorance of the law, it must be
shown that in theissuance of the assailed resolutions, the justices
have committed an error that was gross or patent, deliberate or
malicious.’® In theinstant case, it was shown that the justices
based their findings on existing facts and jurisprudence. There
was no proof presented to show that they were moved by ill-
will or malicious intention to violate the law and extend favor
to aparty. Infact, their findings were thoroughly discussed in
the ratio decidendi of the resolution.

In assailing the resolutions issued by the CA, complainant
failed to realize that unfavorable rulings are not necessarily
erroneous. If aparty disagreeswith aruling of the court, assuming
these were incorrect, there are judicial remedies available to
them under the Rules of Court. As a matter of public policy,
ajudge cannot be subjected to liability for any of his official
acts, no matter how erroneous, as long as he acts in good faith.
To hold otherwise would be to render judicial office untenable,
for no one called upon to try the facts or interpret the law in the
process of administering justice can beinfaliblein hisjudgment.®

Moreover, we have explained that administrative complaints
against magistrates cannot be pursued simultaneously with the
judicial remedies accorded to parties aggrieved by the erroneous
orders or judgments of the former. Administrative remedies
are neither alternative to judicial review nor do they cumulate
thereto, where such review is still available to the aggrieved
parties and the cases not yet been resolved with finality.?° Here,

16 Ceniza-Layese v. Asis, 590 Phil. 56, 60 (2008).

17 Re: Complaint filed by Lucena B. Rallos against Justices Gabriel T.
Ingles, Pamela Ann Maxino, and Carmelita S. Manahan, 723 Phil. 1, 4 (2013).

18 zarate v. Balderian, 386 Phil. 1, 8 (2000) citing In Re: Joaquin T.
Borromeo, 311 Phil. 441 (1995).

18 Crisologo v. Daray, 584 Phil. 366, 374 (2008).
20 Rodriguez v. Gatdula, 442 Phil. 307, 308 (2002).
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it is evident that the parties aggrieved by the resolution can
avail or may have already availed of other judicial remedies.
Quite significant is the fact that the instant administrative
complaint was filed by someone who is not a party or privy to
the case. Ascorrectly noted by the respondent justicesin their
Joint-Comment, Atoc did not even disclose the capacity in which
he brings the present administrative complaint.

Anent the determination on whether the respondent Associate
Justices made an error in enjoining the decision of the OMB,
the same would be squarely addressed by this Court the moment
the issue is raised before it in a proper judicial proceeding.
We cannot make a ruling in this administrative case on the
correctness of the issuance of the injunction.?

We stated in the case of Morales | v. CA Justices Real-
Dimagiba, Lopez and Garcia:?

To press the point, the present Resolution should not be read as
an allowance carte blanche for the issuance of TROs against the
OMB’s decision in criminal and administrative complaints against
officials and employees of the government. Foremost, we did not
rule on the validity of the issuance of the TRO by the respondent
associate justices. What we said is that there isarelevant ruling in
the Binay, Jr. case which removes the issuance by respondent associate
justicesfrom the ambit of grossignorance of thelaw. Just asimportant,
the validity of the issuance of a TRO, owing to the fact that a TRO
is merely a provisional remedy which is an adjunct to a main suit,
which in this case is the main petition of Mayor Gatchalian pending
beforethe CA, isajudicial issue that cannot be categorically resolved
in the instant administrative matter.

X X X X X X X X X

The remedy against the issuance of the TRO is unarguably and
by its very nature, resolvable only thru judicial procedures which
are, a motion for reconsideration and, if such motion is denied, a
special civil action of certiorari under Rule 65. It istheruling granting

21 See Morales | v. CA Justices Real-Dimagiba, Lopez and Garcia, |.P.1.
No. 16-243-CA-J, 11 October 2016.

2 d.



VOL. 801, NOVEMBER 29, 2016 217

Alfonso vs. Land Bank of the Philippines, et al.

the prayer for the writ of certiorari that abasis for an administrative
action against the judge issuing the TRO may arise. Such happens
when, from the decision on the validity of the issuance, there is a
pronouncement that indicates grossignorance of the law of theissuing
judge. The instant administrative complaint cannot be a substitute
for the aforesaid judicial remedies.

WHEREFORE, in view of the foregoing, the instant
administrative complaint filed by Clemente F. Atoc against
Associate Justices Edgardo A. Camello, Oscar V. Badelles and
Perpetua T. Atal-Pafio, all of the Court of Appeals, Cagayan
de Oro City, is hereby DISMISSED for lack of merit.

SO ORDERED.

Sereno, C.J., Carpio, Velasco, Jr., Leonardo-de Castro, Brion,
Peralta, Bersamin, del Castillo, Mendoza, Reyes, Perlas-
Bernabe, Leonen, Jardeleza, and Caguioa, JJ., concur.

EN BANC
[G.R. Nos. 181912 & 183347. November 29, 2016]

RAMON M. ALFONSO, petitioner, vs. LAND BANK OF
THE PHILIPPINESand DEPARTMENT OF AGRARIAN
REFORM, respondents.

SYLLABUS

1. LABORAND SOCIAL LEGISLATION; COMPREHENSIVE
AGRARIAN REFORM LAW (R.A. NO 6657); JUST
COMPENSATION; INDETERMINING JUST COMPENSATION,
COURTS ARE OBLIGATED TO APPLY BOTH THE
COMPENSATION VALUATION FACTORSENUMERATED
BY THE CONGRESS UNDER SECTION 17 OF RA 6657,
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AND THE BASIC FORMULA LAID DOWN BY THE
DEPARTMENT OF AGRARIAN REFORM (DAR).— In
determining just compensation, courts are obligated to apply
both the compensation valuation factors enumerated by the
Congress under Section 17 of RA 6657, and the basic formula
laid down by the DAR. This was the holding of the Court on
July 20, 2004 when it decided the case of Landbank of the
Philippines v. Banal (Banal) which involved the application
of the DAR-issued formulas. There, we declared: X X X. X X X
In determining the valuation of the subject property, the
trial court shall consider thefactorsprovided under Section
17 of R.A. 6657, asamended, mentioned earlier. Theformula
prescribed by the DAR in Administrative Order No. 6, Series
of 1992, asamended by DAR Administrative Order No. 11,
Series of 1994, shall be used in the valuation of the land.
X X X. Banal would thereafter be considered the landmark case
on binding character of the DAR formulas.

2.1D.; ID.; ID.; THE DAR VALUATION FORMULA, BEING

AN ADMINISTRATIVE REGULATION ISSUED BY THE
DAR PURSUANT TO ITS RULE-MAKING AND
SUBORDINATE LEGISLATION POWER UNDER RA
6657, HASTHE FORCE AND EFFECT OF LAW; UNLESS
DECLARED INVALID IN A CASE WHERE ITS
VALIDITY ISDIRECTLY PUT IN ISSUE, COURTSMUST
CONSIDER THEIR USE AND APPLICATION. — [T]he
formula, being an administrative regulation issued by the DAR
pursuant to its rule-making and subordinate legislation power
under RA 6657, hasthe force and effect of law. Unless declared
invalid in acase whereitsvalidity isdirectly put inissue, courts
must consider their use and application. In Land Bank of the
Philippines v. Celada (Celada), we held: x x x. While SAC is
required to consider the acquisition cost of the land, the current
value of like properties, its nature, actual use and income, the
sworn valuation by the owner, the tax declaration and the
assessments made by the government assessors to determine
just compensation, it isequally true that these factors have been
translated into a basic formulaby the DAR pursuant toitsrule-
making power under Section 49 of RA No. 6657. As the
government agency principally tasked to implement the agrarian
reform program, it is the DAR’s duty to issue rules and
regulations to carry out the object of the law. DAR AO No. 5,
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s. of 1998 precisely “filled in the details” of Section 17, RA
No. 6657 by providing a basic formula by which the factors
mentioned therein may be taken into account. The SAC was
at noliberty to disregard the formula which was devised to
implement the said provision. It is elementary that rules and
regulationsissued by administrative bodiesto interpret the law
which they are entrusted to enforce, have the force of law, and
are entitled to great respect. Administrative issuances partake
of the nature of a statute and have in their favor a presumption
of legality. As such, courts cannot ignore administrative
issuances especially when, as in this case, its validity was
not put inissue. Unlessan administrative order isdeclared

invalid, courts have no option but to apply the same.

3. ID.; ID.; ID.; IN THE EXERCISE OF THEIR JUDICIAL
DISCRETION, THE COURT MAY RELAX THE
APPLICATION OF THE FORMULA TO FIT THE
PECULIAR CIRCUMSTANCES OF A CASE; THEY
MUST, HOWEVER, CLEARLY EXPLAIN THE REASON
FOR ANY DEVIATION; OTHERWISE, THEY WILL BE
CONSIDERED IN GRAVE ABUSE OF DISCRETION.—
[Clourts, in the exercise of their judicial discretion, may relax
the application of the formulato fit the peculiar circumstances
of a case. They must, however, clearly explain the reason for
any deviation; otherwise, they will be considered in grave abuse
of discretion. Thisrule, set forth in Land Bank of the Philippines
v. Yatco Agricultural Enterprises(Yatco), was a qualification
of the application of Celada, to wit: x x X In other words, in
the exercise of the Court’s essentially judicial function of
determining just compensation, the RTC-SACs are not
granted unlimited discretion and must consider and apply
the R.A. No. 6657 — enumerated factors and the DAR
formulathat reflect thesefactors. x x x. When acting within
the parametersset by thelaw itself, the RT C-SACs, however,
arenot strictly bound to apply the DAR formulatoitsminute
detail, particularly when faced with situations that do not
warrant the formula’s strict application; they may, in the
exercise of their discretion, relax theformula’s application
tofit thefactual situationsbeforethem. They must, however,
clearly explain thereason for any deviation from thefactors
and formula that the law and the rules have provided.




220 PHILIPPINE REPORTS

Alfonso vs. Land Bank of the Philippines, et al.

4. ID.;ID.;ID.; THESTATEMENT THAT THEGOVERNMENT’S
VALUATIONIS“UNREALISTICALLY LOW,” WITHOUT
MORE, IS INSUFFICIENT TO JUSTIFY THE NON-
APPLICATION OF THE LEGISLATIVE FACTORS AND
THE DAR-PRESCRIBED FORMULA.— That the SAC’s
adoption of the Cuervo Report valuation constitutes deviation
from Section 17 and the prescribed formulais fairly evident.
Commissioner Chua employed a different formula, other than
that set forthin DAR AO No. 5 (1998), to compute the val uation.
X X X. [D]eviation from the strict application of the DAR formula
is not absolutely proscribed. For this reason, we find that the
Court of Appeals erred in setting aside the SAC’s Decision on
the mere fact of deviation from the prescribed legislative
standards and basic formula. Yatco teaches us that courts may,
in the exercise of its judicial discretion, relax the application
of the DAR formula, subject only to the condition that the reasons
for said deviation be clearly explained. x x x. The statement
that the government’s valuation is “unrealistically low,”
without more, is insufficient to justify its deviation from
Section 17 and the implementing DAR formula. Thereis
nothing in the SAC's Decision to show why it found
Commissioner Chua’s method more appropriate for purposes
of appraising the subject properties, apart from the fact that
his method yields a much higher (thus, in its view, “more
realistic”) result. The Cuervo Report itself does not serve to
enlighten this Court asto the reasons behind the non-application
of the legislative factors and the DAR-prescribed formula.

5.1D.; ID.; ID.; INDIRECT ATTACKS ON THE
CONSTITUTIONALITY OF A PROVISION OF LAW AND
OF AN ADMINISTRATIVE RULE OR REGULATION IS
NOT ALLOWED UNDER THE COURTS REGIME OF
JUDICIAL REVIEW.— Petitioner isadirect-injury party who
could have initiated a direct attack on Section 17 and DAR
AO No. 5 (1998). Hisfailure to do so prevents this case from
meeting the “ case and controversy” requirement of Angara. It
also deprivesthe Court of the benefit of the“ concrete adverseness
which sharpens the presentation of issues upon which the court
depends for illumination of difficult constitutional questions.”
The dissents are, at their core, indirect attacks on the
constitutionality of a provision of law and of an administrative
ruleor regulation. Thisisnot allowed under our regime of judicial
review. As we held in Angara v. Electoral Commission, our
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power of judicial review islimited: x x x [T]o actual cases
and controversies to be exercised after full opportunity of
argument by the parties, and limited further to the
constitutional question raised or thevery lismota presented.
Any attempt at abstraction could only lead to dialectics and
barren legal questions and to sterile conclusions unrelated to
actualities. Narrowed as its function is in this manner, the
judiciary does not pass upon questions of wisdom, justice or
expediency of legislation. More than that, courts accord the
presumption of constitutionality to legislative enactments, not
only because the legislature is presumed to abide by the
Constitution but also because the judiciary in the determination
of actual cases and controversies must reflect the wisdom and
justice of the people as expressed through their representatives
in the executive and | egislative departments of the government.

6. 1D.;1D.;ID.; THEPRESUMPTION OF CONSTITUTIONALITY
OF SECTION 17 OF RA 6657 AND DAR ADMINISTRATIVE
ORDER (AQO) NO. 5 SERIES OF 1998 MUST PREVAIL,
ASTHERE IS NO FACTUAL FOUNDATION OF RECORD
TOPROVETHE INVALIDITY OR UNREASONABLENESS
THEREOF. — [S]ince petitioner did not initiate adirect attack
on constitutionality, there is no factual foundation of record to
provetheinvalidity or unreasonableness of Section17 and DAR
AO No. 5 (1998). This complete paucity of evidence cannot
be cured by the arguments raised by, and debated among,
members of the Court. Aswe held in Ermita-Malate Hotel and
Motel Operators Association, Inc. v. City Mayor of Manila: It
admits of no doubt therefore that there being a presumption of
validity, the necessity for evidencetorebut it isunavoidable,
unlessthe statute or ordinanceisvoid on itsface, which is
not the case here. x x x. _As underlying questions of fact
may condition the constitutionality of legislation of this
character, the presumption of constitutionality must prevail
in the absence of some factual foundation of record for
overthrowingthestatute. xxXx. Issueson the constitutionality
or validity of Section 17 of RA 6657 and DAR AO No. 5 (1998)
not having been raised by the petitioner, much less properly
pleaded and ventilated, it behooves the Court to apply, not
abandon, Banal, Celada and Yatco, and postpone consideration
of the dissents’ arguments in a case directly attacking Section
17 of RA 6657 and DAR AO No. 5 (1998).
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7. 1D.; ID.; ID.; THE GRANT TO THE DAR OF PRIMARY
JURISDICTION TO DETERMINE JUST COMPENSATION
DOES NOT LIMIT OR DEPRIVE COURTS OF THEIR
JUDICIAL POWER,ASTHERE ISNO CONSTITUTIONAL
PROVISION, POLICY, PRINCIPLE, VALUE OR
JURISPRUDENCE THAT PLACESTHE DETERMINATION
OF A JUSTICIABLE CONTROVERSY BEYOND THE
REACH OF CONGRESS CONSTITUTIONAL POWER
TO REQUIRE, THROUGH A GRANT OF PRIMARY
JURISDICTION, THAT A PARTICULAR CONTROVERSY
BE FIRST REFERRED TO AN EXPERT ADMINISTRATIVE
AGENCY FOR ADJUDICATION, SUBJECT TO
SUBSEQUENT JUDICIAL REVIEW.— Section 1, Article
VIII of the 1987 Constitution provides that “judicial power
includes the duty of the courts of justice to settle actual
controversies involving rights which are legally demandable
and enforceable.” Theright of alandowner to just compensation
for the taking of his or her private property is a legally
demandable and enforceable right guaranteed by no less than
the Bill of Rights, under Section 9, Articlelll of the Constitution.
The determination of just compensation in cases of eminent
domain isthus an actual controversy that callsfor the exercise
of judicial power by the courts. Thisis what the Court means
when it said that “[t]he determination of ‘just compensation’
in eminent domain cases is a judicial function.” x x x. Does
[the] grant to the DAR of primary jurisdiction to determine
just compensation limit, or worse, deprive, courts of their judicial
power? We hold that it does not. There is no constitutional
provision, policy, principle, value or jurisprudence that places
the determination of ajusticiable controversy beyond the reach
of Congress' constitutional power to require, through a grant
of primary jurisdiction, that a particular controversy be first
referred to an expert administrative agency for adjudication,
subject to subsequent judicial review. In fact, the authority of
Congress to create administrative agencies and grant them
preliminary jurisdiction flows not only from the exercise of its
plenary legislative power, but also from its constitutional power
to apportion and diminish the jurisdiction of courtsinferior to
the Supreme Court.

8. ID.; ID.; ID.; THE APPLICATION OF THE DAR
VALUATION FORMULA IS DEPENDENT ON THE
EXISTENCE OF A CERTAIN SET OF FACTS, THE
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ASCERTAINMENT OF WHICH FALLS WITHIN THE
DISCRETION OF THE COURT. — Rule 43 of the Revised
Rules of Court, which provides for a uniform procedure for
appeals from along list of quasi-judicial agencies to the Court
of Appeals, is a loud testament to the power of Congress to
vest myriad agencieswith the preliminary jurisdiction to resolve
controversies within their particular areas of expertise and
experience. In fact, our landmark ruling in Association has
already validated the grant by Congressto the DAR of the primary
jurisdiction to determine just compensation. x X x. [T]he scheme
provided by Congress under RA 6657 does not take discretion
away from the courts in determining just compensation in
agrarian cases. Far fromit. Infact, the DAR valuation formula
isset up in such away that its application is dependent on
the existence of a certain set of facts, the ascertainment of
which fallswithin the discretion of the court. Applied to the
facts of this case, and confronted with the LBP/DAR valuation
and the court-appointed commissioner’ svaluation, it wasentirely
within the SAC’s discretion to ascertain the factual bases for
the differing amounts and decide, for itself, which valuation
would provide just compensation. If, in its study of the case,
the SAC, for example, found that the circumstances warranted
the application of a method of valuation different from that of
the DAR’s, it was free to adopt any other method it deemed
appropriate (including the Cuervo method), subject only to the
Yatco requirement that it provide areasoned explanation therefor.

9. 1D.;ID.; ID.; ID.; COURTSHAVE THE POWER TO LOOK
INTO THE “JUSTNESS” OF THE USE OF A FORMULA
TO DETERMINE JUST COMPENSATION, AND THE
“JUSTNESS” OF THE FACTORSAND THEIRWEIGHTS
CHOSEN TO FLOW INTO IT.— [I]n amending Section 17
of RA 6657, Congress provided that the factors and the resulting
basic formulashall be “ subject to the final decision of the proper
court.” Congress thus clearly conceded that courts have the
power to look into the “justness’ of the use of a formula to
determine just compensation, and the “justness” of the factors
and their weights chosen to flow into it. In fact, the regulatory
scheme provided by Congress sets the stage for a heightened
judicial review of the DAR’s preliminary determination of just
compensation pursuant to Section 17 of RA 6657. In case of
a proper challenge, SACs are actually empowered to conduct
a de novo review of the DAR’s decision. Under RA 6657, a
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full trial is held where SACs are authorized to (1) appoint one
or more commissioners, (2) receive, hear, and retake the testimony
and evidence of the parties, and (3) make findings of fact anew.
In other words, in exercising its exclusive and original
jurisdiction to determine just compensation under RA 6657,
the SAC is possessed with exactly the same powers and
prerogatives of aRegional Trial Court (RTC) under Rule 67 of
the Revised Rules of Court.

10. I1D.; ID.; ID.; THEWHOLEREGULATORY SCHEME PROVIDED

UNDER RA 6657 AND IMPLEMENTED THROUGH THE
DAR FORMULAS ARE REASONABLE POLICY
CHOICES MADE BY THE CONGRESS AND THE DAR
ON HOW BEST TO IMPLEMENT THE PURPOSES OF
THE CARL, WHICH DESERVE A HIGH DEGREE OF
DEFERENCE FROM THE COURT,ABSENT CONTRARY
EVIDENCE.— The whole regulatory scheme provided under
RA 6657 (and implemented through the DAR formulas) are
reasonable policy choices made by the Congress and the DAR
on how best to implement the purposes of the CARL. These
policy choices, in the absence of contrary evidence, deserve a
high degree of deference from the Court. [C]ongress, in adopting
Section 17, opted for the enumeration of multiplefactors provided
under RAs 1400 and 3844, to replace the exclusively production
based formula provided in PD 27. The Court cannot now fault
Congress for not enumerating all possible valuation factors, a
task even this Court cannot conceivably achieve, and use the
Congress' limitation as a reason to void the enumeration. In
the absence of evidence of record to the contrary, it isreasonable
to assume that the DAR decided that a formula is a practical
method to arrive at a determination of just compensation due
the landowner.

11. I1D.; ID.; ID.; THE AMENDMENT OF SECTION 17 OF

RA 6657 CONVERTED THE DAR BASIC FORMULA
INTO AREQUIREMENT OF THE LAW ITSELF; HENCE,
THE DAR BASIC FORMULA CEASED TO BE MERELY
AN ADMINISTRATIVE RULE, BUT IT IS NOW PART
OF THE LAW |ITSELF ENTITLED TO THE
PRESUMPTIVE CONSTITUTIONAL VALIDITY OF A
STATUTE.— Theargument of Apo Fruitsthat the DAR formula
is a mere administrative order has, however, been completely
swept aside by the amendment to Section 17 under RA 9700.
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[C]longress amended Section 17 of RA 6657 by expressly
providing that the valuation factors enumerated be “translated
into a basic formula by the DAR x x x.” This amendment
converted the DAR basic formula into a requirement of the
law itself. In other words, the formula ceased to be merely an
administrative rule, presumptively valid as subordinate
legislation under the DAR'’s rule-making power. The formula,
now part of the law itself, is entitled to the presumptive
constitutional validity of a statute.

12. ID.; ID.; ID.; SECTIONS 16, 17 AND 18 OF RA 6657,
CONSTRUED.— Sections 16, 17 and 18 should all be read
together in context as to give effect to the law. This is the
essence of the doctrines we laid down in Banal, Celada and
Yatco. Section 16 governs the procedure for the acquisition of
private lands x x x. It is clear from the x x X provision that the
procedure for acquisition of private land is commenced by the
DAR’s notice of acquisition and offer of compensation to the
landowner. At such point, the DAR does not know whether
the landowner will accept its offer. Section 16(a), however,
states without qualification that the DAR shall make the offer
in accordance with Sections 17 and 18. In case the landowner
doesnot reply or rejectsthe offer, then the DAR initiates summary
administrative proceedings to determine just compensation,
subject to the final determination of the court. In the summary
proceedings, the DAR offer remains founded on the criteria
set forthin Section 17. Section 16(a) did not distinguish between
the situation where the landowner accepts the DAR’ s offer and
where he/she does not. Section 17, as amended, itself also did
not distinguish between avaluation arrived at by agreement or
one adjudicated by litigation. Where the law does not distinguish,
we should not distinguish. Section 18, on the other hand, merely
recognizesthe possibility that the landowner will disagree with
the DAR/LBP' s offer. In such case, and where the landowner
elevates the issue to the court, the court needs to rule on the
offer of the DAR and the LBP. Since the government’s offer
is required by law to be founded on Section 17, the court, in
exercising judicial review, will necessarily rule on the DAR
determination based on the factors enumerated in Section 17.
Now, whether the court accepts the determination of the DAR
will depend on its exercise of discretion. Thisis the essence of
judicial review. That the court can reverse, affirm or modify
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13. 1

the DAR/LBP’ sdetermination cannot, however, be used to argue
that Section 18 excuses observance from Section 17 in cases
of disagreement.

D.; ID.; ID.; UNTIL A DIRECT CHALLENGE IS
SUCCESSFULLY MOUNTED AGAINST SECTION 17 OF
RA 6657, DAR AO NO. 5 (1998) AND THE RESULTING
DAR BASIC FORMULAS, THEY ARE GIVEN FULL
CONSTITUTIONAL PRESUMPTIVE WEIGHT AND
CREDIT,AND SHOULD BEAPPLIED TO ALL PENDING
LITIGATION INVOLVING JUST COMPENSATION IN
AGRARIAN REFORM.— The determination of just
compensation is a judicial function. The “justness” of the
enumeration of valuation factors in Section 17, the “justness’
of using a basic formula, and the “justness” of the components
(and their weights) that flow into the basic formula, are all
mattersfor the courtsto decide. Asstressed by Celada, however,
until Section 17 or the basic formulas are declared invalid in
aproper case, they enjoy the presumption of constitutionality.
Thisismore so now, with Congress, through RA 9700, expressly
providing for the mandatory consideration of the DAR basic
formula. In the meantime, Yatco, akin to alegal safety net, has
tempered the application of the basic formula by providing for
deviation, where supported by the facts and reasoned el aboration.
While concededly far from perfect, the enumeration under
Section 17 and the use of abasic formulahave been the principal
mechanisms to implement the just compensation provisions of
the Constitution and the CARP for many years. Until a direct
challenge is successfully mounted against Section 17 and the
basic formulas, they and the collective doctrinesin Banal, Celada
and Yatco should be applied to all pending litigation involving
just compensation in agrarian reform. This rule, as expressed
by the doctrine of stare decisis, isnecessary for securing certainty
and stability of judicial decisions. This Court thusfor now gives
full constitutional presumptive weight and credit to Section
17 of RA 6657, DAR AO No. 5 (1998) and the resulting DAR
basic formulas.

SERENO, C.J., separate concurring opinion:

1. LABORAND SOCIAL LEGISLATION; COMPREHENSIVE

AGRARIAN REFORM LAW OF 1988 (R.A. NO. 6657);
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EXPROPRIATION OF AGRICULTURAL LANDS; JUST
COMPENSATION; SECTION 17 OF R.A. NO. 6657 DOES
NOT TAKE AWAY, MUCH LESSLIMIT, THE POWER
OF THE COURTSTO INQUIRE INTO THE “JUSTNESS’
OF THE COMPENSATION, FOR ALL THAT IT
REQUIRESISFOR THE COURTS TO CONSIDER THE
FACTORS ENUMERATED THEREIN, BUT THE
PROVISION DOESNOT MANDATE THAT THE COURTS
USE THOSE FACTORS EXCLUSIVELY FOR THE
DETERMINATION OF JUST COMPENSATION. —
[Clourts have alegal duty to consider the factors provided in
Section 17 of Republic Act (R.A.) No. 6657, as amended.
[D]eviation therefrom is authorized, provided it is explained
and is supported by the evidence on record. x x X. [T]here
should be no conflict between the duty to consider the factors
laid down by Section 17, as amended, and the established rule
that the determination of just compensationisajudicial function.
R.A. No. 9700 amended Section 17 of R.A. No. 6657 to make
the consideration of the factors enumerated therein mandatory.
X X X. With the amendment, courts are now bound to consider
the enumerated factorsin the determination of just compensation.
[T]his does not straitjacket them and thereby unduly restrain
their power to determine just compensation, which has been
established to be exclusively a judicial function. Section 17
does not tread on dangerous grounds. All that it requiresisthe
consideration by the courts of the enumerated factors. The
provision does not mandate that they use those factors exclusively
for the determination of just compensation. Congress even
circumscribed the consideration of the factors with the clause,
“subject to the final decision of the proper court.” They are, at
most, guidelines to assist the courts in the determination of
just compensation. Therefore, Section 17 does not take away,
much less limit, the power of the courts to inquire into what
EPZA v. Dulay termed the “justness” of the compensation.

2. STATUTORY CONSTRUCTION; STATUTES, INTERPRETATION
AND CONSTRUCTION; ANINTERPRETATION SHOULD,
IF POSSIBLE, BEAVOIDED UNDERWHICH A STATUTE
OR PROVISION BEING CONSTRUED ISDEFEATED, OR
ASOTHERWISE EXPRESSED, NULLIFIED, DESTROYED,
EMASCULATED, REPEALED, EXPLAINED AWAY, OR
RENDERED INSIGNIFICANT,MEANINGLESS, INOPERATIVE
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OR NUGATORY; THE VALUATION METHOD UNDER
SECTION 17 OF R.A. NO. 6657, ASAMENDED, SHOULD
BE ACCORDED THE PRESUMPTION OF
CONSTITUTIONALITY ASIT REFLECTSTHE WISDOM
OF CONGRESS IN PRESCRIBING THE MANNER OF
IMPLEMENTING THE CONSTITUTIONAL MANDATE.—
We should give effect to the legislatively mandated mode of
valuation as prescribed in Section 17, following the default
rule in the interpretation of statutes: In the interpretation of a
statute, the Court should start with the assumption that the
legislatureintended to enact an effective law, and thelegislature
is not presumed to have done a vain thing in the enactment of
astatute. Aninterpretation should, if possible, be avoided under
which a statute or provision being construed is defeated, or as
otherwise expressed, nullified, destroyed, emascul ated, repeal ed,
explained away, or rendered insignificant, meaningless,
inoperative or nugatory. R.A. No. 6657 was designed to breathe
lifeto the constitutional mandate for land reform. In particular,
the valuation method under Section 17 reflects the wisdom of
Congress in prescribing the manner of implementing the
constitutional mandate. [There is] no reason why we should
not accord the provision the presumption of constitutionality
that it fairly deserves. We must consequently avoid an
interpretation whereby the constitutional directivefor land reform
would be rendered ineffective.

CARPIO, J., separate concurring opinion:

1. LABORAND SOCIAL LEGISLATION; COMPREHENSIVE

AGRARIAN REFORM LAW OF 1988 (R.A. No. 6657), JUST
COMPENSATION; THE DEPARTMENT OF AGRARIAN
REFORM’'S (DAR) COMPUTATION OF JUST
COMPENSATION IS NOT BINDING ON THE
LANDOWNER.— The first paragraph of Section 18 of RA
6657 reads. Section 18. Valuation and Mode of —Compensation.
— The LBP shall compensate the landowner in such amounts
as may be agreed upon by thelandowner and the DAR and
the LBP, in accordance with the criteriaprovided for in Sections
16 and 17, and other pertinent provisions hereof, or asmay be
finally determined by the court, as the just compensation
for theland. Thisprovision on valuation of just compensation
consists of two parts. Thefirst part refers to the amount of just
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compensation “as may be agreed upon by the landowner and
the DAR and the LBP” while the second part pertains to the
amount of just compensation “as may be finally determined by
the court.” In other wor ds, the amount of just compensation
may either be (1) by an agreement among the parties
concerned; or (2) by a judicial determination thereof. In
the first case, there must be an agreement on the amount of
just compensation between the landowner and the DAR. Such
agreement must bein accordance with the criteriaunder Sections
16 and 17 of RA 6657. Section 16 outlines the procedure for
acquiring private lands while Section 17 providesfor the factors
to be considered in determining just compensation. To translate
such factors, the DAR devised a formula, which is presently
embodied in DAO No. 5. The DAR, using the formulain DAO
No. 5, will make an initial determination of the value of the
land and thereafter offer such amount to the landowner. If the
landowner acceptsthe DAR’ s offer, he shall be paid the amount
of just compensation as computed by the DAR. If the landowner
rejects the DAR'’ s offer, he may opt to file an action before the
courts to finally determine the proper amount of just
compensation. Clearly, the DAR cannot mandate the value
of the land because Section 18 expressly states that the
landowner shall be paid the amount of just compensation
“as may be agreed upon” by the parties. In other words, the
DAR’s valuation of the land is not final and conclusive upon
the landowner. Simply put, the DAR’s computation of just
compensation is not binding on the landowner.

2. ID.;I1D.; ID.; COURTSMUST BE GIVEN THE DISCRETION
TO ACCEPT, MODIFY, OR REJECT THE DAR’'S
VALUATION.— Sincethelandowner isnot bound to accept
the DAR’s computation of just compensation, with more
reason are courtsnot bound by DAR’ svaluation of theland.
To mandate the courts to adhere to the DAR’s valuation, and
thusrequire the courtsto impose such valuation on the landowner,
is contrary to the first paragraph of Section 18 which states
that the DAR’s valuation is not binding on the landowner. If
the law intended courts to be bound by DAR'’s valuation, and
to impose such valuation on the landowner, then Section 18
should have simply directly stated that the landowner is bound
by DAR’s valuation. To hold that courts are bound by DAR’s
valuation makes resort to the courts an empty exercise. To avoid
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violating Section 18, courts must be given the discretion to
accept, modify, or reject the DAR’s valuation.

3. ID.; ID.; ID.; THE REGIONAL TRIAL COURTS, SITTING
AS SPECIAL AGRARIAN COURTS (SACs), HAVE
ORIGINAL AND EXCLUSIVE JURISDICTION OVER
ACTIONS FOR THE DETERMINATION OF JUST
COMPENSATION.— Thelaw itself vestsin the Regional Trial
Courts, sitting as Special Agrarian Courts (SAC), the original
and exclusive jurisdiction over actions for the determination
of just compensation. Section 57 of RA 6657 reads. Section
57. Special Jurisdiction. — The Special Agrarian Courtsshall
have original and exclusive jurisdiction over all petitions
for the determination of just compensation to landowners,
and the prosecution of all criminal offenses under this act
X X X. In Land Bank of the Philippines v. Montalvan, the Court
reiterated the exclusive jurisdiction of the SAC to determine
just compensation, to wit: The SAC has been statutorily
determined to have original and exclusive jurisdiction over all
petitions for the determination of just compensation due to
landowners under the CARP. Thislegal principle has been upheld
in a number of this Court’s decisions and has passed into the
province of established doctrinein agrarian reform jurisprudence.
In fact, this Court has sustained the exclusive authority of the
SAC over the DARAB, even ininstances when no administrative
proceedings were conducted in the DARAB.

4. ID.; ID.; ID.; THE DETERMINATION OF JUST
COMPENSATION IS ESSENTIALLY A JUDICIAL
FUNCTION; THUS, THE VALUATION BY THE DAR,
PRESENTED BEFORE THE AGRARIAN COURTS,
SHOULD ONLY BE REGARDED AS INITIAL OR
PRELIMINARY.— It is settled that the determination of just
compensation is essentially a judicial function. The judicial
determination of just compensation is what the second part of
the first paragraph of Section 18 of RA 6657 comprehends, as
it statesthat “ The LBP shall compensate the landowner in such
amounts X X x as may be finally determined by the court, asthe
just compensation for theland.” In Land Bank of the Philippines
v. Escandor, the Court held: It is settled that the determination
of just compensation is a judicial function. The DAR’s land
valuation is only preliminary and is not, by any means, final
and conclusive upon the landowner or any other interested party.
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In the exercise of their functions, the courts still have the
final say on what the amount of just compensation will be.
Considering that the SACs exercise exclusivejurisdiction over
petitions for determination of just compensation, the valuation
by the DAR, presented before the agrarian courts, should only
be regarded as initial or preliminary. As such, the DAR’s
computation of just compensation is not binding on the courts.

5.1D.; ID.; ID.; THE DAR VALUATION, BASED ON THE
FORMULA IN DEPARTMENT ADMINISTRATIVE
ORDER NO. 05-S.1998 (DAO NO. 5), IS NOT
CONTROLLINGONTHECOURTS ASNOADMINISTRATIVE
ORDER CAN DEPRIVE THE COURTSOF THE POWER
TO REVIEW WITH FINALITY THE DAR’'S
DETERMINATION OF JUST COMPENSATION IN THE
EXERCISE OF A JUDICIAL FUNCTION.— That the DAR
valuation, based on theformulain DAO No. 5, is not controlling
on the courtsislikewise enunciated in Apo Fruits Corporation
v. Court of Appeals, towit: x x x [T]he basic formula and
its alternatives — administratively determined (asit is not
found in Republic Act No. 6657, but merely set forth in
DAR AO No. 5, Series of 1998) — although referred to and
even applied by the courts in certain instances, does not
and cannot strictly bind the courts. Toinsist that the formula
must be applied with utmost rigidity whereby the valuation is
drawn following a strict mathematical computation goes beyond
the intent and spirit of the law. The suggested interpretation is
strained and would render the law inutile. Statutory construction
should not kill but givelifeto the law. Aswe have established
in earlier jurisprudence, the valuation of property in eminent
domainisessentially ajudicial function which isvested in the
regional trial court acting as a SAC, and not in administrative
agencies. The SAC, therefore, must still be able to reasonably
exercise itsjudicial discretion in the evaluation of the factors
for just compensation, which cannot be arbitrarily restricted
by a formula dictated by the DAR, an administrative agency.
Surely, DAR AO No. 5did not intend to straightjacket the
handsof the court in the computation of theland valuation.
While it provides a formula, it could not have been its
intention to shacklethecourtsinto applying theformulain
every instance. The court shall apply the formula after an
evaluation of the three factors, or it may proceed to make its
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own computation based on the extended list in Section 17 of
Republic Act No. 6657, which includes other factors[.] x X X.
Suffice it to state that no administrative order can deprive the
courts of the power to review with finality the DAR’s
determination of just compensation in the exercise of what is
admittedly ajudicial function. What the DAR is empowered to
doisonly to determine in a preliminary manner the amount of
just compensation, leaving to the courts the ultimate power to
decide this issue.

6. ID.; ID.; ID.; ADHERENCE TO THE FORMULA IN DAO

NO.5,INEVERY INSTANCE, CONSTITUTESAN UNDUE
RESTRICTION OF THE POWER OF THE COURTSTO
DETERMINE JUST COMPENSATION.— [T]o adhere to
the formula in DAO No. 5, in every instance, constitutes an
undue restriction of the power of the courts to determine just
compensation. Thisis clear from the case of Land Bank of the
Philippinesv. Heirs of Puyat which stated: Asthe CA correctly
held, the determination of just compensationisajudicial function;
hence, courts cannot be unduly restricted in their determination
thereof. To do so would deprive the courts of their judicial
prerogatives and reduce them to the bureaucratic function of
inputting data and arriving at the valuation. While the courts
should be mindful of the different formulae created by the DAR
inarriving at just compensation, they are not strictly bound to
adhere thereto if the situations before them do not warrant it.

7.1D.; 1D.; ID.; WHILE THE COURTS ARE STATUTORILY

REQUIRED TO CONSIDER THE DAR FORMULA, THE
COURTS ARE DEFINITELY NOT MANDATED TO
ADOPT SUCH FORMULA IN DETERMINING JUST
COMPENSATION. — [R]A 9700, which took effect on 1 July
2009, amended Section 17 of RA 6657 by adding other factors
to be considered and clarifying that: In determining just
compensation, the cost of acquisition of the land, the value of
the standing crop, the current value of like properties, its nature,
actual use and income, the sworn valuation by the owner, the
tax declarations, the assessments made by government assessors,
and seventy percent (70%) of the zonal valuation of the Bureau
of Internal Revenue (BIR), translated into a basic formula by
the DAR shall be considered, subject to the final decision
of the proper court. x x x. The clause“abasic formulaby the
DAR shall be considered, subject to the final decision of the
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proper court” meansthat the law requires the courtsto consider
the DAR formula in determining just compensation, but the
courtsare not bound by the DAR formula since the determination
of just compensation is essentially a judicial function. This
amendment recognizes that the DAR adopted a formula under
DAO No. 5. However, the amendment al so recogni zes that any
DAR formulais always subject, in the appropriate case, to the
final decision of the proper court. The phrase “subject to the
final decision of the proper court” does not appear in the old
Section 17. Congress, in amending Section 17 of RA 6657 and
adding such phrase, recognizes and, in fact, emphasizes that
the final determination of just compensation rests exclusively
with the proper court, which is the SAC in this case. In short,
while the courts are statutorily required to consider the DAR
formula, the courts are definitely not mandated to adopt such
formulain determining just compensation. With the amendment
of Section 17 of RA 6657, there can no longer be any doubt
whatsoever that the DAR valuation of just compensation is not
binding or mandatory on the courts.

LEONEN, J., concurring opinion:

1. POLITICAL LAW; CONSTITUTIONAL LAW; EMINENT
DOMAIN; JUST COMPENSATION; STATUTES AND
EXECUTIVE ISSUANCESFIXING OR PROVIDING FOR
THEMETHOD OF COMPUTING JUST COMPENSATION
ARE NOT BINDING ON COURTS AND, AT BEST, ARE
TREATED ASMERE GUIDELINESIN ASCERTAINING
THE AMOUNT THEREOF.— In Export Processing Zone
Authority v. Dulay, this Court declared a law which provided
for a specific method of valuation as unconstitutional, stating
clearly that: The determination of “just compensation” in eminent
domain casesis ajudicial function. The executive department
or the legislature may make theinitial determinations but when
aparty claims aviolation of the guarantee in the Bill of Rights
that private property may not be taken for public use without
just compensation, no statute, decree, or executive order can
mandate that its own determination shall prevail over the court’s
findings. Much less can the courts be precluded from looking
into the “just-ness” of the decreed compensation. Thisdoctrine
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was further reiterated in National Power Corporation v. Spouses
Baylon: The payment of just compensation for private property
taken for public use is guaranteed no less by our Constitution
and is included in the Bill of Rights. As such, no legislative
enactments or executive issuances can prevent the courts from
determining whether the right of the property owners to just
compensation has been violated. It is a judicial function that
cannot “ be usurped by any other branch or official of the
government.” Thus, we have consistently ruled that statutes
and executive issuances fixing or providing for the method of
computing just compensation are not binding on courts and, at
best, are treated as mere guidelines in ascertaining the amount
thereof. Provisions in the Bill of Rights do not simply inform
Congress and the President as to the limits of their powers.
They contain substantive individual and collectiverightswhich
can be invoked in a proper case against alaw or an executive
issuance.

2.LABOR AND SOCIAL LEGISLATION; COMPREHENSIVE
AGRARIAN REFORM LAW, AS AMENDED (R.A. NO.
6657); JUST COMPENSATION; THE REGIONAL TRIAL
COURTS SITTING AS SPECIAL AGRARIAN COURTS
HAVE ORIGINAL AND EXCLUSIVE JURISDICTION
OVER ALL PETITIONS FOR THE DETERMINATION
OF JUST COMPENSATION TO LANDOWNERS.—
Republic Act No. 6657 as amended by Republic Act No. 7881,
7905, 8532, and 9700 explicitly provides under Section 57:
Section 57. Special Jurisdiction. — The Special Agrarian Courts
shall have original and exclusive jurisdiction over all petitions
for the determination of just compensation to landowners and
the prosecution of all criminal offenses under this Act. The
Rules of Court shall apply to all proceedings before the Special
Agrarian Courts unless modified by this Act. Regional Trial
Courts sitting as Special Agrarian Courts have original and
exclusive jurisdiction over all petitions for the determination
of just compensation to landowners. Thejurisdictionisoriginal.
Petitions must be initiated in the Special Agrarian Court. The
jurisdictionisalso exclusive. No other court may exercise original
jurisdiction over these cases.

3. ID.; ID.; ID.; FULL AND FINAL DISCRETION TO
DETERMINE WHETHER COMPENSATION ISJUST IS
STRICTLY WITHINTHEAMBIT OF THE TRIAL COURT




VOL. 801, NOVEMBER 29, 2016 235

Alfonso vs. Land Bank of the Philippines, et al.

SITTING ASA SPECIAL AGRARIAN COURT,AND THE
LATTER MAKESTHISDETERMINATION INITSFIRST
INSTANCE.— Under the agrarian reform program, two kinds
of compensation take place. Thefirst isjust compensation, which
must be paid to the landowner by the state upon the taking of
the land. The second is compensation that may be paid by agrarian
reform beneficiaries who acquire ownership of the land through
certificate of land ownership awards. Section 3 (d) of Republic
Act No. 6657 only refers to the second kind of compensation.
All matters relating to just compensation by the state to the
landownersremains under the exclusive and original jurisdiction
of the trial court acting as a Special Agrarian Court. To rule
otherwise would run counter not only to the clear and
unambiguous provision of Section 57, but also to the
constitutional right to just compensation. In Land Bank of the
Philippines v. Court of Appeals, this Court noted that: It is
clear from Sec. 57 that the RTC, sitting as a Special Agrarian
Court, has“original and exclusivejurisdiction over all petitions
for the determination of just compensation to landowners.” This
“original and exclusive” jurisdiction of the RTC would be
underminedif the DAR would vest in administrative officials
original jurisdiction in compensation cases and makethe RTC
an appellate court for the review of administrative decisions.
X X X. An examination of the statutory provision as well as the
holding in Land Bank of the Philippines v. Court of Appeals
leadsto the conclusion that full and final discretion to determine
whether compensation isjust is strictly within the ambit of the
trial court sitting as a Special Agrarian Court. The Regional
Trial Court makes this determination in its first instance.

D.; ID.; ID.; JUST COMPENSATION MUST BE
DETERMINED BASED ON THE FAIR MARKET VALUE
OF THE PROPERTY AT THE TIME OF THE TAKING;
FACTORS AFFECTING MARKET VALUE.— Valuation
cannot be exactly prescribed inlaw or in an executive i ssuance.
It depends on the unique situation of every parcel of land to be
taken for purposes of agrarian reform. Just compensation must
be determined based on the fair market value of the property
at the time of the taking. Thus, in Association of Small
Landownersv. Hon. Secretary of Agrarian Reform: The market
value of the land taken is the just compensation to which the
owner of condemned property isentitled, the market value being
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that sum of money which a person desirous, but not compelled
to buy, and an owner, willing, but not compelled to sell, would
agree on as a price to be given and received for such property.
This market value is often arrived at through compromise
between the buyer and the seller. Factors affecting market value
include the “time and terms of sale, relationship of the parties
involved, knowledge [and evaluation] concerning the rightsto
be conveyed, present and possible potential uses to which the
property may be put, and the immediate transferability of good
and marketable title.”

5.1D.; ID.; ID.; JUST COMPENSATION REFERSTO A FAIR
AND FULL EQUIVALENT FOR THE LOSS SUSTAINED,
WHICH ISTHE MEASURE OF THE INDEMNITY, NOT
WHATEVER GAIN WOULD ACCRUE TO THE
EXPROPRIATING AUTHORITY .— Just compensation al so
refersto “the full and fair equivalent of the property taken from
its owner by the expropriator.” It is the “equivalent for the
value of the property at the time of itstaking. Anything beyond
that is more and anything short of that is less, than just
compensation. It means a fair and full equivalent for the loss
sustained, which isthe measure of theindemnity, not whatever
gain would accrue to the expropriating authority.” In other
words, the measure of just compensation “is not the taker’s
gain but the owner’s loss.”

6. ID.; ID.; ID.; ID.; THE INCOME GENERATED OR MAY
BE GENERATED MUST BE CONSIDERED IN
DETERMINING JUST COMPENSATION; OTHER
FACTORSTHAT MAY BE CONSIDERED IN JUDICIAL
VALUATION OF PROPERTY.— Loss is not exclusive to
physical loss of expropriated property. The property may be
generating income. Theincome generated or may be generated
must also be considered in determining just compensation. We
explained in Apo Fruits Corporation v. Land Bank of the
Philippines that: The owner’sloss. . . isnot only his property
but also its income-generating potential . Thus, when property
is taken, full compensation of its value must immediately be
paid to achieve afair exchange for the property and the potential
income lost. The just compensation is made available to the
property owner so that he may derive income from this
compensation, in the same manner that he would have derived
income from his expropriated property. If full compensation is
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not paid for property taken, then the State must make up for
the shortfall in the earning potential immediately lost due to
the taking, and the absence of replacement property from which
income can be derived; interest on the unpaid compensation
becomes due as compliance with the constitutional mandate
on eminent domain and as a basic measure of fairness. Other
factorsthat may be considered in judicial valuation of property
arethe “assessed value of the property,” the “schedul e of market
values [as] determined by the provincial or city appraisal
committee,” and the “nature and character of the [property] at
the time of its taking.”

7.1D.; ID.; ID.; THE CONCEPT OF JUST COMPENSATION
EMBRACES NOT ONLY THE CORRECT
DETERMINATION OF THE AMOUNT TO BE PAID TO
THE OWNERS OF THE LAND, BUT ALSO PAYMENT
WITHIN A REASONABLE TIME FROM ITSTAKING.—
In Land Bank of the Philippines v. Orilla, this Court clarified
that just compensation is not only about the correctness of the
valuation of the property. Prompt payment is equally important,
thus: The concept of just compensation embraces not only the
correct determination of the amount to be paid to the owners
of the land, but also payment within areasonable time from its
taking. Without prompt payment, compensation cannot be
considered “just” inasmuch as the property owner is made to
suffer the consequences of being immediately deprived of his
land while being made to wait for a decade or more before
actually receiving the amount necessary to cope with hisloss.

8.1D.; ID.; ID.; COMPENSATION SHOULD BE “JUST” TO
ENSURE A BALANCE THAT THE PROPERTY IS NOT
TO BE TAKEN FOR PUBLIC USE AT THE EXPENSE
OF PRIVATE INTERESTS, AND THAT THE
EQUIVALENT TO BE RENDERED FOR THE PROPERTY
TOBETAKEN SHALL BE REAL,SUBSTANTIAL,FULL,
AND AMPL E.— In Apo Fruits, we characterized the purpose
of qualifying the word, “compensation,” found in Article Ill,
Section 9 of the Constitution: It is not accidental that Section
9 specifiesthat compensation should be “just” asthe safeguard
is there to ensure a balance — property is not to be taken for
public use at the expense of private interests; the public, through
the State, must balance the injury that the taking of property
causes through compensation for what istaken, valuefor value.
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Nor isit accidental that the Bill of Rightsisinterpreted liberally
in favor of theindividual and strictly against the government.
The protection of the individual is the reason for the Bill of
Rights' being; to keep the exercise of the powers of government
within reasonable boundsiswhat it seeks. Further, we explained
in Association of Small Landowners v. Hon. Secretary of
Agrarian Reform that “[t]he word ‘just’ is used to intensify
the meaning of the word ‘compensation’ to convey the idea
that the equivalent to be rendered for the property to be taken
shall be real, substantial, full, ample.”

9. ID.; ID.; ID.; ID.; THE DETERMINATION OF JUST

COMPENSATION CANNOT BE LEFT TO THE SELF-
SERVING DISCRETION OF THE EXPROPRIATING
AGENCY.— Compensation cannot bejust if its determination
isleft to the discretion of one of the partiesto the expropriation
proceeding. It is even more unjust if the court’s discretion to
determinejust compensation isremoved. We noted in National
Power Corporation v. Ileto that “[t]he ‘just’-ness of just
compensation can only be attained by using reliable and actual
data as bases in fixing the value of the condemned property
X X X. [T]he determination of just compensation cannot be left
to the self-serving discretion of the expropriating agency.” The
role of the Department of Agrarian Reform as an implementing
agency in agrarian reform cases is to represent the state as the
buyer of properties for distribution to farmers. The landowner
isthe seller. The procedure for the acquisition of properties to
be distributed as part of the agrarian reform program allows
the parties to negotiate on the valuation of the property. Asthe
buyer, the Department of Agrarian Reform is expected to ensure
that the government can purchase the property at the lowest
possible price. It would be inequitable if the Department of
Agrarian Reform, as the buyer, is allowed to dictate through
itsissuances the means by which the landowner’ s property would
be valuated.

10. ID.; ID.; ID.; THE STATE MUST ENSURE THAT THE

INDIVIDUAL WHOSE PROPERTY IS TAKEN IS NOT
SHORTCHANGED AND MUST HENCE CARRY THE
BURDEN OF SHOWING THAT THE *JUST
COMPENSATION” REQUIREMENT OF THE BILL OF
RIGHTSISSATISFIED.— The policy of the State to promote
social justiceisnot ajustification for the violation of fundamental
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rights. In Apo Fruits Corporation v. Land Bank of the Philippines,
we emphasized: [S]horn of its eminent domain and social justice
aspects, what the agrarian land reform program involvesisthe
pur chase by the government, through the L BP, of agricultural
lands for sale and distribution to farmers. As a purchase, it
involves an exchange of values— the landholdingsin exchange
for the LBP's payment. In determining the just compensation
for this exchange, however, the measure to be borne in mind
isnot the taker’ sgain but the owner’ sloss since what isinvolved
is the takeover of private property under the State’s coercive
power. . . . in the value-for-value exchange in an eminent
domain situation, the State must ensurethat theindividual
whose property istaken isnot shortchanged and must hence
carry the burden of showing that the “just compensation”
requirement of the Bill of Rightsis satisfied.

11.1D.; ID.; ID.; SECTION 17 OF REPUBLIC ACT NO. 6657,
WHICH CONTAINS ONLY A FINITE ENUMERATION
OF VARIABLES TO BE CONSIDERED IN
DETERMINING JUST COMPENSATION, IS
CHARACTERIZED AS MERE GUIDANCE ON LAND
VALUATION.— The Department of Agrarian Reform
Administrative Order No. 5, Series of 1998, acknowledges that
properties have particularities that must be considered in
determining just compensation. It also acknowledges the
inexactness of land valuation as well as the human qualities
required in its determination. x. x X Understandably, therefore,
Section 17 of Republic Act No. 6657, which contains only a
finite enumeration of variablesto be considered in determining
just compensation, is characterized as mere “guidance on land
valuation.”

12.1D.; ID.; ID.; ID.; THE TRIAL COURT’S ADOPTION OF
THE AVERAGE OF THE MARKET DATA APPROACH
AND CAPITALIZED INCOME APPROACH, RATHER
THAN WHAT WAS LAID OUT IN SECTION 17 OF
REPUBLIC ACT NO. 6657 AND DEPARTMENT OF
AGRARIAN REFORM ADMINISTRATIVE ORDER
NO.05, SERIES OF 1998, IN COMPUTING THE JUST
COMPENSATION FOR THE SUBJECT PROPERTIES
WAS AN EXERCISE OF DISCRETION NECESSARY IN
THE PERFORMANCE OF ITSJUDICIAL FUNCTION.—
Only by considering all relevant factors can just compensation
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be most closely approximated, and therefore, the fundamental
rights of landowners be upheld. Proper valuation of properties
is a result of a complex interaction of variables, which may
not be encompassed in a single formula. No single formula
guarantees a fair property valuation. However, this does not
mean that val uation or just compensation cannot be determined.
Thisis precisely why the final determination isto be done by
acourt of law. The judge receives areport from commissioners
that were appointed following the procedure outlined in the
Rules of Court. The commissioners deliberate on the required
valuation given the peculiarities of the property in question.
Hence, the trial court cannot be said to have erred when, in
determining the just compensation for the subject properties,
it adopted an approach different from what waslaid out in Section
17 of Republic Act No. 6657 and Department of Agrarian Reform
Administrative Order No. 05, Series of 1998. According to the
trial court, its valuation was based on the evidence submitted
by both petitioner Alfonso and respondents Land Bank and
Department of Agrarian Reform, the report of the appointed
commissioner, the location of the property, the current value
of like properties, the improvements, its actual use, the social
and economic benefits of the land to the community, the Bureau
of Internal Revenue zonal values, the assessor’s schedule of
market values, and community facilitiesand utilitiesin the area.
The trial court’s adoption of the average of the Market Data
Approach and Capitalized Income Approach in computing the
just compensation for the subject properties was an exercise
of discretion necessary in the performance of itsjudicial function.
Having considered the indicators available and deemed as
relevant, thetrial court did not arbitrarily arrive at avaluation.
What the court did was to exercise its duty to determine just
compensation in accordance with the available data. It cannot,
therefore, be set aside for not adhering to the Department of
Agrarian Reform’s fixed formula without impairing judicial
functions.

13.1D.; ID.; ID.; INTERPRETING SECTION 17 OF REPUBLIC

ACT NO. 6657 AND DEPARTMENT OF AGRARIAN
REFORM ADMINISTRATIVE ORDER NO. 5 AS
MANDATE TO THE COURTS IS TANTAMOUNT TO
UNDERRATING THE EFFECT OF EACH PROPERTY'S
PECULIARITIES, AND TO SANCTION THE
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DISREGARD OF THESE PARTICULARITIES
ENDANGERSTHE RIGHT OF LANDOWNERSTO JUST
COMPENSATION. — [W]e have to recognize that the
administrative determination of land value will never be
perfected, and not all landowners will settle for the
administratively determined offer. Due to the particularities
of each case, disagreement as to the valuation of land between
the landowner and the expropriator will alwaysexist. Thejudicial
determination of just compensation isthereto break bargaining
deadlocks between buyer and seller when these administrative
formulations cannot be modified fast enough to accommodate
the exigencies of the situation. Judicial determinationwill provide
more flexibility in order to achieve theideal where government,
asbuyer, will pay without coercion, and the landowner, as seller,
will accept without compulsion. Interpreting Section 17 of
Republic Act No. 6657 and Department of Agrarian Reform
Administrative Order No. 5 as mandate to the courtsis tantamount
to underrating the effect of each property’s peculiarities. To
sanction disregard of these particularities endangers the right
of landownersto just compensation. It iseven inconsistent with
the Prefatory Statement of Administrative Order No. 5, which
emphasizes the role of these particularities in the proper
determination of just compensation.

14. I1D.; ID.; ID.; THE COURT SHOULD BE ALLOWED TO
DEVIATE FROM THE DEPARTMENT OF AGRARIAN
